
 
 
To: Members of the  

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

 Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 

Councillor Yvonne Bear (Vice-Chairman) 
 Councillors Vanessa Allen, Julian Benington, Katy Boughey, Peter Dean, 

Simon Fawthrop, Christine Harris, Colin Hitchins, Samaris Huntington-Thresher, 
William Huntington-Thresher, Charles Joel, Josh King, Tony Owen, Richard Scoates, 
Kieran Terry and Michael Turner 

 
 A meeting of the Development Control Committee will be held at Bromley Civic 

Centre on TUESDAY 11 JANUARY 2022 AT 7.30 PM  

 
 TASNIM SHAWKAT 

Director of Corporate Services & Governance  
 

 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

3   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING THE MEETING  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 
the meeting. 

 
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two 

working days of the normal publication date of the agenda.  Please ensure that 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Philippa Gibbs 

   Philippa.Gibbs@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7638   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 23 December 2021 

Public speaking on planning application reports is a feature at meetings of the 

Development Control Committee and Plans Sub-Committees. It is also possible for the 
public to speak on Contravention Reports and Tree Preservation Orders at Plans Sub-
Committees. Members of the public wishing to speak will need to have already written to 

the Council expressing their view on the particular matter and have indicated their wish to 
do so to Democratic Services by no later than 10.00 a.m. on the working day before the 

date of the meeting. 
 
The inclusion of public contributions, and their conduct, will be at the discretion of the 

Chairman. Such contributions will normally be limited to two speakers per proposal, one 
for and one against, each with three minutes to put their point across. 

 
For further details, please telephone 020 8461 7638. 



 
 

questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic 
Services Team by 5 pm on 4 January 2022.. 

 

4    CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 NOVEMBER 

2021 AND 1 DECEMBER 2021 (Pages 1 - 22) 

 

5    MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MINUTES (Pages 23 - 26) 

 

6    PLANNING APPLICATION (21/03231/FULL1) - 70 HIGH STREET, BROMLEY, BR1 
1EG (BROMLEY TOWN WARD)  

 

7   PLANNING APPLICATION (21/03622/FULL1) - BURNT ASH HEIGHTS, PIKE 

CLOSE, BROMLEY, BR1 5BN (PLAISTOW AND SUNDRIDGE WARD)  

 ITEM WITHDRAWN 
 

8    PLANNING SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS (Pages 27 - 82) 

 

9    ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – 
CONSULTATION DRAFT (Pages 83 - 206) 

 

10    UPDATE OF THE PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT (Pages 207 - 292) 

 

11    CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS 

(Pages 293 - 304) 

 

12    CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN 

BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS (Pages 305 - 316) 

 

13    UPDATE ON HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (Pages 317 - 348) 

 

 The Council’s Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct sets out how planning 
applications are dealt with in Bromley. 
 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083599/Constitution%20Appendix%2011%20Local%20Planning%20Protocol.pdf


49 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 2 November 2021 
 

Present: 

 
Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 

Councillor Yvonne Bear (Vice-Chairman)  
 
 

Councillors Vanessa Allen, Julian Benington, Katy Boughey, 

Peter Dean, Simon Fawthrop, Christine Harris, Colin Hitchins, 
Samaris Huntington-Thresher, William Huntington-Thresher, 
Charles Joel, Josh King, Tony Owen, Richard Scoates and 

Kieran Terry 
 

Also Present: 

 
Councillors Michael Tickner and Stephen Wells 

 
59   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Michael Turner. Apologies for lateness 

were received from Cllr Terry. 
 

60   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no additional declarations of interest. 

 
61   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING THE 

MEETING 

 
No questions were received. 

 
62   CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 

31 AUGUST 2021 

 
The minutes of the Developmental Control Committee held on 31 August 

2021, were agreed and signed as a correct record. 
 

63   DESIGNATION OF THE COVERT CONSERVATION AREA, THE 
THRIFTS CONSERVATION AREA AND THE EXTENSION OF THE 
CHISLEHURST ROAD CONSERVATION AREA 

Report HPR2021/055 

 

The report recommended the designation of the Covert Conservation Area, 
the Thrifts Conservation Area and the extension of the Chislehurst Road 
Conservation Area. The proposed boundaries were informed by an 

independent assessment and were subject to public consultation between 
October and December 2020. Details of the representations received and how 

these representations had been addressed were set out in the report. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 
 

50 

 
Cllr Fawthrop opened the debate as local Ward Member and proposed an 

additional recommendation that the Article 4 Direction be progressed in 
accordance with the ‘BEAMS’ report. 
 

The motion was seconded by Cllr Owen, put to the vote and CARRIED. 
 

Cllr Fawthrop asked about the status of existing Article 4 Directions if the 
proposed Conservation Areas come into force. The Head of Planning Policy 
and Strategy confirmed that existing Article 4 Directions would remain in 

force. 
 

Cllr Fawthrop highlighted that the purpose of the proposal was to preserve 
one of the few remaining garden suburbs in London. In the last few years, it 
had become apparent that there was a lack of consistency with the decisions 

of Planning Inspectors. At a meeting with the then Minister for Housing 
attended by Petts Wood Ward Councillors and the Chairman of the 

Development Control Committee, a recommendation was made by the then 
Minister for Housing that a Conservation Area should be pursued so that 
appeal decisions might be more consistent in future. 

 
Cllr Fawthrop requested that the Article 4 Directions across the Conservation 
Areas and ASRCs be looked at to ensure they were consistent.   

 
Cllr Fawthrop proposed that in order to enhance the Conservation Area in the 

future and protect against inappropriate development, the four houses in The 
Covert with no architectural merit that were currently excluded from the 
proposals be included. Cllr Fawthrop asked whether this would require further 

consultation. The Head of Planning Policy and Strategy considered that re-
consultation would not be required but noted that any proposed areas to be 

added to the proposed Conservation Area must be justified in line with 
legislation. 
 

The motion was seconded by Cllr Michael from the Chair, put to the vote and 
CARRIED. 

 
RESOLVED: That  
 

1. The designation of the Covert Conservation Area (shown at 
Appendix 1 of the report), the Thrifts Conservation Area (shown at 

Appendix 2 of the report) and the extension of the Chislehurst 
Road Conservation Area (shown at Appendix 3 of the report) be 
endorsed. 

2. The Article 4 Direction be progressed in accordance with the 
‘BEAMS’ report. 

3. In order to enhance the Conservation Area in the future and 
protect against inappropriate development, the four houses in The 
Covert with no architectural merit that were currently excluded 

from the proposals be included. 
 

Page 2



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 

 

51 
 

 
64   BROMLEY HOUSING TRAJECTORY 2021 

Report HPR2021/056 

 
National planning policy requires Local Planning Authorities to identify a 

supply of housing to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing 
against their housing target. Bromley’s current five-year housing land supply 

(FYHLS) position was agreed by the Development Control Committee in 
September 2020. The report set out an updated housing trajectory, split into 
projections for years 1-5 (the FYHLS, covering 01/04/2021-31/03/2026), years 

6-10 and years 11-15.  The report concluded that the Council could not 
demonstrate a FYHLS, although the supply position had improved since 

publication of the last FYHLS position. Where a minimum of five years 
housing supply could not be demonstrated, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (set out in paragraph 11 of the NPPF) was triggered. 

 
In opening the discussion, the Chairman confirmed that the Council was now 

able to demonstrate 3.99 years and the figure was heading in the right 
direction but still fell short of the 5-year supply.  Until such time as this figure 
was reached there would remain a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. 
 
Members expressed concern that the current position left the Council 

vulnerable in terms of fighting appeals relating to large inappropriate 
developments. 

 
The Vice-Chairman suggested that the Committee should receive an update 
every six months until a five-year housing land supply could be demonstrated.  

The Head of Planning Policy and Strategy confirmed that six-monthly updates 
would be possible, although completions were derived from an annual survey 

so any mid-year update would not provide the full picture. 
 
In response to a question concerning practical measures that could be taken 

to improve the trajectory, the Head of Planning Policy and Strategy confirmed 
that there were a number of sites in the pipeline that could come forward to 

bridge the gap. However, the trajectory was based on sites with planning 
permission. There was a need to meet the definition of ‘deliverable’ and that 
essentially meant planning permission was required to include a site in the 

five year housing land supply.   
 

In response to a question about using past over-supply of housing to 
compensate for future under-supply, the Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 
noted that there was no provision in national planning policy to factor in over- 

supply in previous years. Some Boroughs had unsuccessfully attempted to 
put forward that argument. 

 
A Member read out the definition of Sustainable Development which was: 
“Development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the 

ability of future generations to meet their own needs.” It was noted that future 
generations with families were likely to want houses with gardens and space 

Page 3



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 
 

52 

to grow. Without offering this provision, the definition of sustainable 
development would not be met. It was suggested that the housing targets 

were arbitrary and unless there was some lobbying of Central Government, 
the resources available to future generations would be greatly diminished.  It 
was recognised that the issue was not necessarily one of planning and that it 

was likely that political lobbying would be required. However, the report before 
the Committee highlighted the need for urgent action to be taken. 

 
Cllr Fawthrop suggested that Crystal Palace Park ought to be available for 
housing development and urged fellow Committee Members to agree that this 

should be formally investigated, in particular, whether this could occur within 
the existing Crystal Palace Act. 

 
Cllr Bear proposed that the Committee receive an update on the Bromley 
Housing Trajectory every six months.  The motion was seconded by Cllr 

Terry, put to the vote and CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The Bromley Housing Trajectory 2021 provided at Appendix 1 of 

the report, including the updated five-year housing land supply 
position for the period 01/04/2021-31/03/2026, be agreed. 

2. The Committee receive an update on the Bromley Housing 

Trajectory every six months. 
 

 
65   INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 

 

The report sought the Committee’s agreement to publish the second annual 
‘Infrastructure Funding Statement’ for the 2020/21 financial year as required 

under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) by 
31 December 2021. Under the Regulations the Council was designated as a 
‘contribution receiving authority’ and was required to publish certain 

information in respect of S106 and CIL amounts collected. 
 

The Infrastructure Delivery Team Leader briefly introduced the report, 
explaining that the London Borough of Bromley adopted the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 15 June 2021. Consequently, CIL was not 

included in the report before the Committee, which covered the period up to 
April 2021. 

 
Members noted that Section 106 funding was generally spent in accordance 
with legal agreements which specified how funds were spent.  The CIL was 

more fluid and could be applied to current need.   
 

In response to a question, the Infrastructure Delivery Team Leader confirmed 
that he had developed a good working relationship with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and had engaged with the CCG to regarding use of 

S106 funding. 
 

Page 4



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 

 

53 
 

Cllr Joel requested that following the meeting further information concerning 
Farnborough Primary School be provided to him by email. 

 
Cllr Bennington asked whether councillors could put forward individual 
projects to be funded by CIL. The Infrastructure Delivery Team Leader noted 

that it was up to the Council how CIL was spent and work was underway to 
establish a process for this. He noted that 15% of CIL was encouraged to be 

used for spending in neighbourhoods (usually aligned with priorities for 
Wards), with the remaining 85% focused on strategic infrastructure. 
 

The Committee discussed the issue of carbon offsetting, noting that more 
funds had been received since the end of April 2021. It was suggested that 

some funds should be directed toward carbon management projects such as 
better insultation and heating systems.  The Council’s Energy Team were 
actively looking at spending Carbon Offsetting funds and a detailed 

breakdown of the current measures would be provided to Members following 
the meeting. The Committee noted that carbon offset was an established 

policy in the London Plan, although there was an increasing move towards 
onsite emission reduction. Investigations could be made into establishing a 
Council Policy through the Local Plan, which would require local evidence. 

 
In response to a question, the Infrastructure Delivery Team Leader explained 
that Officers did not anticipate significant amounts of CIL coming through until 

2023. However, where Members were able to identify specific projects 
associated with developments, these should be raised with the relevant 

service department. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Infrastructure Funding Statement at Appendix 1 of 

the report be approved, noting that it will be published on the Council’s 
website by 31 December 2021 to comply with the requirements of the 

Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 

 
 

66   SHOPFRONT DESIGN GUIDANCE IN BROMLEY 

 

The Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts Design Guide had been submitted 
to the Council with a view to it being used to assess relevant planning 
applications in Beckenham Town Centre. The report considered this guide 

and recommended that it be used to inform the production of the Boroughwide 
shopfront design guidance in the Council’s forthcoming Bromley Design Guide 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
A report from the Beckenham Town Centre Team outlining the following 

amended recommendations from the Copers Cope Ward Members was 
tabled: 

 
2.  AMENDED RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED BY COPERS COPE 

WARD COUNCILORS 

 

Page 5



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 
 

54 

2.1 That the Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts Design Guide be 
adopted forthwith to assess relevant planning applications in 

Beckenham Town Centre and be a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications, providing strong support 
for planning decisions where needed. 

 
2.2 That the Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts Design Guide be 

used by the Council to inform the future production of borough-
wide shopfront design guidance in the forthcoming Bromley 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document.  

 

 

The report is attached at Appendix A to the minutes. 
 
The Head of Planning Policy and Strategy introduced the report and 

recognised the time and effort that had gone into producing the guidance.  He 
confirmed that whilst it was agreed that some guidance was useful, 

Boroughwide guidance was being developed and consequently the view of 
Officers was that there was not a specific need for location specific guidance. 
He also noted that the guidance itself was not specific to Beckenham.  The 

Head of Planning Policy and Strategy recognised that in 2014, the 
Development Control Committee had noted the Chislehurst Design Guide with 

the intention of using this guide to inform the production of Boroughwide 
guidance. The intention was to now use the Beckenham Shop Fronts Design 
Guide and the Chislehurst Design Guide to inform the Boroughwide Design 

Guide which would be brought forward in early 2022. The Head of Planning 
Policy and Strategy set out the statutory process and Council committee 

process that adopted planning guidance must follow and noted that it would 
not be possible for the Committee to formally adopt a document without going 
through this process, which included six weeks’ public consultation. The Head 

of Planning Policy and Strategy also noted that the Planning Policy and 
Strategy team are working on a number of other planning documents and that 
any request to progress a Beckenham-specific guide would not be prioritised 

above these other documents whose production has been approved by DCC 
and Executive in the Local Development Scheme which was approved in 

2020. The Head of Planning Policy and Strategy considered that once a 
Bromley Design Guide incorporating shopfront guidance was published, there 
would be no need for additional documents covering shopfronts in specific 

areas. 
 

Councillor Michael Tickner addressed the Committee as local Ward Member 
making the following points: 
 

 The Committee had previously endorsed two Shop Front Design 
Guides: one for Bromley North and one for Chislehurst.   

 If endorsed, the Shop Front Design Guidance would become a 
supplementary planning document supporting planning policy. 

 The Design Guidance before the Committee had been produced by the 
Beckenham Town Team at the request of a previous Planning 

Page 6



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 

 

55 
 

Conservation Officer and reflected that Beckenham was a 
Conservation Area. 

 The Beckenham Shop Front Design Guidance could be used to inform 
the production of Boroughwide guidance which had been in the 
developmental stages since 2014. 

 There had been at least four instances where shop fronts in 
Beckenham had been radically altered without consent and this issue 

needed to be addressed along with other long standing planning 
issues. 

 In Beckenham there was a strong Town Centre Team and the 

Beckenham Society. The professionals involved in these groups had 
worked together to produce guidance which could be heavily relied 

upon to inform the Boroughwide guidance.  After three years’ work, the 
guidance had been finalised and was before the Committee. 

 The local Ward Councillors were asking the Committee to vote in 
favour of the alternative recommendation which incorporated the 
Officer recommendation. 

 
In opening the discussion, the Chairman asked for confirmation of the 

timescales to transition the guidance before the Committee into working 
document were the Committee minded to approve. In response, the Head of 
Planning Policy and Strategy explained that his service was delivering a 

number of other workstreams, including the Boroughwide guidance, and the 
draft guidance would therefore come forward after those. Officers were unable 

to commit to reprioritising other work at this time.  
 
In response to a question about an exact date when the borough wide 

guidance would come forward, the Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 
noted that the intention was to present the draft Boroughwide Design Guide to 

the Development Control Committee in March 2022. It would then need to go 
through the Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee and on to the 
Executive, ahead of public consultation 

 
Members welcomed the excellent Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts 

Design Guide which they considered had been compiled by representatives of 
Beckenham and clearly set out expectations in terms of shop front design.  
Concerns were expressed that the Boroughwide Design guide had been in 

development for seven years.  It was agreed that it was now time to progress 
the Boroughwide Design Guide and that the Beckenham Design Guide should 

be heavily relied upon in its production. In the meantime, it was suggested 
that the Beckenham Shop Front Design Guide should be adopted at the 
earliest opportunity. 

 
In response to a question, the Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 

confirmed that neither the Chislehurst Design Guide nor the Bromley North 
Design Guide carried any weight in planning decisions as they were not 
formally adopted documents.  In order for the Beckenham Design Guide to 

have more weight in term of defending planning appeals, a more formal 
statutory process would need to be followed involving public consultation. 

 

Page 7



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 
 

56 

Councillor Bear proposed acceptance of the Officer proposal that the 
Beckenham Design Guide be incorporated into the Boroughwide Design 

Guide for March 2022.  In the interim, the Design Guide for Shop Fronts in 
Beckenham be informally approved and published on the Council website 
immediately. 

 
The motion was seconded by Cllr William Huntington-Thresher, put to the 

vote and CARRIED unanimously. 
 
In response to a question, the Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 

confirmed that neither the Design Guide for Chislehurst nor the Design Guide 
for Bromley North were formal documents and were therefore not published 

on the Council’s website, although the Chislehurst Design Guide was 
available within the Development Control Committee papers in 2014. 
 

Members expressed dismay that the Guides were not available on the 
website as they were frequently used by local Ward Councillors and local 

groups to inform planning applications. The Committee instructed Officers that 
the status of the Chislehurst and Bromley North Design Guides be established 
and that Officers develop a form of words to enable all the informal guides to 

be published on the Council’s website as soon as possible to make the guides 
readily available to local residents. There would need to be a caveat that 
these documents were not formal policy but were there for assistance and 

guidance.   
 

Cllr Samaris Huntington-Thresher proposed that Officers be instructed to 
investigate the status of the Chislehurst and Bromley North Design Guides 
and report back to the next ordinary meeting of the Committee. 

 
The motion was seconded by Cllr Terry, put to the vote and CARRIED. 

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The Officer proposal that the Beckenham Design Guide be 
incorporated into the Boroughwide Design Guide for March 2022 

be accepted.  In the interim, the Design Guide for Shop Fronts in 
Beckenham be informally approved and published on the Council 
website immediately. 

 
2. Officers be instructed to investigate the status of the Chislehurst 

and Bromley North Design Guides and report back to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Committee. The Bromley North and 
Chislehurst design guides are also published on the Council 

website as informal documents pending their incorporation into 
the design guide as well.  

 
 
 

 

 

Page 8



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 

 

57 
 

67   LOCAL LIST OF VALIDATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS 

 
National Government Guidance required Local Planning Authorities 
to undertake a regular review of their validation requirements for 

planning applications. It was necessary to ensure that the list 
remained fit for purpose in the context of changes to National 

Legislation and Development Plan Policies.  

The document set out the level of information required by the local 
planning authority to support a planning application and was 

intended to explain clearly what plans and documents were required 
as part of a planning application to ensure that the Council could 

make transparent, well informed and robust decisions on planning 
applications in the public interest. 

The intention was to clearly define the minimum amount of 

information required for proper assessment of an application. 
Requirements were not intended to be onerous and information 

would only be requested when it was necessary to enable full and 
proper assessment of a proposal.  

The document was divided into two sections: 

1. National and standard requirements for all application types 
(including householder applications) 

2. Technical supporting statements/documents required for more 
complex applications (could be requested for householder 

applications if required, this will be determined on a case-by-
case basis) 

National requirements were set by Central Government and were 
consistent across all local planning authorities in England. These 

were set out on the Planning Portal. The local requirements must be 
prepared by each local planning authority and should be tailored to 
reflect the material planning considerations that were relevant for 

that area. 

Planning legislation required that the local planning authority must 
review its local list every two years. As part of that process, the 
Council was required to consult on a draft local list and then formally 

publish the document, having taken any representations into 
consideration. A copy of the final local list must be made available 
on the Council’s website and the list must be subsequently reviewed 

every two years. 

A formal six week consultation period had been undertaken which 
ended on 24th September 2021. This comprised a consultation page 
on the Council’s website. An email was sent to regular agents to 

advise them of the consultation, a notice was published in the local 

Page 9



Development Control Committee 
2 November 2021 
 

58 

press and notification text added to the planning application 
validation letter during that time. 

The report set out the updated requirements and sought Members’ 
agreement to the updated document. 

In response to a question, the Head of Development Management 
confirmed that there was a requirement to update the document 

every two years, although there were no barriers to updating more 
frequently if necessary. 

Members noted that the purpose of the document was to set out the 
information required when planning applications were submitted.  

Requirements around photographs had been strengthened. 

It was further noted that details of the consultation process were set 
out in the report. In addition, the Head of Development Management 
confirmed that the majority of planning applications were submitted 

electronically.  Where applicants indicated that they would struggle 
with electronic submission, Officers worked to assist the applicant.  
Electronic submission was not compulsory but encouraged as far as 

possible.  Members noted that there was a requirement that 
drawings were to scale but dimensions were also accepted.  

In relation to telecommunications infrastructure and the rollout of the 
5G network, the Committee noted that the Local List of Validation 

Requirements would only apply to those masts requiring planning 
permission.  All applications usually included a supporting statement 

which would provide the context of the provision of 
telecommunications masts. The Vice Chairman highlighted that the 
Council’s Digital Strategy would focus on the positioning of 

telecommunications masts across the Borough and that dialogue 
between the Council and various providers was ongoing. 

Officers agreed to review the ways in which planning site notices 
could be made more prominent.  It was also agreed that future 

revisions to policy documents would be presented to the Committee 
with tracked changes clearly visible. 

In response to a question from the Chairman concerning 
requirements for neighbour notifications, the Head of Development 

Management confirmed that there were different requirements for 
different applications.  As a bare minimum, there was a requirement 
to display site notices or send a letter to any adjoining neighbour.  It 

was noted that non-statutory notices had been reinstated as an 
additional layer of publicity. 

RESOLVED: That the revised Local List of Validation 
Requirements be formally adopted. 

p 

The Meeting ended at 9.15 pm 
Chairman 

Page 10



1 
 

 
London Borough of Bromley DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

held at Bromley Civic Centre on TUESDAY 2 NOVEMBER 2021 AT 7.00 PM 
 

Agenda item 9 -  SHOPFRONT DESIGN GUIDANCE 
 
Report of the Beckenham Town Centre Team 

 
2.  AMENDED RECOMMENDATIONS PROPOSED BY COPERS COPE WARD 

COUNCILORS 
 
2.1 That the Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts Design Guide be adopted 

forthwith to assess relevant planning applications in Beckenham Town 
Centre and be a material consideration in the determination of planning 

applications, providing strong support for planning decisions where needed. 
 
2.2 That the Beckenham High Street Shop Fronts Design Guide be used by the 

Council to inform the future production of borough-wide shopfront design 
guidance in the forthcoming Bromley Design Guide Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

 
Issue 

1. Beckenham TCT has worked since 2017 to produce a shop front guide for the 

Beckenham Conservation Area, at the request of the then Conservation Officer, Rob 

Buckley. In February this year, when it was almost complete, we were informed that 

it could not be used as a Bromley guide because it had not been written by Council 

officers and that it would therefore have no status. This was a shock and a blow to 

the eminent professionals who had produced the guide. There had been three years 

wasted effort. In collaboration with Copers Cope Ward Councilors, we ask that the 

Committee agree to adopt the Guide at least until such time as a Bromley wide 

Conservation Guide is produced, so that the TCT can actively promote its good 

practice. 

  

Consideration 

2. Beckenham Conservation Area was approved by the Development Control 

Committee on 24 March 2015. The proposal for a conservation area to cover all of 

Beckenham’s High Street and parts of some immediate surrounding streets had 

been promoted by the Beckenham Town Centre Working Group chaired by Cllr 

Tickner, a formally constituted working group under Renewal and Recreation Policy 

Development and Scrutiny Committee. The Working Group was serviced by Council 

officers.   

  

Page 49

Minute Annex

Page 11



2 
 

3. Beckenham TCT is comprised of three Residents’ Associations, The Beckenham 

Society, Beckenham Business Association, Beckenham Together (the BID), Safer 

Neighbourhood Panels, Churches Together, Beckenham Rotary and a freeholder of 

a parade along Beckenham High Street. It was set up on the recommendation of Cllr 

Tickner and formed a consultative body for residual issues of the Beckenham Town 

Centre Public Realm Improvement Project. The initial aim of the TCT, set up in 

2013, was to consider how best to invest the remainder of the £200K capital 

improvement funds for Beckenham and report back to the Council Working Group – 

the minutes of the working group will reflect the TCTs role. The TCT’s formal 

inauguration was attended by Ward Councilors and Council Officers, and until the 

Beckenham BID was formed, Bromley Council Town Centre Management Officers 

sat on the TCT. Further the TCT was for many years a member of the ATCM a 

recognised body for Town Management, and Town Teams are a recognised type of 

community group by Council’s across the country.  At no time were we told we 

needed to get some other official accreditation as a “relevant neighbourhood 

forum”, nor that our Town Team is not recognised in this capacity.  

  

4. On 8 August 2017, the then Conservation Officer, Rob Buckley, attended a TCT 

meeting and asked TCT to draft a shop front guide to be incorporated into a Bromley 

CA guide. He cited the Chislehurst precedent.   

  

5. Therefore, the statement in para 3.2 of the committee paper that “nor was its 

production specifically encouraged by any Council decision” is not wholly accurate. It 

is true that no committee specifically asked us to produce the guide, but 

we were specifically asked to produce it by a senior officer and encouraged to do so 

by the official working group. We had no reason to question that this was a 

legitimate and fully supported project.  

 

6. Eminent local professionals and well regarded experienced local resident and 

business association members worked to produce the guide. Dr John Parker, 

Member of the RIBA, Fellow of the RTPI and Fellow of RSA, was in the lead. David 

Wood, the chair of the Council’s own Advisory Panel on Conservation Areas also 

played a substantial role and Colin Hughes provided technical and practical 

expertise from his work on IT and shop design. Jackie Groundsell (recent former 

Chair, Beckenham Business Association), Chloe-Jane Ross (Chair, Copers Cope 

Area Residents Association), Marsha Berg (West Beckenham Residents 

Association) Marie Pender (Chair, West Beckenham Residents Association) made a 

significant contribution to the Beckenham Public Realm improvements project and 

continued that work in support of this guide. The previous Conservation Officer, 

Robert Buckley was consulted in the scope and development of the guide. The 

Page 50Page 12



3 
 

current Conservation Officer, Simon Went, has been consulted throughout on the 

drafting of the guide and kept informed of progress right up the production of a near 

final version in February this year. We understand that the quality of the document is 

not questioned.  

  

7. As far as the comment in papa 3.4 is concerned, that the guide “does not reflect the 

most up to date planning policy”, we were in the process of updating the planning 

policy context when we were told, quite abruptly, via the conservation officer, that 

the document could not be used in any shape or form. We have had no direct 

communication from the planning officers. We consider it would have been 

courteous to have explained the situation direct to Beckenham TCT rather than have 

a two line email message delivered by the conservation officer. Nevertheless we 

would like to work with the planning officers to update the policy content.  

  

8. Also, referring to para 3.5, any guide will of course, “not prevent those who are 

ignorant or intent on breaching planning regulations”. It can however help to prevent 

ignorance. There continue to be illicit shop front renewals in Beckenham on a 

monthly basis.  One aim in producing the guide is to circulate it among agents and 

consultants to help owners to avoid expensive alterations which subsequently have 

to be corrected at unnecessary additional expense. Early adoption of the Guide will 

also help to protect valuable historical features – it is too late to take enforcement 

action when the features are already in a skip. We cannot see why the guide cannot 

be adopted by the Council and circulated in Beckenham as a precursor to the 

Bromley wide CA. The fact that it uses specific Beckenham illustrations is surely a 

good thing.    

  

9. A considerable amount of work has gone into this document, produced on the 

suggestion of a Council officer and with the support of the properly constituted 

working group. We want to work co-operatively with our planning officers on any 

local issues. We are available to provide local knowledge to help develop policy and 

its local application, for example on Article 4 Directions. If local groups can help the 

Council’s finances by volunteering for physical work such as Tree Friends, Snow 

Friends, Friends of parks and open spaces, why cannot we provide intellectual input 

in written form to save the Council money?   

  

10. We note the recommendation that the Guide be “used by the Council to inform the 

production of borough wide shop front design guidance in the forthcoming Bromley 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document.” However we also note that this 

Document has been “forthcoming” since 2014, when the same was said of the 

Chislehurst Guide.  

Page 51Page 13



4 
 

 

 

Conclusions 

11. If the Committee endorses the Guide, the Beckenham Town Team aims to be 

proactive in taking a forward leaning role in engaging with lessors and agents when 

shops are being changed to promote the Conservation Area and signpost them to 

Council planning information – we can provide on the ground information as works 

occur to minimise unauthorised changes and encourage enhancements that improve 

the Conservation Area. We look forward to working with Council Officers in this aim. 

 

12. We therefore ask that the Council endorse our Document, and we hope that the 

proposed amended recommendation by Copers Cope Councilors can be accepted 

by the Committee.  

 

Signatories 

Chloe Jane Ross, Chair Beckenham TCT and Chair Copers Cope Area Residents’ 

Association 

Marie Pender Secretary Beckenham TCT and Chair West Beckenham Residents’ 

Association 

John Parker and David Wood, The Beckenham Society 

Colin Hughes, Beckenham Business Association 

Tony Powers Beckenham Rotary 

Joan Conway, Beckenham Churches Together 

Marsha Berg, Safer Neighbourhood Panels 

Jackie Groundsell, 1230 The Women's Company Ltd 

  

 

Page 52Page 14



63 
 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.30 pm on 1 December 2021 
 

 
Present: 

 

Councillor Alexa Michael (Chairman) 
Councillor Yvonne Bear (Vice-Chairman)  
 
 

Councillors Vanessa Allen, Julian Benington, 
Nicholas Bennett MA J.P., Katy Boughey, Peter Dean, 
Simon Fawthrop, Christine Harris, Colin Hitchins, 

Samaris Huntington-Thresher, Charles Joel, Josh King, 
Richard Scoates and Kieran Terry 

 
Also Present: 

 

Councillor Christopher Marlow 
 

 
68   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Michael Turner, Councillor Tony 

Owen and Councillor William Huntington-Thresher.  Councillor Nicholas 
Bennett attended as substitute for Councillor Huntington-Thresher. 
 

69   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

In respect of Minute 75 (Item 8), Councillors Benington and Hitchins declared 
that they were aware of the applicant through the Biggin Hill Memorial Trust. 
 

70   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING THE 
MEETING 

 
No questions were received. 
 

71   MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 

The report provided an update on matters outstanding from the Committee 
meeting on 2 November 2021. 
 

The Chairman reported that the Shop Front Guides had not yet been 
uploaded onto the website as a result of the corporate website content freeze 

for non-essential updates currently in operation as part of the ongoing review 
of the Council’s website.  The Chairman confirmed that Officers had been 
asked to expedite this and ensure that the Shop Front Guides were loaded 

onto the website by January 2022. 
 

Page 15



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 
 

64 

Councillor Bennett requested that as Design and Heritage Champion he be 
consulted concerning the development of the Design Guides. 

 
Members requested that they be provided with more information concerning 
the website content freeze – why it was in operation, until when the freeze 

was effective, and how emergency updates were actioned. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

 
72   PLANNING APPLICATION (20/04838/FULL1) - UNIT 2A 

FARNBOROUGH WAY, BROMLEY (Farnborough and Crofton 
Ward) 

 
Description of application – Demolition of existing buildings on site.  
Redevelopment to provide a food store (Class E) and associated access, car 

parking, and landscaping works. 
 

The Planning Officer gave a brief presentation, overview of the application 
and update on the report. 
 

Oral representations in support of the application were received from the 
applicant who gave the following responses to Member questions:- 
 

 Over time the scheme had evolved and care had been taken, 
especially in relation to the side elevation, to ensure that it was in 

keeping with the residential area.  A more contemporary approach had 
been taken to entice people to the area. 

 

 Access onto the A21 Farnborough Way was designed as left in and left 
out to minimise traffic disruption.  The traffic island in the A21 was 

intended to prevent drivers turning right onto the A21. 
 

 In designing the proposals, there had been an awareness of concerns 
around overdevelopment. As such, the proposed store was of average 

size for an Aldi store. 
 

 There had been extensive engagement in terms of design and the 

applicants considered that they had developed a sensitive design with 
the most recent proposals receiving support from local residents. 

 

 Delivery times were set out within the noise statement which had been 
submitted with the application and there was currently no intention to 

vary delivery times. 
 

 There had been a request to quantify the number of cars travelling into 
Farnborough Village and the view had been reached that it would be 

an insignificant number in terms of a quantifiable impact. 
 

Page 16



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 

 

65 
 

 It was not considered that a new Aldi Store would have a significant 
impact on the local stores in Farnborough Village.  Aldi offered a limited 

number of lines and did not have in-house concessions such as a 
butcher.  Only 20% of sales space was dedicated to non-food products. 

 

Committee Member and Ward Member Councillor Joel reported that while the 
applicants had made an attempt to address concerns around bulk, size, traffic 

movement, deliveries and the impact on the A21 and Farnborough Village, 
concerns had not been entirely addressed.  It was noted that at peak times 
there was bad traffic congestion on Farnborough Way heading into Bromley.  

There were also concerns that staff travelling to the site by car may park in 
surrounding roads.  Cllr Joel cited problems with car parking at the Lidl store 

in Locksbottom and suggested that a similar issue may arise with this site if 
approved.  Consequently, on the basis of design and car parking, Councillor 
Joel supported the Officer recommendation and moved that the application be 

refused. 
 

Councillor Terry reported that he generally supported the application but 
considered that there was some further work needed in terms of design and 
landscaping.  The proposals offered welcome opportunities for local 

employment.  Councillor Terry suggested that some of the comments in the 
report around car parking were confusing and the comments from Transport 

for London around the lack of a local bus service were unhelpful given that 
they were the responsible authority for contracting out bus services and could 
therefore extend a bus route if there was a concern. Councillor Terry moved 

that the application be deferred to enable the applicants to review and amend 
the design. 

 
Councillor Bear noted that it was a finely balanced application with no 
overwhelming support either way.  However, Councillor Bear agreed that 

more work could be undertaken on the design of the proposal and seconded 
the motion for deferral on that basis. 

 
Councillor Bennett expressed support for the application noting that the site 
had been used for retail/industrial purposes for some time.  Whilst the impact 

on other shops in the area should not be a material planning consideration, 
there was evidence that shops could compete and survive, with the free 

market having a part to play.  Councillor Bennett expressed the view that the 
design was in keeping with the industrial site and therefore moved that 
approval be granted. He added that TfL could extend the 261-bus route from 

the Princess Royal University Hospital to Farnborough Way to meet 
passenger needs. The motion for approval was seconded by Councillor 

Hitchins. 
 
While supportive of the application which would be of benefit to the residential 

area, Councillor Samaris Huntington-Thresher reported that she would like to 
see the design softened slightly.  On that basis Councillor Huntington-

Thresher supported deferral. 
 

Page 17



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 
 

66 

Councillor Scoates noted that the site was on the edge of a rural village next 
to a main road. As such, he would not describe the site as ‘industrial’.  

Councillor Scoates expressed the view that the proposals amounted to 
overdevelopment of the site.  His main concern was the bulk of the 
development which was not in-keeping with the local area.  As such, 

Councillor Scoates supported refusal. 
 

Councillor Boughey noted that it was a commercial site. However, there was 
scope for improving the design of the proposal and she therefore supported 
the motion for deferral. 

 
Having considered the report, objections and representations, Members 

RESOLVED that the application be DEFERRED without prejudice to any 

future consideration for the following reasons:- 
 

1 For further work to be carried out on the design, materials, bulk and 
landscaping of the proposal. 

 
73   PLANNING APPLICATION (21/02861/FULL1) - CROFTON HALLS 

(SOUTH), YORK RISE, ORPINGTON (Farnborough and Crofton 

Ward) 

 
Description of application – Erection of new part 2, part 3 storey terraced 

maisonettes, and 4 storey apartment building, accommodating 35 new 
dwellings, with associated substation, hard and soft landscaping, and car 

parking. 
 
The Planning Officer gave a brief presentation and overview of the 

application. 
 

Oral representations in objection to the application were received from a 
neighbour who in response to a question from Members confirmed that they 
lived at number 6 Crofton Road. 

 
Oral representations in support of the application were received from the 

applicant’s agent who gave the following responses to Member questions:- 
 

 It was likely to prove impractical to do major scale earth works as there 

were already retaining structures around the edges of the site. As such, 
digging out may not be practical or provide an acceptable environment 

for some of the ground floor homes. 
 

 The agents had been working with a team of civil engineers to evaluate 
the retaining structures on the site.  One of the things that had been 
identified was that the brick facing on York Rise was not actually the 

structural part of the wall but was an aesthetic facing with a heavy-
weight concrete structure behind it. 

 

Page 18



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 

 

67 
 

 The existing access was steep and sloping and the agents were 
working with the Council’s Highways Team to develop a scheme to 

make the gradient more shallow. 
 

 The issue of biodiversity was complicated to unravel, although the 

proposed development had a high Urban Green Score. 
 

 Alternative site layouts had been considered early in the project and 
with the current arrangement the bulk of the new homes were within 

the terrace.  A layout was tested with them at the back of the site, but 
they then had a proximity to the gardens of Yeovil Close.  With the 
current proposed layout the bulk was away from all surrounding 

properties.  In the most balanced way possible, efforts had been made 
to maximise the distance with the surrounding properties. 

 

 Details of the maturity of the 40 trees to be planted would be worked 
out by conditions. However, the mature oak tree on the site would be 

retained and overall, the quality of trees on the site would improve. 
 

 The road would be adopted and policed by Borough Parking 
Enforcement.  This would be a car-free development. However, in the 
event that a resident required a car a small payment to MyTime could 

be made for a space in their car park. 
 

In opening the discussion, Committee Member and Ward Member Councillor 
Joel acknowledged the need to provide accommodation for homeless families 
in the Borough with York Rise listed in the Local Plan to provide around 35 

residential units.  During the preliminary consultation with Officers, Ward 
Councillors had expressed the opinion that the 4-storey bock of flats should 

be reduced to 3 storeys, reducing the number of units to 31.  Ward 
Councillors still considered that the block of flats was too high.  Councillor Joel 
further expressed the opinion that issues regarding drainage, flooding and 

archaeology could have been clarified earlier and not left as a condition with 
planning consent.  Councillor Joel also questioned the need to remove 20 

trees and provide 40 new trees, highlighting the need to protect the wildlife on 
the land.  Car parking would also be a potential problem as there was only 
limited parking available in the surrounding roads and during the working 

week the available space was used by commuters.  Councillor Joel expressed 
the view that the proposals before the committee did not complement the 

area.  Consequently, Councillor Joel moved to defer consideration of the 
application in order to reduce the height of the 4-storey block, review the 
mass and design of the building, and provide more information on elements of 

the scheme.  The motion was seconded by Councillor Samaris Huntington-
Thresher who expressed concerns around the bulk of the building. 

 
Councillor Fawthrop moved refusal for reasons of biodiversity and impact on 
local residents, noting that the design of the site should be further reviewed. 

 
Councillor Dean expressed the view that the scheme was acceptable and was 

well designed and thought out.  The scheme would also make a valuable 

Page 19



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 
 

68 

contribution to the Borough’s housing supply and the units would be 100% 
affordable.  Consequently, Councillor Dean proposed that permission be 

granted in line with Officer recommendations.  The motion was seconded by 
Councillor Harris. 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Terry, the Planning Officer 
explained that in the view of Officers, it was considered that there was no 

direct overlooking, and the impact was not adverse enough to justify refusal 
as there were options for additional screening if necessary. 
 

The Committee requested that an additional condition be added requiring 
obscure glazing to mitigate the impact of any potential overlooking. 

 
Councillor Allen expressed the view that it was a well thought out design 
which made good use of the land. 

 
Members having considered the report, objections and representations, 

RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO PLANNING 
CONDITIONS AND DIRECTOR ASSURANCE AGREEMENT as 

recommended and subject to the conditions and informatives set out in the 

report of the Assistant Director, Planning. 
 
It was further RESOLVED that a condition be added requiring obscure 

glazing. 

 

74   PLANNING APPLICATION (21/03145/FULL1) - 208-212 HIGH 
STREET ORPINGTON, BR6 0JN (Orpington Ward) 

 

Description of application – Demolition of existing building and erection of a 
part three, four and five storey building consisting of ground floor commercial 

retail and office/workshop floorspace (Class E), with 40 residential units (10 x 
one bed, 28 x two bed and 2 x three bed), together with ground level 
communal space, cycle parking, 2 x disabled off-street parking spaces at the 

rear (accessed via Vinson Close), communal gardens/landscaping and all 
associated ancillary development. 

 
The Planning Officer gave a brief presentation and overview of the 
application. 

 
Oral representations in support of the application were received from the 

applicant’s agent who gave the following responses to Member questions:- 
 

 The starting point had been to provide affordable housing. However, on 

the basis of what was presented, the current scheme could not provide 
affordable housing. 

 

 Issues of insultation would be addressed through Building Regulations 

and London Plan requirements.  The building would meet the required 
standards and would be built to the highest specification. 

 

Page 20



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 

 

69 
 

 Disabled parking would be provided at the rear of the development in 
Vincent Close.  Distances had been checked by Highways and were 

deemed to be DDA compliant. 
 

 Flats for disabled residents would be across a range of levels with 

access via a lift. 
 

 The rooms in the flats would meet both national space standards and 
GLA standards but would vary depending on the size of the individual 

units. 
 

 If approved, the aim would be to start works in summer 2022 with a two 

year build programme. 
 

The Chairman noted that comments in support of the application had been 
received from Ward Councillor and Committee Member Cllr William 
Huntington-Thresher and these had been circulated to the Committee. Ward 

Councillors Pauline Tunnicliffe and Kim Botting had also written to the 
Chairman expressing support for the application. The Chairman read out the 

comments from Cllr Tunnicliffe. 
 
Councillor Terry welcomed the proposals, noting the increase in biodiversity 

and proposed that permission be granted.  The motion was seconded by the 
Chairman, Councillor Michael who noted that the building was well designed 

and provided good biodiversity. However, the lack of affordable housing was a 
draw-back.  
 
Members having considered the report, objections and representations, 
RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO A SECTION 

106 LEGAL AGREEMENT as recommended and subject to the conditions 

and informatives set out in the report of the Assistant Director, Planning. 
 

75   PLANNING APPLICATION (21/03220/FULL1) - 32 HOMEFIELD 
RISE, ORPINGTON (Orpington Ward) 

 
Description of application – Demolition of number 34 and 36 Homefield Rise, 
retention of number 32 Homefield Rise. Formation of new access and erection 

of a part 3/part 4 storey block containing 17 apartments with 14 car parking 
spaces, cycle store and refuse store. 

 
The Development Management Team Leader – Major Developments gave a 
brief presentation and overview of the application. 

 
Oral representations in support of the application were received from the 

applicant’s agent who gave the following responses to Member questions:- 
 

 The intention was to renovate and rent out 32 Homefield Rise. 

 
The Chairman noted that comments from Ward Councillor and Committee 

Member Councillor William Huntington-Thresher had been circulated to the 

Page 21



Development Control Committee 
1 December 2021 
 

70 

Committee.  The Chairman read out comments from Ward Councillor Pauline 
Tunnicliffe who supported the application. 

 
The Chairman noted that the site was allocated in the Local Plan for housing 
and that it was a good scheme before Members. She moved that permission 

be granted.  The motion was seconded by Councillor Terry. 
 

Councillor Harris welcomed the 35% social housing provision on such a small 
development noting that the development would provide a good social mix.  
As such, Councillor Harris expressed support for the application. 

 
Councillor Fawthrop expressed the view that when the impact of the 

development on numbers 30 and 32 was considered, it was over-bearing on 
those properties and on that basis he could not support the development. 
 
Members having considered the report, objections and representations, 
RESOLVED that PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO A SECTION 

106 LEGAL AGREEMENT as recommended and subject to the conditions 

and informatives set out in the report of the Assistant Director, Planning. 
 

76   DELEGATED ENFORCEMENT ACTION (JULY 2021 TO 
SEPTEMBER 2021) 
Report HPR2021/064 

 
Enforcement action had been authorised under Delegated Authority for the 

following alleged breaches of planning control. In accordance with agreed 
procedures the report advised Members of the action taken. 
 

The Chairman requested that in future the list be provided in Ward order 
rather than date order.  It was also noted that in the past the Committee had 

asked for a glossary of the recommendations which had not yet been 
provided.  Officers were asked to provide this for future reports. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

 

77   COUNCILLOR PLANNING APPLICATION 'CALL-INS' 

 
The report provided the regular update on Councillor ‘call-ins’ for planning 

applications. 
 

The Chairman requested that future reports set out the outcome of those 
applications called in to committee, whether the officer recommendation was 
overturned and if so, the outcome at appeal. 

 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

 
The Meeting ended at 9.55 am 

 

Chairman 

Page 22



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD22004 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Development Control Committee 

Date:  11 January 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

Contact Officer: Philippa Gibbs, Deputy Democratic Services Manager) 

E-mail:  Tim.Horsman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Director of Corporate Services and Governance 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 For Members to monitor progress against actions outstanding from previous meetings. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That Members note the report. 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: None   
 

 

Corporate Policy 
 

1.     Policy Status:  N/A 
 

2. Corporate Priority: Regeneration  
 

 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost 
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 

 

 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 10fte  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: N/A 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 

 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: None  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A 
 

Page 24



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 Appendix A provides updates on progress achieved in regard to requests made by the 

Committee at previous meetings. Following each meeting, required actions are listed and 
monitored to ensure that any outstanding issues are addressed in a timely fashion. 

3.2 As outlined in Appendix A, the matter outstanding from the meetings held on 2 November and 1 

December 2021 has been partly completed, with part to be actioned as per the commentary in 
the appendix. 

Non-Applicable 

Sections: 
Impact on Vulnerable Adults And Children, Personnel Implications, 

Procurement Implications, Financial Implications, Legal Implications 

Background 
Documents: 
(Access via 

Contact Officer) 

None 
 

 

Page 25



  

4 

APPENDIX A 
PROGRESS ON MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 

Minute Number/Title Updates/Feedback Requested Action By Current Status 

Minute Number/Title Updates/Feedback Requested Action By Current Status 

Meeting held on 2 
November 2021 

 
Minute 66 – Resolution 
2 

The Bromley North and Chislehurst 
design guides are also published 

on the Council website as informal 
documents pending their 
incorporation into the design guide 

as well. 

Tim 
Horsman, 

Ben 
Johnson 

Actioned – See 
below 

The Assistant Director for Customer Services has advised that the Design Guides will be published to 

the live site week commencing 4th January 2022 

 

Page 26



  

1 

Report No. 
DRR000000 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

Date:  Tuesday 11th January 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: PLANNING SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS 
 

Contact Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director Planning & Building Control 

Tel: 020 8313 4956    E-mail:  Tim.Horsman@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration 

Ward: (All Wards) 

 
1. Reason for report 

This report sets out the current position in respect of continuous service improvements to the 
Planning Service and seeks agreement for recommended actions. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

1. Members agree actions as recommended against each item in the table in Section 3.4       

of this report 

2. Members agree the recommendations of the Standards Committee from July 2021 in 
Section 3.5 of this report 

3. Members agree the related changes to the Scheme of Delegation in Section 3.7 of this 
report 

4. Members agree the related changes to the Local Planning Protocol in Sections 3.8 – 
3.12 of this report 

5. Members agree to the creation of an online form for planning ‘call in’ requests as set 

out in Section 3.13 of this report 

6. Members are additionally asked to agree (i) the non-related amendment to the Scheme 

of Delegation set out in paragraph 3.14 of this report and (ii) the change to weekly list 
procedures set out in paragraph 3.15 of this report. 

7. Members agree that recommendations 3,4 and 6(i) above be considered by Full 

Council 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Quality Environment Regeneration:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Non-Recurring Cost:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Department 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £1.653m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing revenue budget 2021/22 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 66.8ftes   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):        
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 28



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 Following being close to ‘designation’ by the government in 2019 the Council through both 

Officers and Members has been committed to identifying and implementing a wide range of 
service improvements to secure better performance and quality of decision making in its 
Planning service. 

3.2 Following the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) report from 2019 there have been regular 
reports to Development Control Committee on related service improvements setting out 

proposed and achieved actions. The Council asked PAS to return to Bromley in 2021 to 
reassess the position and advise on any further recommendations for continual improvement. 

3.2 A new set of recommendations and actions has been identified from the appended 2021 PAS 

report and this is set out in a new table below. As the 2021 PAS report addressed issues from 
the previous report that the author considered to be outstanding, the table previously included in 

the Planning Service Improvements reports has been replaced with an updated version at 3.4. 
A list of the completed recommendations from the earlier table is also set out below at 3.3 for 
information. The 2021 PAS report is appended to this report.  

3.3 Previous PAS recommendations which are considered to have been completed: 

 New Local Planning Protocol  

 Criteria for applications to be considered at DCC 

 Scheme of delegation to be broadened 

 ‘Call ins’ to be in writing with clear planning reasons 

 ‘Call in’ monitoring to be reported to DCC 

 Format of committee agenda to be reviewed including ‘Lists’  

 Officer role at committee to be reviewed including presentations 

 Quality of committee reports to be improved 

 Review of appeal decisions and costs to be reported to DCC 

 Where motion goes against Officer recommendation, clear reasons for refusal or conditions to 

be agreed before vote is taken 

 Review of site visit procedures for committee members 

 Consideration of use of different room for committee meetings 

 More pro-active approach to major pre-application discussions including early Member 

involvement such as presentations to committee and improved communication between 

Officers and Members 

 Regular reports on performance of planning and appeals team  

 

3.4 The new 2021 PAS report identified the following issues and recommendations, and these are 

set out in the table below alongside suggested actions for Members to consider:  

PAS Recommendation  
(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  
(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

1. Members must be careful to 
balance all factors appropriately in 
their decisions and ensure that they 

base their views on good evidence 
rather than hunches and gut 

feelings. 

Decision making can be 
based on hunches and 
gut feelings rather than 

good evidence and the 
balancing of all factors. 

 

Training on planning 
decision making – in 
particular around evidence 

needed to support decisions 
- in person and signposting 

to information / guides – to 

Page 29



  

4 

PAS Recommendation  

(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  

(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

 be added to Councillor 

Planning Training intranet 
page. 
 

2. Less emphasis on the local view 
at committee by wider training of 
Members with particular reference to 

the Local Planning Protocol and the 
LGA’s “Probity in Planning”. 

No significant change 
was detected since the 
2019 PAS report in the 

approach to local views 
at committees with 

Members acting as 
strong advocates for 
local views rather than 

being seen to take a 
broader perspective 

required in planning 
decision making. 
  

Training on planning 
decision making – in 
particular around balancing 

local and strategic 
considerations - in person 

and signposting to 
information / guides – to be 
added to Councillor 

Planning Training intranet 
page.  

 
Addition of strategic 
implications into committee 

reports. 
 

3. Improve consistency of decision 

making between all the planning 
committees. 
 

Consistent decision 

making is important in 
maintaining quality 
defensible decisions. 

There are a number of ways 

this can be achieved – in the 
longer term the restructuring 
and / or reduction in number 

of planning committees and 
/ or chairmen could be 

considered but in the short 
term it is felt this matter can 
be initially addressed by 

compulsory training for 
Members sitting on any 

planning committee to 
ensure a consistent 
approach to decision 

making. 
  

4. Committees should not be 

dominated by individual Councillors. 
 

This makes it more 

difficult for the Chairman 
to progress the meeting. 
 

The Chairmen ensure that 

all Members have an equal 
opportunity to contribute and 
not allow individual 

members to dominate 
discussions. 

 

5. Profile of the Local Planning 
Protocol and Code of Conduct 

should be raised amongst Officers 
and Members. 
 

This is essential for 
quality effective decision 

making and good 
knowledge of it was not 
evident. 

Report to DCC updating 
plus more signposting 

including Councillor 
Planning Training intranet 
page. 

 
Make reference in planning 

application reports. 
 

Page 30



  

5 

PAS Recommendation  

(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  

(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

Require Councillors to have 

read LPP before sitting on 
or attending to address any 
planning committee. 

 

6. Local Planning Protocol should 
be reviewed and included in future 

training for Members and Officers. 
 

This is essential for 
quality effective decision 

making and good 
knowledge of it was not 

evident. 
 

Report to DCC updating 
plus more signposting 

including Councillor 
Planning Training intranet 

page. 
 
 

7. Information on committee 

scheduling for major applications to 
be provided to DCC Chairman and 

Vice Chairman on a weekly basis 
and provide a basis for future 
agenda planning. 

 

More frequency is 

needed to ensure good 
committee programming 

and agenda planning. 

Agreed more regular 

updates as required. 

8. Certificates of lawfulness should 
be exempt from call in to committee 

and should all be determined under 
delegated powers (which should be 
amended accordingly). 

 

The decision is not 
based on the normal 

balance of planning 
issues but solely on the 
facts of each case. 

Consequently, they are 
not applications that 

should be presented to 
committees for debate. 
 

Certificates only to be called 
in on an exceptional basis 

but there are some cases 
which involve a degree of 
judgement. 

9. Call in requests should only be 
made by a relevant Ward Member 
or with the agreement of one of the 

Ward Members. The Member who 
has called in an application should 

attend the relevant committee 
meeting. 
 

A significant number of 
applications are still 
considered by the PSCs 

because they have been 
called in by Members. 

They take up a 
considerable resource 
both in committee time, 

officer preparation and 
report writing. 

 

As recommended although 
if unable to attend the 
Member calling the 

application in can submit 
written comments or dial in 

remotely to the meeting 
instead – update delegated 
powers and LPP. 

10. Call ins should be in writing 
using an online form requiring 
specific information including 

options around whether the Member 
would be happy to allow a delegated 

decision based on a specific 
recommendation and include clear 
reasons why the application needs a 

committee decision. 
 

A significant number of 
applications are still 
considered by the 

committee because they 
have been called in by 

Members. They take up 
a considerable resource 
both in committee time, 

officer preparation and 
report writing. 

Agreed – suggested content 
for a form is set out in this 
report. Delegated powers 

and LPP to be updated. 

11. Brief Officer presentations to be There is a clear benefit Presentations will be made 

Page 31



  

6 

PAS Recommendation  

(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  

(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

made at all planning committees on 

each item before debate. 
 

to public perception that, 

when Members debate 
an item, they have a 
clear understanding of 

the issues in front of 
them and discussions 

with Members and 
officers confirmed they 
find presentations very 

helpful. 
 

at all committee meetings. 

12. The Officer role at committee be 

fulfilled effectively and robustly so 
Officers are able to provide 

professional advice to the committee 
on items at any point. Chairmen 
should ensure that the order of 

proceedings set out in Section 7 of 
the Local Planning Protocol is 

consistently followed and Chairmen 
and committee members should 
encourage and allow Officers to fulfil 

their roles properly. 
 

Planning committees 

can only work effectively 
if there is mutual trust 

and respect between 
Members and officers 
and a culture of working 

together to deliver high 
quality decisions and 

service. 

Agreed. For Chairmen to 

action and Officers to 
ensure that they are 

confident to fulfil the role. 
Officers to speak first by 
making presentation. 

13. Substitutions at committee 

should be impartial and seen to be 
so. 

There is evidence that 

substitutions based on 
Ward Members interest 
are continuing and 

occasionally ward 
Members are “loading” 

particular meetings. 
 

Agreed. To be added to 

Local Planning Protocol and 
for Councillors to note and 
action. No more than 2 out 

of 9 Members sitting on a 
committee should be 

representing any particular 
ward at any time. This does 
not include visiting 

Members. 
 

14. Where a motion goes against 

Officer recommendation the 
procedure should be: 
• summarises motions put and 

seconded 
• clarifies reasons for refusal or 

permission if different to that 
recommended or if additional 
reasons / conditions are to be added 

• gives the Planning Officer the 
opportunity to advise committee 

prior to motion being considered. 
 

Members should be 

clear what they are 
voting on and need to 
avoid the possibility of a 

challenge against a 
decision. 

Local Planning Protocol to 

be updated and Chairmen to 
be mindful of this.  
 

Planning Officer to be given 
clear opportunity to advise 

the committee before any 
decision is made. 
 

Training on valid grounds of 
refusal and conditions to be 

provided. 
 
 

 

15. In the 2019 PAS report, it was This approach remains a Process to be added to the 

Page 32



  

7 

PAS Recommendation  

(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  

(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

recommended that where a final 

decision to refuse could make the 
Council vulnerable at appeal and 
awards of costs, officers should 

seek a deferral of the item for one 
cycle of the committee so that a 

confidential report which sets out 
the risks can be prepared and 
avoids officers having to advise on 

these issues in public (the final 
decision on the application should 

however always be in public), or 
defer the application to the next 
DCC. 

concern. The latest figures 
available show that 
£36,236.15 had been paid 
out in cost awards for the 
period April 2019 to March 
2020. These cost awards 
were in part because the 
Council could not provide 
objective analysis of its 
reasons or substantive 
evidence to support the 
reasons for refusal. The 
times when applications 
might need to be deferred 
are small and I remain of 
the view that this option 
should be available to the 
committee and officers if 
the decision is likely to put 
the Council in a vulnerable 
position. Doing so does 
not undermine the position 
of the committee and 
Members but instead 
displays a careful 
approach to the process. 
 

Local Planning Protocol and 

option to be available to 
committee whilst being 
mindful of non-determination 

appeal timescales. 

16. In respect of committee room: 

• The current seating layout in a “U” 
format be continued post COVID as 

it enables eye contact to be made 
with all of the participants, which the 
previous “T” layout did not. 

• Member seating is placed as close 
as possible to the public seating 

area to enhance inclusivity 
• Examination of the best way to 
provide facilities for PowerPoint 

presentations to be visible to all 
Members and the visiting public and 

most appropriate solution installed 
as soon as possible. 
• Information available to visitors to 

the meetings be reviewed and 
improved. 

 

In order to make 

meetings as inclusive as 
possible. 

 Keep seating as currently 

laid out 

 Powerpoint has been 

used as described at 
DCC and can be for 
future meetings 

 Officers will review the 
experience for the public 

who attend meetings to 
include a review of 

information on the 
website and facilities at 
the meeting. 

17. Relevant training for committee 
Members and substitutes should be 
compulsory in the following areas: 

 Introduction to Planning 

 The Development Plan and 

Decision Making 

 Predetermination and 

To ensure good quality 
decision making. 

Training programme to be 
arranged / updated. 
 

Annual training to be 
obligatory for all Members 

who sit on or substitute at 
any planning committee. 
 

Page 33



  

8 

PAS Recommendation  

(from PAS report) 

 

Reasoning  

(from PAS report) 

Proposed Action 

Predisposition 

 Probity and Disclosure of 
Interests 

 How committees work 

 The Local Planning Protocol 
 

Regular updates on 

planning for Members. 
 
Officer training to also be 

rolled out as appropriate 
 

18. A clear programme for the 
following reports to be considered 
should be agreed:  

• performance improvements 
• analysis of ‘call ins’ 

• application performance including 
speed of decision making and 
proportion of delegated decisions 

• outcomes of overturned appeals 
for major applications 

• appeals resulting in costs 
• detailed monitoring of appeals. 
 

Such reports provide 
important and useful 
information for Officers 

and Members to assist 
in quality decision 

making 

Schedule of reports to be 
agreed with DCC Chairman 

19. Increase regularity of DCC 

meetings to monthly 
 

To ensure reasonable 

sized agendas and 
avoid delays in 

determining 
applications. 
 

DCC to remain every 2 

months however additional 
sessions to be added as 

needed for pressing 
applications or policy 
matters. 

 

 

3.5 Members are also asked to consider the following recommendations from Standards Committee 

in July 2021: 

 i). When more than 50% of a planning committee declared that they knew a planning applicant 
the matter would automatically be referred to the Development Control Committee. The 

Chairman of the Development Control Committee would regularly liaise with officers and when 
applications were submitted by local developers whom many Members may know the 

application would automatically be referred to the Development Control Committee.  

 ii). Members to be made aware that a “Cab Rank” principle operated for the allocation of 
planning applications and they should therefore not request that an application be referred to a 

specific committee.  

 iii). Councillors who have called an application to committee should not move or second the 

motion. 

3.6 Members will note from the suggested actions above that there are changes to other documents 
recommended and these are as follows: 

 

 

 Scheme of Delegation: 

Page 34



  

9 

3.7 Recommendations 9 & 10 –  

 Part (21)(v) of the delegated powers of the Assistant Director for Planning & Building Control is 

part of a list of situations where a delegated decision may not be made on a planning 
application and currently reads as follows: 

 “(v) Any application listed in (20) above which one or more Bromley Councillor formally requests 

in writing (“calls in”) with a reason (s) be determined by Committee.” 

 Proposed new wording: 

 “(v) Any application listed in (20) above which one or more Bromley Councillor for the Ward in 
which the application site is located (or any other Bromley Councillor with the written agreement 
of a Councillor for that Ward) formally requests (“calls in”) using the online call in request form 

giving a planning reason(s) for that ‘called in’ application to be determined by committee.” 

 Local Planning Protocol: 

3.8 Recommendations 5,13 &17 & Standards Committee Recommendation (i) - 

 Add new section ‘1A – Attendance at Planning Committee’ to the Local Planning Protocol as 
follows:  

 1A.1 Officers and Councillors attending any planning committee meetings to address or advise 
the committee are required to have read and understood this Protocol prior to attending a 

meeting. 

 1A.2 Substitute Members at planning committee meetings should be impartial and no more than 
two Members sitting on a committee should be representing any particular ward at any time. 

This does not include visiting Members. 

 1A.3 All Members who sit on a planning committee are required to have basic training before 

they sit on that committee, which is provided annually on the following topics and will be 
monitored: 

 Introduction to Planning 

 The Development Plan and Decision Making 

 Predetermination and Predisposition 

 Probity and Disclosure of Interests 

 How committees work 

 The Local Planning Protocol 
 

1A.4 When more than 50% of the Members of a specific Plans Sub Committee declare at the 
start of the meeting (or beforehand) that they know a planning applicant, the matter would 
automatically be referred to the Development Control Committee without debate. The Chairman 

of each committee is responsible for identifying such cases. 
 

3.9 Standards Committee Recommendation (ii) – 

 Add new paragraph 2.5 as follows: 

 2.5 Applications are placed onto committee agendas by Officers using a ‘cab rank’ principle 

whereby they are reported to the next available committee once the case officer is content that 
the application is ready to be reported. Members should not request to Officers that applications 

be considered by a particular committee or on a particular date.  

Page 35



  

10 

3.10 Recommendation 14 –  

 Update paragraph 8.5 to read as follows: 

 8.5 Where a motion goes against Officer recommendation the procedure should be: 

1. Chairman summarises motions put and seconded 

2. Chairman clarifies reasons for refusal or permission if different to that recommended or if 

additional reasons / conditions are to be added 

3. Chairman gives the Planning Officer the opportunity to advise committee prior to the 

motion being considered. 

 The advice from the Planning Officer will be based upon the material considerations that have 
been discussed by the Committee and whether there are grounds that could be defended in the 

event of an appeal or legal challenge. The solicitor advising the Committee will be called upon 
as necessary to give advice on legal matters. 

3.11 Recommendation 15 –  

 Update paragraph 8.6 to read as follows: 

 8.6 If the Planning Officer considers that he/she is unable to give that advice immediately, or if 

the Planning Officer considers that a final decision to refuse could make the Council vulnerable 
at appeal and awards of costs, Officers should be able to seek a deferral of the item for one 

cycle of the committee so that a confidential report which sets out the risks can be prepared and 
avoids Officers having to advise on these issues in public (the final decision on the application 
should however always be in public), or defer the application to the next Development Control 

Committee.  

3.12 Standards Committee Recommendation (iii) – 

 Update paragraph 8.1 to read as follows: 

 8.1 Councillors who have called in an application to committee should not move or second a 
motion on that application. The Chairman should take the motion that is proposed and 

seconded first and only if that motion fails move to the next motion that is proposed and 
seconded. 

 Other Documents: 

3.13 Recommendations 9 & 10 –  

 Suggested questions for online form for Councillor call in requests: 

 1. Name of Councillor 

2. Is the site in your Ward, and if not do you have the written agreement of a Councillor for that 
Ward? 

3. Application reference number 

4. Site Address 

5. Planning reason for call in 

Page 36



  

11 

6. Would you be happy for a decision to be made under delegated authority if the application 
was to be a) refused or b) permitted or with any other specific recommendation – e.g. with a 

specific planning condition? 

3.14 Members are also asked to agree the following change to the Scheme of Delegation: 

 Part (21)(viii) of the delegated powers of the Assistant Director for Planning & Building Control is 

part of a list of situations where a delegated decision may not be made on a planning 
application and currently reads as follows: 

 (viii) Where less than 21 days has passed since the application appeared on a “Weekly List” of 
applications circulated to members other than where all ward Members have agreed otherwise 
in writing. 

 Non material amendment applications (suffixed AMD) and details pursuant to conditions 
(suffixed CONDIT) are expected to be determined within much shorter timescales than standard 

planning applications and the requirement to wait for 21 days from the weekly list date has been 
causing unnecessary delays in some cases for these simple applications. Members are asked 
to agree a shortened timeframe for call in for these two specific application types to help 

Officers process these more quickly as follows: 

 (viii) Where less than 21 days has passed since the application appeared on a “Weekly List” of 

applications circulated to members other than where all ward Members have agreed otherwise 
in writing, other than for non-material amendments and details pursuant to conditions, where the 
time frame is 7 days from the weekly list date. 

3.15 Members are also asked to agree that weekly lists only be provided in Ward Order from now 
onwards, instead of the numerical and ward order lists that are currently circulated. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 There may be some training costs however no other significant costs are expected at this stage. 

4.2 Better decision making may result in a reduction of costs awarded against the Council at appeal 

and some changes may reduce the cost of processing applications, for example those 
determined under delegated powers as opposed to committee decisions. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The recommended measures should reduce the likelihood of successful legal challenge against 
planning decisions. 

6. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 See financial implications above 

Non-Applicable Sections: Policy Implications; Procurement Implications 
Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 

Background Documents: 

(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Planning Advisory Service Reports May 2019 and June 2021 

Probity in Planning (PAS) December 2019 
Bromley Council Constitution 

Bromley Local Planning Protocol 

 

Page 37



This page is left intentionally blank



  

December 2021 v1.8 
   Page 1 of 18 
 

           London Borough of Bromley 

Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct 

 

Contents: 

1. Introduction 

1A. Attendance at Planning Committee 

2. Referral of Applications to Committee 

3. Agenda and Reports 

4. Site Visits 

5. Late Representations 

6. Public Speaking Procedure 

7. Order of Proceedings 

8. Decision Making and Voting 

9. Councillor and Officer Roles 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Planning has a positive and proactive role to play at the heart of local 

government. It helps councils to stimulate growth whilst looking after important 

environmental areas. It can help to translate goals into action. It balances social, 

economic and environmental needs to achieve sustainable development. 

1.2 The planning system works best when officers and councillors involved in 

planning understand their roles and responsibilities, and the context and constraints 

in which they operate. Planning decisions are based on balancing competing 

interests and making an informed judgement against a local, regional and national 

policy framework.  

Page 39



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 2 of 18 
 

1.3  The seven principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public 

office-holder. This includes people who are elected or appointed to public office, both 

nationally and locally, and as such applies to councillors and officers. The 

overarching principles were first set out by Lord Nolan in 1995 in the Government’s 

First Report on Standards in Public Life. They were reasserted and refined in 

subsequent reports of the Committee on Standards in Public Life, most recently the 

Local Government Ethical Standards Report published in 2019. These principles are: 

 Selflessness: holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest.  

 Integrity: holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 

obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 

them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain 

financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.  

 Objectivity: holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, 

fairly and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.  

 Accountability: holders of public office are accountable to the public for their 

decisions and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary 

to ensure this.  

 Openness: holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open 

and transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 

unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing.  

 Honesty: holders of public office should be truthful.  

Page 40



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 3 of 18 
 

 Leadership: holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their 

own behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the 

principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.  

1.4 This protocol and code of conduct applies to all planning committee meetings, 

currently known as Development Control Committee and Plans Sub Committees, 

and to all Officers and Councillors attending committee meetings. Reference to 

planning committee is to either of these meetings. Planning committee is a formal 

meeting of elected Members who make statutory decisions as the Local Planning 

Authority.  

1.5 The purpose of this document is to help all those involved with planning 

committees, and in particular those making decisions, be consistent in their 

behaviour and approach and to ensure that the meetings are conducted fairly, 

transparently and in accordance with the relevant legislation. It has been produced in 

accordance with the Planning Advisory Service publication ‘Probity in Planning’ – 

December 2019. 

1.6 Where permission is refused, applicants can appeal against  planning 

decisions to the independent Planning Inspectorate, with a possibility of costs being 

awarded against the Local Planning Authority if unreasonable behaviour by the 

Authority can be demonstrated.  Appeals can also be submitted against the 

imposition of planning conditions.  

1.7 Planning decisions can be the subject of judicial review, and aggrieved parties 

can go to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman with complaints about 

Page 41



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 4 of 18 
 

maladministration. Adherence to this protocol will minimise the risk of appeals being 

lost, successful costs claims, lost court cases and upheld complaints.  

1A Attendance at Planning Committee Meetings 

1A.1 Officers and Councillors attending any planning committee meetings to 

address or advise the committee are required to have read and understood this 

Protocol prior to attending a meeting. 

1A.2 Substitute Members at planning committee meetings should be impartial and 

no more than two Members sitting on a committee should be representing any 

particular ward at any time. This does not include visiting Members who cannot vote. 

 1A.3 All Members who sit on a planning committee are required to have 

basic training before they sit on that committee, which is provided annually on 

the following topics and will be monitored:Introduction to Planning 

 The Development Plan and Decision Making 

 Predetermination and Predisposition 

 Probity and Disclosure of Interests 

 How Committees Work 

 The Local Planning Protocol 

 

1A.4 When more than 50% of the Members of a specific Plans Sub Committee 

declare at the start of the meeting (or beforehand) that they know a planning 

applicant, the matter would automatically be referred to the Development Control 

Committee. The Chairman of each committee is responsible for identifying such 

cases. 

 

2.  Referral of Applications to Committee 

Page 42



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 5 of 18 
 

2.1 Applications can be included on a committee agenda for any of the following 

reasons: 

 1. They are subject to a written ‘call in’ by a Councillor 

 2. They fall outside of the powers delegated to Planning Officers 

 3. Planning Officers decide to refer the application to committee 

  

2.2 This is a summary and reference should be made to the Scheme of 

Delegation (Appendix 10 of the London Borough of Bromley Constitution 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/211/constitution_of_the_london_b

orough_of_bromley) which provides the constitutional framework for powers of 

delegation to Officers and sets out the arrangements for ‘call in’.  

2.3 Planning applications, tree matters and contravention reports can be 

considered by either Plans Sub Committee or Development Control Committee. 

Matters of policy and strategic reports are only considered by Development Control 

Committee. 

2.4 If an application is to be considered at planning committee (see 2.1 above), 

the following procedures apply to determining which committee to report it to:  

 ‘Non-major’ applications are considered by Plans Sub Committee unless the 

Assistant Director (Planning) determines that the application is of strategic 

importance and refers it to Development Control Committee.  

 ‘Major’ applications - Officers recommend a decision route and this is agreed 

by the Chairman and/or the Vice Chairman of Development Control 

Committee within 3 working days of receiving the Officer recommended 

Page 43

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/211/constitution_of_the_london_borough_of_bromley
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/211/constitution_of_the_london_borough_of_bromley


London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 6 of 18 
 

decision route in writing. This will normally be via a recommendation list 

provided at least monthly. 

2.5 Applications are placed onto committee agendas by Officers using a ‘cab 

rank’ principle whereby they are reported to the next available committee once the 

case officer is content that the application is ready to be reported. Members should 

not request to Officers that applications be considered by a particular committee or 

on a particular date.  

3. Agenda and Reports 

3.1 The planning committee agenda will include planning applications in 

numerical order based on the application reference number. 

3.2 Application reports are normally presented in a standard format provided by 

the Assistant Director (Planning). Reports will identify and analyse the material 

considerations, of which the committee will need to take account when considering 

the application on its planning merits. The presentation of reports for matters other 

than applications may vary according to their content but will present a clear 

recommendation where appropriate. 

3.3 Planning committee agendas must be published on the Council’s website a 

minimum of 5 workings days prior to the committee meeting. 

3.4 Planning application reports will always include an officer recommendation for 

either approval or refusal. Non application reports will include a recommendation 

where appropriate. 

4. Site Visits 

Page 44



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 7 of 18 
 

4.1 Planning Officers will normally visit each application site for cases being 

considered by committee and these visits are used to inform the committee report 

and recommendation. Photographs from these visits are often used within reports to 

illustrate particular important points. 

4.2 For formally arranged Councillor site visits, the Chairman of the relevant 

committee in consultation with the Assistant Director (Planning) or Head of 

Development Management will decide whether a site visit for committee members is 

necessary in advance of any particular application being determined at committee. 

Such visits will not be publicised. 

4.3 A site visit for committee members is only likely to be necessary if either: 

I. the impact of the proposed development is particularly difficult to visualise 

from the plans and any supporting material, including photographs taken 

by officers; or 

II. the proposal is particularly contentious 

4.4 Formally arranged site visits are for observing the site and gaining a better 

understanding of the issues. They should not be used as a lobbying opportunity by 

applicants or their agents, local residents, objectors or supporters or for debating any 

aspect of the proposal or for making any decision. Councillors will usually be 

accompanied by a Planning Officer. 

4.5 It is often useful for committee members to visit a site to familiarise 

themselves with it prior to consideration of an application at committee. If Members 

do encounter an applicant or neighbour during any informal visit, they should not 

express an opinion, either for or against the proposal. 

Page 45



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 8 of 18 
 

4.6 Doing so could be misinterpreted as lobbying and may create a suspicion of 

bias. If such contact is made this should be declared in Committee, but this should 

not prevent that Member from taking part in the consideration of that application 

provided they have acted in accordance with the advice in this Protocol. 

5. Late Representations 

5.1 Planning applications involve public consultation which has to comply with a 

legal statutory minimum requirement. In many cases the Council consults over and 

above the statutory minimum and our approach to this is set out in Section 4 of our 

published Statement of Community Involvement 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/154/statement_of_community

_involvement.   

5.2 Public consultation on planning applications includes a formal period for 

representations to be submitted, and representations are accepted only on a 

discretionary basis after the expiry of the formal consultation period. Representations 

received after formal consultation has closed are not guaranteed to be considered in 

the determination of an application.  

5.3 To ensure that all representations can be assessed and presented to planning 

committee as appropriate, it is necessary to have a cut off time for receiving 

representations on applications to be considered at committee and this is 12 noon on 

the day of the meeting. The Assistant Director (Planning) has the final decision on 

whether to accept late representations.  

5.4 As committee reports are prepared and published some time in advance of 

committee meetings, any representations (including those from consultees) received 

Page 46

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/154/statement_of_community_involvement
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/154/statement_of_community_involvement


London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 9 of 18 
 

after publication of the report will be uploaded to our website and may be verbally 

summarised by the Officer attending the meeting.  

5.5 If late representations affect the conclusions of the report or recommendation 

this will be reported verbally to the committee. 

5.6 Documents must not be distributed to committee members at the committee 

meeting (including by public speakers) to ensure that the material considered in the 

determination of the application is available to all. 

6. Public and Visiting Councillor Speaking Procedure 

6.1 Members of the public making written comments on planning applications 

which are to be considered by a planning committee have the opportunity to verbally 

address Councillors at committee if they wish. Anyone wishing to speak must have 

already written in expressing their views on the application. Speakers are not 

normally permitted on items other than planning applications. 

6.2 Members of the public wishing to speak at planning committee must give 

notice to the Democratic Services Team of their intention to speak no later than 

10:00 am on the working day before the meeting. Requests to speak will only be 

registered once the relevant agenda has been published.   

6.3 Should speakers wish to table any correspondence or photographs to 

supplement their speech to the committee, all documents must be submitted to the 

Democratic Services Team by 5.00 p.m. on the working day before the meeting. A 

permanent copy of any item must be provided and it is not acceptable to refer to 

Page 47



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 10 of 18 
 

online maps, photographs on phones/ipads or similar. The Chairman`s agreement 

must be sought at the meeting for any items to be considered.    

6.4 Order of public speakers:  if the recommendation is 'permission' then it will 

normally be the opponent first, supporter second.  If the recommendation is 'refusal', 

the reverse order will apply. 

6.5 Normally one person is permitted to speak for an application and one person 

permitted to speak against it.  If there are more than two requests to speak for or 

against, people with similar views should get together and agree spokespersons. If 

there is no agreement, the first person to notify Democratic Services of their intention 

to speak will be called.  Among supporters, the applicant (or if the applicant wishes, 

the agent) takes precedence, and if the applicant or agent do not wish to speak, the 

first supporters will be called. 

6.6 Residents' Associations or other organisations wishing to make use of these 

arrangements must appoint a single spokesperson to represent their views. 

6.7 Speakers are reminded that only material planning considerations are 

relevant to the determination of planning applications. 

6.8 Each speaker will normally be given up to three minutes and this will be 

indicated by the warning light system in front of the speaker: - an amber light will 

show the passing of two-and-a-half minutes and a red light will show the completion 

of the three minute period. At the red light the Chairman will normally ask the 

speaker to cease their presentation. 

Page 48



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 11 of 18 
 

6.9 Members of the Committee (but not visiting Ward Members) may ask 

speakers to clarify points raised.  Otherwise, once members of the public have 

spoken, no further intervention will be permitted.  

6.10 Visiting Ward Councillors should notify the Democratic Services Team of their 

intention to speak at committee prior to 5:00pm the day before the meeting. Visiting 

Councillors do not have a formal time constraint but should aim to keep their 

presentation to within 3 minutes. Any representations must be limited to material 

planning considerations. Visiting Members must not sit with members of the 

committee or sub-committee after they have finished addressing the committee so it 

is clear that they are not part of the formal committee membership. 

7. Order of Proceedings 

7.1  Whilst the order of consideration of items at planning committee is ultimately a 

matter for the Chairman, planning applications will normally be heard first, followed 

by other items. 

7.2 The Chairman will normally vary the order of the agenda taking items with 

visiting Councillors and public speakers first. Speakers and visiting Councillors 

should leave the table once they have spoken, prior to the debate on the item 

commencing. 

7.3 Matters will proceed for each item as follows, skipping items where there is 

nothing to report or no speaker present: 

1. Update from Planning Officer and presentation for applications 

2. Public speaker(s) (see 6.7 above) 

Page 49



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 12 of 18 
 

3. Visiting Ward Councillor (see 6.13 above) 

4. Committee debate 

5. Chairman summarises motions put and seconded 

6. Chairman to clarify reasons for refusal or permission if different to that 

recommended or if additional reasons / conditions are to be added 

7. Planning Officer opportunity to advise committee prior to motion being 

considered 

8. Vote taken 

9. Chairman to summarise and confirm the decision 

Planning, legal and other professional officers have a right to be heard and to give 

advice within their area of professional expertise at any point in the consideration of 

an application. 

7.4 The Chairman should be careful to ensure that additional conditions or 

reasons for refusal are clearly identified prior to going to the vote and not afterwards 

to ensure that the committee is clear what it is voting on. The Chairman can take 

advice from legal, planning or other professional officers present. 

7.5 Should there be differing views about the content of reasons for refusal or 

conditions, the Chairman may take a separate vote following the main vote to clarify 

the outcome. 

7.6 Committee members are given the opportunity to record their vote against 

whatever motion is put if they wish. 

7.7 It is important for the quality of decision making that the Planning Officer is 

provided with an opportunity to update Members and make any final comment 

Page 50



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 13 of 18 
 

immediately prior to the vote being taken to help ensure that the committee is fully 

aware of any further advice pursuant to the debate / motion. 

7.8 Meetings will normally finish by 10:00pm.  

8. Decision Making and Voting 

8.1 Councillors who have called in an application to committee should not move 

or second a motion on that application. The Chairman should take the motion that is 

proposed and seconded first and only if that motion fails move to the next motion 

that is proposed and seconded. 

8.2 Should votes for or against a recommendation both fail it is still open to the 

committee to consider whether they might defer the application for possible changes 

to make it acceptable to the majority of the committee. The Chairman can use her or 

his casting vote to decide if voting is equal for and against a motion. 

8.3 Councillors should state motions they put clearly and include any specific 

changes they propose to the officer recommendation so that the committee 

understand the extent of the motion being proposed (see also 7.5 above). 

8.4 When voting, committee members should raise their hands clearly to ensure 

an accurate count for the vote. 

Motions and Votes Against Officer Recommendation: 

8.5 Where a motion goes against Officer recommendation the procedure should 

be: 

1. Chairman summarises motions put and seconded 

Page 51



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 14 of 18 
 

2. Chairman clarifies reasons for refusal or permission if different to that 

recommended or if additional reasons / conditions are to be added 

3. Chairman gives the Planning Officer the opportunity to advise committee prior 

to the motion being considered. 

The advice from the Planning Officer will be based upon the material considerations 

that have been discussed by the Committee and whether there are grounds that 

could be defended in the event of an appeal or legal challenge. The solicitor advising 

the Committee will be called upon as necessary to give advice on legal matters. 

 

8.6 If the Planning Officer considers that he/she is unable to give that advice 

immediately, or if the Planning Officer considers that a final decision to refuse could 

make the Council vulnerable at appeal and awards of costs, Officers should be able 

to seek a deferral of the item for one cycle of the committee so that a confidential 

report which sets out the risks can be prepared and avoids Officers having to advise 

on these issues in public (the final decision on the application should however 

always be in public), or defer the application to the next Development Control 

Committee.  

 

9. Councillor and Officer Roles 

9.1 The PAS publication ‘Probity in Planning’ 2019 states: “Councillors and 

officers have different but complementary roles within this system, and effective 

Page 52



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 15 of 18 
 

communication and a positive working relationship between officers and councillors 

is essential to delivering a good planning service..” 

9.2 The 7 Standards of Public Life identified in the Localism Act 2011 are: 

- Selflessness – public interest 

- Integrity – not open to inappropriate influence/private gain 

- Honesty – truthful; declaration of interests and gifts 

- Objectivity – use best evidence; impartial; non-discriminatory 

- Accountability – open to scrutiny 

- Openness – open and transparent decisions in public 

- Leadership – uphold and exhibit standards and behaviours 

 

9.3 The Planning Advisory Service Report for Bromley (May 2019) states: “The 

role of Councillors on the Committees presents a challenge to the individual. It is 

often considered to be a quasi-judicial role, but has been described as 

“A formal administrative process involving the application of national and local 

policies, reference to legislation and case law as well as rules of procedure, rights of 

appeal and an expectation that people will act reasonably and fairly.” 

(Local Government Association/Planning Advisory Service: Probity in Planning for 

Councillors and Officers 2013.) 

In this role Councillors are expressly being asked to place to one side any party 

political interests, and their role as the representatives of a particular ward, and 

assess, debate, and then determine often controversial planning proposals in the 

wider public interest of the whole Council area, and in line with national and local 

Page 53



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 16 of 18 
 

planning policy. They must do so in a way which demonstrates they have understood 

their role and have approached the decision point open to considering and weighing 

the merits of all the material issues.” 

Members must never be involved in decision making for  applications submitted by 

themselves. a family member or a close personal associate, and must comply with 

the Members Code of Conduct at all times when such applications are submitted.  

If on consideration of a planning application a fair minded and informed observer, 

having considered the facts, would conclude that there was a real possibility that a 

Member was biased the Member must recuse themselves from consideration of that 

application. 

9.4 The role of the committee Chairman is to lead and manage the committee and 

in particular: 

 determine the order in which questions may be addressed from the committee 

members following the officers presentation; 

 ensuring that the public speaking procedure is followed; 

 managing the committee debate about applications including the order in 

which Councillors who wish to address the committee may speak; 

 determining when the debate has come to a close and votes should be cast in 

the order in which the motions were first completed (i.e. where the motion has 

been moved and seconded by Members of the Committee). 

 ensuring that debate and decisions made are suitably focused on relevant 

planning considerations. 

9.5 Councillors sitting on the planning committee should: 

Page 54



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 17 of 18 
 

 make planning decisions on applications presented to the Committee openly, 

impartially, with sound judgement and for sound planning reasons. 

 consider only material planning considerations in determining applications 

 exercise their responsibilities with regard to the interests of the London 

Borough of Bromley as a whole rather than with regard to their particular 

Ward’s interest and issues; 

 Come to meetings with an open mind. 

 Not allow anyone (except officers, other committee Members and public 

speakers when they are addressing the committee) to communicate with them 

during the meeting (orally or in writing) as this may give the appearance of 

bias. For the same reason, it is best to avoid such contact immediately before 

the meeting starts. 

 Consider the advice that planning, legal or other officers give the committee in 

respect of the recommendation or any proposed amendment to it. 

 Comply with section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 which requires the Local Planning Authority to make decisions in 

accordance with the development plan unless there are good planning 

reasons to come to a different decision. 

 Come to their decision only after due consideration of all of the information 

available to them, including the local information that Members are uniquely 

placed to access, but always remembering to take decisions on planning 

grounds alone. If Members feel there is insufficient time to digest new 

information or that there is insufficient information before them, then they 

should seek an adjournment to address these concerns. 

Page 55



London Borough of Bromley - Local Planning Protocol and Procedures 

 
 

 December 2021 v1.8 
  Page 18 of 18 
 

 Not vote on a proposal unless they have been present to hear the entire 

debate, including the officer update and any public speaking. 

 Make sure that if they are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision 

contrary to the officer’s recommendation or the development plan, that they 

clearly identify and understand the planning reasons leading to this conclusion 

and that they take into account any advice planning, legal or other officers 

give them. Their reasons must be given prior to the vote and be recorded. Be 

aware that they may have to justify the resulting decision by giving evidence 

in the event of challenge. 

 Members should avoid requests for officers to speed up or delay the 

determination or assessment of particular applications or for items to be 

reported to particular meetings for their own personal or political convenience 

or following lobbying by applicants, agents/advisers, local residents or other 

interested parties. 

 seek to attend relevant training and briefing sessions organised from time to 

time for them. 

9.6 The role of Planning Officers at committee is: 

 to use professional judgement when recommending decisions on applications 

and other planning matters. 

 to provide professional advice to the committee on planning applications and 

other matters at any point in the meeting. 

 

Page 56



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 1 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Review of DCC and Planning Sub Committees London Borough of Bromley 

Planning Advisory Service and Vink Planning – July 2021 

 

Introduction 

1. This report sets out the results of a second review of the way the Development Control (DCC) Committee 

and Planning Sub Committees (PSC) of London Borough of Bromley (LBB) operate. This second review was 

carried out at the request of LBB by the Planning Advisory Service using Martin Vink, an experienced PAS 

consultant and formerly Development Manager at Ashford Borough Council. It was requested by the 

Council as it was again at risk of designation by MHCLG due to its record on major appeals. As with the 

previous review in 2019 the emphasis was on whether the 5 planning committees are  

• making defensible decisions on planning applications, and 

• operating effectively. 

2. Again, the review was carried out by interviewing a range of Councillors and officers and viewing several 

committee meetings. The meetings viewed were the virtual meetings of the DCC on 25 March 2021 and the 

PSC meetings of 15 October 2020 and 4 March 2021.  

Overall Impressions 

3. The committees are generally being well run but chairmen need to tread a careful balance between ensuring 

business is progressed and leading the debate and decisions. Chairman also need to ensure that the debates 

are not dominated by individual Councillors.  

4. Access to the committees by the public is good and speaking opportunities are taken up well. The order of 

proceedings and voting procedures are clear. 

5. The quality of debate is generally effective but the predominance of the local views in the debate remains. 

Members must be careful to balance all factors appropriately in their decisions and ensure that they base 

their views on good evidence rather than hunches and gut feelings. 

6. I and several of the Councillors I interviewed are concerned about the consistency of decisions between the 

4 PSCs. Whilst there is generally consistency between the sister committees (1 & 3 – 2 & 4) there can be 

variations.  

Recommendation  

• Officers should review this area and report to the relevant committee chairmen. 

7. Agendas are clear and the minutes are a particularly good record. Access to information is easy, either 

through the Council’s web site or the Mod.Gov app.  

8. As identified in this report there have been some significant improvements in the way the committees 

operate. I have reviewed this progress and suggested how further improvements might be made. 

The 2019 Review 

9. The previous review (see report dated May 2019 at Appendix 1) identified several concerns about the way 

the planning committees were operating, principally  

• an overly strong presumption by the Council to protecting the local environment over delivering 

necessary new development 

Page 57



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 2 - Vink Planning July 2021 

• an unduly strong emphasis placed on “local or ward views” 

• an approach to decision making which does not give sufficient weight to the primacy of National 

and up to date local planning policy 

• decisions taken after the original refusal because some reasons are not defendable at appeal. 

10. It identified 20 recommendations to resolve these principal concerns and to improve the way the committees 

operate. 

11. The Council has responded very proactively to the 2019 report by  

• Members and officers working together to deliver change 

• reporting the recommendations to the DCC committee on 6 occasions between October 2019 and 

March 2021 

• responding positively to most of the recommendations 

• reviewing procedures and implementing change. 

12. As identified below some changes have yet to be embedded in the way committees operate and I have 

identified areas where improvements can be made.  

13. The following sections of the report look at each of the areas for improvement in turn and identifies how 

successful changes have been. 

New Local Planning Protocol for Members  

14. A Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct (LPP) was adopted in July 2020 and is embedded in the 

Constitution (Appendix 11). It applies to both Members and officers and is based on the LGA advice in 

“Probity in Planning” published in 2019. This publication was also included in a DCC agenda for Members. 

The LPP is an important and effective document and contains advice on many of the issues which were 

raised by the PAS review in 2019 (see Appendix 1). The application of the Protocol by all Members and 

officers, involved in the planning committee process, would ensure the smooth running of committees and 

protect all concerned from unwanted scrutiny. 

15. Whilst I recognise that the LPP was only adopted in July last year and committee meetings have been held 

virtually for much of the time since, I am concerned that many Members did not have a good knowledge of 

its contents nor were all the procedures within it being followed, for example call in procedures, format of 

committee meetings and the role of officers (see detailed comments below). This must change if the Council 

is to be consistent and effective in the way it handles planning decision making. 

Recommendation  

• To raise the profile of the Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct amongst Members and 

officers 

• To review the effectiveness of the Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct on a regular basis 

and update as necessary 

• To include the Local Planning Protocol and Code of Conduct in any future training of planning 

committee Members and of officers attending DCC and PSCs. 

Reduce number of Members on DCC  

16. In our earlier report we recommended that the size of the DCC be reduced however, LBB have decided not 

to implement this recommendation. Having viewed a recent committee I did not identify that the numbers 

Page 58



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 3 - Vink Planning July 2021 

of Members present was problematic however, some Members are taking a dominant role and making it 

more difficult for the chairman to progress the meeting. This is also a problem in some PSC meetings. 

Scheme of delegation to be broadened 

17. The scheme has been completely reviewed and a revised scheme agreed. This is set out in the Constitution 

and summarised in the Local Planning Protocol. The revised scheme is a significant improvement and 

provides clarity for all. Applications are now only considered by the Committee if 

• They are subject to a written ‘call in ‘by a Councillor 

• They fall outside of the powers delegated to Planning Officers 

• Planning Officers decide to refer the application to committee 

18. It clarifies that major applications only go to the DCC following agreement by the chairman and non-major’ 

applications are mainly considered by Plans Sub Committees. On major applications Officers recommend a 

decision route, and this is agreed by the Chairman and/or the Vice Chairman of DCC within 3 working days 

of receiving the Officer recommended decision route. Officers usually provide a list every month, but this 

causes problems with programming particularly now that the DCC is only meeting every eight weeks.  

Recommendation  

• An Excel spread sheet is sent to the chair/vice chair of DCC at the end of each week identifying the 

proposed committee dates for major applications.  

• The chair/vice chair should confirm the recommended decision route within 3 working days 

• Applications would be removed from the spreadsheet when determined but would re-appear if 

appealed 

• The spread sheet would provide the basis for future committee agenda planning.  

19. Certificates of Lawfulness applications both proposed and existing use are being considered by the PSCs. At 

one of the committees I viewed, the application had been called in by a Councillor.  

20. These applications seek to establish whether an existing or proposed works are lawful in terms of the current 

planning legislation. The decision is not based on the normal balance of planning issues but solely on the 

facts of each case. Consequently, they are not applications that should be presented to committees for debate. 

Whilst I recognise that ward Members may have useful local factual information that can assist in the 

determination of applications for existing use, this does not justify them being determined at the planning 

committees where the debate was around the merits of the proposal (i.e., the suitability of the size and design 

of an extension) rather than whether the proposal met a range of legal tests. The determination of the 

applications should be carried out by the planning and legal officers of the Council.  

Recommendation  

• The scheme of delegation be revised to confirm that Certificate of Lawfulness applications both 

proposed and existing are not reported to the Planning Committees but determined by planning 

officers in consultation with the legal team as required. 

• Certificate of Lawfulness Applications are exempt from call in to committee by Members. 

‘Call ins’ to be in writing with clear planning reasons 

21. This recommendation has been acted upon with clear requirements being agreed. The LPP requires 

Members to 

Page 59



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 4 - Vink Planning July 2021 

• make call in requests in writing 

• give clear reasons for the call in which must be related to material planning issues or because there 

are strong (my emphasis) public interest reasons.  

22.  A significant number of applications are still considered by the PSCs because they have been called in by 

Members. They take up a considerable resource both in committee time, officer preparation and report 

writing. Those I interviewed confirmed that not all Members are complying with these requirements.  

Recommendation  

• Call in requests that are not made in writing should not be acted upon.  

• Call in requests must have clear reasons why the application needs a committee decision 

• Call ins should only be made by a relevant ward Member or with the agreement of one of the ward 

Members 

• Who has called in the application and the reasons for the request should be included at the 

beginning of the committee report. 

• The Member who has called in the application is expected to attend the relevant committee meeting 

to speak on the application 

• The process be automated using an online form which would logged on the back-office system and 

made available to the case officer. The form would  

o require the details of the ward Member, the application number and the reasons for call in 

o include options which would allow Members to indicate whether they would be happy for 

officers to determine the applications if they were recommended either for approval or refusal 

o require completion of all sections before the request is accepted thereby avoiding any 

misunderstandings.  

‘Call in’ monitoring to be reported to DCC 

23. Clear monitoring reports are now being presented to the DCC showing total call ins and disaggregated data 

at the ward level. This has confirmed that call ins are most common in a small number of wards and the 

relevant Members should ensure that they apply discretion when invoking this procedure. 

Format of committee agenda to be reviewed including ‘Lists’ 

24. This has been reviewed and the “lists” removed. The agendas are now much clearer and users prefer the new 

approach.  

Officer role at committee to be reviewed including presentations 

25. Changes here have been limited. The July 2020 version of the Local Planning Protocol confirms that, for 

each major application, officers will be the first to address the committee providing an update and a short 

presentation. Only a limited number of presentations have been given so far but, where they have, users 

have found them useful, they have concentrated debate on the salient issues and there is a clear benefit to 

public perception that, when Members debate an item, they have a clear understanding of the issues in front 

of them.  

26. All my discussions with Members and officers confirmed they find presentations very helpful. Similarly, 

they all agreed presentations should be made for all applications on both the DCC and PSC committee 

agendas. The only proviso to this was that presentations must be concise. 

Page 60



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 5 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Recommendation 

• That officers present each application on the agenda to the DCC and PSC. The presentation to 

include  

• images of the existing site (where possible) utilising officer photographs or Google Earth or Street 

View. 

• a description of the application proposals including useful images / elevations / plans from the 

application 

• a short summary of the main issues for consideration 

• presentations to PSC committee to be no more than 3 minutes  

• presentations to DCC to be limited to 5 minutes unless the application is particularly large or 

complex when a longer presentation can be agreed in advance with the chairman. 

27. Planning Officers still appear reticent to interject into debates to provide advice or correct misleading 

statements and to take a robust role in the meetings if it is required. Planning committees can only work 

effectively if there is mutual trust and respect between Members and officers and a culture of working 

together to deliver high quality decisions and service. The Local Planning Protocol highlights and supports 

this important officer role and is specific that  

“The role of Planning Officers at committee is: 

• to use professional judgement when recommending decisions on applications and other planning 

matters. 

• to provide professional advice to the committee on planning applications and other matters at any 

point in the meeting. 

If a motion is proposed that contradicts that in the Officer report the Planning Officer should be given 

the opportunity to give the committee advice on that motion prior to any vote.” 

Recommendation 

• Chairmen should ensure that the order of proceedings set out in section 7 of the agreed LPP is 

followed consistently 

• Officers should ensure that they fulfil their roles at committee effectively and robustly 

• Committee Chairmen and Members should encourage and allow them to do so. 

Quality of committee reports to be improved 

28. All committees are now operating a revised report template. This includes using images to assist in describing 

applications. All users of the committees reports confirm that this has been a beneficial change and makes it 

much easier to assimilate the necessary information in the decision making process. 

Recommendation 

• Officers to continue to use the new report templates and ensure that images are included where 

possible to assist Members in understanding the sites and the proposals. 

Page 61



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 6 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Review of appeal decisions and costs to be reported to DCC 

29. This recommendation has been acted upon and a detailed report was last presented to the Development 

Control Committee on 19 November 2020. Ideally this report should be repeated every six months and 

significant changes or lessons learned highlighted to Members. Of particular use within the report is 

comparison with national statistics, espesially the levels of appeals allowed which remains above the national 

average, and the numbers of appeals by ward. This latter analysis highlights particularly well the impact that 

call in applications have in certain wards in the Borough and emphasises the need for Member training to 

be kept up to date. 

Less emphasis on ‘local view’ at committee 

30. I did not detect any significant change in the approach to local views at committees with Members acting as 

strong advocates for local views rather than being seen to take a broader perspective.  

Recommendation 

• Wider training of Members with particular reference to the Local Planning Protocol and the LGA’s 

“Probity in Planning”. 

Substitutions at committee should not be related to Ward Interest  

31. The response to this in the reports to DCC on service improvements is “This could impact on the ability to 

provide substitutes and may not be necessary as long as other recommendations are followed in respect of 

Member training and approach”  

32. Unfortunately, I obtained anecdotal evidence that this is continuing and occasionally ward Members are 

“loading” particular meetings. Every effort should be made to ensure that substitutes at the committee 

meetings are impartial and can be seen to be impartial.  

Where motion goes against Officer recommendation, clear reasons for refusal or conditions to be 

agreed before vote is taken 

33. The agreed Local Planning Protocol now requires this but when I viewed committees, held before the 

Protocol was agreed, votes to overturn officer recommendations were taken and the reasons decided upon 

after the decision had been made. This is a dangerous procedure; Members may not be clear what they are 

voting on, and the decision could be open to challenge. The agreed procedure now is that after any debate 

the Chairman  

• summarises motions put and seconded  

• clarifies reasons for refusal or permission if different to that recommended or if additional reasons / 

conditions are to be added  

• gives the Planning Officer the opportunity to advise committee prior to motion being considered. 

This approach complies with best practice. 

34. The Planning Protocol also requires that 

“If the officer considers that he/she is unable to give that advice immediately, further consideration of 

the matter will be suspended and the agenda item will be adjourned so that the officer can bring a 

report to the next available committee setting out his/her advice.” 

Page 62



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 7 - Vink Planning July 2021 

This reflects the concerns expressed in our previous report and emphasises the need for officers to be able 

to defer consideration of an application until they can present a full answer to questions raised. This 

chimes well with the issues discussed in the next section. 

Recommendation 

• Ensure clear understanding and application of the Local Planning Protocol by all Members and 

officers at committee meetings. 

Deferral of items where there is a risk of losing appeal and/or costs 

35. In the PAS report of 2019 ( see Appendix 1) we said  

“The Committee has a procedure for deferral of decisions to a later PSC which are contrary to officer 

recommendations to approve (Section 4 of the PSC agenda). Where a final decision to refuse could 

make the Council vulnerable at appeal and awards of costs, officers should seek a deferral of the item 

for one cycle of the committee so that a confidential report which sets out the risks can be prepared 

and avoids officers having to advise on these issues in public. The decision on the relevant application 

should however always be made in public. An alternative would be to defer such applications to the 

next meeting of the DCC. This would emphasise the role of the DCC as the “parent committee”.” 

36. This approach has not been adopted by the Council with the report to the DCC stating 

“This is potentially too onerous and would create unnecessary delay and additional committee time. 

This could be dealt with by a combination of better discussions with Ward Councillors during the 

planning application process and legal and planning officer advice at and before the meeting where 

appropriate.” 

37. This approach remains a concern. The latest figures available show that £36,236.15 had been paid out in cost 

awards for the period April 2019 to March 2020. These cost awards were in part because the Council could 

not provide objective analysis of its reasons or substantive evidence to support the reasons for refusal. The 

times when applications might need to be deferred are small and I remain of the view that this option should 

be available to the committee and officers if the decision is likely to put the Council in a vulnerable position. 

Doing so does not undermine the position of the committee and Members but instead displays a careful 

approach to the process.  

Recommendation 

• Implement the recommendations from the 2019 review report. 

Review of site visit procedures for committee Members 

38. A review has occurred and effective procedures have been reviewed and incorporated in the Local Planning 

Protocol.  

Page 63



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 8 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Consideration of use of different room for committee meetings 

39. The Council has reviewed this but has concluded that the Council Chamber remains the best location. 

Consequently, consideration needs to be given to making the meetings as inclusive as possible. Changes have 

been made due to COVID-19 requirements but further adaptations would be beneficial. 

40. The previous report highlighted the need to improve information available to visitors. Understandably with 

the pandemic, this has not been progressed. 

Recommendation 

• The current seating layout in a “U” format be continued post COVID as it enables eye contact to be 

made with all of the participants, which the previous “T” layout did not. 

• Member seating is placed as close as possible to the public seating area to enhance inclusivity 

• Examination of the best way to provide facilities for PowerPoint presentations to be visible to all 

Members and the visiting public and most appropriate solution installed as soon as possible.  

• Information available to visitors to the meetings be reviewed and improved. 

More pro-active approach to major pre-application discussions including early Member 

involvement such as presentations to committee and improved communication between Officers 

and Members 

41. Significant changes have taken place since my last visit. Members are now being involved in pre application 

discussions with applicants on major and significant applications. Members are finding this very helpful. 

They have also bought into the culture of trying to resolve issues and improve applications at an early stage, 

often making them less likely to run into last minute issues at committee and be refused.  

Committee should include at least one Executive Member 

42. The Council has decided that this is not an option they wish to take up. 

Effective compulsory training should be provided for all committee Members including 

substitutes and a list of trained Members retained 

43. The 26 November 2019 Planning Service Improvement report to DCC highlighted a comprehensive Member 

training plan for Members was being prepared and options for delivery methods were being reviewed. A list 

of 15 topics which training could cover were identified. Officers were working to provide a Members’ 

webpage to include information about the Planning team at Bromley, the Local Planning Protocol, a rolling 

training schedule, information from past training sessions and other useful documents and links, plus key 

headline planning news in a simple and easy to digest format. This portal has the potential to be very useful. 

44. Interviewees confirmed that some training, for example on viability, has since been provided but had not 

seen the online portal. Further training should be rolled out and an update on the online portal should be 

provided. 

45. I remain concerned that training for committee Members and substitutes is not compulsory. Bromley 

is unusual in this and strongly encouraging Members to attend training is insufficient to ensure 

good decision making continues. All those I interviewed which included most of the committee 

chairmen supported making training compulsory if Members want to be able to determine 

applications.  

Page 64



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 9 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Recommendation 

• All Members of the Planning Sub and Development Control Committees should be required to have 

a minimum level of training to include  

o Introduction to Planning  
o The Development Plan and Decision Making  
o Predetermination and Predisposition 
o Probity and Disclosure of Interests 
o How committees work  
o The Local Planning Protocol  
Such training to be compulsory for Members wishing to take part in the debate and voting 
at these committees. 

• All Members be strongly encouraged to undertake other topic based training as may be offered to 

maintain their levels of competency. 

Regular reports on performance of planning and appeals team   

46. Since the 2019 review several reports have been presented to the Development Control Committee. These 

have covered 

• performance improvements 

• analysis of ‘call ins’ 

• application performance including speed of decision making and proportion of delegated decisions 

• outcomes of overturned appeals for major applications 

• appeals resulting in costs 

• detailed monitoring of appeals. 

47. The reports are providing Members with important and very useful information. I appreciate that the period 

since the previous review has been dominated by the difficulties resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic 

but it is essential these reports are continued and on a regular basis. At present there is no clear pattern of 

when they are presented to DCC and a programme should be agreed. This is especially important for the 

report which provides detailed monitoring of appeals, which has a wealth of useful information, and the 

report which explains why major appeals have been allowed. This latter report is useful training for Members 

and officers.  

Recommendation 

• Agree programme for regular presentation of monitoring reports and review of the implementation 

of agreed actions/performance. 

Other Areas of concern / improvement 

48. The frequency of DCC meetings is being reduced to once every 8 weeks. Given the number of items the 

committee must consider this may well be problematic and delay the determination of major applications. 

Making meetings monthly would help avoid the problem of the meeting on 25 March 2021, when the agenda 

was far too long with 24 items on the agenda and a report pack of 544 pages. 

Recommendation 

• Carefully forward plan DCC agendas via the spreadsheet described in paragraph 18. 

• Limit scale of agendas by programming DCC meetings for each month and cancel if there are 

insufficient items for the agenda. 

Page 65



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 10 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Conclusions  

49. The Council has taken a robust approach to improvements since the 2019 report and much good work has 

been done. Commitment to improvements from Members and officers is strong and will help in carrying the 

committee process forward. Of particular note are the adoption of the Local Planning Protocol, revised 

report formats, presentations to committee and Member involvement in pre application discussions. There 

all still several areas where further improvement can be made and I hope that the recommendations in this 

report are helpful and that you are able to take many of them forward. 

 

Martin Vink 

23 July 2021 

  

Page 66



PAS Review of Development Control and Planning Sub Committees - London Borough of Bromley - July 2021 

 - 11 - Vink Planning July 2021 

Appendix 1: Report by PAS to LB Bromley May 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is left intentionally blank 

 

Page 67



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 1 

Introduction 

1. With a desire to learn and share best practice on decision-making processes, and considering potential 

‘designation’ by the MHCLG based on major application performance at appeal, the London Borough of 

Bromley (LBB) requested the Planning Advisory Service to 

• provide a light touch review of the council’s Development Control Committee (DCC) and Planning Sub 

Committees (PSC), and 

• advise whether they are operating effectively. 

2. The review has been carried out by Cllr Melvyn Caplan from Westminster City Council, a former leader of 

that council and currently, amongst other roles, chair of a Planning Sub Committee and Martin Vink, a 

consultant on behalf of PAS but formerly Development Manager at Ashford Borough Council 

3. In delivering the review we identified its scope as set out in Appendix 1. 

4. To review the Committee processes in line with the scope, and make recommendations based on an 

assessment of evidence, we have taken account of the following sources of information: -  

a) Publicly available material from LBB (Constitution, Committee reports, etc.)  

b) National best practice guidance  

c) Reviewers’ own experience 

d) Observations through attendance at the Planning Sub Committee meeting on 28 March and 

Development Control Committee meeting of 4 April 2019  

e) 1:1 interviews with Councillors, Council staff, and public stakeholders  

General comments relating to Development Control and Planning Sub Committees 

5. DC/Planning committees pose a combination of challenges which need to be reconciled in a manner which 

is effective, fair, and consistent. The role of Councillors on the Committees presents a challenge to the 

individual. It is often considered to be a quasi-judicial role, but has been described as  

“A formal administrative process involving the application of national and local policies, reference to 

legislation and case law as well as rules of procedure, rights of appeal and an expectation that people will 

act reasonably and fairly.” 

(Local Government Association/Planning Advisory Service: Probity in Planning for Councillors and 

Officers 2013.)  

6. In this role Councillors are expressly being asked to place to one side any party-political interests, and their 

role as the representatives of a particular ward, and assess, debate, and then determine often controversial 

planning proposals in the wider public interest of the whole council area, and in line with national and local 

planning policy. They must do so in a way which demonstrates they have understood their role and have 

approached the decision point open to considering and weighing the merits of all the material issues.  

7. Planning, legal, and democratic support officers of the Council all have clear roles to play in supporting their 

Councillors in ensuring the DCC and PSCs are efficient, effective, and uphold the highest standards of 

Page 68



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 2 

decision making. Training, guidance material, report writing, presentations and advice at Committee all need 

to be effective and regularly reviewed in the light of a changing environment. 

8. All councils need to be satisfied that the operation of its Planning Committee is delivering value for money. 

The council needs to be satisfied that there is a good match between the significance of the decision to be 

made on each of the applications which form the agenda for each meeting, and the substantial time and 

resource costs associated with a planning application being determined by Committee.  

Background 

9. Bromley Borough Council covers an area of 150 sq. Km on the southern edge of London inside the ring of 

the M25. Development pressures are strong with major developments planned for the town centre and other 

locations. 

10. The Borough has a newly adopted Local Plan (2019) and a number of Supplementary Planning Documents 

including a Town Centre Action Area Plan, Affordable Housing, General Design Principles, Conservation 

Area Guidance, etc. The Borough is also included in the London Plan 2015 and the 2017 draft London Plan. 

The Borough includes large areas of Green Belt, some Metropolitan Open Land, 45 Conservation Areas plus 

Areas of Special Residential Character. Protecting this character whilst dealing with development pressures 

is a significant tension in the council’s decision making. The principal planning issues facing the Council are:  

• Pressure from increasing housing targets — where any additional homes can be built 

• Pressure for school places and locations for new / expanded schools 

• Pressure for more development in town centres 

Application Performance January 2017 - December 2018 

      

 Total 
Determined in 
agreed time  

Not Determined in 
agreed time 

percentage in 
agreed time 

LB Bromley 
Target 

Majors 59 48 11 81% 60% 

Non 
Majors 

5959 4940 1019 83% 70% 

 Appeal Decisions for applications determined between April 2016 - 
March 2018 

 
Total 

applications 
determined 

No of 
Appeals 
Allowed 

 % allowed MHCLG target 

Major 
Appeals 

75 9  12.0% 10% 

Non 
Major 

Appeals 
6542 262  3.7% - 

 

Page 69



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 3 

• Pressure on existing protected land (Green Belt / MOL) 

• Budget cuts / staffing levels 

• Ability to attract (experienced) staff to Bromley 

11. The speed of handling planning applications is good but the quality of decisions (% overturned at appeal - 24 

months to the end of March 2018) was 12% for major applications, outside the Government target of 10% 

which places the Council at risk of designation. 

12. The proportion of applications determined by officers (delegated decisions) has increased slightly in recent 

years to 91%. Given that major applications only account for approximately 10% of all applications and the 

delegation agreement does not require all major applications to go to the committees, the proportion of 

decisions that are delegated appears low.  

13. The percentage refused is very high which linked to the high levels of applications leads to a large number 

of appeals. This is not only a significant resourcing issue for the Council but has resulted in 271 appeals being 

allowed in the period 1/4/16 to 31/3/18. Awards of costs for appeals was £170,000 last year. Does this suggest 

a restrictive approach to decision making across the Council which is out of sync with decision making 

elsewhere and which will result in the Council continuing to be at risk of designation as appeals are allowed? 

% Applications Refused in 2018 

 % Refused 
Number of LPA with 

higher % in England 
Number of London 

Boroughs with higher % 

Major Applications 44 1 0 

Minor Applications 32 19 6 

Other Applications 22 12 6 

Note: There are 339 Local Planning Authorities in England and 33 London Boroughs  

14. Decisions on planning matters, including applications, are made by the Development Control Committee 

(DCC), any of the 4 Planning Sub Committees (PSC) and officers. Of the 60 councillors at Bromley 31 sit on 

either the DCC or PSC. Of the 31 only 17 sit on the DCC. Each of the PSC has 9 members with some members 

sitting on more than one PSC, for example 4 members sit on both PSC 1 and 3 and 5 sit on both PSC 2 and 4. 

15. The Committees terms of reference and voting procedures are set out in the Council’s Constitution. Members 

are bound by the Council’s general code of conduct and whilst there is a requirement for members to maintain 

high standards it might be useful to incorporate reference to the 7 Standards of Public Life identified in the 

Localism Act 2011: 

- Selflessness – public interest 

- Integrity – not open to inappropriate influence/private gain 

- Honesty – truthful; declaration of interests and gifts 

- Objectivity – use best evidence; impartial; non-discriminatory 

Page 70



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 4 

- Accountability – open to scrutiny 

- Openness – open and transparent decisions in public 

- Leadership – uphold and exhibit standards and behaviours  

19. In our discussions no reference was made to any specific Protocol or Code of Conduct for Members when 

handling planning matters. Such Protocols are common amongst other planning authorities and set the 

framework for the member and officer roles in determining planning decisions.  

20. Since our visit we have found, by chance, that LB Bromley did publish a Development Control Guide to Good 

Practice in 2006 which is still current but no longer issued to Councillors. We appreciate that this document 

predates the Localism Act (2011) and in many respects is out of date. However, it not only deals with probity 

issues but also includes useful background and explanation of the way in which the Bromley Planning 

Committee functions. We appreciate that the Council now use the LGA “Probity in Planning” (2013) booklet 

as it is more up to date and reflects the Localism Act 2011. We suggest, however, consideration is given to 

agreeing a revised Protocol for the PSCs and DCC which incorporates the elements of the 2006 document 

that are still relevant and particular to LB Bromley with the advice in the LGA booklet which recommends 

Councils adopt a local code for these issues. This would allow members and officers have a clear reference for 

procedures and approaches which are specific to LB Bromley. 

21. Procedures for speaking at the Committees are set out in Planning Division Information Sheet 1.4 available 

on the Council’s web site. 

Assessment 

22. The principal driver for us being invited to Bromley was the risk of the Council being designated as a poor 

performer due to its major appeal record (see 13 above). Whilst the Council has been unfortunate that 4 major 

allowed appeals related to 2 sites, the very high level of refusal of applications, the resultant high number of 

appeals, the success rate of appeals supported by further reading of the major appeal decisions and Members’ 

approach at the committees suggests certain trends, namely 

• an overly strong presumption by the council to protecting the local environment over delivering 

necessary new development 

• an unduly strong emphasis placed on “local or ward views” 

• an approach to decision making which does not give sufficient weight to the primacy of National and up to 

date local planning policy 

• decisions taken after the original refusal because some reasons are not defendable at appeal.   

We deal with these below. 

22. We were only able to see one PSC and one DCC in action. Our overall impression is that whilst local people 

think the committee represents local level views well, the committees may not be operating in the best 

interests of the Borough as a whole. The relationship between members and officers appears strained and 

limits the effective delivery of the service. We set out below our comments and conclusions against the scope 

of the review set out in appendix 1. 

Page 71



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 5 

Purpose  

• Is it clear that members of the Committee fully understand their role?  

• We found:  

• Committees and members who are focused on maintaining the open character of the Borough, its 

conservation areas and areas of special character. 

• Meetings that are run based on local knowledge, where debate starts with the ward view as opposed to 

a planning view of the application with subsequent ward input.  

• Committees and members who do not appropriately balance ward/local views with the Borough wide 

agenda of  

• promoting economic development to generate new income and employment opportunities,  

• providing access to affordable, secure and decent homes 

• enhancing cultural and community activities across the Borough. 

• An approach to new development which does not adequately recognise the demands being placed on the 

Borough. Repeatedly we heard that Bromley is different from the rest of London which suggests an 

unresolved tension between delivering local protectionist aspirations and fully engaging with the need 

to deliver the requirements of the London Plan. This approach is perhaps best summarised by the 

inspector at the appeal into new housing at the junction of South Eden Park Road and Bucknall Way, 

Beckenham, when he said 

“…But it is clear that Bromley is likely to have to deliver a step change in dpa completions in coming 

years and that its recent failure to adequately balance the need to exceed the delivery of 641 dpa against 

a continued blanket protection of all UOS sites is unrealistic and unsustainable if London, the capital 

city and most prosperous part of the UK, is to achieve anywhere near its OAN (Objectively Assessed 

Need)…” 

We note Council officers consider that the Inspector fundamentally misunderstood the OAN and that 

the current position is that Bromley has exceeded its housing target and there is nothing to suggest that 

this will not continue to be the case. 

• We appreciate that the recently adopted Local Plan makes allocations for new housing and that the 

council currently has an adequate 5 year land supply but there could be increasing demands to deliver 

housing coming from the review of the London Plan and the local desire to protect the current character 

of the Borough may not be persuasive in forthcoming appeals (although it is noted that Bromley has 

objected to the draft London Plan and at present it is of limited weight). Indeed, it was not surprising that 

the representatives of local residents’ societies were complimentary of the approach of the council and 

its planning committees as their views are often supported by the council’s decisions.  

• The size of the Planning Sub Committees is acceptable but as explained above (para 15) the number of 

councillors involved and the limited cross over of members between each committee does raise issues of 

consistency.   

Page 72



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 6 

• The size of the DCC is very large at 17 members and should be reduced to a more manageable size. 

• Paragraph 2.07 of the Constitution lists the functions of the Development Control Committee as  

• Planning and Conservation - responsible for all duties relating to planning and development control, 

• Unitary Development Plan, 

• Highways use and regulation, and 

• Common Land and Village Greens 

The Plans Sub Committees are responsible for all powers and duties of the Council as Local Planning 

Authority.  

In other words, the PSCs are authorised to deal with all planning applications whatever their size. With 

the DCC and PSCs having the same powers to determine applications, there needs to be clarity about 

which types of applications are referred to the DCC for determination. We were unable to find a clear 

procedure for this. Indeed, we gained the distinct impression that applications appeared on the DCC 

agenda in part to satisfy members wishes to have some planning applications to determine at each DCC 

rather than any structured approach. Consequently, the purpose of the DCC in relation to handling 

planning applications needs to be clarified. We can see that it could have a role for example determining 

• applications which are identified by previously agreed criteria as being large or strategic, or  

• applications where the PSCs wish to make a decision which is contrary to officer advice, or  

• applications where the PSCs decision could leave the council at risk of a cost award if an appeal was 

lodged 

as well as the other responsibilities currently included in The Constitution. 

• Do the delegated agreement and process for ‘call ins’ serve to support the Committee members 

and officers in making best use of their time to look at the ‘right’ applications? 

• Whilst the percentage of delegated decisions has increased during recent years it is still at the lower end 

of the scale. Currently the delegation procedure allows all applications to be determined by officers unless 

the application is for  

• the approval of 10 or more dwellings 

• the approval of any new commercial development whether or not a major application 

• approval of any application resulting from an enforcement case, 

• and any application “called in” by any councillor, whether or not the application is in their ward 

or an adjoining ward. 

• An application is  submitted by a Member or an officer 

We saw an application decided by the DCC which was straightforward, with no local representations 

and was consistent with policy. This could have been determined by a PSC or most effectively could 

Page 73



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 7 

have been a delegated decision if the Scheme of Delegation did not require all new commercial 

development to be determined by councillors.  

• The Scheme of Delegation is too restrictive. For example, why are all new commercial applications and 

approval of enforcement cases singled out for committee attention? As with other procedures we believe 

this may be a historic approach and the scheme should now be reviewed. 

• We identified a high level of call ins with concentrations from particular councillors and wards. We were 

surprised that call-ins can be made by any member regardless of whether the application is in their ward 

or not. In any event, and to avoid any misunderstandings, any request that delegated powers should not 

be exercised must be made in writing with reasons stating why PSC should determine the application. 

This approach accords with the council’s Good Practice Guidelines (2006) and the advice in “Probity in 

Planning” (p10). 

• Going forward the level nature and source of call-ins should be monitored, reported to the DCC and 

options for maintaining suitable sized agendas explored. 

• Do members understand the process, and is the information they receive relevant and concise? 

• Councillors appeared to have a clear understanding of the committee process  

• The agenda format, in particular the various lists, is confusing and staff were not aware of the reasons 

for it. The Good Practice Guidelines of 2006, provides some explanation but we suggest the format of 

the agenda is reviewed, in conjunction with  

• a review of the planning officer role at committee (see below) 

• questioning of what constitutes an application meriting special consideration (section 2 of the 

agenda) - would the public know why these applications are special? 

• a review of the relationship of PSCs to the DCC with perhaps applications, where Members wish 

to make a decision contrary to the officers’ recommendation, standing referred to the DCC 

• improving the quality of reports to the committee (see below) 

• a regular review of appeal decisions and the reasons for appeals being allowed, especially when 

costs are awarded against the Council. 

Format and Process  

• How are applications debated and voted on?  

• Councillors in the main concentrated on relevant planning considerations. 

• Our discussions and experience of the committees suggest too great an emphasis is given to the “local 

view”. We were told that particular Ward Members put pressure on officers and members to secure 

refusals in their wards. In addition, there is evidence that ward members appear as substitutes on the 

PSCs when applications in their wards are listed on an agenda, which is not good practice.  

• We are concerned that ward members are attending as strong advocates for their ward and are also voting 

on the application. Members should be the champions of their residents, but in most cases should not 

Page 74



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 8 

decide applications in their own ward. This would reflect the approach advocated in “Probity in 

Planning” p10. 

• Notwithstanding the bias towards the local/ward view, debate kept to the appropriate planning issues. 

• There is inadequate involvement of officers in the debate, indeed we have the impression that councillors 

have a poor opinion of officers and do not welcome their advice at the Committee. Consequently, the 

officer role is reduced to one of providing updates. The Council’s own Good Practice Guidelines of 2006 

provides clear guidance (below) which should be incorporated in the revised protocol we have 

recommended. It can be updated to include/reflect the advice in “Probity in Planning” by the LGA.  

“Officers’ Right to Speak 

The Chief Planner or his representative should be allowed to speak first on any item to correct 

or update the officers’ report, to set the scene and to summarise the gist of his advice. He/she 

should be entitled to respond throughout the debate, but at the Chairman's discretion, to correct 

or amplify any potentially misleading statement by Members. If after the discussion, it appears 

that some Members are not following the officers’ advice, the officer should be allowed to 

respond to any new points made and to address the implications of a contrary decision. 

Reasons 

Since the Chief Planners reports are written several weeks ahead of the committee meeting, it is 

sensible to allow the Chief Planner or his representative to update his report with the results of 

any outstanding consultations and late objections. Because the reports are publicly available prior 

to the committee meeting both applicants and objectors often asked for additional points to be 

made or factors stressed. To avoid complaints about maladministration, it is essential for the 

offices to be allowed to amplify the report. On many controversial proposals that have a complex 

history, it is useful for the officer to point out the salient issues. It is not unusual for Members in 

debating the issues to make comments that might be interpreted as misleading. This is not 

intended to be a criticism of Members since questionable information may have been provided 

by applicants or objectors, or the officer’s report should perhaps have been framed more clearly. 

In these instances again, it is essential for any such comments to be amplified or corrected by the 

officers to avoid the decision been based on arguably inaccurate facts, or misunderstanding. It is 

open to Members to refuse an application that has been recommended for permission, but before 

the final vote is taken the officer ought to be allowed to speak to clarify any matters or point out 

the implications of the Members’ decision, as well as comment on any conditions or suggested 

grounds of refusal."     

(LB Bromley Development Control Good Practice Guidelines 2006) 

• The Committees were well chaired. 

• Voting procedures at the Committee were very clear. 

• Care should be taken to ensure, where the motion is different from the officers’ report, that the reasons 

for refusal or for approval and any necessary conditions are clear before the vote is taken. 

Page 75



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 9 

• The Committee has a procedure for deferral of decisions to a later PSC which are contrary to officer 

recommendations to approve (Section 4 of the PSC agenda). Where a final decision to refuse could make 

the Council vulnerable at appeal and awards of costs, officers should seek a deferral of the item for one 

cycle of the committee so that a confidential report which sets out the risks can be prepared and avoids 

officers having to advise on these issues in public. The decision on the relevant application should however 

always be made in public. An alternative would be to defer such applications to the next meeting of the 

DCC. This would emphasise the role of the DCC as the “parent committee”. 

• Care should be taken that motions for refusal are always clearly put and well defined to enable officers to 

formulate effective reasons for the minutes and decision notices. 

• Does the standard, clarity and layout of Committee reports support the Committee process?  

• Good decision making starts with good, clearly understood information. 

• We strongly support the recent change to officers providing a clear, well reasoned recommendation to 

either approve or refuse each application. This approach is best practice and to continue with the previous 

approach, of providing optional recommendations, is not supported nor is it in accordance with the Royal 

Town Planning Institute Code of Practice. 

• The reports are too long and fail to concentrate on the issues central to a determination of the particular 

case. In a desire to cover everything, the key issues of policy that are important are not sufficiently 

prominently highlighted. 

• The report should state why the application has been presented to the committee for a decision. If the 

application has been called-in the report should state by whom and why. 

• A precis of consultee comments should be given and not provided verbatim.  

• The reports should include maps, plans and drawings which adequately describe the proposal rather than 

relying on members viewing details online beforehand or by passing a file around the committee table 

during discussion. This latter practice seems counterproductive as it distracts members from the debate, 

is not clear to members of the public and assists the perception that the committee does not fully 

appreciate the issues of particular cases. 

• Members should also be encouraged to access the relevant file online prior to the committee meeting. 

•  Examples we saw which support this change to reports and the introduction of presentations at 

committee were: 

• decision on whether or not to allow a second dormer window on a front roof line in an Area of 

Special Residential Character would have been better informed and more robust if photographs 

of the site and street had been provided in an initial presentation.  

• debate about the height and design of proposed dwellings on a constrained site appeared 

uninformed, as no graphics were available.  

• debate on whether to allow an increase in the number of dwellings on a site by subdividing 

previously permitted units would have been better informed if plans and drawings showing the 

approved and proposed structures had been provided prior to the debate or referred to by officers 

Page 76



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 10 

when it was clear a decision contrary to their advice was likely to be made. (This refusal leaves 

the council open to a difficult appeal.) 

• Does the presentation of Committee reports by Planning Officers support the Committee 

process?  

• There are no presentations by officers at the committees. Instead, a file of plans and relevant information 

is handed round the members during debate. We found this a particular failing and it must be addressed. 

We were left with the distinct perception that councillors did not always know the sites referred to nor 

did they appreciate the design and impact issues arising from the various applications. The lack of 

presentations does foster poor perceptions of the committees by the public potentially bringing the 

council into disrepute. 

• The committee being provided with an illustrated presentation with site/contextual photographs and 

relevant plans/drawings would aid the debate and improve the perception for those attending that the 

applications and their context were clearly understood. 

• What is the process for Councillor site visits, how are views recorded and reported back to 

Committee? 

• Our impression is that site visits by the committee are very infrequent and we did not discuss them. 

The 2006 Good Practice Guidelines confirms that these visits are for fact finding only and the merits 

of the case should not be discussed. Procedures for agreeing and handling site visits should be reviewed. 

Consideration might also be given to early site visits for the largest and most complex applications. 

There is also useful advice on page 15 of “Probity in Planning”. 

• For the larger and more complex applications, the absence of clear photographs Plans and 3D images 

as well as no site visits gives a poor impression of the decision making process  

• Does the Committee chamber layout support the Committee process?  

• No - see Customer Experience below. 

• How effective are the arrangements for training Committee members? 

• see Quality and Improvement section below 

Customer Experience  

• How is public engagement managed at the Committee?  

• Speakers at the Committee appreciated the welcome and clear guidance provided. 

• Customers told us, and we saw, the welcoming and inclusive style of the Chairs of the Committees. 

• Speakers seemed to appreciate the opportunity to respond to questions from councillors. 

• Speakers described the room as intimidating (see customer experience below) 

• Customers reported well run, professional and effective Committees. 

Page 77



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 11 

• Committee agendas are available well in advance and easily accessible for customers via the mod.gov 

app. 

• How could public understanding of the role, and limitations of the Planning and Development 

Control Committees be improved?  

• Using Committee Room 1 instead, unless a very large number of the public are expected to attend, as 

the layout of the Council Chamber is restrictive and intimidating for those taking part in proceedings. 

Officers have raised concerns about member security if a smaller room is used but many other Councils 

hold meetings in smaller more intimate rooms without security issues. Additionally, security staff are 

on duty in any event should they be needed. This issue should not prevent the Council developing a 

more inclusive approach to its customers at planning meetings. 

• Customer experience at the Committee meeting is mixed.  

• Customers are clearly directed to the Council Chamber and welcomed by staff.  

• Details of applications that have been withdrawn are displayed as is how to access the Council’s 

public Wifi. 

• The acoustics of the Council Chamber are poor and the layout of the room makes it very difficult 

for the public to hear. 

• The committees felt very distant from the public gallery. 

• The layout of the tables as “T” meant that the councillors could not be clearly seen and that 

views of the people on ends of the top table were blocked, making it more difficult for these 

officers to interact with the committee members. 

• No information is available about of how the Committee will operate or on emergency 

evacuation procedures. A laminated A4 sheet with this information might prove helpful to the 

public. 

• How should public representations be managed during the Committee?  

• The public welcomed the opportunity to address the Committees and answer questions. The 3-minute 

allowance for speakers is adequate, successful and mirrors many other councils. 

Roles and Responsibilities  

• Is the role of Councillors on the Committee, and more widely, understood in relation to the 

handling of planning applications and ensuring probity?  

• Member’s involvement in applications seems to be solely at the end of the process i.e. at committee. 

This is often too late in the process and prevents the opportunity for active engagement with the local 

point of view at a stage when change/improvements to developments could more easily be made. We 

suggest a more proactive approach to pre-application discussions on major applications involving: 

• meetings with developers attended by members and officers to discuss early ideas and to set out 

likely local concerns 

Page 78

http://mod.gov/


PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 12 

• presentations to a wider audience of members of the planning committees, again to understand 

the issues likely to be of concern, and 

• on the biggest applications  

• public engagement events, and possibly 

• the presentation of an early issues report to the PSC/DCC to confirm officers are covering 

all the areas members would wish. 

These measures ensure that  

• no big surprises happen at the determining committee 

• local concerns can be fully considered and where possible ameliorated 

• applications are less likely to be refused for reasons that cannot be adequately supported at appeal 

• perceptions of the council will change from being highly regulating to facilitating and 

consequently more in tune with national policy in the NPPF. 

• Officers should encourage Ward Members to contact them to discuss potentially contentious applications 

and members should respond positively to the initiative. 

• There is no specific Planning Code of Practice for Members and we believe that the Council would benefit 

from more tailored advice and procedures. Some advice is provided in the Development Control Good 

Practice Guidelines (2006) but this should be updated to reflect the changed roles of councillors following 

the Localism Act 2011. 

• Officers should encourage and facilitate the involvement of Ward Members in pre application discussions 

to ensure early discussion of local views and issues. Their involvement should not be prevented on 

grounds of commercial confidentiality. Ward members should be trusted to maintain confidentiality. 

• Officers should seek greater opportunities for effective and meaningful member and community 

involvement in pre-application discussions particularly around major developments. 

• Is the role of the Portfolio Members at Committee understood by all concerned?  

• Only 3 of the 31 PSC and DCC members are also members of the Executive. This seems quite a low 

proportion and the council may wish to give consideration to having at least one Executive member 

on each of the PSC and DCC to ensure that strategic issues are adequately addressed as part of debate. 

• Is the support from officers at the Committee consistent and of high quality?  

• There is little dialogue between officers and members and little evidence of an atmosphere of mutual 

trust and respect.   

• Officers should be enabled to provide appropriate advice, clearly explain the relevance of national and 

local policy and feel confident to advise Members when their approach to an application is difficult to 

support in planning terms. This approach follows the Good Practice Guidelines of 2006. The importance 

of having a clear unambiguous professional recommendation cannot be overstated. It reflects both best 

Page 79



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 13 

practice and the requirements of the RTPI. The previous practice of option recommendations should not 

be reintroduced. 

Quality and Improvement  

• How effective are the arrangements for training Committee members?  

• Training on planning matters is provided but from what we learnt is limited and not compulsory. 

Effective training should be compulsory for all Members who wish to sit and vote on the PSCs and DCC 

and to substitute. Additional training on specific topics should also be provided on a regular basis. A list 

of trained members should be maintained by Democratic Services and available to the Chairs of the 

committees to ensure that only trained members make decisions. The Standards Committee also has a 

role to monitor and advise on these matters. It is not sufficient to only rely on induction training; 

continuing member training for planning members is vital. 

• Training could be extended to  

• reviewing appeal decisions particularly major appeals  

• viewing the results of decisions on the ground and evaluating what went well and what didn’t.  

• design and place making especially in relation to higher density housing and the implications of 

the new NPPF 

• What monitoring and review arrangements are in place for the Committee to assess its 

performance?  

• Reports to the DM Committee on the performance of the Planning Department and on the results of 

appeals are sporadic.  These should be presented on a regular/quarterly frequency. Reporting on appeals 

should explain the reasons for refusal and the Inspector’s decision which would provide a very good 

way of examining issues and good training. 

Conclusions 

23. We found well chaired committees but a decision making process which was not working well. The decisions 

being made at both delegated and committee level result in very high levels of refusals and too many appeals. 

Whilst this may in part reflect the particular geography of the Borough, we are not convinced that this is the 

sole reason. We saw an approach where, amongst other issues: 

• The local view was frequently given too much weight  

• Members are not adequately fulfilling their borough wide role and determining applications in 

the wider public interest, 

• Ward Members are voting on applications in their own wards, 

• Members have little trust or respect for their officers or the advice being provided,  

• Officers feel prevented from an active participation in the committee process, 

• Too many reasons for refusal are not capable of support at appeal and officers are having to seek 

committee approval not to defend them. 

Page 80



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 14 

• too many applications are being called to committee, 

• the Scheme of Delegation was not effective and requires review, 

• the lack of plans, drawings and photographs in reports and the absence of officer 

introductions/presentations at committee meetings hampered effective debate and undermined 

positive perceptions of the Council, 

• there is little member involvement in pre-application discussions, 

•  In the sections above we have identified areas of good practice and made suggestions where 

improvements would be beneficial identified areas where improvements could be made, 

• public engagement is hindered by the size and layout of the Council Chamber. 

24. Some of the issues we have highlighted were addressed by the Council’s own Guide to Good Practice (2006). 

We appreciate, with the introduction of the Localism Act and changing attitudes to member involvement, 

that some of this document is out of date and that more recent advice is given in the LGA booklet “Probity 

in Planning” (2013). The later booklet advises councils to develop their own codes and procedures and to 

document these so that all participants in the committee process have a clear point of reference. We strongly 

urge the Council to revise and update the 2006 document to reflect modern advice and practice. 

25. We hope the insights provided are helpful, and that you are able to take forward many of the suggestions.  

26. We wish you well for the future. 

 

Cllr Melvyn Caplan and Martin Vink 

May 2019  

Page 81



PAS Peer Review of Development Management Committee - London Borough of Bromley - May 2019 

 

Cllr M Caplan & M. Vink –May 2019 15 

Appendix 1 - SCOPE OF THE REVIEW  

The review has considered the following five aspects of the way the Planning Committee functions: - 

Purpose  

• Is it clear that members of the Committee fully understand their role?  

• Do the delegated agreement and process for ‘call ins’ serve to support the Committee members and 

officers in making best use of their time to look at the ‘right’ applications? 

• Do members understand the process, and is the information they receive relevant and concise?  

Format and Process  

• How are applications debated and voted on?  

• Does the standard, clarity and layout of Committee reports support the Committee process?  

• Does the presentation of Committee reports by Planning Officers support the Committee process?  

• What is the process for Councillor site visits, how are views recorded and reported back to Committee? 

• Does the Committee chamber layout support the Committee process?  

• How effective are the arrangements for training Committee members?  

Customer Experience  

• How is public engagement managed at the Committee?  

• How could public understanding of the role, and limitations of the planning Committee be improved?  

• How should public representations be managed during the Committee?  

Roles and Responsibilities  

• Is the role of Councillors on the Committee, and more widely, understood in relation to the handling of 

planning applications and ensuring probity?  

• Is the role of the Portfolio Holders at Committee understood by all concerned?  

• Is the support from officers at the Committee consistent and of high quality?  

Quality and Improvement  

• How effective are the arrangements for training Committee members?  

• What monitoring and review arrangements are in place for the Committee to assess its performance?  

 

Page 82



  

1 

Report No. 
HPR2021/067 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 
FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY AT THE RENEWAL, 
RECREATION AND HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 
 

Date:  

DCC: 11 January 2022 
RRH PDS: 26 January 2022 
Executive: 9 February 2022 

 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive 
 

Key 
 

Title: ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT  

Contact Officer: Ben Johnson, Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 
E-mail:  ben.johnson@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning) 

Ward: Orpington; Farnborough and Crofton; Petts Wood and Knoll 
 

 

1. Reason for report 

1.1. This report recommends that the revised Orpington Town Centre Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is published for six weeks public consultation. The SPD provides guidance to 

assist with the determination of planning applications in the Orpington Town Centre area, 
including guidance on design requirements. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1. That Development Control Committee endorse the draft Orpington Town Centre 

Supplementary Planning Document (shown at Appendix 1) for six weeks public 
consultation, noting that there may be further minor amendments prior to consultation. 

2.2. That Members refer the matter to the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Committee for pre-decision scrutiny. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



  

2 

2.3. That Executive approve the draft Orpington Town Centre Supplementary Planning 
Document (shown at Appendix 1) for six weeks public consultation. 

2.4. That Executive authorise the Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration, 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing, to 
approve any further minor changes to the draft Orpington Town Centre Supplementary 

Planning Document (shown at Appendix 1) ahead of public consultation. 

 

Page 84



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: No impact  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 
 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Costs associated with publicising the draft SPD will be met from the Planning 
Policy and Strategy budget.  

 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 10fte 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

2. Call-in: Applicable: Further Details – Executive Decision 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: Orpington ward councillors have been engaged on 

this work from an early stage. Officers have held several meetings with Orpington councillors 
and invited feedback on different iterations of the draft SPD. Comments were invited on the final 

draft SPD document; a response from one ward councillor was received, which expressed 
general support for the SPD. 

Page 85



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

Background 

3.1. A report to Development Control Committee, Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Committee (RRHPDS) and Executive in early 2020 set out the 
intention to prepare to produce a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to guide 

development in Orpington Town Centre1. This proposed approach was agreed in April 20202. 

3.2. A consultation exercise to inform the SPD was conducted between 15 July and 5 October 2020, 

seeking views on the future of Orpington Town Centre and what the proposed SPD should 
focus on. The consultation set out a number of key themes and related questions to focus 
representations. The consultation was conducted using Commonplace, an online consultation 

portal which includes the option of providing feedback using a mapping tool3 as well as via 
written response4.  

3.3. A summary of the feedback received during the consultation, and the Council response to this 
feedback, is provided in the consultation statement at Appendix 2. 

Draft Orpington Town Centre SPD 

3.4. The draft SPD (at Appendix 1) first sets out the relevant local, London-wide and national policy 
framework which underpins the guidance; and then describes the context of the area with 

reference to townscape, topography and other important considerations. 

3.5. The draft SPD then sets out the following six design principles that are considered essential 
components in delivering good quality design, and which are widely documented (e.g. in 

Development Plan policy and national planning policy) as being among the key characteristics 
of successful well-designed places: 

 Contextual (Character and Identity) 

 Responsive (Architecture and Landscape) 

 Connected (Movement and Connectivity) 

 Inclusive (Access and Inclusion) 

 Healthy (Health and Well-being) 

 Sustainable (Sustainable Design, Adaptability and Resilience) 

3.6. These principles mirror the design principles proposed in the emerging Bromley Design Guide. 

Having these consistent principles threaded through the borough’s planning guidance is 
important as it creates consistency and sets out clear design parameters which development 

proposals should consider from the very first stages of designing a scheme. 

                                                 
1 ‘TOWN CENTRE PLANNING POLICY STRATEGY: BROMLEY AND ORPINGTON’, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=6621  
2 Statement of Executive Decisions on reports due to be considered at the cancelled Executive meeting on 1st April 2020 
following consultation with PDS Committee Members, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/b50014566/Decision%20Statements%20Wednesday%2001-Apr-

2020%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9  
3 Details available from: https://orpingtontowncentremap.commonplace.is/comments  
4 Details available from: https://orpingtontowncentre.commonplace.is/overview  

Page 86

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=6621
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/b50014566/Decision%20Statements%20Wednesday%2001-Apr-2020%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/b50014566/Decision%20Statements%20Wednesday%2001-Apr-2020%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=9
https://orpingtontowncentremap.commonplace.is/comments
https://orpingtontowncentre.commonplace.is/overview


  

5 

3.7. The principles are supported by guidance notes which are a short summary of how the 
principles should be applied, and which cite specific policy and guidance which is relevant to the 

respective principles. 

3.8. The SPD then sets out three character areas and six sub-areas within them. These areas were 
derived through consideration of the context of the wider area and represent those parts of the 

area which are considered to have similar characteristics. They are not intended to be finite 
boundaries; they are identified for the purposes of the SPD to set out relevant guidance 

applicable to each area. They have been drawn with deliberately 'soft' edges reflecting the fact 
that boundaries between character areas are fluid rather than ‘fixed’. 

3.9. There are a series of general guidance notes which apply across the character areas, relating to 

various topics including density, tall buildings and sustainability.  

3.10. More specific guidance is provided for each character area. This includes some key parameters 

to guide the development of specific sites in the areas (where appropriate) and the identification 
of potential development opportunities (including allocated and non-allocated sites). The 
character area guidance sets out detailed design considerations for the areas, including 

identification of relevant reference heights to inform the assessment of the height of proposals; 
details of specific public realm and green connections that should be provided; and, where 

appropriate, details of any prominent materials and design styles which could influence the style 
of new development. Each character sub-area includes a plan of area. 

3.11. The guidance in the draft SPD has been developed by the Council’s policy and urban design 

officers, with consideration of the national, London-wide and local planning framework, including 
the emerging emphasis on design quality in national policy. Some external urban design advice 
was sought to assist officers with the preparation of the draft SPD and consideration of the key 

issues in the area. Officers have with engaged councillors at various stages of preparation of 
the SPD, namely with the three Orpington ward councillors, the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, 

Recreation and Housing and the chairman and vice-chairman of Development Control 
Committee.  

3.12. Officers are continuing to update the figures in the draft SPD, particularly the addition of details 

to figures 5 to 10 to visualise the SPD guidance for each sub-area (e.g. details of key 
connections, green spaces, development opportunities). The intention is for these figures to be 

finalised ahead of public consultation, but this may be after consideration by committees. The 
report recommendation therefore asks Executive to authorise that any minor updates to the 
draft SPD, to reflect the above minor changes to the draft SPD mapping, can be approved by 

the Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing; this approval is envisaged to be in writing, i.e. 

exchange of emails. 

Next steps 

3.13. If approved, the SPD will be subject to six weeks public consultation. The Regulations require a 

minimum of four weeks consultation; however, the Bromley Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) specifies a minimum of six weeks. Consultation will be undertaken in line with 

the SCI. 

3.14. The local election purdah period will commence in mid to late March and last until election day 
on 5 May 2022. The consultation is likely to launch prior to the purdah period, but undoubtedly 

part of the consultation will overlap with the purdah period. However, as the SPD sets out 
guidance to be used to assess future planning applications (rather than making decisions itself) 

and could be considered normal Council business (linked to planning legislation), it is 

Page 87



  

6 

considered that the consultation on the SPD would not be in contravention of guidance on what 
can be publicised during the purdah period.  

3.15. Following public consultation, all representations will be considered, and, where necessary, 
amendments to the SPD will be proposed. An adoption version of the SPD will then be put 
forward for consideration by committees. The adoption of the SPD is a matter for the Executive. 

4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. SPDs should build upon and provide more detailed advice or guidance on policies in an 

adopted local plan. As they do not form part of the development plan, they cannot introduce 
new planning policies into the development plan. They are however a material consideration in 
decision-making. They should not add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development. 

4.2. The Orpington Town Centre SPD provides guidance to assist with the implementation of the 
Local Plan, London Plan, NPPF and other documents. This includes guidance notes which 

translate these policy requirements and set out the Council’s interpretation of the requirements 
in relation to Orpington.  

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. The production of the Orpington Town Centre SPD and the costs of public consultation will be 
funded from the Planning Policy and Strategy budget. 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. The draft SPD has been prepared in line with relevant planning guidance and regulations, 
including the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended). If adopted following public consultation, the SPD will be a material consideration in 
the determination of relevant planning applications. 

6.2. A Screening Statement to determine the need for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

has been prepared by officers, in accordance with the requirements of European Directive 
2001/42/EC; and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004; 

this is provided at Appendix 3. The screening has concluded that an SEA does not need to be 
prepared as the SPD does not introduce new policies but provides further guidance on adopted 
Development Plan policy. This policy has been sufficiently appraised in the Sustainability 

Appraisals of the Local Plan and London Plan documents; it is considered that the Orpington 
Town Centre SPD will not result in any additional significant effects to those already identified 

through these higher-level Sustainability Appraisals.  

6.3. This approach is consistent with national planning guidance which states that SPDs are only 
likely to require an SEA in exceptional circumstances, where they are likely to have significant 

environmental effects that have not already have been assessed during the preparation of the 
relevant strategic policies. 

6.4. There is a requirement to consult three statutory consultation bodies designated in the SEA 
Regulations (the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England) on whether an 
environmental assessment is required. Officers have consulted each of the three bodies on the 

screening statement provided at Appendix 3; details of the responses are provided in the 
Screening Statement appendix. To date (as of 20 December 2021), the Environment Agency 

and Natural England have confirmed that they agree that a SEA is not required and added no 
further comment. Historic England had not responded as of this date. 

 

Page 88



  

7 

Non-Applicable 

Sections: 
IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN 

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background 

Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 - 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_l
ocal_plan.pdf  

 
London Plan (adopted 2 March 2021), available from: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up
loads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  

National Planning Practice Guidance – 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making  

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (as amended) - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents  

 

Page 89

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents


This page is left intentionally blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Orpington Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 

Regulation 12(a) Consultation Statement 

December 2021 

 

Page 91



 

 
 

1 Introduction ..................................................................... 1 

2 Preliminary consultation responses ............................. 3 

3 How have the issues raised in the preliminary 
consultation informed the draft SPD? .................................. 7 

Appendices ............................................................................ 11 

Appendix 1: summary of Commonplace question responses, by theme
 ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 2: summary of written responses, by theme ........................... 36 

Appendix 3: Summary of map responses received .................................. 44 

Page 92



 

1 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This Consultation Statement has been prepared in accordance with regulation 12(a) of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The statement 
accompanies the draft Orpington Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
The statement sets out details of the preliminary consultation which has informed the draft 
SPD, detailing who has been consulted while preparing the SPD; a summary of the main 
issues raised; and how these issues have been addressed in the draft SPD. 

1.2 From 15 July 2020 to 5 October 2020, the Council launched a consultation1 using 
Commonplace, an online consultation portal. Commonplace allowed respondents to provide 
comments in response to specific themes and allowed comments to be submitted via a 
mapping tool (including the ability to pin comments to specific areas on the map). 

1.3 Letters and emails notifying residents of the consultation were sent to all consultees that were 
registered on the Council’s database.  

1.4 The consultation sought views from a broad range of individuals and organisations on how the 
Council should guide the development of Orpington Town Centre. The link to the preliminary 
consultation can be found here. 

1.5 187 representations were received; 172 were received online through the Commonplace 
portal, and 15 were received by email/post. 

1.6 Public consultation is not a statutory requirement during the preliminary stages of drafting an 
SPD. However, public consultation at an early stage ensures key issues can be identified and 
reflected in the drafting of the SPD where appropriate. 

1.7 The Commonplace consultation sought views on the following 10 themes, asking a range of 
specific questions on these themes: 

• The future of Orpington  

• Housing   

• Transport and infrastructure 

• Offices 

• Retail, culture and leisure 

• Public realm, permeability and connectivity 

• Historic environment 

• Green infrastructure 

• Environment and air quality 

 
1 Orpington Town Centre SPD, Commonplace webpage, available from: 
https://orpingtontowncentre.commonplace.is/; and https://orpingtontowncentremap.commonplace.is/   

Page 93

https://orpingtontowncentre.commonplace.is/
https://orpingtontowncentremap.commonplace.is/


 

2 
 

• Development opportunities 

1.8 The Commonplace portal also provided the opportunity to make general comments (i.e. not in 
relation to a specific theme). The mapping portal allowed comments to be made in relation to 
specific points on a map of Orpington, and for others to agree with comments made. Whilst 
some use was made of the map and the ‘agree’ feature, the majority of respondents made 
their own comments under the various theme headings. 

1.9 Several representations were also received in traditional letter/email format, chiefly from 
organisations and bodies.  

1.10 Of the online responses (excluding the broad responses under ‘General Comments’ and ‘The 
future of Orpington Town Centre’) the ‘Environment and Air Quality’ theme received the most 
representations. 

Table 1: Response rate to Commonplace consultation, by theme 

Specific Topic  Responses % of Responses 

Environment and air quality 23 19 

Transport and infrastructure 20 16 

Green infrastructure 19 15 

Housing  15 12 

Retail, culture and leisure 13 11 

Development opportunities 11 9 

Historic environment 10 8 

Public realm, permeability and connectivity 8 6 

Offices 5 4 

Total 124 100 
 

Page 94



 

3 
 

2 Preliminary consultation 
responses 

2.1 This section sets out the key headlines of the responses received as part of the preliminary 
consultation between July and October 2020, including details of common issues raised. More 
detailed summaries of the representations are provided in the appendices. 

General comments 

2.2 Responses sought guidance within the SPD to enable future developments to be flexible and 
adaptable. Comments highlighted that future developments should be resilient to changing 
circumstances but also able to respond to and support change, whilst character and local 
distinctiveness should be enhanced. There was a strong view that the SPD should support a 
reduction in carbon emissions, promote active travel and protect natural resources with the 
benefits of increased walkers, residents and cyclists within the town centre to the local 
economy and town centre viability recognised. Brownfield sites were noted as being 
opportunities for future development with the SPD providing clarity over the scale and nature 
of redevelopment.  

The future of Orpington Town Centre 

2.3 Numerous representations under this heading were also covered in more detail in the 
particular themes. 

2.4 The importance of flexibility was highlighted to ensure that town centre uses can adapt and 
thrive, with mixed retail, culture and leisure/public realm flagged as core functions of the town 
centre. The importance of outdoor space was particularly highlighted in the comments, in 
particular functional and enjoyable civic spaces. Community spaces and activities should be 
prioritised. The town centre should be accessible and safe for all and various suggestions 
were made to improve social interaction and sense of community including a range of events 
and market activities   

2.5 The complete or partial pedestrianisation of the High Street came through as a strong theme 
with increased opportunities for safer walking/cycling and better permeability. 

2.6 Representations suggested that the area around the market square should be identified for 
tall buildings; however, comments also noted that development should be low rise and human 
scale and that new residential properties should be affordable and not just investments. 

2.7 The contribution of the night-time economy and residential development to the vibrancy of the 
town centre during day and night was recognised and expansion suggested. Comments also 
noted the potential for shared workspaces.   

2.8 The importance of green infrastructure was raised in several comments and this was seen as 
key to the town’s reputation.  

Housing 

2.9 It was suggested that the SPD should increase housing density within town centre envelope 
with design guidance identifying potential sites for improvement or redevelopment. Responses 

Page 95



 

4 
 

noted the opportunity to provide different housing typologies, contribute to the boroughs 
housing targets and reduce pressure on the Green Belt, whilst increasing footfall to the town 
centre, and supporting local businesses. The Walnuts redevelopment was specifically 
highlighted. 

2.10 New homes should meet or exceed residential standards and create high quality 
accommodation. The greatest preference was for 2 bed units with a strong emphasis on 
affordability with buy to let discouraged. 

2.11 The importance of supporting infrastructure for new homes was highlighted, notably transport 
and community infrastructure (e.g. health provision) 

Transport and infrastructure 

2.12 There was a general support and encouragement within the comments for a reduction in cars 
within the town centre, with considerable reference to pedestrianisation opportunities and 
alternative uses of current road space, whilst acknowledging the importance of addressing the 
needs of those with limited mobility. 

2.13 The need for an increase in active travel and improvements in public transport was linked 
strongly with the view that a holistic transition to active travel and public transport would 
present both environmental, health, social and economic benefits. References were made to 
the adoption of Healthy Streets principles, creating space for safe active travel and high-
quality public realm for walking and cycling.  

Offices 

2.14 Comments suggested building of new offices should be delayed, noting the changes in 
working patterns related to the pandemic.   

2.15 There was a strong emphasis on the need for buildings to be multi-use/flexible to 
accommodate future ways of working. 

2.16 Generally, the view was that the conversion of offices to residential use should be restricted.  

Retail, culture and leisure 

2.17 There was strong support for the Town Centre to diversify to respond to changes in the retail 
environment, as such there should be a strong focus on leisure and cultural facilities and 
existing facilities should be strengthened. Small and independent operators and 
meanwhile/temporary uses should also be supported. There was support for the town centre 
to become a recognised environmental leader. 

2.18 Developments should deliver and support new spaces for socialising and have regard to Sport 
England's Active Design Guidance. Trees and hedging should be increased. There was also 
support for space to enable events, markets, play areas for children, dog free areas and spill 
out areas and a range of indoor event facilities were suggested – including possible 
integration with the library or redeveloped leisure centre.   

2.19 Redevelopment potential, including mixed education and residential redevelopment of 
Orpington College, was suggested. 

2.20 Complete or partial pedestrianisation of the High Street was again suggested with 
parking/drop off allowed for people with particular needs such as the disabled and elderly. 

Page 96



 

5 
 

Public Realm, permeability and connectivity 

2.21 Responses suggested that the SPD should acknowledge the importance of the public realm 
which adds economic value and distinctiveness, supports active travel and health, and 
support improved connectivity / permeability between the town centre and station.   

2.22 Comments included suggestions for public realm improvement such as pedestrianisation, 
links to parks, walking and cycling routes to the town centre, an increase in outdoor sheltered 
spaces, more place to sit and meet, remove barriers and provide step free access.   

2.23 There was strong support for the Market Square to be enhanced and promoted as a 
community hub, for community activity, congregation and engagement  

Historic Environment 

2.24 Respondents considered that the SPD should acknowledge the benefits of the historic 
environment, including the economic and cultural benefits of the Priory Conservation Area and 
the Listed Priory, and to ensure the effective management and protection of the historic 
environment.   

2.25 Whilst there was some support for high density development, it was emphasised that this 
should be of high-quality design, informed by context, and that potential tall buildings should 
be managed in relation to heritage assets and their setting. 

Green infrastructure 

2.26 The importance of green infrastructure was highlighted throughout the responses and not just 
confined to responses to this theme. Emphasis was placed on the benefits of parks and green 
spaces for health, biodiversity and as an essential element of seeking to achieve net zero 
carbon. 

2.27 There was a strong view that parks and green spaces should be protected and expanded with 
biodiversity in and around the town centre should be enhanced.  

2.28 The importance of new development providing green infrastructure and strengthening and 
developing links with existing local green spaces was raised, along with the need to seek 
opportunities to retrofit existing buildings.   

2.29 Responses felt that there should be a commitment to protect the Green Belt.  

Environment and air pollution 

2.30 Comments generally sought a reduction in traffic along the High Street and an improvement in 
air quality, which would have multiple suggested benefits. The pedestrianisation of the High 
Street was suggested, along with speed reductions, energy efficient buses, and new and 
improved pedestrian routes.  

2.31 Concern was raised about air pollution at the War Memorial roundabout. 

2.32 Representations suggested that new developments and/or major refurbishments should be 
carbon neutral as a minimum or ideally carbon negative., with sustainable technologies and 
greener construction methods utilised and sustainable urban drainage schemes promoted.   

Development opportunities 

2.33 Comments on this theme were consistent with some of the comments on the Housing theme. 

Page 97



 

6 
 

2.34 The need for high quality design, in keeping with the surrounding area, was emphasised. 

2.35 Comments acknowledged the location of Orpington within the Cray Valley renewal area, and 
the potential for delivery of a significant number of new homes through the Walnuts 
redevelopment along with new social infrastructure, jobs and improved public realm.   

2.36 The opportunity to deliver new residential, education and commercial development on the 
Orpington College campus and adjoining car park was highlighted 

2.37 It was suggested that a landmark tall building could identify Market Square which it was felt 
currently lacks visibility. 

 

Page 98



 

7 
 

3 How have the issues raised in the 
preliminary consultation informed 
the draft SPD? 

3.1 This section of the statement provides a summary of how the issues raised in the preliminary 
consultation have informed the draft SPD. Summary details are provided with reference to the 
structure and section headings of the draft SPD. 

Vision 
 
3.2 Bromley adopted its Local Plan in 2019 with a vision for the Borough. The representations 

received helped to develop an Orpington-specific vision for the SPD, in line with the Local 
Plan vision. 

Context 
 

3.3 A strong theme coming through the representations was the importance of understanding the 
Orpington context. Therefore, having first set out the policy framework within which the SPD 
would operate, the SPD also addresses the context of Orpington, considering its townscape 
and growth over time, the topography of the landscape, the land use, scale and character of 
development, and local heritage and the green networks. 

3.4 This contextual work informed the identification of the SPD character areas and sub-areas 
which are set out in Section 5 of the draft SPD with detailed guidance on each provided in 
Sections 6-9. 

Design Principles 
 
3.5 It was very clear from the representations that the SPD should ensure the delivery good 

quality design. The SPD therefore identifies six overarching design principles addressing the 
key characteristics of successful well-designed places.   

• Contextual (Character and Identity) 

• Responsive (Architecture and Landscape) 

• Connected (Movement and Connectivity) 

• Inclusive (Access and Inclusion) 

• Healthy (Health and Well-being) 

• Sustainable (Sustainable Design, Adaptability and Resilience) 

 
3.6 Further detail about the principles is set out in Section 4 of the draft SPD. 

3.7 Guidance responding to the matters raised in the consultation is provided through the ‘SPD 
guidance notes’; these guidance notes seek to address the matters raised in section 2 of this 
Consultation Statement and the detailed appendices (where appropriate). Noting that the SPD 
cannot itself set policy, the guidance notes provide further guidance on relevant adopted 
Development Plan and national planning policies related to the six design principles, as they 
relate to the Orpington Town Centre area.  

Page 99



 

8 
 

Guidance Notes 1 to 8 
 
3.8 Overarching Guidance Note 1 requires proposals to demonstrate how they have addressed 

the six design principles set out within this SPD and specific guidance relating to the character 
area within which they are located. 

3.9 Guidance Notes 2 to 8 indicate in more depth how development proposals should respond to 
the individual Design Principles, addressing the general quality design issues raised in the 
consultation. 

3.10 Guidance Note 2 relates to the Context Design Principle. Comments on the preliminary 
consultation raised the importance of protecting character and distinctiveness but balanced 
with allowing for change and building in resilience. Guidance note 2 sets out the importance of 
reinforcing local identity and a sense of place through strengthening existing physical, natural, 
social and cultural assets. 

3.11 Guidance Note 3 relates to the Responsive Design Principle. This emphasises the importance 
of high-quality design developed through a detailed process of review and collaboration. The 
need for high-quality design was a common theme from the consultation responses, with 
particular emphasis on the proposed Walnuts redevelopment (which is covered by specific 
character area guidance elsewhere in the SPD). 

3.12 Guidance Note 4 relates to the Connected Design Principle, which seeks to improve 
connectivity in the area and establish new routes the correspond with existing routes. The 
need for improved public realm and key routes, including strengthened links with the railway 
station, were raised in the consultation.  

3.13 Guidance Note 5 relates to the Inclusive Design Principle, which pushes new development to 
achieve the highest standards of inclusive design, contributing to a built environment that is 
safe, accessible, and convenient for all. There were several comments relating to the need to 
design new development to be inclusive, as well as related comments.   

3.14 Guidance Notes 6 and 7 relate to the Healthy Design Principle, which prioritise the importance 
of health and wellbeing as part of the assessment of planning applications. Health came up as 
part of a number of comments, linked to suggestions to increase green infrastructure and 
improve active travel. 

3.15 Guidance Note 8 relates to the Sustainable Design Principle, referencing key sustainable 
design policies to emphasise the requirement to achieve high sustainability standards. 
Sustainability and net zero carbon were common issues raised by respondents. Comments 
raised a number of potential issues which the SPD could focus on, including promoting 
sustainable travel, providing new green spaces, improving air quality and encouraging retrofit 
over demolition.  

Character areas 

3.16 As noted above, the Orpington context has informed the SPD character area boundaries. 
Guidance Notes 9 to 17 relate to general guidance that applies consistently across all 
character areas. Guidance specific to each sub-area is provided in sections 6 to 9 of the 
SOPD (discussed below). 

3.17 Guidance Note 9 relates to heritage and conservation issues, highlighting the importance of 
the historic environment in Orpington which adds significantly to the character and 
distinctiveness of the area. The Guidance Note expects development proposals to clearly 
address heritage impacts. A number of consultation comments related to the historic 

Page 100



 

9 
 

environment; respondents suggested that the SPD should acknowledge the benefits of the 
area’s heritage assets and should manage development (including tall buildings) in relation to 
their impacts on heritage assets. 

3.18 Guidance Note 10 addresses density, referencing the London Plan design-led approach to 
ensure the most appropriate form and land use for the site. A number of consultation 
comments across several themes raised the issue of density; some comments were 
supportive of increasing density but noted the need to ensure high quality design and 
provision of other benefits such as improved public realm and green infrastructure. 

3.19 Guidance Note 11 sets requirements for the consideration of proposals for tall buildings in 
Orpington, in line with policy D9 of the London Plan. The guidance note references the 
importance of local views. There was some support for taller buildings in the consultation 
comments, but respondents note the need for high quality design and for proposals to be 
contextual. Some respondents thought Market Square was a particularly suitable location for 
tall buildings. 

3.20 Guidance Notes 12 and 13 relate to Transport and connectivity in Orpington. These Guidance 
Notes promote enhancements to existing pedestrian and cycling routes and the creation of 
new routes, noting that the route to the station is a priority. Improved permeability to enhance 
sites at the rear of the High Street is also promoted, with greening of new routes encouraged. 
These Guidance Notes relate to a number of comments made across different themes. The 
link to the station was raised by a number of respondents. Comments also referred to the 
need to diversify the High Street; the opening up of backland sites offers the potential for 
new/expanded uses to add to the town centre’s diversity.  

3.21 Guidance Note 14 addresses green infrastructure and biodiversity in Orpington. It promotes 
the enhancement of biodiversity as part of the network of green spaces linking with the wider 
Cray Valley. Biodiversity was an issue that was raised across a number of comments, which 
highlighted the importance of the issue and the need for development in Orpington to 
contribute to improved biodiversity. 

3.22 Guidance Note 15 addresses sustainability concerns, reflecting adopted policy in the London 
Plan. Sustainability was a popular issue raised by respondents, particularly relating to 
achieving net zero carbon emissions. Retrofitting was also raised; the Guidance Note 
encourages retrofit and links with guidance for certain character areas with existing building 
typologies where a retrofit approach may be a practical proposition. 

3.23 Guidance Note 16 reiterates the particular Renewal Area policy requirements relating to 
development in Orpington. These policy requirements overlap and address many of the 
consultation comments received.  

3.24 Guidance Note 17 relates to the new Use Class E and associated PD rights. The introduction 
of Class E and the PD rights post-dates the start of the consultation. While Class E does allow 
for some flexibility with town centre uses, it could affect the vitality and viability of town 
centres. Consultation comments noted the need for diversity of uses with a mix of cafes, 
restaurants and entertainment uses amongst other uses. The Guidance Note will help to 
ensure that any adverse impacts of Class E and the PD rights are mitigated to protect the 
ongoing vitality and viability of the town centre. 

Character areas and sub-areas 

3.25 The SPD identifies the following character areas and sub-areas: 

• Orpington East character area 

Page 101



 

10 
 

o Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts Shopping and Leisure Centre 
sub-area 

o Eastern Edge sub-area 

• Orpington North character area 
o The Village sub-area 

• Orpington West character area 
o Orpington High Street sub-area 
o Western Edge sub-area 
o Orpington Station & York Rise sub-area 

3.26 Detailed guidance is provided for the sub-areas, with reference to specific development 
opportunities where relevant. The guidance in the sub-areas links with a number of comments 
made in response to the consultation, particular on issues like design, green infrastructure 
and land use. 

 

Page 102



 

11 
 

Appendices 

Themes 

1. General comments 

2. The future of Orpington Town Centre 

3. Housing  

4. Transport infrastructure 

5. Offices 

6. Retail, culture and leisure 

7. Public realm, permeability and connectivity 

8. Historic environment 

9. Green infrastructure 

10. Environment and air pollution 

11. Development opportunities 

 

1  General comments  
 
14 responses received in total 
 
What should this guidance include? 
 
General 

• Needs a vision of what Orpington can be / look like before any detailed planning guidance 

• Guidance must be in line with excellent air quality, a car-free future and to allow safe spacing 

for the current and future pandemic 

• Individual events seem like a flash in the pan rather than a regular, well thought out strategy 

which complements the town centre. 

• more culture, street life, range of shops ,farmers market, active travel,  

 

Specific issues 

• inclusive 

o places for youth to hang out 

o low cost to community groups, eg. baby classes, hobby groups to alleviate isolation. 

o Seating in the walnuts esp for those with restricted mobility 

• Existing quality buildings should be respected and enhanced - eg GPO.  

• concentrate on making the town centre more child friendly  

o indoor soft play centre  

o fountains/play equipment. 

• Development 

o Any development is assessed to be carbon-neutral, using green energy and 

promoting active travel.   

o Stop the dense development of small flats  

o build affordable housing - social housing and / or key worker housing 

• encouraging a more mixed use, environmentally friendly space. 

Page 103



 

12 
 

• Encourage major stores, independent shops and reduce rents for local shops.  

• Opening unused shops for community projects, art studios, galleries and drop in centres for 

elderly or disabled people 

• market to attract a greater number of stalls including local craft stalls 

• Update the swimming pool 

• More police or security during the evening periods / Priory Gardens  

• Transport and Parking 

o restrict High St parking – but avoiding chaos on surrounding roads - parking and 

buses 

o Incentivise car free visits to the town centre. 

o Measures to alleviate traffic between war memorial and Orpington station, particularly 

during rush hour/school run periods  

o Parking provision to ensure no shift to Bluewater (free parking) 

o Potential for park & ride? 

• Access to the town centre with safe pedestrian and cycle (scooter etc.) access.  

o Safe cycle stands.  

o Wider pavements, especially eastern end,  

o Option for making some of High St buses only 

• Improve / refurbish Bowling Alley 

• Priory Gardens 

o a cafe & a public toilet 

o improve security 

 

2 The Future of Orpington  
 
34 responses received 
 
What do you think makes a good Town Centre?  
 

• Attractive, safe, diverse, clean, and inspiring. 

• Clean, safe, comfortable, easy to walk around, places to meet, green spaces, space for 

community events, useful/ affordable/ relevant shops, offices, community services.  

• Multi trip destination (town centre & local parks/greenspaces) 

• Make it ‘a destination’ with character - retain the village character, trees and plants and 

pavement cafe culture 

• Appealing to all age groups and cultures / everyone living around  

• attractive & clean town centre – repair dilapidated units/buildings, 

• Safe & friendly to visit to use and socialise. Attractions for all ages not necessarily at the 

same time of day (bars, restaurants, parks, library). – enhance security after school / 

evenings 

• Prioritise pedestrians / pleasant outdoor seating spaces  

• Interest points / activities … an art trail / regular events 

• Good maintenance of infrastructure and good litter collection 

 

Uses 

• Variety of uses - accessible for all, promoting environmental sustainability 

o Local produce shops, charity shops, green refill shops, restaurants and cafes, leisure 

centres, library, cinema support centres, range of shops which reflect local cultural 

groups, community hub - youth facilities, places of worship and necessary amenities 

for the elderly 

Page 104



 

13 
 

o quality shops (big name stores & independents) restaurants – concern re proliferation 

of ‘nail bars and less vape shops’ 

o leisure attractions to appeal to all types of people  

▪ Young People - Somewhere to meet  - safe and out of the weather (currently only  

MacDonald's.)  

▪ multi use places for families (play cafes, ceramic cafes etc) and local groups to 

meet. 

• Reduce the empty shops  - sensible unit re-use of consistently vacant units - pop up stores  

• weekly (Sunday?) market in the High Street, pedestrianising the south section between 

11.00 and 15.00.  -  improve social interaction / sense of community.. 

• more residential options  

 

Environmental issues, green spaces, transport  

• Reduce and eliminate pollution / carbon sources, ref Global warming 

• prioritise the pedestrian (safe & welcoming)  

o limit private vehicles to the high street to make it feel more vibrant & safer  

o divert buses through Homefield Rise and Gravel Pit Way (eg to facilitate weekly 

market)  

o consider complete pedestrianisation  

o space for social distance (2m apart) 

• cycle lanes, cycle storage  

• more charging points / free or reduced rate parking to encourage the switch to electric cars  

• Wide footpaths; wheelchair and buggy friendly.  

• Good transport links  

• reduce noise,  

 

Public Realm 

• Active and vibrant public function at the ground floor level, small architecture (benches, light 

etc) and green squares (lively public spaces)  

• adding more green areas, open natural spaces, trees and seating areas  

• Suggested enhancements 

o create a focal point eg. "meet me at the big clock".  

o a bandstand or stage area for local musicians 

o A water feature of some kind, like a spectacular fountain or waterfall wall, to provide 

focus and contemplation  

o pavement based water fountain for play space 

o Lots of benches and shaded areas for hotter summers 

 

Economic Interventions 

• variety of shops should be supported through rates relief and grants 

• subsidise space for artists, designers, craft bakers, micro brewers 

• fill empty units with community uses etc.  

 

Specific Places 

• Walnuts – 

o knock down the and move shops to the high street  

o add some features to the courtyard area 

• Priory gardens - Invest to make more family friendly and safer 

 
What would you like your area to look like in the future? 

Page 105



 

14 
 

 

• Vibrant and busy with fewer empty shops & more variety (support start ups) 

• Clean, greener, eco friendly, Less pollution and noise from cars and buses and more spaces 

to sit outside to eat, drink, socialise.  

• reputation as being a specialist provider perhaps for hobbies / crafts, or antiques (linking with 

the historic Priory) – charity shops recast as ‘vintage’ 

• a good mix of living space, open space, parking, shops, cafes, bars etc 

• cinema hotel and good restaurants are still here & more leisure facilities  

• a more attractive shopping centre (and entrance) 

• easy access to transport, better pedestrian and car free areas 

• more al fesco cafe / dining options 

• legibility 

o The different parts of the town are linked together  

o a central green space surrounded by places to eat/enjoy a coffee outside, 

• Movement / Transport 

o A less congested environment- tailbacks from Tescos and the station often cause  

traffic queues in the high street with resulting air pollution.  

o Free flowing traffic to encourage footfall and visitors.  

o Pedestrianised High Street - Route the traffic down gravel pit way 

o Lots more space for pedestrians and cyclists 

o walking route which is under-cover  

o a cycle path. 

o Electric buses  

• Parking 

o Only genuinely essential (disabled) parking in the High St (with EV infrastructure) 

o good local parking which helps to keep the High Street vehicle-free 

• Development / Refurbishment 

o New housing blends in with the surrounding area. 

o refurbish dilapidated flats above High Street shops – for social housing 

o High Street is refreshed, but not too tall, or over-developed 

o more flats so that people can live locally to the centre of Orpington 

• Economic suggestions.  

o free loans to charities, colleges, schools, organisations for exhibitions, pop up shops, 

etc.  

o place for locally run businesses to develop,  

o place which provides support for many groups in the community; youth, elderly, 

homeless, job seekers  

o shops appealing to the youth - bring the college students into the high street and 

increase footfall 

• Features 

o Priory Gardens  

▪ A new cafe in the park 

▪ More events in the e.g. historic re-enactments (jousting?) 

▪ more equipment & split younger/older children sections. 

o Walnuts 

▪ more trees/grass, tables, shade 

▪ ugly leisure centre block to go  

▪ community use of the paved area outside the back of the Sports Centre eg 

baby swings, friendship benches and  chess tables 

o free activity based outdoor leisure like a cycle path, boating lake etc. 

Page 106



 

15 
 

o water refill stations 

o water feature or clock or art- work   

o permanent public notice board in the library window,   

o a regular market on the high street rather than in the Walnuts with arts & crafts, art 

exhibitions 

o New bowling alley 

 
What could the town centre offer that it does not already? 
 

• greater range of retail -specifically  

o chains  

▪ M&S 

▪ Aldi or Lidl 

▪ Primark 

o traditional (eg fishmonger, butcher, deli)  

o cycle shop  

o specialist shops  

o Shop selling local products  

• greater range of community leisure & culture -specifically  

o up to date public leisure centre 

o Alternative uses for the empty shops such as youth and childcare services, for local 

kids or community projects 

o Regular specialist markets inc German / Farmers market 

o Art gallery or exhibition space  - local history exhibition 

o Escape room (similar to Operation Escape in Bromley) 

o Increased use of library facilities by community groups eg evenings 

o More community toilets 

o Youth 

▪ Area to be safe and comfortable without being moved o 

▪ skate park 

o Water fountains to fill up bottles  

o Community hub inc CAB / space for social enterprises. 

o contact point for police  

o Bingo hall,  

o snooker hall,  

o casino  

o Public bins are separated into recyclables 

• Late night shopping (Thurs) 

• A feature  

o Town clock  

o eg an upside down house (as in Brighton) or similar exhibit  

o  

• Pedestrianised high street  

o alfresco dining  

o Cycle lanes and area to safely lock bikes and scooters 

• More family friendly focus, Cafe/play area, for parents/child minders  

• Greater police presence at night  - cars using the high street as a race track 

• Green Environment 

o More plants and trees.  

o green area and seating locations along the High Street 

Page 107



 

16 
 

o leave verges uncut to increase insect population especially bees. 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to planning for recovery post-COVID 19 and 
adapting to changes to the role of town centres? 
 

• Bars - Retail is declining however Orpington is becoming a center for bars and restaurants  

• some retail could be converted into office or nursery schools, as there is a shortage of both.   

• Offer empty spaces to new/upcoming community events and organisations.  

• Focus on small businesses, shopping local.  

• local smaller shops (especially green focus, such as refill/zero waste)  

• nicer places to socialise/spend money.  

• spaces for home workers to take a break, if they have no private open space. 

• Shared spaces/ hot-desking for hire for those not commuting, with office facilities  

• Full pedestrianisation of the High Street will provide for generous social distancing.  

• Lower rents to help struggling businesses - be flexible on Change of uses  

• Green space 

o all local green spaces should be invested in to improve attractiveness & safety - 

Priory gardens should be a big focus  

o Protect existing parks and green spaces and expand their number and size  

o encourage strong links in new developments to local green spaces (for mental and 

physical wellbeing, for cleaner air and carbon capture, for nature and wildlife). 

o Increase areas managed for biodiversity and allow some areas to develop naturally.   

o Replacement trees with equal canopy size. 

o Safe active travel needs to be first and foremost 

 

3 Housing  
 
15 responses in total 
 
How we can best accommodate residential development within the town centre to 
complement the commercial role of the centre? 
 
Locations 

• Convert empty shops / space above shops 

• use empty commercial space 

• near the station (attractive to commuters) 

• shortening the high street 

• brownfield land  

Requirements 

• High quality, well-maintained & secure housing.  

• requirement for additional schools, childcare, doctors, public transport pedestrian and 

cycling-friendly paths, roads, parking etc to accompany additional housing.  

• need for outdoor space to accompany residential development.   

• build sustainability and low environmental impact as standard, and with an eye to future 

climate adaptation (monitor water availability) 

• low rise and plenty of green space 

• family housing needs space 

 
What type of housing should be the priority?   
15 responders in total – many have ticked more than one type of housing as a priority in their 
response; 

Page 108



 

17 
 

• Affordable home to rent  - 9 responses  

• Affordable housing to buy – 11 responses 

• General market housing to rent – 3 responses  

• General market housing to buy – 5 responses  

• Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) – no responses  

• Student accommodation – no responses  

• Supported housing for vulnerable people – 6 responses  

• Other – 2 responses suggest Key worker, one suggests flats priced for first time buyers.  

 
Is there a particular housing size that should be prioritised?  (as above 15 replies, have ticked 
more than one size unit as a priority). 

• One-bed homes – 3 responses  

• Two bed homes – 11 responses  

• Three bed homes – 5 responses  

• Four + bed homes – 0 responses  

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to housing in Orpington Town Centre? 
 

• Need for high quality affordable housing for young people as well as key workers and their 

families 

• Ensure the necessary associated infrastructure is also provided including public amenity and 

green spaces (including roof gardens) 

• Homes within walking distance / good public transport / cycling options will help avoid an 

increase in car use in Orpington 

• Development should not limit retail (building on delivery space / car parks) 

Design 

• be good quality to be fit for the long term  

• Tall buildings need to blend in with their surroundings, not block light and feel oppressive 

and over-developed (examples of increased height in redevelopment -Tesco, Orchard 

Grove, police station redevelopment)   

• incorporate communal work from home  - eg atrium space 

• Energy efficiency / environmental impact 

o retrofit existing dwellings / PV panels 

o new buildings should meet higher standards of energy efficiency and shared ground 

source heating should be used. 

o resist energy inefficient building.  

o Non-permeable materials used on driveways 

• Insulation, ventilation, refuse issues addressed (overheating, soundproofing) 

• Restriction on buy-to-let to build community 

• Using brown sites for housing is better than chipping away at Green Belt. 

 

4  Transport and Infrastructure  
 
20 responses in total 
 
How important is walking, cycling and public transport for the success of town centres?   
 
17 responses all very supportive 

• Important, Massively, extremely very, paramount, increasingly, vital 

• walking is most important, then cycling. 

Page 109



 

18 
 

• often the only transport options of the young. 

Air quality & Town Centre experience  

• reduced motorised traffic  

• improves air quality  

• makes visiting the town centre a more pleasurable experience.  

• vital for the footfall for local businesses and facilities  

o tap into active travel potential of local catchment  

o attractive, more pleasurable / leisure experience, healthy, sustainable and vibrant 

town centre  

• Accessible / fuss free  

• motorized traffic makes the High Street noisy and polluted & doesn't encourage families with 

young children to feel relaxed and safe. 

Walking 

• Wide pavements  

• Pedestrianisation   

o would encourage people to stay longer and browse more.  

o traffic can be diverted - & is when there are events each year, attracting hundreds of 

people.  

o It would be great to be able to sit outside at the restaurants and cafes in a safe, 

clean and quiet space. 

Cycle 

• More cycle infrastructure 

o safe cycle routes esp for young people  

o Secure cycle parking 

Bus travel 

• Need good bus access  

• Greener bus travel 

 
What opportunities are there for new or enhanced walking and cycling routes in the town 
centre? 
 
Cycling 

• safe cycling routes / segregated cycle lanes (9 supportive responses) 

o  through the high street.  

o wide enough for children to use safely. 

• Cycle infrastructure 

o Bike racks  

 
Car traffic 

• sections of the high street car free or one-way only for cars.  

• close off the traffic / Pedestrianise the town centre x6  

• busses kept to drop offs at either end (plus middle, accessed from behind the Walnuts) 

• diversion routes which are used during events which should become permanent  

 
Parking 

• remove on street car parking on the high street  

• Sainsbury's  multi storey car park is half full  

 
 
Public Realm 

Page 110



 

19 
 

• Orpington is becoming a hub for cafes and restaurants - people love sitting outside these 

facilities...but it could be so much more popular with removal of the traffic from High Street. 

(eg New Road in Brighton!)  

• Better connection from station to high street. 

• Healthy Streets guidelines – prioritise for health & wellbeing of people of all ages and 

mobilities https://healthystreets.com/ 

• create/improve active travel routes to/from and within the Town Centre to embrace the Prime 

Minister's Gear Change vision - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da

ta/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf 

• enhancing and improving existing routes along paths and streets so they are safe and 

attractive for 8 to 80 year olds 

 
Buses 

• Must be frequent and affordable.  

 
Road / Highway  

• The roundabout by Lloyds is not safe and does not prioritise pedestrians.  

• raised areas of road should be made into legitimate crossings (cause confusion as 

pedestrians believe them to be crossing areas) 

• Cycle dangers 

o Carlton Parade, approaching from Sidcup, turning into Orpington High Street is 

dangerous and intimidating. There should be a shared cycle/foot path all the way 

from Nugent Retail Park to the High Street instead of the cycle lane transferring to 

the road halfway there. 

o drivers dangerously overtaking cyclists ON THE ROUNDABOUT. To solve this, a 

dutch style roundabout (one is already in place in Cambridge) would immediately 

solve this issue and severely reduce the risk of an accident 

o Tackling severance at both ends of the high street is key to making the town centre 

an attractive destination to cycle to.  

▪ War Memorial roundabout is hostile to vulnerable road users,  

▪ one way system near Priory Gardens is designed for traffic flow rather than 

active travel." 

 
Does car parking have a role in future? Should development in Orpington Town Centre be 
car-free? 
 

• 5 responses wanted car free dev or car free High Street 

• 8 sought much reduced numbers of cars but acknowledged some needs (mobility / delivery 

etc) and a number highlighted EVC where parking provided  

• Several noted the existing provision in 2 multi stories & how they could be accessed One 

noting need to compete with Nugent  

• One felt there would be continued demand  

 
Parking 

Restrict Car Parking  

• responsibility to the environment and to our children.  

• Would ease bus movement 

• Supported by more frequent / reliable buses. 

• Reduces congestion & makes Town Centre more appealing 

Allow Car parking  

Page 111

https://healthystreets.com/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf


 

20 
 

• needed for people  

o with mobility /health issues / elderly;  

o parents with small children;  

o people with heavy shopping.  

• will be in demand for years to come 

• only in existing car parks not on the High St  

• existing car parks needed (access to Walnuts via Gravel Pit Way) to prevent drain to 

Nugent 

EV Charging 

• If parking has to be provided, should have EV charging facilities. 

• More charging points should be installed for electric cars.  

o in car parks and on Lych Gate Rd 

 
Ped / part ped High St   x8 responses 

• previous attempt at Pedestrianisation unsuccessful - the reasons for this should be re-

visited. 

• difficult to cross the street with children because of all the terrible driving 

• parking only in walnuts & Tesco 

• other routes around it including to the two multi storey (Walnuts and Tesco's) car parks and 

the disabled parking area  

• get rid of through traffic.  

• Pedestrianize between the Walnuts roundabout and War Memorial roundabout  

o Buses and Bikes and ESSENTIAL deliveries only - other traffic travelling via Gravel 

Pit Way 

o Buses vis Gravel Pit way too 

• Active travel, Bicycle paths / secure cycle parking and pavements should take priority. 

o safe cycle lanes continuing along Sevenoaks Road to Green Street Green High 

Street 

 
Car Free Development  (future)  

• Two specific refs - both yes  

 
Are there any improvements to public transport that you would like to see? How can access 
to Orpington Station from the High Street be enhanced? 
 
High St 

• reducing traffic on the high street, perhaps by making all / part car free   

• buses make slow progress through the high street  

• Divert buses off High St / Bus hubs at periphery of high street, x2 

• Electric buses only in High St  

• Widen pavements 

 
Route to Station A232 (TfL) 

• walking route between the station and Tesco is poor / clogged  

o raised tables / crossings on side roads along A232  

o widen pavements  

• better wayfinding and lighting via the back of the station to town centre including via Knoll 

Rise  

• buses only on Station Rd cars only on Tower road (too narrow for buses)  

• more greenery 

Page 112



 

21 
 

• air quality monitor  

• optimisations to the traffic lights to improve the flow up towards the station ? 

• cycle and scooter lane (with storage). 

o Electric scooter hire (if legal) 

 
Buses 

• buses make slow progress up to the station.  

• dedicated shuttle bus  - 

o station to war memorial  

o Orp Station - SMC station– (via High St - Carlton Parade, Cray Avenue / Nugent)  

o Orpington station to Biggin Hill, (via airport, & planned hotel and College). 

• More frequent buses from outlying suburbs/villages – including new dev at Fort Halsted 

• an X51 service (51 overcrowded in the peaks)  

 
Train routes 

• direct services to London from Chelsfield station  - recent alterations mean changes at 

Orpington   - draws commuters to drive to Orp Stn  at Orpington  

 
What do you think are the priority infrastructure requirements for Orpington Town Centre? 
 

• Prioritising cycling and walking then public transport 

• Create cycle / pedestrian network spine (cycle routes / safer pedestrian crossings) and 

Mayfield Avenue / Knoll Rise towards High Street and Priory Gardens 

• Progress Orpington to Green Street Green Walking and Cycling Route improvements 2017 - 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50051764/Proposals%20for%20improvements%20to

%20the%20Orpington%20cycling%20and%20walking%20network.pdfCycle 

• Complete shared walking/cycling route from Crittalls Corner to Orpington Town Centre - 

currently stops short of Carlton Parade 

• cycle routes & infrastructure (racks) x7  

o High Street  

o along Sevenoaks Road to Green Street Green High Street.  

o into local neighbourhoods 

• municipal bike scheme 

 
Walking 

• improve/upgrade existing walking routes and footpaths  

• better signage for healthy routes in/around Town Centre  

• pedestrianisation 

 
Station 

• easy linkage to high street without creating more traffic on that stretch of road.  

• National Rail / Southeastern improvements to platform underpass and links to emerging 

Crofton Road upgrade (to. 

 
Drainage  

• Valley location – inc risk of flooding as weather changes / global warming 

• Good time to address during major redevelopment / changes 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to transport and infrastructure in Orpington 
Town Centre? 
 

Page 113

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50051764/Proposals%20for%20improvements%20to%20the%20Orpington%20cycling%20and%20walking%20network.pdfCycle
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50051764/Proposals%20for%20improvements%20to%20the%20Orpington%20cycling%20and%20walking%20network.pdfCycle


 

22 
 

• Full / partial / occasional pedestrianisation 

• Encourage walking and cycling (cycle lanes on the residential streets, along with pedestrian 

crossings, traffic calming, for a more healthy population). 

• Act (eg cycle lanes) not just talk in platitudes about intentions regarding these features. 

• Electric buses  

• There needs to be more done in terms of traffic calming and enforcement  

• Liaise with local people , residents associations and relevant organisations / stakeholders, 

e.g. Bromley Cyclists, Bromley Living Streets, Bromley Ramblers, EnBro. 

• Concern about Rat Running (The Greenway – north of Orpington) 

 

5 Offices 
 
5 responses in total.  
 
How can the employment role of the town centre be maintained and improved? 
 

• Local jobs website regularly updated 

• Offer flexible workspace  

o incl. cafes that allow workspace  

o meeting venues 

o co-working space, 

o ideally low-cost to support start ups and small businesses.   

• target  

o the digital sector  

o young professionals 

• showcase Orpington based businesses,  

 
What type of office space do you think will be necessary to ensure that the town centre can 
adapt to changes in the way people work? 
 

• FLEXIBLE workspace -a key comment. 

• Rentable, flexible, co-working, low cost, hot desking, 

• Good quality to attract young professionals and different sized businesses.  

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to offices in Orpington Town Centre? 
 

• Attract businesses and workers to the town centre (but don’t waste money) 

• convert empty unviable office to housing. 

 

6  Retail leisure and Culture 
 
13 responses in total  
 
Does Orpington Town Centre's retail offer need to change to adapt to changing 
circumstances? If so, what changes do you think could be put in place to facilitate this? 
 
Retail 

• Too many food establishments inc restaurants, takeaways, cafes,  

• Too many charity shops and empty units 

• Reduce rental / find tenants  

o more independent retailers  

Page 114



 

23 
 

o shops that embrace the growing community feel as a refill shop for dried food, 

cleaning and toiletry liquids, as well as a repair shop/cafe and a lending library (for 

DIY tools, electricals, partywear and garden tools).  

o accessible, ‘trendy’ and child friendly restaurants/bars/cafes 

o Pop up markets  / indoor market in larger vacant unit  

o focus on personal services that are best served locally, so leisure, restaurants, bars, 

dentists and hairdressers  

 
Leisure & Culture 

• Walnuts Sports and Leisure Centre  - retain and update (note - phase as no other local 

swimming pool)  

• Gathering / sitting area to encourage street life eg musicians  

• Ice skating rink/roller skating rink 

• Skateboard area, 

• The High Street 

o pedestrians only with relevant affordable parking locally 

o consolidate the shops in a smaller area (one end of the High Street) and release the 

space to other uses such as housing, recreation.  

o is too narrow for public transport to use it safely.   

o Crossings should be linked so that traffic flows freely.   

o pavements re-laid to reduce puddles 

more homes and offices in the town centre 
 
Do you see the town centre as somewhere you can socialise? 
 
Attractors 

• its nearby ! less inclined to go to London  

• Walnuts Sports and Leisure Centre,  

• Restaurants 

o choices limited but recent restaurant openings (GPO, Pato Lounge and The 

Orpington) have attracted some back 

o a ‘walk to’ dinner destination  

o not too different to the offer at Locks Bottom and Petts Wood.  

o Suggest more outdoor seating for restaurants and bars 

• Cinema 

 
Detractors 

• Concern about safety  

• Traffic noise & air pollution 

• crowded pavements / pinchpoints  

 
What type of space is necessary to facilitate or improve the cultural and social role of 
Orpington Town Centre? 
 

• Large art / events space - Walnuts shopping precinct inadequate - split into two relatively 

small areas which can become overcrowded 

• Use inner square for community events,  

• pop ups, better quality market stalls  

• Supported spaces for social enterprises / community events/learning - with long term 

sustainable funding. 

• a 'little theatre' used culturally throughout the day with evening shows, 

Page 115



 

24 
 

• Car free areas so restaurants can spill out 

• More open space 

 
What leisure activities/facilities would you like to see in the town centre? 
 

• Retain & enhance the Walnuts (with provision throughout refurb) 

• More activities and places for children, families and young people. 

e.g. Places to play and learn music, art, dance, drama, roller skating rink, winter ice skating 
rink, gymnastics, mini golf, social darts, ping pong, skate boarding, swings, exercise circuits, 
benches, café, soft play, no alcohol ‘games den’ 

• Improve the existing bowling 

• Integrate existing facilities (cinema & bowling) better with the town centre.  

• Theatre, art spaces, community spaces, all with long term sustainable funding. 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to retail, culture and leisure in Orpington Town 
Centre? 
 

• Should be more people focussed rather than commercial and car focussed 

• Events  

o eg the big screen (previously outside the old police station), Lighting Up Festival, 

Orpington Rocks Festival 

o locations  - use the High Street more, War Memorial 

• More diversity of business 

 

7 Public Realm, Connectivity & Permeability 
 
8 responses received in total 
 
How inviting is the town centre public realm currently? What elements of the public realm do 
you think are good and bad? 
 
Good Public Realm 

• flowers / Flower towers  

• in front of the cinema, with extra outside seating  

• Green walls in front of empty shops 

• Speed tables (pavement to road) 

• paving 

• the cinema and the buildings nearby  

• bike racks encouraging cyclists (although under utilised at present)  

• Good / Improved general  

o Cinema 

o Independent restaurants  

o supermarkets, banks and opticians  

o Village Halls  

 
Bad Public Realm 

• pavements are crowded and cars dominate the town centre – can feel noisy & polluted  

• too much heavy traffic (inc buses) on the high street (dangerous place with small children) 

• limited opportunity to widen pavements or include cycle provision. 

• Entrance to the Walnuts between the leisure centre and the college, including the bridge, are 

dated and unwelcoming not very inviting  

Page 116



 

25 
 

• Too much concrete on some buildings 

• Some buildings look tired and uncared for  

• The market is generally poor 

• Bad general 

o Too many empty shops 

o No big retailer 

o Nugent offers better shopping 

o Weekend crowd are off-putting 

 
What could be done to make the town centre a place where people will want to dwell? 
 
Transport & Highways 

• Pedestrianise / less traffic on the high street,  

• Provision of storage/parking for bikes, e-scooters, motor-bikes & other vehicles 

 
Visitor experience 

• Unique character that sets in apart from other town centres “celebration of local 

achievements: Dina Asher-Smith (athlete) , Reggie Perrin (character created by David 

Nobbs); the 1920’s Orpington car; the Romans etc. etc. 

• more interesting shops, i.e. 

o a bookshop, fashion, eco-shops  

o fewer or rebadged charity shops as ‘vintage shop’ 

o local community hub for info / lost property /police contact point 

• Fill vacant units - retail or leisure activities 

• Enhanced greening / more planters  

• Safe, clean, well-lit spaces and benches to rest. 

• Light & airy so you can see the sky 

• Well maintained commercial and residential buildings.  

• Refresh / enhance leisure centre offer 

• shared spaces for people to get a break from working at home. 

• Enhance public realm in front of the Walnuts leisure centre e.g. planting; or maze or 

hopscotch painted on the ground for children 

 
Homes 

• Well-proportioned, energy- efficient housing, with good insulation, ventilation, and access to 

green space 

• Homes that are not generic square blocks  

• Play area for children close to new flats 

 
How easy is it to navigate through and within the town centre? 
 
Active travel 

• The town centre is easily navigated on foot once you are in the High Street. However 

o Side streets that junction on to high street can be difficult to cross 

o Leisure centre entrance should be better integrated with the town centre 

• Requiring improvement (eg maintenance & lighting) and / or signposting  

o access the leisure centre from the high street (steps not obvious) 

o River Cray path (north from Priory Gardens to the Nugent)  

o Path between the Walnuts and Priory Gardens.  

o The footpath over the bridge  

Page 117



 

26 
 

o Walking and cycling route from Orpington Station (to Hillview Road and from Elm 

Grove to Knoll Rise). 

• street furniture (bus stops, bind, signs, seats, etc) can create pinch points (around 

McDonalds, outside the old Post Office/Boots and by Edinburgh Woollen Mills) 

 
Cars  

• should not to navigate through the town centre, as there are alternate routes available. 

• Pedestrianize with clear cycle lanes and room for invalid vehicles. 

 

8 Historic Environment  
 
10 responses received in total  
 
How important is the historic environment to the character of the town centre? 
 

• Very - a critical part of its unique local cultural identity & character, distinguishing Orpington 
from other places incorporating 

• Roman settlement 

• the Priory,  

• Railway generated development like the Knoll area 

 
Benefits 

• Prosperity - High Streets with unique features prosper - many high streets / shopping 

centres have been sanitised and look the same – ‘the Walnuts is a just a walk through to 

get out of the rain". 

• shared interest for residents, and can bring generations together. 

 
Enhancement 

• local history should be better identified and enhanced 

• highlight unnoticed historic characteristics  -  facades above High Street.shops  

 
What elements of the historic environment do you consider most  
important? 
 

• Priory and Priory Gardens Conservation Area - but concern about the Priory  

o hidden / obscured  

o contents of the former museum  

o lack of public use   

• Roman remains 

• Early mock Tudor buildings 

• Heritage buildings related to past commerce & industries 

• Gabled shops along the linear High Street (new buildings should be required to blend in.)  

• Natural environment – historic trees and green spaces  

 
How can development be accommodated without causing harm to the historic environment? 
 
New buildings to locate on 'brown' land, seek comment and confirmation from the community, and 
should be  

• in context and in keeping with the existing development - sympathetic aesthetic to the 

existing buildings – don’t juxtapose modern with historical 

• similar height, - slightly higher if replacing blocks in the Walnuts but not directly adjacent to 

existing residential properties or towering on their skyline. 

Page 118



 

27 
 

• similar materials - flint walls would mirror the Priory walls 

 
Potential to preserve & enhance the historic environment  

• showcasing history eg the new Orpington GPO, - template for future developments 

• preserve facades and imitating existing facades  

• no new development to obscure historic buildings 

 
New development to enhance & celebrate the historic environment 

• footpath link between the Priory & Priory Gardens, and the Walnuts / High Street (Dryden 

Way/ Lychgate Road to Bark Hart Road).  – suggested like improvements to the Nugent 

Centre path through trees and past the stream, with a water feature. 

• Reflect how historic towns like Canterbury, Richmond and even parts of London like 

Chancery Lane and St Paul’s blend the ancient and modern in aesthetically pleasing ways. 

• Involve experts in historic preservation and sustainability. " 

• Careful selection of developers (for Council schemes)  

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to the historic environment in Orpington Town 
Centre? 
 
Enhance / develop local displays (currently at the Bromley town centre library), Crofton Roman Villa, 
the Priory buildings, Biggin Hill, connections with David Bowie  as well as nearby National Trust, 
English Heritage and other historic sites.  
 
Public Realm enhancements 

• Improve heritage related signage 

• local history walking trail with links to websites 

• use or reflect former museum artworks in the new public realm – seek sponsorship e.g. the 

18th century fire engine (not as big as it sounds) could be sponsored by an alarm company? 

 
Priory building should be 

• occupied by artists- new commercial activity could be linked to V22’s planned artists 

occupation 

• open to the public (at least occasionally), and school visits should be resumed  

 
Art / Crafts area (note increased hobby activity during covid) 

• retail area/ inside market space for arts crafts & hobbys  - with retail & gallery space  

• baking & cooking/ Painting / Drawing / Pottery / Ceramics / Crafts / Cameras & photography 

/ Sewing / knitting / Crochet / haberdashery / musical instruments " 

• community sharing of oral histories, photos and artistic representations of Orpington through 

the ages as well as a vision for the future.  

 

9 Green Infrastructure  
 
19 responses in total 
 
Do you think provision of green infrastructure in town centre locations is important? What 
advantages and disadvantages does green infrastructure bring? 
 
Only advantages –  

• Contribute to sustainabilty, biodiversity  

o Enhance wildlife / offset biodiversity loss  

o pollinator corridors,  

Page 119



 

28 
 

o improved water management/drainage  

o mitigate climate change  

o improving air quality through pollution /CO2 reduction  

• connects people with nature in urban settings.  

o Esp those without gardens 

• aid economic recovery by increasing footfall  

o people attracted to a more environmentally friendly town centre environment, 

character / friendly & inviting  

• contribute to health / mental and wellbeing  

o Savings to the NHS with a healthier population 

o Encourages exercise  

• Community / place quality 

o sense of community, meeting opportunity (inc young people), seating, belonging,  

o events potential  

o respite from workplaces 

o responsibility to take care of the area that you live in,  

o teaches children the advantages and normalises sustainable living 

• Combine Green Infrastructure with 

o cycle routes and safe bike storage to encourage people to leave their car at home 

o  safe crossings and more solar powered lights for pedestrians to feel more 

comfortable walking 

 
What type of green infrastructure do you think is most suitable for Orpington Town Centre? 
 
Value of Green Infrastructure 
 
Existing 

• promoting the green spaces which already exist,  

• existing mature trees on the High Street and around the war memorial – a delight 

 
New 

• network of green spaces, connected by urban hedgerows, flowerbeds, 

• Parklets,  

• planters,  (including hanging baskets) / supported by shops - Orpington in bloom competition 

etc.. 

• trees,  

• green walls,  -visually appealing, whilst reducing air pollution and increasing biodiversity – on 

all new dev (eg Walnuts) 

• green roofs – also ‘growing space’ 

• wildlife areas / meadow corridors  - to encourage insects and birds 

• borders, - shrubs & bedding / along cycle routes and pedestrian paths  

• water spaces  new and existing better maintained 

• Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 

 
Also  

• Semi-permanent planting / perennials and bushes  – removing annuals (esp when flowering) 

is wasteful – instead reflect French roundabouts 

• Native plants  

• Would support al fresco dining spaces / pedestrianisation 

Page 120



 

29 
 

• Information on the environmental and health benefits of each element of Green 

Infrastructure - may inspire others to recreate smaller versions outside their homes as well 

as increase the respect and appreciation for our town centre 

• Ongoing maintenance of green infrastructure 

• Solar panels 

 
Do you think there are any opportunities/locations where new green infrastructure could be 
provided in Orpington Town Centre? 
 
Various locations 

• Replace parking with parklets 

• Green roofs  eg Singapore’s on high rises and nature ways 

• bus stops  - where children queue on polluted roads – planting / Bee-friendly (eg 

Netherlands)  

• Verges -  Stop mowing (and spraying) and let wildflowers thrive 

• roofs  on the high street planting / solar panels  

• Town center, rain gardens and green roofs 

• Pavements  

• Empty units  

 
Specific locations 

• Along the High St  – green corridor / pedestrianise & dig planting spaces 

• Priory gardens - wildlife garden/space with a beehive and educational information 

• Tesco is crying out for a green wall.   

• Tesco roof converted into a growing space for fruit and vegetables 

• The north end of the High Street would benefit from more greenery.  

• Library / cinema - space outside - more planting  and some kind of water feature.  

• Walnuts square & link to High St, more planting, trees (noted area ‘ripped up’ for cinema) 

• The Walnuts leisure centre - green walls  

• War memorial – more attention  

• Orpington station - trees and green walls 

• Sevenoaks Road / Crofton Road / Charterhouse Road - Wildflower meadow verges 

• car parks - parts which are under used could be planted as wild flower gardens 

 
Which, if any, open spaces in and around the town centre do you currently use, and why? 
 
Priory gardens  

• it's calming and makes me feel closer to nature despite the urban setting.  

• beautiful and inspiring 

• not very accessible from High st  

• easy to access from R3 bus -  stops outside 

• children's play park is well equipped  - in need of some TLC,  

• duck pond is fun 

• to walk dog  

• Could do more wilding & native species / less formal planting to encourage insects and birds 

etc  

• better use could be made of the wide open space - more events  

• more buggy/scooter friendly paths required.   

• Used More when the library was there 

 

Page 121



 

30 
 

Public Realm Open Spaces 

• when there are market stalls 

• recent art works done by local children – more of this please 

• high street for shopping and eating out  

• Roads to and from Green st Green to Orpington.  Charterhouse Road, Sevenoaks Road, 

Court Road.   

Goddington Park - for leisure, relaxation and exercise. 
 
Poverest/Covert Wood. -Wood is good to escape heat and see some wildlife  
 
Jubilee Park,  
 
High Elms   
 
None  

• I spend as little time as possible in the town centre.  

• Motorised traffic has priority and pedestrians are second class citizens. 

• current arrangements don't really encourage you to want to linger  

• the high street is too noisy and dirty with the traffic. I used to spend more time at the priory 

gardens when the library was there. It was a lovely place to spend some time. I probably 

only spend time in the open spaces now. The were a great idea - more of that sort of thing 

please. 

 
Are there any open spaces in and around the town centre you do not currently use, but 
would like to? What changes would make you more likely to use this open space? 
 

• Market Square (between the Library , Sainsburys and Orpington College) 

o more green  

o incorporate water in some way. 

• walnuts entrance  

o planters  

o area of wild flower 

o natural play area for young children? 

• Priory gardens  

o improve access from High St  

o ‘sort out’ the geese – small child petrified / goose poop 

o lake water quality - full or rubbish and smelling of wee 

o hang out for street drinkers and weed smokers 

o priory building 

▪ revert to community amenity  - was ideal for families to make a day of visiting 

the library / museum and provided public toilets   

▪ falling into ruin? 

• cycle lane 'corridor' to link up green spaces  

• bridge and foot path from Walnuts - not pram or wheelchair friendly - a mess and doesn't 

feel very safe.  

• Southern end of high st foot paths  

o Improve – they are narrow and polluted 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to green infrastructure in Orpington Town 
Centre? 
 
LBB should 'walk the walk'  

Page 122



 

31 
 

• Opportunity for change  

o embrace this seriously, not just pay lip service to it. 

o Involve local school children 

o set up local community groups run by volunteers to save money who will take care of 

the green spaces. 

o Add a cafe at priory gardens - even if it's a pop up.  

• Trees 

o established trees being lost 

o Saplings planted but with poor success rates. 

o Enlist public in tree planting / health monitoring  

 

10 Environment and Air Quality    
 
23 responses in total 
 
What actions do you think could be taken in order to reduce carbon emissions? 
 
Raise ambition  - Bromley target of zero net Scope 1 emissions (i.e. the Council's own emissions) 
by 2029 admirable but represents only 1% of the Borough's total emissions. 
Bromley should, like other Boroughs, reset its target to include 100% of the Borough's carbon 
emissions.  
 
Increasing Active Travel (Cycling & Walking) 

• Improve facilities for people to walk, cycle  

• more cycling routes to improve safety,  

• more secure cycle storage next to shops, leisure centre and station;  

• Hire bikes at the Station and in the High Street 

• Need a bike shop 

• more pedestrianised areas, safer crossings and wider pavements  

• more outdoor public seating for people to rest 

 
Cars & Buses 

• Pedestrianisation of Orpington High Street except for disabled and elderly drop off and 

parking 

• Remove on-street parking and prioritise bus-only access. (Car parks accessible from Gravel 

Pit Way) 

• Better / free public transport  

• address the phasing out of fossil fuel transport  

o Provide more EV charging points (including in all car parks) 

o Support electric car hire firm to establish off the High Street (eg Gravel Pit Way) 

o Electric buses 

• Encourage car clubs (zip car) to area.  

• Restrict delivery times for shops  

• 20mph zone around town centre  

• Enforce engine idling pavement parking & speeding laws (note Carlton Parade concerns) 

 
Public Realm & facilities  

• Plant more native trees, hedges and green walls for carbon capture and air quality (note - 

grass is less useful than planting / trees) as well as for mental wellbeing, natural shade & 

attractiveness  

Page 123



 

32 
 

• Water bottle re-fill points  

• more recycling bins and encouragement of streaming waste into the correct bins 

• information 

o Measure particulates as well as CO2 and NOX.   

o good information about emissions & recycling  

• independent shops  

o refill shops for dried food, home cleaning products  & laundry liquids  

o repair shop/cafe  

• lending library of things (for DIY & garden tools, partywear, electricals, musical instruments, 

kitchen gadgets). 

 
New developments (inc Walnuts)  

• to be carbon neutral  

• Improve energy efficiency, renewable energy / sustainable heating methods (eg heat pumps 

/ solar panels), green energy tariffs 

• Generate energy for local business to buy 

 
Retrofit Existing Development 

• LBB should set up a pilot scheme to retrofit a housing development with improved energy 

efficiency measures, to roll out similar projects across the whole authority housing stock 

o to keep warm/cool, reduce energy use and carbon emissions (LBB to fund)  

o to allow Britain to meet the legal requirement of zero net carbon emissions by 2050. 

• LBB to fund or secure grant funding 

 
What actions do you think could be taken in order to deliver air quality improvements? 
 
Increasing Active Travel (Cycling & Walking) 

• Improve facilities for people to walk, cycle  

• more cycling routes to improve safety,  

• more secure cycle storage next to shops, leisure centre and station;  

• Hire bikes at the Station and in the High Street 

• Need a bike shop 

• more pedestrianised areas, safer crossings and wider pavements  

• more outdoor public seating for people to rest 

 
Cars & Buses 

• Pedestrianisation of Orpington High Street except for disabled and elderly drop off and 

parking 

• Remove on-street parking and prioritise bus-only access. (Car parks accessible from Gravel 

Pit Way) 

• Better / free public transport  

• address the phasing out of fossil fuel transport  

o Provide more EV charging points (including in all car parks) 

o Support electric car hire firm to establish off the High Street (eg Gravel Pit Way) 

o Electric buses 

• Encourage car clubs (zip car) to area.  

• Restrict delivery times for shops  

• 20mph zone around town centre  

• Enforce engine idling pavement parking & speeding laws 

 
Public Realm & facilities  

Page 124



 

33 
 

• Plant more native trees, hedges and green walls for carbon capture and air quality (note - 

grass is less useful than planting / trees) as well as for mental wellbeing, natural shade & 

attractiveness  

 
Reduce particulates 

• Extend the London ULEZ 

• More car free areas in Bromley, Safe Streets initiatives (esp around schools) 

• car free days in town centre - maybe one day a week and on special occasions 

• Reduce speed limits to lower emissions.   

• Ban diesel cars  

• Limited permit access during set hours for fossil fuel vehicles to school roads / high streets 

during set times (school drop-off / pick-up, rush hour,..).  

• Higher parking fees for fossil fuel vehicles (or reduced fees for electric vehicles) 

• Dedicating more parking places to electric vehicles, adding charging points. Making parking 

free while charging. 

• Actively respond to live peaks in air pollution (restricting access of older vehicles / diesel 

vehicles & making public transport free in the Borough for that day...).  – requires real-time 

air pollution monitors (see below) 

• Ban / enforce ban re wood burning stoves and bonfires 

 
Design  

• Roof gardens on new housing developments 

• Green walls on Tesco, the leisure centre (entrance & side facing the Walnuts), JTL, other 

concrete buildings 

• More tree preservation orders & compensate loss of trees  

 
Education and Information 

• installation of a network, including Orpington High Street, of real-time, on-line accessible air 

quality monitors (including PM2.5)  

• Education campaign re walking and cycling for personal health and carbon footrprint; 

• provide cycle training & fixing courses; 

• Raise public awareness re harm wood burning stoves and bonfires to local lungs (esp during 

the pandemic). 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to the environment and air quality in and around 
Orpington Town Centre? 
 
Transport & Highways 

• Be brave and face up to the car lobby which is killing Orpington residents.  

• active travel infrastructure, especially cycle lanes, joined up across the Borough as part of a 

network  

• Discourage through traffic. 

• Congestion between the Tesco entrance and the war memorial needs to be addressed. 

• bring in speed control on all Orpington roads. 

 
Air quality reporting 

• Report compliance with WHO air quality guidelines to ensure a thriving future  - attractive to 

potential residents  

 
Planning 

Page 125



 

34 
 

• Attach significant / great weight to projects which eliminate air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 

• Approve only low and zero emissions replacement buildings 

 
Public Realm 

• shops and businesses encouraged to participate in planting and greening of premises 

• landscape planting for pollinators, wildlife corners - e.g. rewilding some grass verges 

• New developments on should be encouraged to plant trees along the boundary with the 

narrow pavement. Station Road  

• Court Road and High Street -  Emission absorbing trees or technology.  

• measures to discourage the chewing gum on pavements 

 

11 Development Opportunities  
 
5 responses in total 
 
What is special/unique about Orpington Town Centre?  
 
Good public transport links & local catchment (within walking distance of many homes) and 
pedestrian friendly environments 
 
High Street 

• The War Memorial at one end, The Priory, and the Priory gardens at the other end 

• mix of cafes, restaurants, entertainment, leisure and retail. older shop facades are original 

and could be restored more to character.   

• Uniform height  

• Period and mock Tudor buildings  

 
The Walnuts  

• not very inviting despite past refurbs 

• potential for vibrant al fresco space attractive to the college students and to families  

 
Environment 

• The Priory, and the Priory gardens – ‘lovely and special’ 

• The River Cray  - underutilised as a feature 

. 
What aspects of the town centre do you think are integral to the character of the area?  
 

• The Priory and the Priory gardens  

• Leisure centre with swimming etc, library and other community spaces. 

• Period buildings. 

• Flowers in the High Street  

 
Are there particular areas within the town centre that have a specific character that 
particularly warrants further guidance? 
 

• The uniformity of height of buildings in the High Street should be preserved.  

 
Further guidance on 

• Broomhill Road environs,  

• The Priory and area around the Parish Church. 

Page 126



 

35 
 

 
Do you have any other comments in relation to development opportunities in Orpington 
Town Centre? 
 

• Mixed-use developments could address vacancy as High Street is impacted online shopping 

and working from home.  

• Reduce traffic, increase pedestrian areas / improve safety of cyclists and pedestrians,  

• Additional trees and green spaces to enhance attractiveness and air quality  

• Residential development to be affordable/ social / key worker, not expensive commuter flats  

• Retain community facilities (concern at loss of police facilities) 

• Restoration rather than replacement of older properties  

 

Page 127



 

36 
 

Themes 

1. General comments 

2. The future of Orpington Town Centre 

3. Housing  

4. Transport infrastructure 

5. Offices 

6. Retail, culture and leisure 

7. Public realm, permeability and connectivity 

8. Historic environment 

9. Green infrastructure 

10. Environment and air pollution 

11. Development opportunities 

 

1 General comments 
 

• SPD should  

o provide guidance for future developments for flexible and adaptable spaces that are 

resilient to changing circumstances.  

o respond to and support change from predominantly retail to residential and cultural 

(including larger scale developments) 

o masterplan to reduce carbon emissions with significant sustainable infrastructure & 

sustainable buildings  

o be based on a clear vision to ensure a prosperous and thriving future for our town 

centres.   

o step change in the nature of people movement infrastructure (re pandemic and 

climate change) 

▪ Promote active travel - move to walking and cycling including  

• repurposing of civic and highway spaces  

• & additional pedestrian routes to reduce traffic  

o Recognise the local spend / benefit to town centre of  

▪ increased residents  

▪ walkers / cyclists 

o involve sensible and practical use of brownfield sites. 

o give clarity over the scale and nature of redevelopment  

o have understanding of deliverability and viability considerations 

o Be an opportunity to enhance the character and local distinctiveness;  

o Involve landscape characterisation and townscape assessments.  

o Protect natural resources, including air quality, ground and surface water and soils 

and use natural resources more sustainably;   

• Take note of  

o the London Plan,  

o the Local Plan  

o the Local Implementation Plan for transport (LIP3)  

o the AQAP  

o Carbon Management Strategy,  

o Habitats Regulations  

Page 128



 

37 
 

o recent DFT Guidance of May 9th 2020, manifesto ‘Gear Change’;  

• maintain consultation as SPD develops 

• Concern that proposed changes to planning amount to a “developer’s charter 

2 The future of Orpington Town Centre 
 

• Flexibility 

o more mixed-use retail, cultural and leisure areas to be the core function of town 

centres to ensure that they can adapt and thrive  

o Likely shift to internet shopping at expense of town centres 

o key to creating functional and enjoyable civic spaces 

o potential desire for shared work space - benefits of both wfh and serviced offices 

without the London commute   

• variety  / vibrancy  

o a range of commercial uses at typically, but not limited to, ground floor with 

residential accommodation above and including new community uses and public 

realm improvements 

o residential development -  vibrancy (day and night) & footfall.  

• Placemaking  

o 20 minute neighbourhood model for places - broad mixture of land uses for existing 

catchment  

o Prioritise community spaces and activities (inc in empty units) 

o importance of outdoor settings – for health & socialising  

o public realm enhancements  - green infrastructure, key to town’s reputation - outdoor 

dining, market stalls 

o green infrastructure – protect, increase, enhance access for multiple benefits 

o equality, accessibility, safety for all (ref elderly and disabled) to buildings, parks, 

public realm 

o high-quality living  - quality buildings and public spaces  

o renewal of other parts (not walnuts) of the town centre develop quarters or zones 

visually along the high street-  with diversity of retail, commercial and community 

spaces. 

o Identify for Tall buildings round Market Square.   

o higher density of development,  

o low rise and of human scale - avoid high rise wind tunnels without character 

• Movement 

o enhance and increase pedestrianisation (full High St) 

o Safe walking / Cycling - increase opportunities. 

o improvements made to public transport.   

o Better permeability / quality access points for active travellers across major highway 

barriers    

3 Housing  
 

• Local Plan indicates limited housing development  

o Bruce Grove (Site 9) within the Town Centre 

o Homefield Rise (Site 11) to the south.   

• SPD should increase housing density within town centre envelope with design guidance 

identifying potential sites for improvement or redevelopment  

• Walnuts redevelopment providing residential 

Page 129



 

38 
 

o opportunity for different housing typologies one and two bedroom units - attractive to 

young people  - need indicated by Carter Jonas, (for LSEC) 

o potential to significantly contribute to the Borough’s housing targets,  

o reducing pressure on Green Belt and Metropolitan Open Land  

o assist in promoting sustainable transport and reduce the reliance on private vehicles,  

o increase footfall supporting local businesses.  

• Require / exceed space standards to create high quality accommodation.  

• New homes should be affordable, and a place to live, not an investment.  

• Buy to let should be disincentivised 

4 Transport and infrastructure 
 

• holistic transition to active travel and public transport– for multiple health environment 

economic benefits 

o Adopt Healthy Streets principles.  

o hierarchy of modes of people movement to prioritise most vulnerable users first. 

o Create space for safe active travel - high-quality public realm for walking and cycling 

– notably routes to the Station 

▪ improve and increase pedestrian crossings (encouraging walking)  - 

Increased pedestrianised areas, but with some parking and drop off points for 

disabled and elderly 

▪ Complete  (or partial) pedestrianisation (with some essential drop off points 

and disabled parking) 

▪ Support strategic cycle routes to serve the area - including priority measures 

on approach roads  

▪ Secure, accessible and CCTV-monitored bike storage space throughout town 

centre  

▪ E-bike hire scheme (docks in High St & station). 

▪ Local Deliveries by eCargo Bike 

▪ prepare for increased numbers of electric scooters 

▪ Council-led active travel promotion to support Bromley's Green recovery 

o expansion in bus infrastructure 

▪ for disabled travellers 

▪ esp to station 

▪ shuttle-style services  

▪ divert buses through Homefield Rise and Gravel Pit Way. 

o Orp station susceptible to railheading  

o Urban centres to be car free / Restrict to EV 

▪ London Plan (ItPLP) standards for car and cycle parking 

▪ New residential development to be car free 

▪ strategy for consolidating car parking over time to reallocate space away from 

cars 

▪ Restrict car parking / differential parking charges  (EV spaces with charging)  

▪ Consolidation of deliveries and servicing to town centre  - to avoid peak traffic 

times (BID). (co-ordinated through the BID) 

▪ 20mph zones in all town centre 

▪ Anti-idling controls 

• sustainable drainage for new highway / footpaths / public realm 

• Lobby for ULEZ expansion - ideally the whole borough 

• repurpose existing parking for open space, public realm, residential 

• green public transport expensive  - set infrastructure priorities and allocation of CIL. 

Page 130



 

39 
 

• Highways England no comment at this time (highlight advice notes ‘ Streets for All’ 

2018  

5 Offices 
• Delay the building of new offices until the long-term impact of the Covid-19 crisis on office 

use is fully understood  

• new offices should be multi-use / flexible  

• No more office block to residential rabbit hutches 

6 Retail, culture and leisure 
 

• Diversification to respond to the changes in the retail environment / complimentary range of 

uses 

o stronger focus on cultural and leisure facilities strengthen existing  

o support further small and independent operators,  

o meanwhile (temporary uses important during re development) uses 

o markets.  

o Support expansion of night time economy  

o Flexible space to enable community groups and organisations to hire at a low cost 

• Developments should deliver / support new spaces for socialising  

• Walnuts / Orpington College & Public Realm 

o Increasing the number of residents within Orpington will provide the demand for 

additional and a wider variety of eateries.   

o strengthen existing cultural and leisure facilities through redevelopment of the 

Walnuts - a higher quality shopping space / leisure complex 

o expand activities targeted at young adults.  

o civic / community hub with indoor event facilities integrated with library or 

redeveloped leisure centre.  

o Shopping centre to encompass green initiatives - using renewable energy / shops 

reducing plastic etc.  

o Awnings over shops - simple devices improved the experience for shoppers in town 

centres (important re COVID).  

o Identify Orpington College for redevelopment (education and residential) 

o Enable events, markets, mothers with prams, play areas for children, dog free areas, 

spill out areas 

• Regular market, improving social interaction and sense of community 

• Complete or partial pedestrianisation of the High Street with parking/drop off allowed for 

people with particular needs such as the disabled and elderly. 

• Increase trees and hedging (shade, mental health, carbon capture and air cleaning  

• Support walk/cycle to increase footfall & local spend  

• Increase activity  - Sport England's Active Design Guidance includes 10 Active Design 

Principles   http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-

guidance/active-design 

7 Public Realm, Permeability and Connectivity 
 

• SPD should acknowledge the importance of the public realm which  

o adds significant value and distinctiveness - particularly following changes to the retail 

environment. 

o plays a vital role in keeping us active - Good design should create environments that 

make the active choice the easy choice for people and communities. 

Page 131

http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design
http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/active-design


 

40 
 

• Public realm should be  

o inclusively designed  

o improve permeability across the town centre.  

▪ a strengthened link between Orpington Town Centre and the railway station - 

important for visitors from beyond the local area. 

o support sustainable transport modes  

o Support health through promoting activity 

o attractive, interconnecting public spaces - including for young people 

o support improved connectivity / permeability  

o location to socialise outside 

• Public Realm Improvements 

o Create more space to sit and meet.      

o include trees a species capable of growth to exceed building height and managed so 

to do 

o remove barriers eg steps and steep inclines  

o Security - clean and well lit (renewable energy street lighting) routes to the town 

centre prioritising pedestrians and cyclists.  

o more outdoor sheltered spaces to allow for more comfortable outdoor activity during 

autumn and winter  

o Sufficient space (internal/external) in lobbies, corridors, lifts, forecourts, gardens to 

facilitate social distancing  

o Reduce unnecessary street clutter.  

o Ensure step free access to ALL premises in the town centre (temp ramps where 

required)  

o Install water bottle re-fill points and more recycling stations.  

o Secure storage for bikes near the shops, stations, leisure centre. 

o Increase electric car charging points. 

• Specific Location / Route Improvements 

o Hight St Pedestrianisation  

▪ increased pedestrianised within the town centre.  

▪ modal shift - make cycling, waling, public transport preferable to drive  

▪ Orpington by-pass provides a suitable alternative route for cars,  Divert 

through traffic away from High Street onto Spur Road; restricting traffic 

entering High Street by War Memorial to buses and cycles, and route cars to 

car park via Gravel Pit Way  

▪ OR Equidistant crossings on High Street. Pedestrian priority at side road 

junctions  

▪ Review crossings around War Memorial and integrate parallel crossings to 

connect cycle network 

o Market Square  

▪ promote role as community hub, public space, for community activity, 

congregation and engagement  

▪ surrounding developments should support / enhance its role 

o Routes 

▪ Cray Valley - connect along valley floor through the town centre core, 

extending the Cray Riverway and historic Priory Gardens with linear open 

spaces and pocket parks to link with planned Green Street Greenway to High 

Elms Country Park.  

▪ Priory Gardens to new development 

▪ Green / public spaces to neighbouring estates 

Page 132



 

41 
 

▪ Ped route High Street to station via Knoll Rise (avoiding traffic dominated 

Station Road). 

• New developments should  

o improve links to existing parks and green spaces. 

o create a more walking and cycling friendly environment. 

o promote Market Sq if neighbouring 

8 Historic Environment 
 

• SPD should 

o acknowledge benefits, including economic and cultural of the historic environment inc 

The Priory Conservation Area & Listed Priory 

o Recognise Archaeological Priority Areas / consider archaeological assessment and 

review   

o Reflect the timeline and rediscover a sense of place - past, present and future - 

legacy of market gardening, hop growing, plant nurseries 

o protect the historic environment and identify how new development can be 

accommodated without causing undue significant harm. 

• Historic Environment should inform the context of development.   

• High density development, of high quality design, is  

▪ appropriate within the town centre which is sustainably located 

▪ key to meeting housing targets through greater density opportunities. 

• Need to manage potential tall buildings in relation to heritage assets and their setting  

• history of the town should be reflected in developments of historical assets but not inhibit 

development of sites not affecting the historic environment.  (eg Walnuts / College)  

• Refurbishing of 60s and 70s development would make the high street more attractive  

• Attention drawn to HE documents 

o re Tall buildings  - Advice Note No 4: Tall Buildings 

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4   

currently being revised -  https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/news/tall-

buildings-advice-consultation/ 

o re managing new development and securing good growth for the historic 

environment - The Setting of Heritage Assets (Good Practice in Planning Advice 

Note 3) https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-

heritage-assets/ 

o re public realm improvements -  Streets for All; Advice for Highway and Public Realm 

Works in Historic Places (2018) https://historicengland.org.uk/images-

books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/ 

9 Green Infrastructure 
 

• Commitment to the protection of the Green Belt 

o areas of green belt must not be arbitrarily redesignated  

o development must focus on brownfield sites. 

• Green spaces support 

o mental health,  

o physical fitness  

o general well being 

o public health 

o coherent and resilient ecological networks, for nature and wildlife, (even small areas 

allowing species to move). 

Page 133

https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/news/tall-buildings-advice-consultation/
https://historicengland.org.uk/whats-new/news/tall-buildings-advice-consultation/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa3-setting-of-heritage-assets/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/streets-for-all/heag149-sfa-national/


 

42 
 

o manage environmental risks eg flooding and heat waves 

o cleaner air  

o carbon capture 

• Protect & increase existing parks and green spaces  

• Increase areas managed for biodiversity and allow some areas to develop naturally  

• Encourage strong links in new developments to local green spaces  

• Green areas must not be lost  

• Green infrastructure  

o Reputationally important to Orpington TC .    

o Vital to ensure that the UK meets its Net-Zero targets by 2050.  

o increasingly popular among young adults (that new res dev may attract).   

o Visually attractive supporting local pride and town centre vitality  

o Is both cost and benefit – funding opportunities (Mayor’s Greener City Fund eg 

Incredible Edible and Edible Bustop) 

• Require provision for Green Infrastructure (GI) within all new development and seek 

opportunities to retrofit green infrastructure / enhance biodiversity in and around town centre.   

o green roof systems / roof gardens;   

o green walls to provide insulation or shading and cooling;  

o pocket parks 

o new tree / hedge planting to support birds and pollinators, air quality, urban cooling, 

shade and carbon capture.  

o Replacement trees to provide equal or greater canopy size.   

o management of land to benefit local biodiversity  

▪ perennial wildflowers and native plants in preference to formal seasonal bed 

planting /disposal 

▪ rewilding (with clear signage) 

▪ natural verges 

o incorporating features for wildlife eg bat roost / bird box / swift bricks  

o Install timer triggered irrigation for planting to reduce plant, tree and water wastage 

o Install water bottle filling sites 

10 Environment and Air Pollution 
 

• Reduce traffic  

o Reduce car parking on Orpington High Street  

o High St pedestrianisation & more pedestrian routes to reduce travel within the town 

centre.   

• War Memorial roundabout too polluted and dangerous (note school students, cross there 

every day) 

• New developments / major refurbishments 

o be carbon neutral as a minimum or better still carbon negative 

o utilise sustainable technologies and greener construction methods / building 

materials  

o high energy efficient standards and renewable energy / heating systems / solar 

panels  

o ground source heat pumps for central community-wide infrastructure and CHP 

(Combined heat and power) 

o electric vehicle charging points and cycle storage 

• invest in more energy efficient busses.   

• Consider adopting sustainable and air quality measures as in other UK towns / cities and 

towns have taken.  

Page 134



 

43 
 

• Promote / require sustainable urban drainage schemes.  

• Shopping centres and other businesses to be energy efficient and use green energy tariffs.    

• Air quality monitoring stations with publicly visible electronic displays in visible key transport 

activity locations providing live data to the public 

• Restrict  

o hours for bonfires to after 8pm in the winter & after 9pm in the summer. 

o limit or ban the use of polluting rotary mowers as blowers recirculate  particulate 

matter (diesel exhaust, tyre and road wear, brake wear, bonfires, log burners etc) 

raising ambient pollution levels. 

11 Development Opportunities 
 

• Walnuts redevelopmemt 

o acknowledges location within the Cray Valley renewal area 

o potential for delivery of significant amount of new homes, new jobs, new social 

infrastructure and improved public realm. 

o Need for high quality design, in keeping with the surrounding character  

o Consider good place making at the heart of successful town centre.  

o Support consultation with the local community.   

• Orpington College Campus and adjoining car park  

o opportunity to deliver new residential, education & commercial development 

o landmark tall building to identify Market Square - currently lacks visibility.     

o Space within the Town Centre should be flexible and adaptable 

 

Page 135



 

44 
 

22 responses received (  symbol denotes the number of people who agreed with the comments) 
 

The Priory & Priory Gardens  

Priory could become a real hub for the community. There is space for Artisans and Eco 
friendly shopping; a community cafe; displays/information on environmental; sustainable 
and ethically friendly living; courses/classes ie health, yoga, recycling, upcycling, gardening 
etc 

11 

Priory Gardens need a café to make it attractive & Orpington needs places to do courses, 
yoga, adult education, concerts etc. 

2 

 

High Street, Walnuts Shopping Centre     

Pedestrianise the High Street to make shopping more pleasant and enable restaurants to 
grow. Re route buses to the rear 

1 

One way system in the High Street / pedestrianise (weekends only) - environmentally 
friendly & allow for better social distancing to support return to high street shopping. 

2 

Pedestrianise & facilitate outdoor dining without car fumes.  Orpington by-pass on Court 
Road already in place & existing bus stops on Homefield Rise cater for those travelling into 
Orpington Town Centre. There is ample parking accessible via Gravel Pit Way This will 
rejuvenate the town centre, improve air quality, reduce pollution, and create a town fit for 
the 21st century 

11 

Restrict non bus traffic between certain hours & make it more cycle friendly  1 

Pedestrianise the High Street, or restrict to buses, taxis and cyclists. No car parking along 
the High Street to increase pedestrian safety - drivers to park elsewhere eg Tesco or 
Sainsbury car parks, which should have EV chargers. Concern about High Street & roads 
behind / fringe area (flytipping, littering and antisocial behaviour) 

2 

Pedestrianisation to support those with mobility problems & cyclists. Investment (as in 
Bromley Town Centre) Note successes elsewhere – markets (Farmers, Flowers, Craft, 
Eco), Pop -ups etc , - Engaging business & residents to create a sustainable and 
environmentally aware / friendly centre & 'community' feel for their environment 

4 

Measures for vehicles introduced a few years ago, don’t work – on approach to the War 
Memorial roundabout traffic is slowed by narrowed High Street leading to dangerous 
crossing between cars – suggest widen road or encourage vehicles to use Gravel Pit Way / 
a mini roundabout on A232/ Gravel Pit Way 

4 

Currently unconnected- two ends to the High Street with the Walnuts in the middle. Suggest 
free shuttle bus connecting one end to the other / more / better distributed free car and bike 
parking Restaurants and cinema are great but needs more retail variety 

2 

Bring back a few limited time free parking places 0 

Page 136



 

45 
 

The Walnuts is a very dated -  very little to encourage ‘mooching’  - soulless with bland 
shops –. Removing cars and buses is key to opening the space up - enabling something 
like Brixton market, Brixton pop or Croydon/Shoreditch boxpark - more local / independents 
needed - good coffee shops, children’s play, family friendly exercise space / space for 
events/displays.  

8 

Orpington is a nice place, but it needs more offering to create a better living for the 
community - current retail / market stall offer is of very low quality. A a food quarter like 
Boxpark in Croydon would be a ‘phenomenal attraction’ . 

1 

Update the High Street - create festivals, fetes carnivals & fun days bringing people 
together - old and young 

1 

More public art - murals, sculptures etc. Better (sheltered) seating. More events like the 
food festival, Christmas market etc – affordable things to see and do in town 

4 

Need to re define the High Street. Learn from others eg Hackney Shoreditch  -very cheap 
rents / support for start ups, artists etc to develop the cultural buzz 

4 

convert cheap temporary shops into housing, & pedestrianise the high street. Events -  
markets & festivals / eco shops – attractions people will make the effort to travel to 

2 

Attract some quality retailers back – ‘Bring back our High Street!’ 0 

Lack of shopping facilities all fast food and cafes and charity shops 4 

Lack of toilet and/or café facilities in the vicinity of Priory Gardens (and in the park itself) 
and lack of seating. Over-provision of take-aways. Lack of daytime uses 

6 

 

The Walnuts Leisure Centre  

The entrance to the Walnuts leisure centre is not inclusive or prominent. Car & bike via 
Lych Gate Road / pedestrian access from the shopping precinct involves step access to the 
side of the building 

3 

 

Page 137



This page is left intentionally blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

Orpington Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
Statement – December 2021 

 
 

Page 139



 

 

 

1. Purpose of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 

1.1. This Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening is being prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of European Directive 2001/42/EC (“the 
Directive”); and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 (“the Regulations”). The following guidance has also been taken 
into account: 

• The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021)1. 

• The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) in relation to SEA/SA2. 

• A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (ODPM, 
2005)3. 

 
1.2. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is the process by which the Directive is applied to Local 

Plan documents. An SA is required under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 for all Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs). The Directive also requires a SEA to be carried out on certain 
types of plans with significant environmental effects. 

 
1.3. Both SA and SEA processes are undertaken during the preparation of a plan or 

strategy to aid the implementation of sustainable development. The main difference 
between them is that while an SEA has more of an environmental focus, the SA 
should focus on social, economic and environmental issues.  
 

1.4. Although SA and SEA are distinct requirements, government guidance has 
recommended a single appraisal process. The SA process for planning documents 
translates the requirements of the Directive, and Government guidance on 
undertaking SAs has been prepared so as to incorporate the requirements of the 
SEA Directive. 
 

1.5. Bromley’s Development Plan consists of the Bromley Local Plan and the London 
Plan. The Bromley Local Plan and the London Plan have both been subject to a 
SA/SEA 

 
1.6. The PPG4 states that:  

 
“Supplementary planning documents do not require a sustainability appraisal but may 
in exceptional circumstances require a strategic environmental assessment if they 
are likely to have significant environmental effects that have not already have been 
assessed during the preparation of the relevant strategic policies. 
 
A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be required where a 
supplementary planning document deals only with a small area at a local level (see 
regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

 
1 Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/10
05759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  
2 Available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-
appraisal  
3 Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/76
57/practicalguidesea.pdf  
4 Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 11-008-20140306, available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal  

Page 140

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal


 

 

Regulations 2004), unless it is considered that there are likely to be significant 
environmental effects.” 

Page 141



 

 

 

2. Orpington Town Centre SPD 
 
2.1. The Orpington Town Centre SPD provides guidance on the interpretation of adopted 

planning policies as they relate to the Orpington Town Centre area.  
 

2.2. The SPD sets out a number of design principles derived from existing Development 
Plan policies and national policy: 

• Contextual (Character and Identity) 

• Responsive (Architecture and Landscape) 

• Connected (Movement and Connectivity) 

• Inclusive (Access and Inclusion) 

• Healthy (Health and Well-being) 

• Sustainable (Sustainable Design, Adaptability and Resilience) 
 

2.3. These design principles are considered essential components in delivering good 
quality design, and which are widely documented as being among the key 
characteristics of successful well-designed places: 

 
2.4. The SPD divides the Orpington area into a series of character areas, which have 

been derived through consideration of the context of the wider area and represent 
those parts of the area which are considered to have similar characteristics. 
Guidance is provided for each character area, derived from existing planning policies, 
including guidance on existing site allocations and some further potential 
development opportunities. General guidance is also provided which applies across 
all character areas, covering topics such as heritage and conservation, green 
infrastructure and biodiversity and sustainability. 

 

3. The Screening Process 
 

3.1. Though not part of the statutory Development Plan, SPDs can cover a range of 
issues, which generally interpret policies in the Development Plan. If an SPD is 
considered unlikely to have significant environmental effects through the screening 
process, then the conclusion will be that the SEA is not necessary. 
 

3.2. To assess whether an SEA is required the Responsible Authority (Bromley Council) 
must undertake a screening process based on a standard set of criteria. Where the 
Responsible Authority determines that the plan or programme is unlikely to have 
significant environmental effects, and therefore does not need to be subject to full 
SEA, it must prepare a statement showing the reasons for this determination. 
 

3.3. This must be subject to consultation with Historic England, the Environment Agency 
and Natural England. Following consultation, the results of the screening process 
must be detailed in a Screening Statement, which is required to be made available to 
the public. The three consultation bodies have been consulted during the preparation 
of this SEA screening statement; details of their responses are provided at Appendix 
1. As of 20 December 2021, responses had been received from the Environment 
Agency and Natural England; both these consultation bodies agreed with the Council 
that an SEA would not be required for the proposed SPD. 
 

3.4. Key to the screening decision is the determination of whether the SPD is likely to 
have significant environmental effects. To assess this, the Council has taken a two-
step approach: 

Page 142



 

 

• First, to assess the plan against the guidance set out in ‘A Practical Guide to the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive’5. The guidance sets out a flow 
chart to guide application of the Directive to plans and programmes (shown in 
Figure 1); the screening questions from the guidance are set out in Table 1, 
alongside the Council’s response in relation to the Orpington Town Centre SPD. 

• Second, using the criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the Regulations to determine 
whether the SPD will have significant environmental effects. These criteria are 
set out in Table 2, alongside the Council’s response in relation to the Orpington 
Town Centre SPD. 

 
Figure 1: flow chart to assist with the application of the SEA Directive to plans and 
programmes 

 
 

 
5 Ibid 

Page 143



 

 

 

4. Screening assessment  
 
Table 1: assessment against criteria in A Practical Guide to the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive 

 Screening Question Screening Assessment 

1 Is the SPD subject to 
preparation and/or adoption by a 
national, regional or local 
authority OR prepared by an 
authority through legislative 
procedure by Parliament or 
Government? 

Yes. The SPD will be prepared and adopted by 
the London Borough of Bromley in its role as Local 
Planning Authority. 

2 Is the SPD required by 
legislative, regulatory or 
administrative provisions? 

No. The preparation of a SPD is optional. 
However, once adopted by the London Borough of 
Bromley, it will be a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. 

3 Is the SPD prepared for 
agricultural, forestry, fisheries, 
energy, industry, transport or 
waste management, 
telecommunications, tourism, 
town and country planning or 
land-use, AND does it set a 
framework for future 
development consent of projects 
in Annexes I and II to the EIA 
Directive? 

Yes. The SPD will not create new policy or land 
use designations, but it will provide further 
guidance to support the Local Plan and London 
Plan, which is the town planning policy framework 
for its area and includes policies for land-use. 
However, the Local Plan and London Plan has 
been subject to full SA (including SEA). 
 
The SPD does set out character areas within 
Orpington Town Centre, but these are not land 
use designations; they are broad areas which 
share similar characteristics, which have been 
identified for the purposes of providing further 
guidance in relation to land use and design. 

4 Will the SPD, in view of its likely 
effects on sites, require an 
assessment under Article 6 or 7 
of the Habitats Directive? 

No. The Local Plan and London Plan were subject 
to screening for the need for assessment under 
the requirements of the Habitats Directive and it 
was concluded that such assessment was 
unnecessary. As the SPD will not change or add 
to policy, proposals or designations within the 
Core Strategy it is not considered that further 
screening for such assessment is necessary as 
there would be no likely effects on European Sites. 

5 Does the SPD determine the 
use of small areas at local level, 
OR is it a minor modification of a 
plan subject to Article 3.2? 

No. The SPD will complement the policies that 
have already been set within the Local Plan and 
London Plan. No aspects of the SPD will modify 
existing adopted policies nor seek to change 
existing site allocations, nor add new ones. The 
SPD will provide guidance on interpreting a 
number of Development Plan policies in relation to 
Orpington Town Centre, particularly land use and 
design guidance. This includes guidance for 
development opportunities on unallocated sites, 
but these will not constitute site allocations – they 
will apply relevant Development Plan policy to 
these sites to guide potential development. 

6 Does the SPD set the 
framework for future 

No. This framework is already set within the 
Development Plan. The SPD will provide further 

Page 144



 

 

 Screening Question Screening Assessment 

development consent of projects 
(not just projects in Annexes to 
the EIA Directive)? 

guidance on the implementation of these policies. 

7 Is the SPD’s sole purpose to 
serve the national defence or 
civil emergency, OR is it a 
financial or budget plan, OR is it 
co-financed by structural finds or 
EAGGF programmes 2000-
2006/7? 

No. The SPD does not fall into any of the criteria 
listed. 

8 Is it likely to have a significant 
effect on the environment? 

It is not likely that the SPD will have any significant 
effect on the borough, beyond those effects that 
have already been assessed through the SA 
(including SEA) of the Local Plan and London 
Plan. 

 
 

Page 145



 

 

 

Table 2: assessment against SEA Directive criteria 

SEA Directive Criteria and 
Schedule 1 of Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

London Borough of Bromley Response 

1. Characteristics of the draft Orpington Town Centre SPD having particular regard 
to: 

The degree to which the SPD sets a 
framework for projects and other 
activities, either with regard to the 
location, nature, size and operating 
conditions or by allocating resources. 

The SPD will provide supplementary guidance to 
the Local Plan and London Plan which provide the 
overarching framework for assessing development 
in the Borough (and which were both subject to an 
SA/SEA) 
  

The degree to which the SPD 
influences other plans and 
programmes including those in a 
hierarchy. 

The SPD is a non-statutory document, subsidiary to 
policies in the adopted Local Plan and London Plan, 
and therefore will have limited (if any) influence over 
other plans and programmes, including national 
policy in the NPPF. 

The relevance of the SPD for the 
integration of environmental 
considerations in particular with a 
view to promoting sustainable 
development. 

The SPD provides guidance on environmental 
issues, derived from policies in the adopted 
Development Plan, including open space and green 
infrastructure, transport, and energy infrastructure. 

Environmental problems relevant to 
the SPD. 

The SPD will provide further guidance on 
environmental Development Plan policies, with 
reference to Orpington Town Centre.  

The relevance of the SPD for the 
implementation of community 
legislation on the environment (for 
example, plans and programmes 
linked to waste management or 
water protection). 

The SPD will not impact on the implementation of 
community legislation on the environment. 

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having particular 
regard to: 

The probability, duration, frequency 
and reversibility of the effects. 

The overall impact of the SPD will be positive, by 
ensuring that development in Orpington Town 
Centre addresses key policy requirements and 
delivers sustainable development. 

The cumulative nature of the effects 
of the SPD. 

Cumulative effects have been assessed through the 
Local Plan and London Plan SA/SEAs. The SPD is 
unlikely to have specific cumulative effects which 
differ from those assessed as part of the Local Plan 
and London Plan; the effect of the SPD will 
therefore be neutral. 

The trans-boundary nature of the 
effects of the SPD. 

The SPD will apply to developments in and around 
Orpington Town Centre, and will therefore have 
limited, if any, transboundary impacts.  

The risks to human health or the 
environment (e.g. due to accidents) 

No significant risks to human health are envisaged 
through the application of this SPD. 

The magnitude and spatial extent of 
the effects (geographical area and 
size of the population likely to be 
affected) by the SPD. 

The likely minor positive effects of the SPD will be 
localised to the Orpington Town Centre area, 
through the interpretation of relevant adopted 
policies.  

The value and vulnerability of the The SPD will be consistent with the Development 

Page 146



 

 

SEA Directive Criteria and 
Schedule 1 of Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

London Borough of Bromley Response 

area likely to be affected by the SPD 
due to: 

i. Special natural characteristics 
or cultural heritage; 

ii. Exceeded environmental 
quality standards or limit 
values; or 

iii. Intensive land use. 

Plan approach that seeks to conserve and enhance 
the borough’s heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their significance. This includes the 
Orpington Priory Conservation Area. 
 
Orpington Town Centre includes a SINC 
designation at Priory Gardens. The Development 
Plan has policies which protect SINCs; the SPD will 
assist with the implementation of these policies. 
 
Orpington Town Centre is within a Air Quality 
Management Area. The SPD provides guidance on 
how air quality policy requirements will be delivered. 
 
The SPD will interpret the policies within the 
adopted Development Plan to set out appropriate 
land uses for the Orpington Town Centre area. The 
SPD will not result in a significantly more intensive 
land use than that expected via application of the 
adopted Development Plan policies. 
 
The overall likely effect of the SPD will be positive 
by securing the positive environmental effects of 
development and minimising or avoiding negative 
impacts. 

The effects of the SPD on areas or 
landscapes which have recognised 
national, community or international 
protection status. 

There are no areas or landscapes in or around 
Orpington Town Centre which have recognised 
national, community or international protection 
status. 

 
 

Page 147



 

 

 

5. Statement of Reasons for Determination 
 
5.1. The Council believes that the impact of the draft SPD, through responses to the 

Criteria identified in Tables 1 and 2, will not have significant environmental effects 
(positive or negative) on Bromley, further to the effects that have already been 
assessed during the preparation of the Local Plan and the London Plan. In addition, 
the draft SPD is not setting new policy; it is supplementing and providing further 
guidance on existing policies. Therefore, it is considered that an SEA will not be 
required for the draft Orpington Town Centre SPD. 

Page 148



 

 

Appendix 1: responses to draft SEA screening statement from 
Historic England, the Environment Agency and Natural England 
 
Consultee Response LBB 

comment 

Environment Agency The SPDs are unlikely to have significant 
environmental effects, and therefore a full Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is not required. 
 
We have no more comments to make. 

Noted. 

Historic England No response as of 20 December 2021  

Natural England Natural England is a non-departmental public body. 
Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for 
the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
Natural England have no comments to make on this 
consultation, however we do not feel an SEA will 
be necessary for this supplementary planning 
document. 

Noted 

 

Page 149



This page is left intentionally blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Orpington Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 

Consultation draft – February 2022 

 

Page 151



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bromley Council 

Orpington Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document 
Consultation draft February 2022 

For more information about this document, please contact: 

Bromley Planning Policy Team 

Email: ldf@bromley.gov.uk  

Page 152

mailto:ldf@bromley.gov.uk


 

 
 

1. A Vision for Orpington Town Centre ............................. 1 

Introduction .................................................................................................... 1 

Vision for Orpington ...................................................................................... 3 

2. Policy framework ............................................................ 5 

National planning policy and guidance ....................................................... 5 

London planning policy and guidance ........................................................ 7 

Local planning policy .................................................................................... 7 

Infrastructure Delivery .................................................................................. 9 

3. Context ........................................................................... 10 

Townscape and Growth Analysis .............................................................. 10 

Topography .................................................................................................. 10 

Land use ....................................................................................................... 11 

Scale and Character .................................................................................... 11 

Heritage ........................................................................................................ 12 

Green Networks ........................................................................................... 13 

4. Design Principles .......................................................... 14 

Contextual (Character and Identity) ........................................................... 14 

Responsive (Architecture and Landscape) ............................................... 15 

Connected (Movement and Connectivity) ................................................. 16 

Inclusive (Access and Inclusion) ............................................................... 17 

Healthy (Health and Wellbeing) .................................................................. 18 

Sustainable (Sustainable Design, Adaptability and Resilience) .............. 19 

5. Character areas ............................................................. 21 

Character areas and sub areas .................................................................. 21 

General guidance for character areas ....................................................... 25 

6. Orpington East .............................................................. 35 

Page 153



 

 
 

Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts Shopping and Leisure 
Centre ........................................................................................................... 35 

Eastern Edge ................................................................................................ 39 

7. Orpington North ............................................................ 42 

The Village.................................................................................................... 42 

8. Orpington West ............................................................. 45 

Orpington High Street ................................................................................. 45 

Western Edge ............................................................................................... 48 

Orpington Station & York Rise ................................................................... 50 

Page 154



 

1 
 

1. A Vision for Orpington Town 
Centre 

 Orpington Town Centre is set within the Cray Valley and located on the suburban Green Belt 
fringe of the London Borough of Bromley. It is a Major Town Centre, as set out in the Bromley 
Local Plan1 and the London Plan2, which together make up the statutory Development Plan, 
for the Borough. 
 

 The nature of the London Borough of Bromley is predominantly suburban, with district centres 
interspersed with large areas of open Green Belt countryside, urban areas are mainly 
concentrated in the north west of the borough. The two key centres, Bromley Town Centre 
and Orpington Town Centre, each have distinct residential catchment areas with significant 
wedges of open space designated either Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land separating 
the two areas. 

 
1 Bromley Local Plan (adopted January 2019), available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf 
2 London Plan (adopted March 2021), available from: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 

Page 155

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf


2 

Figure 1: Borough context map 

Page 156



3 

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides guidance on the interpretation of 
adopted planning policies as they relate to the Orpington Town Centre area; it does not set 
out new planning policy, as this cannot be done in an SPD. The Council is undertaking a 
review of the Local Plan; this SPD will help to inform preparation of this document, in relation 
to policies for Orpington Town Centre and the surrounding area. 

Guidance is provided through a number of ‘SPD guidance notes’ set out in later sections of 
the document; these guidance notes include references to relevant policies and guidance 
where appropriate (although these are not-exhaustive and there may be other relevant 
policies and guidance which apply). The SPD assesses the varied characteristics of Orpington 
by reference to character areas, and within them further sub character areas. 

The SPD will be a material consideration in the determination of relevant planning applications 
within the Orpington area covered by the document.  

The Council also has a range of strategies which should be read alongside this SPD, 
including the Regeneration Strategy3 and Economic Development Strategy4. 

The Bromley Local Plan sets out the Vision for the Borough through to the 2030’s, the majority 
of which is directly applicable to aspirations for Orpington:  

“Bromley is known for the high quality of its living, working and historic and natural 
environments. The Council, local people, organisations and businesses work together to 
ensure that we all enjoy a good quality of life, living healthy, full, independent and rewarding 
lives. 

Bromley values its distinctive neighbourhoods, ranging from the rural to suburban and urban. 
Neighbourhoods provide a choice of good quality homes, jobs and a range of shops and 
services appropriate to the different town, district and local centres.  

The protection and enhancement of conservation areas and heritage assets, along with high 
quality new development have contributed to civic pride and wellbeing. 

The Green Belt fulfils its purpose, and, together with other open spaces, contributes to 
protecting Bromley’s special character and the health and wellbeing of local residents and 
visitors alike. 

Bromley has high levels of educational attainment, whilst strong and diverse businesses are 
able to invest to support a thriving economy.” 

Taking account of the Local Plan vision and consideration of Council priorities for the town 
centre and public consultation feedback, the following vision will underpin this SPD and sets 
out the key aspects of how Orpington should develop:

3 London Borough of Bromley Regeneration Strategy 2020 to 2030, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083012/RegenerationStrategy.pdf 
4 London Borough of Bromley Economic Development Strategy 2021 to 2031, available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6823/economic_development_strategy_2021_to_2031.pd
f  

Page 157

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083012/RegenerationStrategy.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6823/economic_development_strategy_2021_to_2031.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6823/economic_development_strategy_2021_to_2031.pdf


 

4 
 

Vision for Orpington 

• Orpington Town Centre will be a thriving Major centre with a strong social, leisure, retail, 
education, culture and heritage offer, supporting the health and wellbeing of the south-eastern 
area of the Borough. It will complement the role of Bromley Metropolitan Town Centre 
providing a lively centre addressing a range of the needs of surrounding communities.  

• The town centre environment will comprise streets, squares, places, courtyards and ways, 
responsive to the human scale and easily navigable. Movement through Orpington’s key 
spaces should be easy and legible. Different areas will be recognisable due to the character 
and scale of surroundings, with buildings helping to define places and historic structures being 
a natural part of the town and how it is composed. Historic ‘gaps’ in the fabric of the town, 
especially between the High Street and surrounding neighbourhoods, should be enhanced 

• Orpington will be integrated and carefully connected to its surrounding suburbs and 
landscapes, though remaining distinct from these areas in terms of its role and character. It’s 
green spaces and historic parks & gardens will be connected to form a well-programmed and 
ecologically rich sequence of landscapes and spaces. Orpington will celebrate its location 
embedded in the Cray Valley landscape, and its proximity to the Green Belt.  

• Orpington will be a people-focused town centre where pedestrian movement will be 
prioritised, and traffic impacts on public spaces will be mitigated. The High Street, Market 
Square, and the original settlement in Orpington Priory Conservation Area should first and 
foremost be places to dwell and enjoy. 

• Orpington will provide a place to work and collaborate including formal office space but also 
flexible, dynamic spaces for start-ups and creative workspace and spaces that are responsive 
to new working patterns post-pandemic.  

• Orpington will be resilient and able to deal with social, environmental and economic 
challenges and changes, including being responsive to climate change, weathering economic 
cycles and enduring the changing nature of our town centres. Spaces and development types 
should promote cultural, economic, education, social and leisure activity without constraining 
future transformations. 

 

Page 158



5 

2. Policy framework

The policy framework for Bromley encompasses planning policy and guidance at a national, 
regional and local level. 

Figure 2 – policy framework diagram 

The National Planning Policy Framework5 (NPPF) sets the national policy context for 
preparation of local plans. Local Plans must be consistent with national policy and should 
enable the delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF. 
The NPPF is also capable of being a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications. The current version of the NPPF was published in July 2021. National Planning 
Practice Guidance6 (PPG) provides further detail on various aspects of the NPPF. 

The NPPF sets out a range of polices addressing matters including the areas of economy, 
town centres, sustainability and design; and advises that strategic policy-making authorities 
should “set clear expectations for the quality of the places to be created and how this can be 
maintained (such as by following Garden City principles); and ensure that appropriate tools 
such as masterplans and design guides or codes are used to secure a variety of well-

5 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021), available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/N
PPF_July_2021.pdf 
6 Planning Practice Guidance, available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-
guidance 

Page 159

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 

6 
 

designed and beautiful homes to meet the needs of different groups in the community.” 
(Paragraph 73c). 

 
 The NPPF also advises that “significant weight should be given to: a) development which 

reflects local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any 
local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and 
codes; and/or b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, 
or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the 
overall form and layout of their surroundings.” (Paragraph 134) 

 
 The Government’s intention to rejuvenate High Streets is clear from its recently published 

vision for High Streets ‘Build Back Better High Streets’7 focussing on five key priorities  
1. Breathing new life into empty buildings; 
2. Supporting high street businesses;  
3. Improving the public realm;  
4. Creating safe and clean spaces; and 
5. Celebrating pride in local communities. 

 
 The Government advises that this vision will be underpinned by a series of measures 

including proposals for a National Framework of Green Infrastructure Standards to be 
launched in 2022. This is to be accompanied by a programme of tree planting on high streets 
to help local authorities, developers and communities improve green infrastructure provision in 
their areas, and a revised Manual for Streets (due early 2022) to be embedded in the design 
process, so that more high streets are designed with a sense of place and to be attractive to 
people walking, cycling and using public transport. In September 2021, the Government also 
launched a consultation to make permanent, a range of temporary (pandemic), permitted 
development rights relating to outdoor measures for high streets and markets8. 
 

 To support future design codes, the National Model Design Code9 (NMDC) provides a 
framework for local authorities to develop their own localised codes; based on the ‘ten 
characteristics of a well-designed place’ as set out in the National Design Guide10 (NDG) and 
expanded upon within the NMDC.  

 
 The Environment Act received royal assent in November 2021. Once the provisions of the Act 

are commenced, it will mandate a minimum 10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) with the aim of 
leaving the natural environment in a measurably better state than beforehand. The Act also 
proposes the use of a recognised Biodiversity Metric, which will be introduced following 
parliamentary scrutiny. To date, the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) Biodiversity Metric 3, launched in July 2020, is used as a tool to assess BNG. 

 
 

 
7 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, Build Back Better High Streets (15 July 2021), 
available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-high-streets  
8 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities et al, consultation on ‘Supporting defence 
infrastructure and the future of time-limited permitted development rights’ (published 5 September 2021), 
available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/supporting-defence-infrastructure-and-the-
future-of-time-limited-permitted-development-rights 
9 National Model Design Code (July 2021), available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code 
10National Design Guide (January 2021), available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
design-guide  

Page 160

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-high-streets
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/supporting-defence-infrastructure-and-the-future-of-time-limited-permitted-development-rights
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/supporting-defence-infrastructure-and-the-future-of-time-limited-permitted-development-rights
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-model-design-code
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide


7 

The Mayor of London produces a spatial development strategy (known as the London Plan). 
The current version of the London Plan was adopted in March 2021. The London Plan forms 
part of the Bromley’s Development Plan for each of the London local planning authorities and 
is used to assess planning applications.  

 Orpington is one of 34 Major centres in Greater London and the only one in the Borough, 
making it the second most significant centre after Bromley Town Centre. The nearest ‘Major’ 
centre is Eltham in Greenwich Borough, approximately 10 miles as the crow flies. Orpington is 
identified in the London Plan as a centre that should see medium levels of residential growth.  

 There are a number of relevant London Plan policies that could apply to development 
proposals in Orpington, including: 

• Policies D1-D9, which set out a design- and character-led approach to growth;

• Policy T6, which stipulates that development in Major and Metropolitan town centres and
in areas with a PTAL rating of 5-6 should be car-free; and

• Policies SD6-SD9, which set out a number of policies for town centre development which
follow a 'town centre first' approach to intensification and commercial uses.

 The Mayor also has a number of adopted and draft Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
documents11 which provide further detail on policies set out in the London Plan. 

 The Bromley Local Plan was adopted in January 2019. The Local Plan sets out a number of 
planning policies, site allocations and land designations for the Borough, and along with the 
London Plan (2021) forms the Borough’s Development Plan (used to assess planning 
applications). The Local Plan is accompanied by the Policies Map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the Local Plan. 

 The Local Plan requires development within Orpington Town Centre to provide a range of 
uses that will contribute towards its role as a Major Centre. Relevant policies supporting this 
requirement are set out below: 

• Orpington is contained within one of Bromley's five Renewal Areas, the Cray Valley
Renewal Area.
o Policy 13 defines the purpose of Renewal Areas, including as places where

proposals should provide demonstrable economic, social and environmental benefits
and address identified issues and opportunities.

o Policy 14 - development in Renewal Areas should demonstrate how their benefits as
set out in Policy 13, and where appropriate be guided by Development Briefs or other
guidance.

o Policy 17 defines expectations of the Cray Valley Renewal Area:

“Proposals within the Cray Valley Renewal Area will be expected to maximise 
opportunities:  

a - to create a successful economic “growth area” along the Cray Valley, including 
the Cray Business Corridor, supporting the health and wellbeing of the community; 
and  

11 Available from: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-
guidance-and-spgs  

Page 161

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance-and-spgs
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance-and-spgs


8 

b - to protect and enhance the green wildlife corridor along the River Cray, integrating 
with the public realm, along highways and open spaces and through commercial and 
industrial areas by creative design, and  
c - to support Orpington Town Centre in its role, as a Major Town Centre, serving the 
east of the Borough in respect of retailing and community services and developing a 
thriving retail, office and leisure economy.” 

• Policy 26 requires applications to maximise opportunities to support and enhance health &
wellbeing, encouraging physical activity, providing accessible and adaptable new
dwellings, ensuring appropriate access to open space, particularly in areas of deficiency,
and optimising health benefits throughout scheme design.

• Policy 37 requires all development proposals, should be of a high standard of design and
layout.

• Policy 45 impacts upon Priory Gardens as it is a Historic Park and Garden. Applications
within or adjoining a Registered Historic Park or Garden will be expected to protect the
special features, historic interest and setting of the park or garden.

• Policy 48 identifies ‘Views of Local Importance’; relevant views for Orpington are the view
east over Kent from Crofton Road, Orpington, and the view from Chelsfield Green looking
North towards the Cray Valley.

• Policies 59 and 79 sets out ‘Areas of Local Park Deficiency’ and ‘Areas of Deficiency in
Access to Nature’; Orpington Town Centre is included in both types of deficiency.

• Policy 78 advises that the Council will assess the likely impact on the quality and character
of green corridors through the Borough and will seek and support appropriate
enhancement and management.

• Policy 85 aims to retain good quality office floorspace by safeguarding Knoll Rise (and two
other clusters in the borough) as ‘office clusters’. ‘Redevelopment proposals will be
expected to provide at least the same quantum of office floorspace’ in these locations. The
office cluster designation seeks the promotion and retention of office premises and
floorspace.  The Knoll Rise office cluster contributes significantly to the boroughs
commercial function. An Article 4 Direction12 to withdraw the permitted development right
for change of use from office to residential on the Knoll Rise office cluster came into force
in July 2021. The removal of PD rights through the Article 4 Direction enables the Council
to plan properly and ensure uses which contribute significantly to economic growth are
protected.

• Policy 91 aims to limit town centre uses to town centre sites wherever possible, and to
ensure proposed uses have a positive impact on town centre vitality and viability

• Policy 92 aims to preserve and enhance active frontages and ensure that changes of use
away from A1 is carefully managed13, to different degrees for primary and secondary
frontages. Criteria for secondary frontages are less onerous than those for primary.

• Policy 97 sets out criteria for how proposals for conversion of upper floors in town centres
will be assessed and aims to preserve office space where possible

• Policy 98 aims to ensure appropriate delivery of restaurants, pubs and hot food takeaways
in town centres.

• Policy 99 aims to manage the change of use of town centre ground floors from retail to
residential uses. Such proposals will be permitted subject to a number of criteria including
not undermining retail vitality and viability.

• Policy 100 aims to retain market trading in town centres and encourage new markets,
subject to criteria. Orpington has an existing market within the ‘market square’
pedestrianised area.

12 Available from: https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/747/article_4_direction_areas 
13 The former A1 Use Class has now been subsumed into Use Class E. 

Page 162

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/747/article_4_direction_areas


9 

• Policy 101 aims to retain shopfronts of architectural merit and sets out criteria for the
design of existing and new shopfronts.

 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows charging authorities in England and Wales to 
raise funds from developers undertaking new development, to help fund new or improved 
infrastructure required to support the growth identified in adopted Local Plans. CIL replaces 
much of the existing process of planning obligations commonly known as Section 106 (S106) 
agreements.  

 In Bromley, both a Mayoral CIL and local CIL are applied to relevant planning permissions 
(applications with an applicable charging rate which are determined after the relevant CIL 
charging schedule has come into effect). The Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy14 
(known as MCIL2) took effect on 1 April 2019; and the Bromley Community Infrastructure 
Levy15 (CIL) took effect on 15 June 2021.  

 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 2016 set out the infrastructure required to support 
planned growth identified in the Local Plan, over the period 2016-2031. The IDP was updated 
as part of the preparation of the Bromley CIL16. 

 The majority of Orpington-specific infrastructure projects detailed in 2016 IDP have been 
completed, notably: 

• the Orpington Health & Wellbeing Centre, which opened in the town centre in 2019;

• public realm improvements in the Walnuts shopping area;

• investment in the Hospitality, Catering and Enterprise Careers College; and

• cycle hub secure storage at Orpington Station.

 However, as pressures and expectations evolve, there is likely to be an on-going need for a 
range of enhanced infrastructure, including green, transport, social, energy, waste and digital 
infrastructure. 

 Planning obligations may still be sought on specific schemes, particularly to secure affordable 
housing and carbon offsetting contributions, and to secure mitigation of any site-specific 
impacts. The Planning Obligations SPD17 sets out the Council’s approach to securing 
planning obligations. The SPD is in the process of being updated. 

14 Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy, available from: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-
do/planning/implementing-london-plan/mayoral-community-infrastructure-levy 
15 Bromley Community Infrastructure Levy, available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_infrastructure_levy 
16 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) Update Report 2020, available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6468/london_borough_of_bromley_infrastructure_deliver
y_plan.pdf  
17 Planning Obligations SPD (December 2010), available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/199/adopted_spd_on_planning_obligations.pdf 

Page 163

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/mayoral-community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/mayoral-community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_infrastructure_levy
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6468/london_borough_of_bromley_infrastructure_delivery_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6468/london_borough_of_bromley_infrastructure_delivery_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/199/adopted_spd_on_planning_obligations.pdf


10 

3. Context

Orpington has a character reflecting its development over time, dating back to the Stone Age 
activities along the Cray Valley. The origins of the village are centred around the Priory 15th 
century manor house towards the southern end of the Cray Valley, and Orpington remained a 
small Kentish village in a rural setting well into the 19th Century.  

The arrival of the railway in 1868 brought early residential development to the Crofton and 
Broom Hill areas. From its village origins, the expansion of the railway station and residential 
development led to significant growth throughout the latter part of the 19th and early 20th 
Century. 

Early maps show a predominantly linear village form extending about half a mile along the 
High Street, stretching towards the station and forming an extension of routes along the Cray 
River valley. The town was centred on the intersection of Church Hill, with the White Hart Inn 
and Post Office located on the west side of High Street. 

The suburban development of Greater London led to significant interwar suburban 
development. The town became a bustling centre for businesses servicing the surrounding 
residential population and the industrial areas in the Cray Valley.  

During the 20th century there was a consolidation of this urban form. Whilst this period saw 
transformation of much of the town centre, with new retail premises and road-widening 
projects at the southern end of High Street, the northern end retains a village scale and form; 
the earlier rural village setting is reflected today by the extensive Priory Gardens. 

The High Street developed South west towards the station, tracking the valley floor to the war 
memorial. Development rises up steeply either side of the High Street, to the west (NNW) with 
predominantly residential development and areas of commercial development as the High 
Street draws closer to the station. The rising land to the east, beyond the town centre 
development in the valley floor, comprises suburban residential development. 

The town centre is located within the Cray Valley, with land rising upwards to both the east 
and west of the town centre. The change in topography is a key characteristic of the town 
centre and an important consideration for future developments. Orpington Town Centre has 
good accessibility via public transport; however, Orpington Station is situated outside the town 
centre and is accessed via a relatively steep walking route. Future developments in the town 
centre should seek to address these topographical challenges with the aim of providing new 
development which can be accessed by sustainable modes of transport, consistent with 
Development Plan policy.  

Page 164



11 

Orpington has become a major suburban town centre, serving a large residential catchment 
which fans out east towards the Green Belt and west, encompassing the suburbs of Petts 
Wood, Crofton and Farnborough. The residential areas of St Mary and St Pauls Cray to the 
north and Chelsfield and Pratts Bottom to the south all fall within the hinterland of Orpington 
Town Centre. 

The town centre provides a range of comparison and convenience retail, office, leisure and 
community facilities, education (Orpington College) and civic functions (including Orpington 
Library). Critically Orpington Station to the west of the defined town Centre also provides 
direct rail links to Central London.  

 Recent changes to the Use Classes Order could have an impact on the retail offer in 
Orpington, as shops can now convert to previously separate uses such as cafes, restaurants 
and estate agents without requiring planning permission. Additionally, new permitted 
development rights allow Class E uses to convert to residential use. The Council is putting in 
place Article 4 Directions to remove these new permitted development rights in Orpington 
Town Centre. 

 The successful retail offer in Orpington has been maintained in recent years. During the 
pandemic, the use of the public realm has been enhanced, supporting the commercial use of 
the pavement by cafes and restaurants. The town centre has shown remarkable resilience 
during the pandemic, with few long-standing vacant units remaining. 

 Orpington 1st is the Business Improvement District (BID) for Orpington Town Centre18. The 
BID was first established in 2013; the BID uses levy payments from local businesses to 
provide services and develop projects within the BID area, for the benefit of local businesses, 
residents and visitors. 

 Orpington Town Centre has a strong sense of place and commercial vitality, especially along 
its High Street and within the Orpington Priory Conservation Area. It also benefits from good 
quality adjacent suburbs, landscapes and historic environments.  

 The High Street is characterised by 2-3 storey buildings, predominantly narrow fronted shops 
with residential flats above. These are punctuated by several larger buildings generally set on 
corners or other key sites. The northern end of the High Street has retained a village scale 
and form reflected in the street width and placement of buildings flush against the street 
frontage. 

 The Orpington Priory and Broomhill Conservation Areas are distinct areas which have 
particular architectural or historic interest, as set out in the respective Conservation Area 
SPGs.  

 Church Hill runs perpendicular from High Street to All Saints' Church past several important 
buildings which have heritage significance. 

 Aynscombe Angle to the north of the High Street is a cohesive grouping of terraced houses 
conceived and developed as a group with a strong consistency in form and materials but with 

18 Details of Orpington 1st are available from: http://www.orpington1st.co.uk/ 

Page 165

http://www.orpington1st.co.uk/


 

12 
 

variations of detail. Incremental changes to the component buildings since their construction 
have generally been sympathetic to this consistency. 

 
 Housing typologies across Orpington are varied as a result of the town’s growth over time. 
The majority of homes in Orpington are interwar semi-detached houses with sizable gardens 
which extend up to, and radiate out from, the town centre. Small greens and school playing 
fields are located within built up areas, with the eastern boundary defined by Green Belt. 
Orpington benefits from the open green space of Priory Gardens in the heart of the town, as 
well as Poverest Park and other incidental landscapes and parks nearby.  

 Heritage designations and assets in Orpington Town Centre reinforce local distinctiveness in 
the town centre. 
 

 Orpington Priory Conservation Area, located in the northern part of the town centre, includes 
the town's most significant concentration of listed buildings, located in the historic village 
centre. The house known as Barn Hawe (formerly Fern Lodge) dates from the 1770s and is 
Listed Grade II, as are the timber-framed outbuildings of The Priory. The Priory is Listed 
Grade II* and includes elements dating from the fifteenth century with successive 
enlargements and changes, notably the timber-framed seventeenth century extension. 
Orpington Priory Conservation Area also includes 35 Locally Listed Buildings, which are of 
additional importance in a townscape and heritage character context 

 
 Orpington Priory Conservation Area Statement SPG (2002) sets out guidance and advice for 
the maintenance, preservation and enhancement of Orpington Priory Conservation Area, 
which covers the historic, pre 19th century heart of Orpington. The SPG divides the 
Conservation Area informally into three areas or ‘sub-elements’: 

• ‘the older shops and business premises which remain along the northern end of High 
Street still reflecting a village form;  

• the planned residential group in Aynscombe Angle; and  

• the axis of development up Church Hill, including The Priory and its gardens, and All 
Saints' Church and churchyard.’  
 

 This subdivision and the analysis of the qualities and attributes of these areas, as set out in 
the SPG, is relevant for this SPD.  
 

 The Broomhill Conservation Area lies to the west of the town centre, centred on Broomhill 
Common. This Conservation Area includes five locally listed buildings. The Broomhill 
Conservation Area (and the associated SPG) could also a relevant consideration for 
development in the town centre. 

 
 Other non-designated heritage assets as defined in the National Planning Policy Framework 
which are identified during the course of any proposals are important to consider. 

 
 The Local Plan identifies a number of archaeological priority areas, which may have important 
archaeological remains surviving. If a proposed development takes place in these areas, then 
the preservation or recording of archaeological remains will be an important consideration. 
Historic England has recently reviewed Bromley’s archaeological priority areas; this review will 
be a relevant material consideration for planning applications in Orpington19. The majority of 

 
19 Further information is available on the ‘Archaeology in Bromley’ webpage, available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200064/local_history_and_heritage/603/archaeology_in_bromley  

Page 166

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200064/local_history_and_heritage/603/archaeology_in_bromley


13 

Orpington Town Centre is covered by an archaeological priority area, including the entirety of 
the Orpington Priory Conservation Area.  

 Crofton Roman Villa, a Scheduled Ancient Monument, is sited adjacent to 19th and 20th 
Century commercial and transport development at Orpington station. Though well protected 
by the late 20th Century structure that encloses it, the Villa's impact on the wider public realm 
is currently minimal. 

 The presence of the River Cray and the Cray Valley is currently only visible in terms of 
landscape morphology, though it had a defining impact on the beginning of the settlement. 

 Orpington benefits from the beautiful and valued Priory Gardens Historic Park and Garden, in 
the heart of the town, as well as Poverest Park and other, incidental landscapes and parks 
nearby. However, the southern end of the town centre is identified as deficient in access to 
local parks and borders on an area deficient in access to nature. The town centre's position 
within the Cray river valley, offers opportunities for a connected, ecologically rich series of 
green spaces of various types to enhance the life of the town centre. 

Page 167



14 

4. Design Principles

The Council has identified six overarching design principles (performance indicators) that are 
considered essential components in delivering good quality design, and which are widely 
documented as being among the key characteristics of successful well-designed places: 

• Contextual (Character and Identity)

• Responsive (Architecture and Landscape)

• Connected (Movement and Connectivity)

• Inclusive (Access and Inclusion)

• Healthy (Health and Well-being)

• Sustainable (Sustainable Design, Adaptability and Resilience)

The guidance notes which relate to the design principles set out relevant policy and guidance 
which is relevant to the principles; this is not an exhaustive list and there may be other policies 
and guidance that apply to development proposals.  

SPD guidance note 1 

Development proposals should provide sufficient information to demonstrate how they 
have addressed the six design principles set out within this SPD and specific guidance 
relating to the character area within which they are located. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 4, 13, 26 and 37 

London Plan – objectives GG1-GG6 and policies SD6-SD10; D2-D9; G1; T1, T2 and T4-
T6; and DF1 

NPPF – paragraphs 8-11, sections 5-9, 11-12 and 16 

Orpington has a strong architectural and cultural heritage with a distinctive character arising 
from its protected green spaces and open countryside. The success of new development in 
Orpington is largely dependent upon how well it relates to, and responds with, it’s surrounding 
context. 

As set out in the NDG, well-designed places are based on a sound understanding of the 
surrounding context, influence their context positively and are responsive to local history, 
culture and heritage. Creating a positive sense of place helps to foster a sense of belonging 
and contributes to well-being, inclusion and community cohesion. Well-designed places 
respond to existing local character and identity and contribute to local distinctiveness. 

There are several historic buildings of notable architectural merit and local significance. A key 
urban design objective is to preserve and enhance the existing qualities of Orpington’s 
townscape, landscape, and streetscape character.  

Page 168



15 

The nature conservation context of an area is an important part of its character. The retention 
of trees and wildlife features of value, and the enhancement of biodiversity (for example 
through biodiversity net gain) can help to protect and enhance character. The replacement or 
relocation of species and habitats should only be a last resort, and replacement trees should 
reflect the existing value of the benefits of the trees removed. 

SPD guidance note 2 

Development proposals should make a positive contribution to the setting, by identifying 
existing physical, natural, social and cultural assets and seeking to strengthen them in the 
design of new schemes in order to reinforce local identity and sense of place. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 13 and 37 

London Plan – objectives GG1 and GG2 and policies SD6-SD10; D2-D5, D8, HC1, G1, 
G6 and G7 

NPPF – sections 12 and 16 

Good design is about making places for people and should seek to evoke a sense of joy and 
delight. Well-designed places focus not just on the physical characteristics of buildings and 
spaces but on how they are used and experienced. Quality is measured as much by 
experience as it is by appearance. 

As set out in the NDG, well-designed places use the right mix of building types, forms and 
scale of buildings and public spaces for the context and proposed density, to create a 
coherent form of development that people enjoy. 

Historically, the juxtaposition of new buildings and spaces alongside the existing urban fabric 
demonstrates how traditional character and innovative design can coexist; with local identity 
highlighted rather than eroded by new interventions.  

 In order to achieve this careful consideration should be given to the key aspects of 
development form: layout, scale, height and massing, appearance and landscape. All new 
development should consider its relationship with both the immediate and wider context 
including neighbouring buildings, streetscape, townscape, urban grain, and local views, vistas 
and landmarks. 

 All new development should seek to reference local context to inform detail, materials, and 
landscape; incorporating and/or interpreting those elements that are attractive, valued and 
which contribute to the quality of the surrounding area. Architectural design and materiality 
should be sympathetic to the local vernacular and responsive to the surroundings so as not to 
undermine or compromise local character, identity and distinctiveness. 

Page 169



 

16 
 

SPD guidance note 3 

The Council will seek to promote design excellence to ensure that new development 
achieves the highest standards of visual, functional and environmental quality to engage 
and inspire people, reflecting local identity, values, and aspirations. 

All major development proposals should be subject to independent design scrutiny by an 
appointed Design Review Panel bringing together leading professionals in the fields of 
architecture, urban design, landscape architecture, and environmental sustainability 
providing independent, expert advice to support the delivery of high-quality development.  

All major development proposals should be subject to meaningful collaboration and 
community engagement ensuring that residents and stakeholders have the opportunity to 
inform and influence new development. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policy 37 

London Plan – policies D2-D9 

NPPF – section 12 

 Ease of movement is integral to well-designed places, influencing how places function and 
feel. Creating better connections allows people to have greater choices between different 
modes of transport and greater access to social and economic opportunities both within and 
beyond their communities.  
 

 As set out in the NDG, successful development depends upon a movement network that 
makes connections to destinations, places and communities, both within the site and beyond 
its boundaries. 
 

 Well-designed streets contribute significantly to the quality of the built environment and play a 
key role in the creation of sustainable communities. The Council will seek to promote healthy 
streets and active lifestyles in accordance with London and Local Plan policies by 
encouraging walking and cycling and promoting sustainable modes of transport.  
 

 Legibility is a key aspect of movement and a key urban design objective. A legible place is a 
place that is easy to understand and move through, new development can promote legibility 
by providing recognisable routes, focal points, nodes, and landmarks which stitch into the 
existing urban fabric. All new development should promote accessibility, legibility, and ease of 
movement by creating places that connect well with each other and the wider area. 
 

 Future opportunities to enhance active travel and improve permeability would align with the 
aims of the ‘Connected’ design principle, prioritising walking and cycling to facilitate safe, 
efficient, ease of movement as part of an integrated transport network, particularly east/west 
connections across the High Street and north/south connections between Homefield Rise and 
Priory Gardens. 

Page 170



17 

SPD guidance note 4 

Development proposals should establish a clear hierarchy of permeable routes and 
spaces ensuring that new connections correspond with existing routes to promote greater 
ease of movement and improve wider connectivity. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 31 and 34 

London Plan – policies T1-T6 

NPPF – section 9 

 Inclusive design is integral to good design. The built environment should be safe, accessible, 
and convenient for all, it is therefore essential that new development considers inclusive 
design principles from the outset. 

 Inclusive design “aims to remove the barriers that create undue effort and separation, 
enabling everyone to participate equally, confidently and independently in everyday 
activities”20. It is integral to good design. 

 Inclusive design places people at the heart of the design process, acknowledges diversity and 
difference, offers more than one solution when required, provides for flexibility in use, and 
provides buildings and spaces that are convenient and enjoyable for everyone. 

 As set out in the NDG, well-designed places are those designed to be inclusive and to meet 
the changing needs of people of different ages and abilities. This includes families, extended 
families, older people, students, and people with physical disabilities or mental health needs. 
They provide well-integrated housing and other facilities that are designed to be tenure neutral 
and socially inclusive. 

SPD guidance note 5 

Applicants should carry out meaningful engagement with relevant user groups at an early 
stage in the design process, which may include disabled people or older people’s 
organisations. Development proposals should achieve the highest standards of inclusive 
design, contributing to a built environment that is safe, accessible, and convenient for all. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policy 37 

London Plan – objective GG1 and policy D5 

20 See CABE guidance document ‘The Principles of Inclusive Design’, May 2006 - available here: 
https://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/principles-inclusive-design 

Page 171

https://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/guide/principles-inclusive-design


18 

NPPF – sections 8 and 12 

 The places in which we live and work affect our health and well-being. Adopting healthy 
placemaking principles which prioritise our long-term health is an essential part of good urban 
design. 

 As set out in the NDG, well-designed places include well-located public spaces that support a 
wide variety of activities and encourage social interaction, to promote health, well-being, 
social and civic inclusion. Well-designed homes and buildings are functional, accessible and 
sustainable. They provide good quality internal environments and external spaces that 
support the health and well-being of their users. 

 New development can help to provide strong, vibrant, sustainable communities by creating 
healthy environments which support both physical and mental health. In particular, the link 
between healthy homes and access to green open space and mental well-being is well 
documented. 

 The Council will promote healthy living by ensuring that new development seeks to maximise 
opportunities to support and enhance health and well-being, encouraging physical activity, 
providing accessible and adaptable homes, ensuring social inclusion and access to open 
space particularly in areas of deficiency, and optimising health benefits throughout each stage 
of the design process.  

 Objective GG3 of the London Plan advocates use of Health Impact Assessments, which are 
used as a systematic framework to identify the potential impacts of a development proposal, 
policy or plan on the health and wellbeing of the population, and to highlight any health 
inequalities that may arise. Health Impact Assessments should be undertaken as early as 
possible in the design process to identify opportunities for maximising potential health gains, 
minimising harm, and addressing health inequalities. 

SPD guidance note 6 

Good design can significantly improve quality of life. Development proposals should seek 
to promote and prioritise health and well-being, demonstrating how Local Plan Policy 26a 
has been addressed. Major development proposals are encouraged to submit a Health 
Impact Assessment (HIA) to assist with the determination of health-related aspects of the 
proposed development. The scope of the HIA should be agreed with the Council at pre-
application stage; this should include consideration of any best practice guidance for 
producing HIAs, including guidance produced by the NHS. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 13, 17 and 26 

London Plan – objective GG3 

NPPF – sections 8 and 12 

Page 172



19 

 Orpington’s location in the Cray Valley, along with some key backland sites and existing 
footpaths along the river valley, present an excellent opportunity to deliver a linked series of 
green spaces (existing and new) that run along the Cray valley corridor and enhance access 
to nature and access to green space, supporting physical and mental health.  

 Other opportunities to provide high-quality public space should be prioritised, to enrich the 
appearance and public life of the town centre. Public space should take advantage of views 
and underused spaces – including spaces above ground floor level; this will allow larger and 
taller development to have public amenity value beyond street level.  

SPD guidance note 7 

Development proposals should explore opportunities to provide spaces which are publicly 
accessible and promote health and wellbeing. This might be in the form of public parks, 
squares and gardens, pocket parks, and, where taller buildings are considered 
appropriate, public space at height such as viewing terraces, and rooftop gardens. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 26 and 59 

London Plan – objective GG3 and policies D3, D9, G1 and G4 

NPPF – section 8 

 The NPPF highlights three interdependent overarching planning objectives in achieving 
sustainable development; economic (supporting growth), social (supporting communities), and 
environmental (protecting and enhancing our natural and built environment) that need to be 
considered collectively. 

 A key urban design objective is to ensure that new development achieves the highest 
standards of sustainable design and construction in accordance with national, London and 
local plan policies, to improve environmental performance by reducing energy demand, 
improving resource efficiency, and by encouraging the efficient use of buildings and previously 
developed land. 

 The London Plan highlights the importance and multifunctional benefits of green infrastructure 
(an important element of sustainable design) which include promoting physical and mental 
health, enhancing local biodiversity, and its role in helping to adapt to the impacts of climate 
change. Air quality, cooling, and flood mitigation can all be addressed in part with green 
infrastructure.  

 As set out in the NDG, well-designed places and buildings conserve natural resources 
including land, water, energy and materials. Their design responds to the impacts of climate 
change, is fit for purpose and adaptable over time and adopts technologies to minimise their 
environmental impact.  

 The most successful places are those that are adaptable to change and are able to 
continually evolve in order to remain vibrant. Places need to be adaptable at every scale. 

Page 173



20 

SPD guidance note 8 

Development proposals should be designed to allow for future social, economic, and 
environmental change to accommodate the needs of both existing and future 
communities. Development proposals should achieve high sustainability standards in line 
with the London Plan and relevant SPGs. This should include adopting circular economy 
approaches to promote resource efficiency and address challenge of climate change, and 
the use of Whole Lifetime Carbon Assessments. 

Development proposals are encouraged to follow a ‘Retrofit first’ approach from the 
outset of designing the proposal, to fully investigate whether existing buildings can be re-
purposed (either wholly or in part) instead of demolishing and rebuilding which has more 
significant impacts in terms of carbon emissions and waste. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 112-117 and 123-124 

London Plan – objective GG6 and policies SI2-SI5 and SI7 

NPPF – paragraph 8 and section 14 

Page 174



21 

5. Character areas

The SPD divides the Orpington area into a series of character areas, as shown on Figure 3. 
These areas have been derived through consideration of the context of the wider area and 
represent those parts of the area which are considered to have similar characteristics – these 
are explained below. The character areas and sub-areas are not intended to be finite 
boundaries; they are identified for the purposes of this SPD to set out relevant guidance 
applicable to each area. They have been drawn with deliberately 'soft' edges reflecting the 
fact that boundaries between character areas are fluid rather than ‘fixed’.

Page 175



22 

Figure 3: Orpington character areas and sub-areas 

Page 176



 

23 
 

Orpington East character area 

Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts Shopping and Leisure Centre 

 An area entirely of mid-late 20th century town centre development, originally master-planned 
in the post-war period but subsequently reworked in later years. Includes the Walnuts 
shopping centre (part of the original masterplan), leisure centre, college and a key public 
space, the Market Square. The development fills a former void between the High Street and 
eastern suburbs. 

Key characteristics:  

• Land use – mix of uses including retail, leisure, education and social infrastructure uses. 

• Prevailing building height – varied heights across the sub-area; two to three storeys on 
the High Street frontage, range of three to eleven storey buildings fronting Market 
Square; and two to four storeys on Lych Gate Road. 

• Development potential – high. 

Eastern Edge 

 Backland areas, largely undeveloped or underdeveloped, between the High Street and 
eastern suburbs, and to the south of the post-war development at the Walnuts. 

Key characteristics:  

• Land use – mix of backland commercial (retail and leisure) areas and residential. 

• Prevailing building height – two to three storeys. 

• Development potential – medium. 

Orpington North character area 

The Village  

 This original and historic centre of Orpington, including the oldest and most significant historic 
buildings. Closely aligns with the designated Conservation Area and includes a northern 
stretch of the High Street which feels notably more intimate in scale and character than the 
later southern extension. 

Key characteristics:  

• Land use – predominantly residential with some commercial uses on High Street. 
Significant part of the area covered by Priory Gardens. 

• Prevailing building height – two to three storeys. 

• Development potential – low. 

Orpington West character area 

Orpington High Street  

 The stretch of late 19th and early 20th commercial High Street as it stretched south towards 
Orpington station, also including some backland sites which front primarily onto the High 
Street. 

Key characteristics:  

Page 177



24 

• Land use – retail, leisure, cultural and office uses.

• Prevailing building height – two to three storeys.

• Development potential – medium.

Western Edge 

'One street back' from the High Street and to the west of it, includes significant areas of office 
use.  

Key characteristics: 

• Land use – office uses and backland commercial areas.

• Prevailing building height – three to five storeys.

• Development potential – low to medium.

Orpington Station & York Rise 

This area is centred around the station and is made up of an area between the railway and 
the established suburb of Crofton. Due to its location the station currently feels slightly 
detached from the town centre but should not be conceived of in design terms as being a 
separate or unrelated entity. 

Key characteristics: 

• Land use – Orpington Station is predominant land use.

• Prevailing building height – two storeys.

• Development potential – medium.

Page 178



25 

Further to the guidance for each character areas – set out in the following sections of the SPD 
– there is general guidance which applies across the character areas.

Heritage and conservation 

The historic environment in Orpington adds significantly to the character and distinctiveness of 
the area. It is an integral part of achieving sustainable development in the area. 

 Orpington has a number of heritage assets, including the designated Orpington Priory 
Conservation Area, several statutory listed buildings, locally listed buildings, archaeological 
priority areas and a Scheduled Monument. The Broomhill Conservation Area is in close 
proximity to the town centre. 

SPD guidance note 9 

Development proposals must clearly set out any positive and/or adverse impacts on 
heritage assets. A Heritage Statement will be required in certain circumstances, as set 
out in the Council’s validation requirements; all applications are encouraged to submit a 
Heritage Statement where the proposed development is in close proximity to a heritage 
asset. The level of detail should be proportionate to the asset’s importance and no more 
than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on its significance. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 38-43 and 45-46 

London Plan – objectives GG1 and GG2, and policies HC1 and HC3 

NPPF – section 16 

Density 

 All development proposals should follow a ‘design-led’ approach in order to establish 
appropriate density and site capacity, with a focus on context and character, in accordance 
with the London Plan. 

 Establishing appropriate densities for sites in Orpington should result from a creative, design-
led approach which responds to the particular characteristics of the site, its surroundings and 
the needs of future residents, rather than applying general density standards. 

SPD guidance note 10 

Development proposals should seek to optimise site capacity ensuring that development 
is of the most appropriate form and land use for the site, responding to context and 
capacity for growth, with a focus on quality of place over quantum of development. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Page 179



 

26 
 

Local Plan – policies 4 and 37 

London Plan – objectives GG1, GG2 and GG3, and policies D3 and D4 

NPPF – sections 11 and 12 

 

Tall buildings 

 Tall buildings are those that exceed the general height of their surroundings and cause a 
significant change to the skyline. As set out in the London Plan, this may vary in different parts 
of London but should not be less than 6 storeys or 18 metres measured from ground to the 
floor level of the uppermost storey. 
 

 Well-located and well-designed tall buildings can provide important urban landmarks and 
much needed homes at increased densities. They can also facilitate wider regeneration 
benefits. However, due to their scale and prominence, tall buildings have the potential to 
significantly alter local character and impact on the setting of heritage assets and 
Conservation Areas, and impact negatively on local environmental conditions and amenity 
(micro-climate effects).  
 

 The existing prevailing heights in an area are particularly important in determining suitable 
heights for new development proposals. It is essential that proposals for tall buildings respond 
appropriately in terms of their height, scale and massing - to both neighbouring buildings and 
the wider context of the town centre and the Cray Valley beyond. Guidance on building 
heights which the Council considers to be suitable is provided in relation to specific character 
areas (where appropriate). 
 

 In addition to location, architectural design quality and demonstration of wider benefits, a 
detailed justification for all tall building proposals will be required; this may include townscape 
contribution - providing visual emphasis, marking thresholds or land use.  
 

 Tall buildings should be grounded in their context, they require articulation and a clear 
narrative informed by local character and identity which should be reflected within the 
architecture, materiality and detailing - particularly those which form part of an established 
built-form frontage, as opposed to stand-alone buildings which may, where appropriate, 
convey a different identity. 

SPD guidance note 11 

Development proposals for tall buildings must provide detailed justification relating to their 
visual, functional, environmental and cumulative impact, in line with Policy D9 of the 
London Plan. Proposals will be required to make a positive contribution to the townscape 
ensuring that their massing, scale and layout enhances the character of the surrounding 
area. 

Tall buildings will need to be of the highest architectural design quality and be appropriate 
to their local location and historic context, including taking account of ‘Views of Local 
Importance’; east over Kent from Crofton Road, Orpington, and from Chelsfield Green 
looking North towards the Cray Valley. 

Page 180



27 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – objectives GG1, GG2 and GG3, and policies 37, 47 and 48 

London Plan – policies D2, D3, D4 and D9 

NPPF – section 12 

Transport and connectivity 

 Figure 4 sets out a number of key connections and potential new connections. Development 
proposals should have regard to both existing and emerging connections and movement 
patterns from the outset. Development proposals should seek to enhance these connections 
to improve movement and connectivity within and across Orpington Town Centre.

Page 181



28 

Figure 4: Orpington key connections and potential connections 

Page 182



29 

 Pedestrian and cycle movement is impacted by parked cars and vehicular movement in the 
High Street. There have been a number of recent improvements on the High Street which 
have enhanced the area for pedestrians and cyclists. Short-term measures introduced during 
the pandemic have created a more welcoming environment for pedestrians and cyclists and 
supported the viability of the town centre.   

 At a wider scale the London Cycle Network Route 22 connects Orpington with Petts Wood 
and on to Bromley Town Centre. Route 22 runs away from Orpington High Street via the 
steep incline of Knoll Rise to meet Lynwood Grove. Additionally, a number of improvements 
have been made to the cycling facilities on the A224 (Cray Avenue / Court Road) in recent 
years with the introduction of a segregated off-road path; however, the A224 junction with 
Orpington High Street (A223) and the northern end of the High Street remains a challenging 
junction for pedestrians and cyclists.  

 Orpington is very well connected by bus, being served by 18 bus routes to other locations in 
Bromley and areas beyond the borough (including central London). Rail links are also 
excellent, with frequent and fast services into central London and to parts of Kent.  

 Connections between the town centre and the surrounding suburbs are fragmentary and 
potentially confusing, especially in relation to the Knoll Area of Special Residential Character 
(ASRC). There is potential to improve pedestrian permeability (including to the town centre 
and station) whilst preserving its valued character. To the west of Orpington, a cycling and 
walking improvement scheme running along the A232 Crofton Road towards Orpington has 
recently been completed but ends at Orpington Station. 

 The accessibility of the station (PTAL analysis) offers potential for development and enhanced 
connectivity with the High Street 

SPD guidance note 12 

Development proposals should link with existing pedestrian and cycling key routes and 
should seek to improve these routes or create new routes where appropriate (particularly 
major developments). Routes through to Orpington Station and the surrounding suburbs 
will be a particular priority. 

Public realm schemes which improve pedestrian and cycle infrastructure would be 
consistent with local, regional and national planning policy; the delivery of any future 
schemes would be a separate decision for the Council, subject to funding and 
consultation. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 31 and 32 

London Plan – objective GG2 and policies T1 and T2 

NPPF – paragraphs 92 and 104 

 The development of the town has seen a series of awkward, underutilised spaces to the rear 
of the High Street, between the town centre and the wider suburbs. Some have been filled but 
do not necessarily give an enhanced sense of place. There are opportunities to increase the 
permeability and the richness of experience to areas of the town centre beyond the High 

Page 183



30 

Street by providing and /or enhancing streets, yards and alleys across the town, ‘one street 
back’ from the High Street, intensifying uses within the town centre in a way that increases 
permeability and links into the wider green network. Such spaces could also have benefits in 
terms of the vitality and viability of the town centre, providing complementary spaces for shops 
on the High Street, for example outdoor leisure spaces. 

SPD guidance note 13 

Development proposals should seek to enhance the attractiveness and vibrancy of areas 
to the rear of the High Street, through improvements to the permeability and legibility of 
the town centre, strengthening / creating a green network through the town centre and 
potentially spaces providing variety and interest for new and existing local businesses. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 17, 91, 92, 97 and 98 

London Plan – objectives GG2 and GG5, and policies SD6-SD9, E1, E9, E10 and HC5-
HC7 

NPPF – sections 6 and 7 

Green infrastructure and biodiversity 

 Orpington offers a range of opportunities to develop an environment-focused approach for the 
town centre, maximising the potential offered by green spaces and routes within and beyond 
the town centre. This links with other opportunities, notably the opportunities to enhance 
connectivity and active travel. 

 The town centre sits in the centre of the Cray Valley and the character of this sequence of 
landscapes should inform development to enhance or create better connections to strengthen 
the green corridor along the Cray Valley.  

 The environmental quality, public use and connectedness of the Cray Valley network of 
landscapes offers the opportunity to create a connected sequence of spaces, which could 
facilitate a range of public uses, be ecologically rich and contribute to public health and 
wellbeing.  

 The Bromley Biodiversity Plan (BBP) 2021-202621, seeks to promote coordinated action for 
biodiversity at the local level. The BBP is a relevant material consideration for planning 
applications in relation to biodiversity issues. The BBP details the priority habitats and species 
in the borough and should be read in conjunction with idverde Bromley Biodiversity Action 
Plan (iBBAP) written by idverde22, who manage Bromley owned land. The iBBAP provides 
detailed actions and targets for Bromley owned land but these are also generally applicable to 
habitats under different ownership. 

 As highlighted above, Orpington is designated both as an ‘Area of Local Park Deficiency’ and 
an ‘Area of Deficiency in Access to Nature’. The creation of green spaces (including pocket 

21 Available from: https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200023/conservation/246/biodiversity_in_bromley  
22 Available from: https://www.bromleyparks.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Bromley-Biodiversity-Action-
Plan-Public-Version-Branded.pdf  

Page 184

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200023/conservation/246/biodiversity_in_bromley
https://www.bromleyparks.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Bromley-Biodiversity-Action-Plan-Public-Version-Branded.pdf
https://www.bromleyparks.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Bromley-Biodiversity-Action-Plan-Public-Version-Branded.pdf


31 

parks), providing linked habitats and green corridors, provides opportunities for biodiversity to 
flourish through linkages between local Sites of Interest for Nature Conservation (SINCs). 

SPD guidance note 14 

Applicants should demonstrate how their development proposals enhance the ecological 
richness of the local environment using the Government’s published Biodiversity Metric, 
to achieve a biodiversity net gain. Proposals near to existing green and open spaces 
should maximise opportunities to enhance biodiversity and create a joined-up sequence 
of functional, publicly accessible green spaces through the town centre, reinforcing 
connections to the wider Cray Valley and Green Belt landscapes.  

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 17b, 37c, 59, 71, 72, 74, 78, 79 

London Plan – objective GG3 and policies G1, G4, G5 and G6 

NPPF – paragraphs 130, 131 and 180d 

Sustainability 

 Development Plan policy, particularly policy set out in the London Plan, is underpinned by the 
need to deliver sustainable design. Good Growth objective 6 of the London Plan notes the 
need to improve energy efficiency and support the move towards a low carbon circular 
economy, contributing towards London becoming a zero-carbon city by 2050. To achieve this, 
the objective notes the need to ensure that buildings and infrastructure are designed to adapt 
to a changing climate, making efficient use of water, reducing impacts from natural hazards 
like flooding and heatwaves, while mitigating and avoiding contributing to the urban heat 
island effect. 

 In line with the ‘Sustainable’ design principle, new development should minimise its energy 
use and maximise carbon reduction, both in terms of its design and materials and its future 
use. London Plan policy SI2- and accompanying GLA guidance requires major development 
proposals to undertake an energy assessment and develop a carbon reduction strategy, 
aiming to be “zero carbon”. In accordance with the policy, reductions should be made on site 
where possible, although there is provision for off-site mitigation and/ or a carbon off-setting 
payment where agreed. Smaller scale developments should also aim to reduce their carbon 
footprint and are strongly encouraged to demonstrate how they have been designed to accord 
with the energy hierarchy. 

 Development proposals in Orpington should strive to provide exemplary sustainable design in 
line with Development Plan policy; this is particularly the case for larger schemes such as the 
expected development proposal at the Walnuts, which, due to their scale, offer the opportunity 
to deliver significant sustainability benefits. 

 The potential for overheating should be considered in all developments, in line with London 
Plan policy SI3. The cooling hierarchy clarifies that the design of buildings is crucial to 
minimising overheating, and that air conditioning (active cooling) should be a last resort. As 
noted above, green infrastructure should be investigated for its multiple benefits to the town 
centre, as set out above, including increasing shading and improving comfort for residents 
and visitors. 

Page 185



32 

 Orpington Town Centre is within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which are areas 
declared by the Borough in response to modelled or measured existing exceedances of legal 
air quality limits. The. London Plan policy SI1 sets out specific requirements to tackle poor air 
quality, including a requirement for major development proposals to submit an Air Quality 
Assessment. The Bromley Air Quality Action Plan 2020-202523 outlines the actions the 
Council is taking to improve air quality in the borough. 

SPD guidance note 15 

The London Plan sustainable infrastructure policies must be addressed in full, with 
provision of detailed and timely information to enable assessment against the relevant 
policy criteria. 

The energy hierarchy is the starting point for future-proofing development in Orpington 
Town Centre, increasing energy efficiency and minimising carbon emissions. The same 
principles apply to refurbishments of existing buildings as to new buildings. 

Development proposals must be designed in accordance with the energy hierarchy, 
prioritising design solutions which minimise the energy demand of the proposal in line 
with the hierarchy priorities. 

Opportunities for retrofitting of existing buildings should be robustly investigated ahead of 
demolition and rebuild; this could reduce the need for new materials, as long as the 
resulting development is fit for purpose, efficient and comfortable for users. Otherwise, 
the replacement of a building should reuse demolition materials on site and take 
advantage of the potential for a more energy efficient construction and design. 

The heat and power needed for users should be provided as efficiently as possible and 
through low or zero carbon technologies. Where feasible, new developments should link 
to any local heat and energy networks, or plan for connection in the future.  

The comfort of users should be a key part of designing development proposals, 
minimising the need for heating or powered cooling in particular. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 112-117 and 123-124 

London Plan – objective GG6 and policies SI2-SI5 and SI7 

NPPF – paragraph 8 and section 14 

Renewal Area 

23 Available from: 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6391/air_quality_action_plan_aqap_2020-25.pdf 

Page 186

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/6391/air_quality_action_plan_aqap_2020-25.pdf


33 

 Orpington is within the Cray Valley Renewal Area. Proposals in this area are expected to 
maximise opportunities to support the economy, and the health and wellbeing of the 
community; to protect and enhance the green wildlife corridor along the river valley; and to 
support Orpington Town Centre in its role, as a Major Town Centre. The contribution any 
individual application can make will be relative to its scale.  

SPD guidance note 16 

Development proposals will be expected to demonstrate that opportunities to address the 
Renewal Area policies – to deliver demonstrable economic, social and environmental 
benefits - have been fully explored. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 13, 14 and 17 

London Plan – objectives GG1-GG6, and policy SD10 

NPPF – sections 5-8 

Use Class E and permitted development rights 

 The introduction of Use Class E has the potential for some positive benefits for Orpington, by 
increasing flexibility to allow for the introduction of a wider range of commercial uses, but 
conversely it could undermine planning policy and local strategies for the town centre, where 
particular types of uses are prioritised.  

 Th UCO changes are a blunt tool which do not allow consideration of the potential adverse 
impacts of the new use, particularly in those predominantly retail areas which continue to 
perform strongly. Unrestricted change of use in Orpington Town Centre could ultimately have 
adverse impacts on the vitality and viability of the area, for example, by reducing the provision 
of shops which provide essential services. 

 Permitted Development rights also have the potential to undermine Development Plan 
policies, with potentially significant adverse impacts on local amenity resulting from the loss of 
designated retail and employment areas such as the Knoll Rise office cluster. In particular, 
Part 3, Class MA PD rights (which allow Class E uses to convert to residential use) could 
fundamentally alter the face of the town centre, with the likely loss of a significant amount of 
economic and retail floorspace. This would undermine the ability of the Council to deliver on 
economic growth aspirations set out in the adopted Local Plan and other strategies. 

 The Council intends to utilise planning conditions to restrict permitted development rights and 
changes within Use Class E, to ensure that such changes will require planning permission 
and can therefore be assessed against relevant Development Plan policy. 

SPD guidance note 17 

Where considered necessary to protect the vitality and viability of the town centre and 
assist with the implementation of Development Plan policies, planning conditions will be 

Page 187



34 

used to remove the provisions of Use Class E and to remove specific permitted 
development rights. 

A planning condition may be imposed on new development proposals involving Class E 
uses to restrict the operation of Section 55(2)(f) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and require that the premises subject to the application shall only be used for a 
specific use(s) within Class E, therefore limiting the ability to change to other Class E 
uses without planning permission. 

Planning conditions may be imposed on new development proposals to remove permitted 
development rights, particularly Part 3, Class MA permitted development rights which 
allow Class E uses to change to residential use. 

Relevant policy and guidance includes: 

Local Plan – policies 13, 14, 17, 85, 91-92 and 98-99 

London Plan – objectives GG1-GG3 and GG5, and policies SD6-SD10, E1, E9 and HC5-
HC7 

NPPF – sections 6-8 

Page 188



35 

6. Orpington East

This sub-area consists entirely of mid-late 20th Century town centre development, originally 
master-planned in the post-war period but subsequently reworked in later years. It includes 
the Walnuts Shopping Centre, leisure centre, Orpington College and a key public space, the 
Market Square. This post war shopping centre occupies a prominent central space within the 
town centre, between the High Street and eastern suburbs, but it currently forms a significant 
barrier to east-west and north-south permeability, both in terms of the physical barrier of the 
existing built form and the level change across the area. 

Development Opportunities 

There are two redevelopment opportunities within this character sub area, both of which are 
‘windfall’ sites that have come forward following the adoption of the Local Plan. 

The Walnuts and Market Square 

The Walnuts has come forward as a potential large-scale redevelopment of the current 
Walnuts Shopping Centre and Leisure Centre site. Redevelopment offers the opportunity for 
delivering a significant quantum of new housing and commercial development, alongside a 
new leisure centre, public realm enhancements and provision of significant green space / play 
space / street greening. 

Any development proposal which comes forward on this site should accord with the following 
key parameters: 

• Taking into account the local context, which is characterised by low-rise development, the
Council considers that higher density development, predominantly 3 to 9 storeys, would be
appropriate in this location. Heights should graduate from 3-4 storey at the edges of the
site, to respond sensitively to the existing low-rise scale of the predominantly 2 storey
residential properties to the north, east, and south. The higher end of the 3-9 storey
threshold should be located towards the centre of the site in order to mediate between the
surrounding contrasting scales.

• A single taller element of around 12-15 storeys, which takes reference from the height of
the nearby Orpington College tower, may be suitable in this location, subject to detailed
justification addressing relevant policy requirements.

• Any taller element should act as a visual marker providing a positive landmark at the heart
of Orpington Town Centre and should be designed to assist with wayfinding as part of a
coherent streetscape, whilst protecting or enhancing key views as set out in the Local
Plan. Any taller element should be located centrally within the site to minimise the impact
on the surrounding low-rise context.

• The design of any taller element should be of the highest design quality in accordance
with Local Plan and London Plan requirements. The Council considers an elegant slender
building to be more appropriate than a larger slab block, in order to reduce the
appearance of bulk and to create a more distinctive and positive contribution to the
skyline.

• New development should be integrated with the established street network of the wider
town centre, redesigning the existing covered shopping area as pedestrian streets linking

Page 189



36 

the High Street to Lychgate Road (east-west) and improving north-south links, particularly 
links to Priory Gardens to the north and links to the south which could improve access to 
the train station. These key routes should be reinforced with clear wayfinding cues. 

• High quality public realm will be a key requirement, improving key connections and
providing a network of green, playable spaces fronted by active uses.

• Enhanced greening and landscaping is sought, to create a strong linear park/green space
network following the general route of the River Cray and its valley, including enhanced
public realm and environmental connections along the rear of Bruce Grove to Bark Hart
Road and Priory Gardens, and south to Homefield Rise and along Gravel Pit Way. Vertical
greening should be prioritised on key elevations.

• Red and buff brick predominate on the High Street. Development proposals in the area
should have regard to these existing materials and conditions, which should be used to
inform new development in the area (both new development and redevelopment or
retrofitting of buildings).

Market Square is the civic heart of Orpington, providing an accessible space which plays host 
to the market and various events. Future development should ensure the retention of the 
existing uses and avoid interventions which may affect the future viability or operation of the 
market or compromise the event space function. Redevelopment of the square offers the 
potential for significant enhancement to create a more attractive and appealing space in which 
to gather, socialise, shelter, and dwell, activated by shops, cafes, a new leisure centre, 
college, and other community facilities.  

Orpington College 

The Orpington Campus of London South East Colleges is located in Orpington Town Centre, 
with a frontage onto Market Square. The presence of the campus at the heart of the town 
centre attracts students from across the borough and beyond, adding to the diversity of uses 
in the town centre, enhancing vitality and viability and providing important educational 
opportunities. The college site offers a development opportunity to enhance college provision, 
deliver green infrastructure and improved public realm and potentially additional mixed-use 
development including housing and commercial uses. 

The site is intrinsically linked to the adjoining Walnuts Shopping Centre site with the existing 
building fronting directly onto Market Square. It is therefore important that opportunities to 
improve legibility and permeability across the site are optimised and the cumulative impact of 
height, scale and massing is considered as part of any future redevelopment proposals.  

The existing college buildings, including the tower, lend themselves to a retrofit-first approach, 
which would ensure that impacts from existing embodied carbon are significantly reduced, 
compared to a proposal involving demolition of the existing buildings.  

Orpington College is the tallest building in Orpington and is prominent from several locations 
across the town, dominating views and acting as a visual landmark for the college, Market 
Square and the Walnuts Shopping Centre. The Council considers that a maximum height of 
12 storeys is appropriate in order to retain an appropriate relationship with both the existing 
and emerging context. This includes the recent Brunswick House development to the west 
which has a maximum height of 9 storey at its highest point; and the modest scale of the 
existing residential areas to the south and to the east. 

 The height and massing of any development proposals must provide detailed justification 
addressing relevant policy requirements and will be expected to make a positive contribution 
to the immediate setting and wider townscape skyline. Consideration should also be given to 
the cumulative impact of proposals on the College site with proposals for the Walnuts site. 

Page 190



37 

The Council will encourage a collaborative joined-up approach in order to optimise the 
development potential of both sites.

Page 191



38 

Figure 5: Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts Shopping and Leisure Centre sub-
area 

Page 192



39 

 This sub-area sits to the south of the Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts 
Shopping and Leisure Centre sub-area. It consists of commercial back-land areas along 
Gravel Pit Way, to the rear of the High Street and within the defined Local Plan Town Centre 
boundary. These are unattractive, largely undeveloped or underdeveloped areas including 
open area surface car parking between the High Street and eastern suburbs.   

 The Eastern Edge also includes a Local Plan site allocation - Site 11, Homefield Rise, 
Orpington - which is immediately adjacent to, but outside the defined town centre boundary. 
Local Plan policy 1 and appendix 10.2 identify the site for around 100 residential units (87 
units net, deducting the existing 13 dwellings on the site). Two phases of redevelopment have 
now been permitted24, which will provide a total of 63 dwellings.  

Development Opportunities 

 This sub-area has a transition in height between the existing taller, five to six storey elements 
at the southern edge of the Market Square, Orpington College & the Walnuts Shopping and 
Leisure Centre sub-area (including the car park and Sapphire House) and the lower rise, 
traditional two storey suburban residential development of Lancing Road (the gardens of 
which back onto Gravel Pit Way). This will be a key consideration for any development that 
does come forward. 

 The sub-area offers a key opportunity to improve permeability across the town centre, 
particularly with regard to improving links through the Market Square, Orpington College & the 
Walnuts Shopping and Leisure Centre sub-area to Priory Gardens to the north and links to the 
south which could improve access to the train station. These key routes should be reinforced 
with clear wayfinding cues. 

 High quality public realm will be a key requirement, improving key connections and providing 
a network of green, playable spaces fronted by active uses. 

Site 11 

 Site 11 is opposite the five to six-storey Sapphire House but backs onto smaller scale 
residential properties on Lancing Road. The redevelopment of this site provides an 
opportunity to mediate between these contrasting scales to create a more subtle/stepped 
transition between the urban edge and the suburban residential fringe. 

 Any future redevelopment should provide a good amount of separation between existing 
properties in Lancing Road to safeguard amenity and provide an active frontage to Homefield 
Rise, with prominent entrances and a green buffer to soften the edge and enhance the street 
scene. 

 Future development proposals should respond appropriately to the corner junctions with 
Gravel Pit Way and Mortimer Road; there is an opportunity to bookend a linear block layout to 
create a strong east-west visual connection/relationship between buildings. 

Due consideration should be given to scale and massing which should respond to the 
topography of the site; given the linear nature of the site, it will be important to create visual 
breaks between blocks to avoid the perception of a continuous wall of development fronting 

24 Planning permission reference: 20/02697/FULL1 

Page 193



 

40 
 

Homefield Rise. A maximum height of three to four storeys is considered acceptable subject 
to appropriate scale and massing and detailed design considerations. 

 The architectural language should respond to the contemporary style of emerging 
developments nearby but should also reference the character and materiality of Orpington 
Town Centre and the suburban residential fringe. 
 

 Any development proposal which comes forward on this site should also accord with the 
following key parameters: 

• Contribute to an improved public realm and improved permeability (particularly north-south 
across Homefield Rise through Market Square and along Lych Gate Road). 

• Utilise urban greening which contributes to a green link running through the town centre. 

Gravel Pit Way 

 There are a number of parking and servicing yards to the rear of the High Street on Gravel Pit 
Way. These areas could provide opportunities to optimise the Eastern Edge, increasing 
permeability through the town centre and utilising areas of the town centre beyond the High 
Street to create new areas of activity and help facilitate improved vitality and viability on the 
High Street itself.  
 

 This could include measures such as pocket parks, improved greening and outdoor seating, 
which offer a place to dwell and relax for people visiting the town centre. 
 

 There may be potential for redevelopment of the spaces to the rear of Gravel Pit Way to 
provide additional commercial space (including a range of typologies of office and workspace) 
to support and enhance the commercial function of the High Street; this could include some 
residential uses as part of a commercial-led mixed-use development. Any development 
proposal which comes forward on these spaces should accord with the following key 
parameters: 

• Ensure that any development fully considers and mitigates impacts on properties on 
Lancing Road. The height of any development should be set back from Gravel Pit Way, 
potentially utilising green features and public realm as a buffer between the development 
and the rear of the Lancing Road properties. A new street frontage along Gravel Pit Way 
would activate this space and transform the area into a town centre destination. 

• Respond appropriately to the local context (including the low-rise character of the High 
Street and properties on Lancing Road) and relevant reference heights. The Council 
considers that this site could accommodate a medium-density development of 2-3 storeys. 
This could be in the form of linear blocks, with breaks in massing to accommodate public 
realm, greening and east-west links through to the High Street. Any new links should be 
functional and usable, planned as an integral part of any development and not included as 
an afterthought.  

• Contribute to new green public realm linking through to Homefield Rise and further north 
towards Priory Gardens. 

• Ensure that any adverse impacts that may arise due to the loss of the existing parking and 
servicing yards are mitigated. 

 

Page 194



41 

Figure 6: Eastern Edge sub-area 

Page 195



42 

7. Orpington North

This sub-area is the original and historic centre of Orpington and includes the centre’s oldest 
and most significant historic buildings. It closely aligns with the designated Orpington Priory 
Conservation Area and includes a northern stretch of the High Street which feels notably more 
intimate in scale and character than the southern part of the High Street (which was 
developed later). The area is not expected to see significant amounts of development, but 
where proposals do come forward, the Orpington Priory Conservation Area SPG will be a 
strong material consideration in the determination of planning applications within this sub-
area; and also for applications outside the sub-area which may affect its setting or detract 
from views into or out of the area. Given the heritage constraints and the existing low-rise 
character, heights of two to three storeys may be acceptable on the High Street part of the 
sub-area, dependent on the suitability of other elements of the scheme design. Heights of 
more than two storeys are unlikely to be acceptable in the predominantly residential part of 
the sub-area.  

In terms of acceptable uses, it is expected that any proposals that do come forward would 
maintain active frontage at ground floor level, for commercial or community uses. On upper 
floors, residential use may be appropriate where such uses can be accommodated without 
affecting the operation of High Street commercial uses and where high-quality residential units 
are provided which provide a good level of amenity for future occupiers. 

The historic and architectural character of the sub-area is a significant asset, which should be 
consolidated and enhanced. Its picturesque sequence of High Street buildings would benefit 
from a public realm that prioritises pavement activity and outdoor facilities linked to 
restaurants, bars or pubs, enhancing pedestrian experience and connectivity, and providing 
greater accessibility to cultural and heritage assets. Urban greening, particularly new street 
trees, will be supported, whilst maintaining a clear pedestrian thoroughfare in line with 
inclusive design principles. New high quality public realm will also benefit the High Street to 
the south, providing improved access, trip generation and places to dwell. 

The Priory and All Saints Church are both statutorily listed and date back to the formation of 
the original settlement. They both offer the potential for a strong public and civic role in the life 
of the town and should be more closely integrated with the rest of the town through improved 
public realm. 

Priory Gardens is located within the sub-area and is the most significant open green space for 
Orpington residents, businesses and visitors. It is a very important multifunctional asset for the 
town centre, providing important green space, a place for people to socialise and for children 
to play, and as a key walking and cycling route along the Cray Valley corridor. Links to and 
through Priory Gardens should be prioritised as part of development in Orpington Town 
Centre.  

At the northern fringes of Priory Gardens, wayfinding and landscaping can play a role in 
conveying the wider Cray Valley landscape to users of Priory Gardens, with potential for 
improved access to the north to link with other green spaces along the Cray Valley corridor. 
Improvements to biodiversity should also be sought, reflecting the SINC status of part of 
Priory Gardens. 

Page 196



 

43 
 

 The Broomhill Conservation Area lies to the west of the sub-area and town centre. Any 
development should have regard to the setting of this Conservation Area, and reflect guidance 
set out in the Broomhill Conservation Area SPG. 

Page 197



44 

Figure 7: The Village sub-area 

Page 198



45 

8. Orpington West

This sub-area is a long linear commercial High Street, formed as the original settlement began 
to stretch out toward Orpington station in the late 19th Century and early 20th Century. It also 
includes some backland sites used as yards or servicing for the High Street. 

The High Street should present a lively commercial and cultural space, with its existing offer 
augmented by new offices and workspaces, and culture and leisure uses. Diversifying the 
High Street offer is considered important to ensure that the High Street remains successful in 
the future, in the face of huge challenges from the changing nature of shopping and post-
Covid. However, the function of the High Street should remain predominantly commercial, 
particularly at ground floor level. Residential use may be suitable on upper floors, particularly 
where such uses can be accommodated without affecting the operation of High Street 
commercial uses and where high-quality residential units are provided which provide a good 
level of amenity for future occupiers. 

The public realm should be seen as a series of connected routes and spaces that helps to 
define the character of Orpington as a place. As the High Street changes, opportunities 
should be taken to extend new east-west connections across it and into the rear yards and 
‘back of the High Street’ spaces, which can allow for uses, spaces and types of business that 
are different to those on the High Street. Redevelopment in the Market Square, Orpington 
College & the Walnuts Shopping and Leisure Centre sub-area offers an opportunity for new 
public realm and connections linking the High Street with areas to the east through Market 
Square and onto Lych Gate Road. There are opportunities for improved greening and 
wayfinding to aid navigation to the north of the High Street toward Priory Gardens and the 
wider Cray Valley. 

The High Street public realm is extremely important to its overall economic, social, and 
environmental success. High quality, functional, easily navigable public realm helps to support 
local businesses by encouraging people to visit, creating a more attractive, appealing space in 
which to ‘stop and stay’, as opposed to a sterile transient space to quickly move through. The 
long linear nature of the High Street lends itself to focussed public realm interventions at key 
junctions (including new east-west routes where these are created) which turn them into 
places by providing clusters of activity. The public realm should focus on the pedestrian 
experience, prioritising pedestrians over vehicle movement, it should be user-inspired to 
deliver innovative, engaging, and inclusive design. Opportunities for urban greening including 
tree planting should be an integral part of the wider public realm strategy; opportunities to link 
new and existing green infrastructure should be investigated. 

There may be opportunities for small-scale and infill residential and/or commercial 
development along the High Street and to the rear, including upwards extensions of existing 
buildings. Where such opportunities do come forward, any increase in height should be 
modest and reference prevailing heights in the vicinity, which is generally two to three storeys. 
Developments of a similar height may be acceptable subject to detailed design 
considerations. 

Development proposals should respond sensitively to designated and non-designated 
heritage assets and should avoid the creation of an abrupt or excessive step change in scale 
so as not to negatively impact on townscape continuity and character. The human scale feel 

Page 199



46 

of the High Street contributes to its character which should be retained and reinforced. The 
design of small-scale and infill development should reference the prevailing character and 
materiality evident along the High Street. Extensions of existing buildings should also accord 
with a retrofit-first approach, by utilising existing buildings rather than demolishing and 
rebuilding them.   

The High Street has a strong civic character, with predominant red and buff brick buildings. 
Development proposals in the area should have regard to these existing materials and 
conditions, which should be used to inform new development in the area (both new 
development and redevelopment or retrofitting of buildings). 

Page 200



47 

Figure 8: Orpington High Street sub-area 

Page 201



48 

This sub-area consists of commercial back-land areas to the rear of the west side of the High 
Street, some of which falls within the defined Local Plan Town Centre boundary. It is an area 
of transition between the commercial, more urban character of the High Street and the 
suburban character of the Knoll residential area.  

The sub-area includes significant areas of office use within the designated Knoll Rise office 
cluster. The south of the area is dominated by a large mixed-use development including a 
Tesco supermarket, flats and car park.  

 Office uses are a primary function of this sub-area. Developments within the Knoll Rise office 
cluster will be expected to enhance the quality of existing office floorspace and re-provide 
existing floorspace in line with Local Plan Policy 85. Office typologies not traditionally found on 
the High Street, such as co-working and sharing spaces, could be suitable in this area, as part 
of a mix of office typologies. 

 The prevailing heights in the area are mixed, with several buildings ranging from three to five 
storeys. Given the proximity to the three storey properties along the High Street, further 
increases in height above this range would be considered unsuitable. Development proposals 
of around three storeys may be appropriate, subject to detailed design considerations. 

 Development proposals should seek to deliver additional and improved connections to the 
High Street and to the west toward the station and the surrounding residential areas. New 
routes to the station should include improved wayfinding, green features and facilitate easier 
access via walking and cycling. 

 Improved public realm within the sub-area could help to support new and existing office and 
High Street uses, providing space for people working in or visiting the town centre to dwell 
and relax. This could include measures such as pocket parks, urban greening and outdoor 
seating. New or enhanced public realm can function as a wayfinding tool and should be co-
ordinated with any improved connections through the sub-area, particularly routes to 
Orpington Station.  

Page 202



49 

Figure 9: Western Edge sub-area 

Page 203



50 

 This sub-area is framed around Orpington Station, a key public transport facility for the east of 
the Borough which enables access into Central London in 15 minutes. The sub-area includes 
a Local Plan site allocation - Site 12, Small Halls, York Rise, Orpington. Local Plan policy 1 
Housing Supply and appendix 10.2 identify the site for around 35 residential units. This site 
has excellent public transport accessibility due to the proximity to Orpington Station, with a 
PTAL rating of 6a. 

 The sub-area is outside Orpington Town Centre and currently feels slightly detached from the 
town centre; this is exacerbated by the area’s topography. Station Road (A232) runs between 
the sub-area and the ‘Western Edge’ sub-area; while it does not fall within a character area, 
there may be potential for some intensification of development and public realm 
improvements. 

 In design terms, the sub-area should be considered in relation to the town centre and not as 
being a separate or unrelated entity. The area is low-rise with two-storey development being 
prevalent. 

 The siting of the station to the south west of the town centre creates issues of severance and 
wayfinding difficulties. The current planning policy context and site allocations present an 
opportunity to address this challenge, firstly by improving pedestrian and cycle connections 
between the station and town centre, and secondly by transforming the station environment 
into an attractive and functional urban space which better integrates Orpington with the 
Crofton suburb. 

 The two existing key pedestrian and cycle routes into the town centre via Station Road and 
Knoll Rise should be integral to any future wider public realm strategy; these should be 
attractive for pedestrians and cyclists, leafy and navigable, with places to pause along the 
way. 

 Remaining distinct in character from the rest of the town centre, this area can become a 
vibrant urban place with activity generated by the station and improved public realm, which 
may include a station square to enhance the setting. New development should seek to 
compliment local heritage assets, including Crofton Roman Villa, which could become a 
clearer character reference for the area. Any future redevelopment in the vicinity of the 
Roman Villa enclosure should consider how to enhance the local environment in a way that 
positively impacts on this historic attraction, thereby supporting its viability and the 
preservation of the remains. 

 Residential uses would be an acceptable land use, although some small-scale commercial 
uses may be suitable. 

 The area along Crofton Road and Station Road, between Orpington Station and the High 
Street, features a number of houses, some commercial uses and stretches of blank frontage. 
While not having a discernible, overarching character, it nevertheless forms a critical 
connection between the defined Major Town Centre and the station (and on to Central London 
and the wider South East). Development proposals along this stretch should pay careful 
attention to the interface with the public realm to support the enhancement of this important 
route and should accord with the prevailing two storey building heights. 

Development Opportunities 

Site 12 

Page 204



51 

 Site 12 is surrounded on three sides by two-storey suburban housing, which will be a key 
reference point in terms of determining the suitable scale, massing and layout of 
development. The site allocation makes clear that proposals will be expected to respect the 
amenity of adjoining residential properties. The topography of the site increases its 
prominence to the south and east and in the immediate area, which adds to the need for a 
sensitively designed scheme.  The site characteristics will be a key reference point in terms of 
determining the suitable scale, massing and layout of development. 

 The site is screened from Crofton Road by several areas of tree planting, although 
consideration must be given to seasonal variation of foliage, as a scale of development that is 
effectively screened in summer could be over-dominant in the winter months when screening 
is reduced.  

 The site falls within an Archaeological Priority Area and is in close proximity to a Scheduled 
Monument. Any development proposal must ensure a positive relationship with this unique 
heritage asset. 

 Provision of functional space for social interaction, play, relaxation, and physical activity 
should be prioritised as part of any development proposal.  Given the limited space available 
for the public realm, this area must be of the highest quality design, and it must serve several 
functions. 

 The biodiversity value of the site should be protected and enhanced. Use of greening is 
strongly encouraged, as this can have a positive multi-functional benefit including improving 
biodiversity and enhancing any areas of public realm and private open space. 

Page 205



52 

Figure 10: Orpington Station & York Rise sub-area 

Page 206



  

1 

Report No. 
HPR2021/066 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 

FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY BY THE RENEWAL, 
RECREATION AND HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 

Date: 
DCC: 11 January 2022 

RRH PDS: 26 January 2022 

Executive: 9 February 2022 

 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Executive Key 

Title: UPDATE OF THE PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION 
DRAFT  

Contact Officer: James Renwick, Infrastructure Delivery Team Leader  
E-mail: james.renwick@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning) 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 

1. Reason for report 

 

1.1 This report recommends that the revised Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is published for six weeks public consultation. The SPD is an update of 
the current SPD which was adopted in 2010. The update is necessary to reflect changes 

following the adoption of the Bromley Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and changes 
to national, regional and local planning policy since 2010. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
2.1 That Development Control Committee endorse the draft Planning Obligations 

Supplementary Planning Document (shown at Appendix 1) for six weeks public 

consultation, noting that there may be further minor amendments prior to 
consultation. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 10

mailto:james.renwick@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

 
2.2 That Members refer the matter to the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy 

Development and Scrutiny Committee for pre-decision scrutiny. 
 

2.3 That Executive approve the draft Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (shown at Appendix 1) for six weeks public consultation. 

 

2.4 That Executive authorise the Director of Housing, Planning, Property and 
Regeneration, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation 

and Housing, to approve any further minor changes to the draft Planning 
Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (shown at Appendix 1) ahead of 
public consultation. 

 

Page 208



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 

1. Summary of Impact: No Impact 

 

Corporate Policy 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration 
 

Financial 

1. Cost of proposal: Costs associated with the preparation of the SPD and public 

consultation will be met from the Planning Policy and Strategy budget. 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable: 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 

Personnel 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 3 FTE 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A 
 

Legal 

1. Legal Requirement: Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012 

2. Call-in: Applicable: Further Details – Executive Decision 
 

Procurement 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A 

 

Customer Impact 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A 

 

Ward Councillor Views 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? N/A 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A 
 

Page 209



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

 

Background 

3.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the 
Regulations”) allow a Local Planning Authority to publish SPDs to build upon and provide more 

detailed advice or guidance on policies in an adopted local plan. National Planning Policy 
guidance further stipulates that SPDs do not form part of the Development Plan and cannot 

introduce new planning policies into the Development Plan. They are however a material 
consideration in decision-making. 

 

3.2 The Council already has a Planning Obligations SPD, which was adopted in December 2010. 
‘Planning Obligation’ is the generic term used to describe any obligation placed by the Council 

on the grant of planning permission to require the developer to undertake certain commitments, 
either financial or non-financial in nature. Typically secured under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, planning obligations are used to control or offset the impacts of new 

development and make them consistent with adopted planning policy. 
 

3.3 Typical planning obligations include the provision of affordable housing, payment of a sum 

towards localised highway improvements, carbon reduction / offset measures and the control of 
matters connected with new development (such as parking controls). CIL is not classified as a 

planning obligation, however there is a strong relationship between the two, which is explained 
further in the SPD. In summary, CIL is a strategic levy to cover the cost of providing future 
background infrastructure needs (e.g. school provision, health needs) while planning obligations 

are concerned with the specific site impact of a development proposal. 
 

3.4 Since the adoption of the SPD, there have been significant changes to the adopted policy 
framework at the national, London and local level; furthermore, the adoption of the Bromley CIL 
in April 2021 changes the scope of requirements which the Council may seek as a planning 

obligation in the determination of a planning application. The Council also has adopted a new 
Corporate Strategy - ‘Making Bromley Even Better” - in September 2021, which should be 

reflected in any guidance on the use of planning obligations, to assist with the delivery of 
Council priorities. 

 

Draft Planning Obligations SPD 

3.5 The adoption of the Bromley CIL means that the collection of general ‘strategic tariffs’ towards 

infrastructure, previously secured through planning obligations, are now assumed to be 
provided by any CIL payment.   
 

3.6 Since the adoption of the 2010 SPD, there have been changes in approach to the use of 
planning obligations, particularly regarding the provision of affordable housing, sustainability 

measures and economic development; the revised SPD seeks to provide updated guidance on 
these matters and the Council’s approach more generally. 
 

3.7 The revised SPD provides a framework for how the Council may use the Section 106 
mechanism to secure matters relevant to the award of a planning consent. It does not prescribe 

a hierarchy of priorities, nor does it prescribe specific projects or sites. Furthermore, the SPD 
may be supplemented in future with technical guidance to further define what the Council seek 
in specific matters. 

 
3.8 Many of the matters raised in the draft SPD could be adequately handled by a planning 

condition rather than a separate S106 legal agreement. The schedule contained in the appendix 
of the draft SPD outlines the circumstances where this may be the case. 
 

Page 210



  

5 

Key changes in the Draft SPD from the 2010 adopted SPD 
 

3.9 The most significant update is the revision of the relevant planning policies in the Bromley Local 
Plan (adopted January 2019) and the London Plan (adopted March 2021); in addition, the 
revised SPD now reflects the new Bromley Corporate Strategy and other strategy documents 

prepared by the Council since the adoption of the current SPD. The SPD has also been 
expanded to cover potential circumstances where bespoke planning obligation requirements 

may be requested regarding on-going management of a development – for example, parking 
controls, servicing arrangements or the control of construction activity. This is currently 
implemented on an ad-hoc basis as there is no guidance in the adopted SPD. 

 
3.10 The adopted SPD also removes tariff-based contributions for education, health, open space and 

community use payments, which were previously levied on small sites that did not in themselves 
result in a direct impact on such services or infrastructure. Contributions to these areas will now 
be assumed to be provided through the CIL. The revised SPD does however cover potential 

circumstances where sites with a specific impact on infrastructure (including larger sites) may 
be required to address such issues, initially as part of the development proposal or potentially 

as an in-lieu payment. 
 

3.11 The revised SPD has also been redrafted to form a greater thematic narrative to the areas in 

which the Council may seek a planning obligation, reflecting the themes of the new Corporate 
Strategy as follows: 

 Affordable Housing 

 On-site Amenity and Green Infrastructure 

 Community Health and Education 

 Control of development and management plans 

 Highways and Transport  

 Local employment and services 

 Sustainable development 

 Urban centres and public realm 
 

3.12 Officers are continuing discussions with Legal Services regarding the issue of legal fees in 
Appendix 1 of the draft SPD, and amendments to the planning obligation template at Appendix 

2 of the draft SPD. The intention is for these issues to be finalised ahead of public consultation, 
but this may be after consideration by committees. The report recommendation therefore asks 
Executive to authorise that any minor updates to the draft SPD, to reflect the above changes, 

can be approved by the Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing; this approval is 
envisaged to be in writing, i.e. exchange of emails. 

 
Consultation to date 

 
3.13 While no formal consultation on the draft SPD has been undertaken to date, the document has 

been circulated to relevant council services for comment. This engagement was focused on 

services who mainly benefit from planning obligations, for example, through a financial 
contribution which assists with implementing a particular workstream, or through the imposition 

of certain restrictions on development which assists with the work of the service. 
 

3.14 In addition, there have been some dialogue with certain external stakeholders, such as the NHS 

and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), with regards to the changes that are proposed to the 
treatment of health requirements. Furthermore, the SPD is in itself representative of other 

documents and strategies that have undergone formal consultation; the SPD does not prescribe 
any new priorities or policies expressed in these adopted documents, but merely articulates a 
process to secure them. 

Page 211



  

6 

 
Next Steps 

 
3.15 If approved, the SPD will be subject to six weeks public consultation. The Regulations require a 

minimum of four weeks consultation; however, the Bromley Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI)1 specifies a minimum of six weeks. Consultation will be undertaken in line 
with the SCI. 

 
3.16 The local election purdah period will commence in mid to late March and last until election day 

on 5 May 2022. The consultation is likely to launch prior to the purdah period, but undoubtedly 

part of the consultation will overlap with the purdah period. However, as the SPD sets out 
guidance to be used to assess future planning applications (rather than making decisions itself) 

and could be considered normal Council business (linked to planning legislation), it is 
considered that the consultation on the SPD would not be in contravention of guidance on what 
can be publicised during the purdah period.  

 
3.17 Following public consultation, all representations will be considered, and, where necessary, 

amendments to the SPD will be proposed. An adoption version of the SPD will then be put 
forward for consideration by committees. The adoption of the SPD is a matter for the Executive. 

 
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet the three tests set out in Regulation 

122 of the CIL Regulations. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)2 and PPG3 sets 
out national policy and guidance relating to planning obligations. 

 
4.2 Development Plan policies play a crucial role in securing appropriate planning obligations. 

Policy 125 of the Local Plan (2019) sets out the Council’s approach to Section 106 agreements. 

The current Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2010) provides 
further guidance on the Council’s general approach to planning obligations, and where possible 

the requirements, and mechanisms for infrastructure contributions.  
 

4.3 Policies in the adopted London Plan also set out priorities for planning obligations, which 

includes affordable housing and public transport improvements. 
 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 The production of the Planning Obligations SPD and the costs of public consultation will be 

funded from the Planning Policy and Strategy budget.  

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 The draft SPD has been prepared in line with relevant planning guidance and regulations, 

including the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended). If adopted following public consultation, the SPD will be a material consideration in 
the determination of relevant planning applications. 

 
6.2 A Screening Statement to determine the need for a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

has been prepared by officers, in accordance with the requirements of European Directive 

                                                 
1 Available from: https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/781/revised_statement_of_community_involvement_-
_documents  
2 NPPF paragraphs 55-58, available here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national -planning-policy-framework/4-decision-
making#para55 
3 PPG, Planning Obligations, available here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations  

Page 212

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/781/revised_statement_of_community_involvement_-_documents
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/781/revised_statement_of_community_involvement_-_documents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/4-decision-making#para55
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/4-decision-making#para55
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations


  

7 

2001/42/EC; and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004; 
this is provided at Appendix 2. The screening has concluded that an SEA does not need to be 

prepared as the SPD does not introduce new policies but provides further guidance on adopted 
Development Plan policy. This policy has been sufficiently appraised in the Sustainability 
Appraisals of the Local Plan and London Plan documents; it is considered that the Planning 

Obligations SPD will not result in any additional significant effects to those already identified 
through these higher-level Sustainability Appraisals.  

 
6.3 This approach is consistent with national planning guidance which states that SPDs are only 

likely to require an SEA in exceptional circumstances, where they are likely to have significant 

environmental effects that have not already have been assessed during the preparation of the 
relevant strategic policies. 

 
6.4 There is a requirement to consult three statutory consultation bodies designated in the SEA 

Regulations (the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England) on whether a 

strategic environmental assessment is required. Officers have consulted each of the three 
bodies on the screening statement provided at Appendix 2; details of the responses are 

provided in the Screening Statement appendix. To date (as of 20 December 2021), the 
Environment Agency and Natural England have confirmed that it agrees that a SEA is not 
required and added no further comment. Historic England had not responded as of this date. 

 

Non- 
Applicable 
Sections: 

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN 
 
PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background 
Documents: 

(Access via 
Contact Officer) 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 - 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf 

 
Bromley CIL documents (including CIL Charging Schedule and Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan) - 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_inf 
rastructure_levy 
 
London Plan (adopted 2 March 2021), available from: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) - 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme
nt_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf 
 
Current adopted Planning Obligations SPD - 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/160/planning_obligations_suppl
ementary_planning_document 
 

 

Page 213

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_inf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_infrastructure_levy
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/160/planning_obligations_supplementary_planning_document
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/160/planning_obligations_supplementary_planning_document


This page is left intentionally blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 

Consultation draft – February 2022 

 

Page 215



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bromley Council 

Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document – Consultation draft - February 2022 

For more information about this document, please contact: 

Bromley Infrastructure Delivery Team 

Email: lcil@bromley.gov.uk 

Page 216



 

 
 

1 Introduction ..................................................................... 1 

Background .................................................................................................... 1 

What are planning obligations? ................................................................... 2 

2 Policy framework ............................................................ 4 

Overview ........................................................................................................ 4 

National planning policy and guidance ....................................................... 4 

London planning policy and guidance ........................................................ 5 

Community Infrastructure Levy ................................................................... 6 

3 Basis for Planning Obligations  ..................................... 8 

Overview ........................................................................................................ 8 

Bromley Corporate Strategy ......................................................................... 8 

Bromley Local Plan ....................................................................................... 9 

London Plan ................................................................................................. 10 

Objectives of this Guidance ....................................................................... 12 

4 General Principles  ........................................................ 14 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 14 

S106 Requirements versus Community Infrastructure Levy Payments . 14 

Pooled Contributions .................................................................................. 15 

Maintenance Payments ............................................................................... 15 

Management of Development ..................................................................... 15 

Timing of Obligations .................................................................................. 16 

Administration and Monitoring .................................................................. 16 

Viability ......................................................................................................... 16 

5 Affordable Housing ....................................................... 17 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 17 

Tenure and Type .......................................................................................... 17 

Page 217



 

 
 

Approach ...................................................................................................... 18 

Viability Appraisals ..................................................................................... 18 

Viability Reviews ......................................................................................... 18 

Off-site Provision and Payments in lieu .................................................... 19 

Additional requirements for non-standard residential development ...... 19 

6 On Site Amenity Space and Green Infrastructure ..... 21 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 21 

External Private Amenity Space and Play Space ...................................... 21 

Green Infrastructure .................................................................................... 21 

7 Community, Health and Educational Facilities .......... 23 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 23 

On-site provision ......................................................................................... 23 

Loss of facilities .......................................................................................... 24 

Facilitating the provision of services ........................................................ 24 

Public Access and Local Participation ...................................................... 24 

8 Control of Development and Management Plans ...... 25 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 25 

Operational Management - General Amenity and Local Environmental 
Factors ......................................................................................................... 25 

Control of Occupancy and Operation ........................................................ 26 

Heritage Management ................................................................................. 26 

9 Highways and Transport .............................................. 28 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 28 

Network Management ................................................................................. 28 

Transport Assessment ................................................................................ 28 

Travel Plans ................................................................................................. 28 

Construction Logistics Plan ....................................................................... 29 

Page 218



 

 
 

Delivery and Service Plans ......................................................................... 29 

Parking ......................................................................................................... 29 

Parking Design and Management Plans .................................................... 30 

Residential Parking permits ....................................................................... 30 

Cycling ......................................................................................................... 30 

Public Transport .......................................................................................... 31 

Highways Infrastructure ............................................................................. 31 

Strategic Transport Improvements ............................................................ 31 

10 Local Employment and Services ................................. 33 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 33 

Flexible Workspace / Affordable Workspace ............................................ 33 

Local Employment and Skills ..................................................................... 34 

11 Open Spaces and Outdoor Sport ................................ 35 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 35 

Development effecting existing Open Space and Outdoor Sport ........... 35 

Creation of new or improved Open Space and Outdoor Sport ................ 36 

12 Sustainable Development ............................................ 37 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 37 

Carbon Reduction ....................................................................................... 37 

Energy Hierarchy ......................................................................................... 38 

Carbon Offset payment ............................................................................... 38 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) ..................................................... 39 

Water Infrastructure .................................................................................... 39 

Waste Management ..................................................................................... 39 

Air Quality .................................................................................................... 39 

13 Urban Centres and Public Realm ................................ 41 

Page 219



 

 
 

Overview ...................................................................................................... 41 

Public Realm Improvements ....................................................................... 41 

Town Centre Management .......................................................................... 42 

Crime and Safety ......................................................................................... 42 

Appendices ............................................................................ 43 

Appendix 1 – Monitoring and Legal Charges ............................................ 43 

Appendix 2 - Section 106 Agreement Precedent and Notification Form 44 

Appendix 3 - Planning Obligations Assessment Matrix ........................... 59 

Page 220



 

1 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) forms part of the Bromley policy framework. It 
provides guidance to assist with the implementation of the Bromley Development Plan, made 
up of the Bromley Local Plan and the London Plan (2021). The SPD is a material 
consideration in the determination of relevant planning applications. 

 

1.2 The document provides guidance on the Council’s general approach to Planning Obligations, 
and where possible the requirements, and mechanisms for infrastructure contributions. The 
Council adopted a local Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 19 April 2021, which will 
assist with the future funding of strategic infrastructure requirements. The use of Planning 
Obligations through a Section 106 agreement will remain for site specific infrastructure, 
affordable housing and any other non-infrastructure matters required to make a development 
acceptable in planning terms (such as monitoring or management arrangements). 

 

1.3 New development can raise additional pressure on local infrastructure, whether by way of 
additional school places required, amendments to the local highway, new health / community 
facilities or provide opportunities to local employment and housing. All new development 
(where meeting the requirement to pay CIL) will pay a contribution via the CIL towards the 
general infrastructure provision required in the borough, in some cases further contributions 
may be required to address site specific impacts through the use of Section 106 agreements.  

 

1.4 The CIL charging schedule applies to all new development granted planning permission on 
and after 15 June 2021 (unless it qualifies for an exemption – more details can be found on the 
Council’s CIL webpage1). The charge is applied based on the quantum of the proposed 
floorspace in any new building, extension or change of use (existing / demolished floorspace 
may qualify for a deduction) at the rates adopted.  New development may also benefit from 
relief to pay CIL (such as for the floor space that will be used for affordable housing). 

 

Rates (applicable across the whole administrative area of the London 
Borough of Bromley)  

Charge £ per 
sqm  

Residential development excluding residential development which delivers 
additional care and support services  

£100 per sqm  

Large-scale purpose built shared / purpose built student accommodation £150 per sqm  

Retail Warehousing over 1000sqm  £100 per sqm  

Supermarkets/foodstore over 280sqm (3,000 sq ft)  £100 per sqm  

Other forms of development  £0 per sqm  

 

1.5 The Council is also the collecting authority for the Mayor of London CIL (MCIL2 – adopted 01 
April 2019) which is to be paid in addition to the Bromley CIL 

 

1.6 The Council will apply CIL to various infrastructure requirements across the borough, informed 
by the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan.   CIL and planning obligation income, and 
expenditure, will be reported annually through the Infrastructure Funding Statements2. 

 
1https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_infrastructure_levy 
2 Available from: https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/1113/infrastructure_funding_statement  

Page 221

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1179/bromleys_community_infrastructure_levy
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/1113/infrastructure_funding_statement


 

2 
 

 

1.7 Developments are required to adhere to the adopted local Development Plan (both the 
Bromley Local Plan and the Mayoral London Plan), which may require certain infrastructure to 
be applied on site, such as play equipment or affordable housing. Furthermore, there may be 
specific requirements regarding the operation or design of a site that needs to be addressed 
directly, such as changes to the local highway, on-going maintenance arrangements or public 
realm improvements. Such requirements should be addressed as part of the planning 
permission and may be secured via Planning Condition or the use of a S106 Agreement 
negotiated with the Council.   

 

1.8 S106 agreements are private agreements negotiated in the context of planning applications, 
between the Council and persons with an interest in a piece of land. They are intended to 
make acceptable development that would otherwise be considered unacceptable in planning 
terms.  A developer may also propose their own Planning Obligations – for example where the 
application has been refused by the Council and is to be determined via appeal; these are 
known as Unilateral Undertakings, which in essence follow the same principles as S106 
Agreements as outlined in this guidance.   

 

1.9 S106 agreements relate to a planning permission but are also attached to the land and 
registered as a local land charge. This means that requirements can be enforced against those 
who entered into it and against anybody who gains title to the land. This ensures that if land is 
sold with a planning permission and related planning contributions, those contributions can be 
enforced against the new owner(s) of the land i.e. successors in title 

 

1.10 The governing provisions for use of Planning Obligations are set out in Regulation 122 of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 20103 (as amended): 

 
  Limitation on use of Planning Obligations: 
 

122. (1) This regulation applies where a relevant determination is made   
 which results in planning permission being granted for development. 

 
(2) Subject to paragraph (2A), A Planning Obligation may only constitute a reason for 
granting planning permission for the development if the obligation is: 

 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

  (b) directly related to the development; and 
  (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
(2A) Paragraph (2) does not apply in relation to a Planning Obligation which requires a 
sum to be paid to a local planning authority in respect of the cost of monitoring (including 
reporting under these Regulations) in relation to the delivery of Planning Obligations in 
the authority’s area, provided: 

 
(a) the sum to be paid fairly and reasonably relates in scale and kind to the 

development; and 

 
3 Available from: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/regulation/122/made 

 

Page 222

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/regulation/122/made


 

3 
 

(b) the sum to be paid to the authority does not exceed the authority’s estimate of its 
cost of monitoring the development over the lifetime of the Planning Obligations 
which relate to that development. 

 

1.11 In some circumstances, where it is not possible to address the requirement as part of the 
development, the Council may accept a payment in lieu to provide the required works off-site. 
Furthermore, the Council may also require a payment to recover costs for officer time to 
monitor and manage agreements. Any payment request via a S106 agreement is separate to 
CIL and does not cover infrastructure projects that CIL will be used towards. 
  

Page 223



 

4 
 

2 Policy framework 

2.1 This SPD forms part of the Bromley policy framework. It provides guidance to assist with the 
implementation of the Bromley Development Plan, made up of the Bromley Local Plan and 
the London Plan (2021). The SPD is a material consideration in the determination of relevant 
planning applications. 

2.2 This section of the SPD sets out the policy framework for Bromley, encompassing planning 
policy and guidance at a national, regional and local level. 

Figure 1 – Policy Framework 

 

2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)4 sets the national policy context for 
preparation of local plans. Local Plans must be consistent with national policy and should 
enable the delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF. 
The NPPF is also capable of being a material consideration in the determination of planning 

 
4 National Planning Policy Framework https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2 
 
 

Page 224

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

5 
 

applications. The current version of the NPPF was published in February 2019. National 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)5 provides further detail on various aspects of the NPPF. 

2.4 The Mayor of London produces a spatial development strategy (known as the London Plan). 
The current version of the London Plan was adopted in March 20216. The London Plan forms 
part of the Development Plan for each of the London local planning authorities and is used to 
assess planning applications. The Mayor also has a number of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG) documents which provide further detail on policies set out in the London 
Plan. 

2.5 The London Plan contains policies that may be relevant to potential Planning Obligations that 
the Council may request.  The overarching policy setting out the Mayor of London’s approach 
that local authorities should adopt with respect to Planning Obligations is set out in Policy 
DF1: 

Policy DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations  

A Applicants should take account of Development Plan policies when developing proposals and 
acquiring land. Development proposals should provide the infrastructure and meet the other 
relevant policy requirements necessary to ensure that they are sustainable and to support 
delivery of the Plan. Where relevant policies in local Development Plan Documents are up to 
date, it is expected that viability testing should normally only be undertaken on a site-specific 
basis where there are clear circumstances creating barriers to delivery.  

B Where relevant policies in local Development Plan Documents are up to date, if an applicant 
wishes to make the case that viability should be considered on a site-specific basis, they should 
provide clear evidence of the specific issues that would prevent delivery, in line with relevant 
Development Plan policy, prior to submission of an application.  

C Where it is accepted that viability of a specific site should be considered as part of an 
application, the borough should determine the weight to be given to a viability assessment 
alongside other material considerations, ensuring that developments remain acceptable in 
planning terms. Viability assessments should be tested rigorously and undertaken in line with the 
Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG.  

D When setting policies seeking Planning Obligations in local Development Plan Documents and 
in situations where it has been demonstrated that Planning Obligations cannot viably be 
supported by a specific development, applicants and decision-makers should firstly apply priority 
to affordable housing and necessary public transport improvements, and following this:  

1) recognise the role large sites can play in delivering necessary health and education 
infrastructure; and  
2) recognise the importance of affordable workspace, and culture and leisure facilities in 
delivering good growth. 
  

E Boroughs are also encouraged to take account of the infrastructure prioritisation in Part D in 
developing their Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule. 

 
5 Planning Policy Guidance https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 
6 London Plan 2021 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan 

 

Page 225

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan


 

6 
 

 

Local planning policy 

2.6 The current Bromley Local Plan7 was adopted in January 2019. The Local Plan sets out a 
number of planning policies, site allocations and land designations for the borough, and is the 
central document in the Borough’s Development Plan (which is used to assess planning 
applications). The Local Plan is accompanied by the Policies Map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the Local Plan. 

2.7 The Bromley Local Plan sets out its expectations for infrastructure delivery in Policy 125: 

Policy 125 - Delivery and implementation of the Local Plan 

The Council will work with partners to deliver the vision, objectives and policies of this Local Plan: 

Requiring development to provide for the infrastructure, facilities, amenities and other planning 
benefits that are necessary to support and serve it; 

Working with relevant providers and developers to ensure necessary infrastructure is secured and 
delivered in time to support Bromley’s consolidated growth and development and provide facilities 
for the borough’s communities; 

Using Planning Obligations where appropriate alongside other suitable funding mechanisms to 
support the delivery of infrastructure, facilities and services to meet needs generated by 
development and to mitigate the impact of development; Working with neighbouring boroughs to 
co-ordinate delivery across boundaries; 

Monitoring the implementation of the Local Plan, and publish results annually in the Authority 
Monitoring Report. 

 

2.8 The Community Infrastructure Levy was introduced under the Planning Act 2008, allowing 
Local Planning Authorities to introduce the levy on new development.  The operating 
framework for CIL is set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended), which requires the Local Planning Authority (where defined as an applicable 
‘Charging Authority’) to undertake a formal process for adoption.  The calculation, liability and 
payment of CIL are all determined by the Regulations. 

2.9 The Mayor of London is defined as a ‘Charging Authority’ and adopted a new Mayoral 
Community Infrastructure Levy (MCIL2) in April 2019. Upon adoption, MCIL2 superseded the 
previous MCIL1.  The London Borough of Bromley is designated as the ‘Collecting Authority’ 
for MCIL. 

2.10 The London Borough of Bromley, as a ‘Charging Authority’, introduced its own Local CIL 
(BCIL) on 19 April 2021 - which was brought into effect on planning permissions granted on, 
and after, 15 June 2021.  

 
7 Bromley Local Plan https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1263/the_bromley_local_plan 
 

Page 226

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1263/the_bromley_local_plan


 

7 
 

2.11 As the London Borough of Bromley is the Collecting Authority for both MCIL and BCIL it shall 
calculate and issue liabilities for both regimes in a single combined process.  Sums received 
under MCIL are passed directly on to the Mayor of London, while BCIL is retained by London 
Borough of Bromley and spent in accordance with the Regulations.  

Page 227



 

8 
 

3 Basis for Planning Obligations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

3.3 “Making Bromley Even Better”- 2021 to 2031 (October 2021) is the Borough’s over-arching 
Corporate Strategy setting out Bromley’s long-term comprehensive goals to create an 
environment where individuals and communities thrive and prosper, enjoying independent and 
self-reliant lives. The strategy centres on five key ambitions: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8 The Savings Statement published alongside the London Plan (2021) sets out which SPGs remain extant - 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/plp_2020_savings_statement.pdf 
9 https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6895/making_bromley_even_better_corporate_strategy 

 

Page 228

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/plp_2020_savings_statement.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/6895/making_bromley_even_better_corporate_strategy


 

9 
 

3.4 Planning Obligations may be required to ensure development proposals are aiding the 
Council's efforts in achieving some of the priorities and targets outlined in this strategy. The 
table below sets out the linkages between “Making Bromley Even Better” themes and 
Planning Obligation topic areas: 

 

 
3.5 The Local Plan contains six main thematic chapters which contain further policies applicable 

to the Council’s expectations as to what new development should adhere to. The following 
table highlights relevant policies in the Local Plan that may apply in relation to the topic areas 
used in this guidance. This list is not considered exhaustive and there may be other relevant 
policies which will be applied: 

 

Theme SPD Topic Areas Policy 

Living in Bromley  

 

• Affordable Housing 

• On-site Amenity 
Space and Green 
Infrastructure 

• Local Employment 
and Services 

• Urban Centres and 
Public Realm 

Policy 2 - Provision of Affordable Housing 
Policy 4 - Housing Design 
Policy 13 - Renewal Areas 
Policy 15 - Crystal Palace, Penge & Anerley Renewal 
Area 
Policy 16 - Bromley Common Renewal Area 
Policy 17 - Cray Valley Renewal Area 
Policy 18 - Mottingham Renewal Area 
Policy 19 - Ravensbourne, Plaistow, Sundridge 
Renewal Area 

Supporting 
Communities 

 

• Community, Health and 
Educational facilities 

• Open Spaces and 
Outdoor Sport 
 

Policy 20 - Community Facilities 
Policy 22 - Social Infrastructure in New Developments 
Policy 24 - Allotments and Leisure Gardens 
Policy 25 - Burial Space 
Policy 26 - Health & Wellbeing 
Policy 27 – Education 
Policy 28 – Educational Facilities 

Corporate Strategy Ambitions SPD Topic Areas 

Children and Young People 
- Community, Health and Educational facilities 
- Local Employment and Services 

Adults and Older People 
- Community, Health and Educational facilities 
- Local Employment and Services 

Homes in Bromley and for business, 
enterprise and the third sector to 
prosper. 

- Urban Centres and Public Realm 
- Local Employment and Services 
- Affordable Housing 

Prosper in a safe, clean and green 
environment great for today and a 
sustainable future. 

- Open Spaces and Outdoor Sport 
- On Site Amenity Space and Green Infrastructure 
- Control of Development and Management Plans 
- Highways and Transport 
- Sustainable Development 

Providing value for money, and 
efficient and effective services for 
Bromley’s residents. 

- General Principles 

Page 229



 

10 
 

Getting Around 

 

• Highways and 
Transport 

• Control of Development 
and Management Plans 

• Urban Centres and 
Public Realm 

Policy 30 - Parking 
Policy 31 - Relieving Congestion 
Policy 33 - Access for All 
Policy 34 - Highway Infrastructure Provision 
Policy 35 - Transport Investment Priorities 

Valued 
Environments 

 

• Urban Centres and 
Public Realm  

• On-site Amenity Space 
and Green 
Infrastructure 

• Open Spaces and 
Outdoor Sport 

• Control of Development 
and Management Plans  

Policy 37 -General Design of Development 
Policy 43 - Trees in Conservation Areas 
Policy 45 -  Historic Parks and Gardens 
Policy 46 -  Scheduled Monuments and Archaeology 
Policy 54 – South East London Green chain 
Policy 55 – Urban Open Space 
Policy 56 – Local Green Space 
Policy 57 -  Outdoor Recreation and Leisure 
Policy 58 - Outdoor Sport, Recreation and Play 
Policy 59 - Public Open Space Deficiency 
Policy 60 - Rights of Way & Recreational Routes 
Policy 66 - Occupancy Conditions 
Policy 68 - Development and SSSI 
Policy 69 - Development & Nature Conservation Sites 
Policy 70 -Wildlife Features 
Policy 73 - Development and Trees 
Policy 77 - Landscape Quality and Character 

Working in 
Bromley 

 

• Urban Centres and 
Public Realm 

• Local Employment 
and Services 

• Control of 
Development and 
Management Plans  

Policy 80 - Strategic Economic Growth 
Policy 90 - Bromley Town Centre OA 
Policy 92 -  Metropolitan & Major Town Centres 
Policy 94 – District Centres 
Policy 95 – Local Centres 
Policy 96  -  Neighbourhood Centres, Local Parades 
and Individual Shops 
Policy 111 -Crystal Palace SOLDC 
Policy 103 -  Biggin Hill SOLDC 

Environmental 
Challenges 

 

- Control of Development 
and Management Plans 

- Sustainable 
Development 

Policy 113 - Waste Management in New Development 
Policy 115 - Reducing Flood Risk 
Policy 116 -Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems  
Policy 117 -  Water & Wastewater Infrastructure  
Policy 118 – Contaminated Land 
Policy 119 – Noise Pollution 
Policy 120 – Air Quality 
Policy 123 – Sustainable Design & Construction 
Policy 124 – CO2 Reduction, Decentralised & 
Renewable Energy 

 

3.6 The London Plan also contains policies applicable to potential planning obligations.   In 
addition, Policy D2 directs that the density of development proposals should be based on 
planned levels of infrastructure rather than existing levels. For larger strategic sites, where 
there is currently insufficient capacity of existing infrastructure to support proposed densities 
(including the impact of cumulative development), boroughs should work with applicants and 
infrastructure providers to ensure that sufficient capacity will exist at the appropriate time. This 
may mean that if the development is contingent on the provision of new infrastructure, an 
infrastructure assessment may be required during the planning application process, which will 
have regard to the local infrastructure delivery plan or programmes, and the CIL contribution 
that the development will make. 

Page 230



 

11 
 

 

 

3.7 The following table highlights relevant policies in the London Plan that may apply in relation to 
the topic areas used in this guidance. This list is not considered exhaustive and there may be 
other relevant policies which will be applied: 

SPD Topic Areas London Plan Policy 

Affordable Housing GG4 - Delivering the homes Londoners need 
Policy H4 - Delivering affordable housing 
Policy H5 - Threshold approach to applications 
Policy H6 - Affordable housing tenure 
Policy H7 - Monitoring of affordable housing 
Policy H11 - Build to Rent 
Policy H13 - Specialist older persons housing 
Policy H15 - Purpose-built student accommodation 
Policy H16 - Large-scale purpose-built shared living 

On Site Amenity Space 
and Green 
Infrastructure 

GG3 - Creating a healthy city 
Policy D6 - Housing quality and standards 
Policy S4 - Play and informal recreation 
Policy G1- Green infrastructure 
Policy G5 - Urban greening 
Policy G7 - Trees and woodlands 

Community, Health 
and Educational 
facilities 
 

GG1- Building strong and inclusive communities 
GG3 - Creating a healthy city 
Policy S1- Developing London’s social infrastructure 
Policy S2 - Health and social care facilities 
Policy S3 - Education and childcare facilities 

Control of 
Development and 
Management Plans 

Policy D13- Agent of Change 
Policy D14- Noise 
Policy H15- Purpose-built student accommodation 
Policy H16- Large-scale purpose-built shared living 
Policy D7- Accessible housing 
Policy E10- Visitor infrastructure 
Policy HC1 - Heritage conservation and growth 
Policy HC5 - Supporting London’s culture and creative industries 
Policy HC6- Supporting the night-time economy 
Policy SI 1- Improving air quality 
Policy SI 6 -Digital connectivity infrastructure 
Policy SI 7- Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy 
Policy T4 -Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
Policy T6 -Car parking 
Policy T7- Deliveries, servicing and construction 

Highways and 
Transport 
 

GG2- Making the best use of land 
Policy T2 - Healthy Streets 
Policy T3 - Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding 
Policy T4 - Assessing and mitigating transport impacts 
Policy T5 - Cycling 
Policy T6 - Car parking 
Policy T9 - Funding transport infrastructure through planning 

Local Employment 
and Services 
 

GG1 Building strong and inclusive communities 
Policy E2 - Providing suitable business space 
Policy E3 - Affordable workspace 
Policy E11 - Skills and opportunities for all 
Policy HC5 - Supporting London’s culture and creative industries 

Open Spaces and 
Outdoor Sport 

GG2 - Making the best use of land 
GG3- Creating a healthy city 

Page 231



 

12 
 

 Policy S4 -Play and informal recreation 
Policy S5- Sports and recreation facilities 
Policy S6 -Public toilets 
Policy S7 -Burial space 
Policy G1 -Green infrastructure 
Policy G4 -Open space 
Policy G6 -Biodiversity and access to nature 
Policy G7 Trees and woodlands 
Policy G9 Geodiversity 
Policy SI 17 -Protecting and enhancing London’s waterways 

Sustainable 
Development 
 

GG6 -Increasing efficiency and resilience 
Policy SI 1 -Improving air quality 
Policy SI 2 -Minimising greenhouse gas emissions 
Policy SI 3 -Energy infrastructure 
Policy SI 5 - Water infrastructure 

Urban Centres and 
Public Realm 
 

GG1 - Building strong and inclusive communities 
Policy SD1 -Opportunity Areas 
Policy SD6 -Town centres and high streets 
Policy SD9 -Town centres: Local partnerships and implementation 
Policy D8 -Public realm 
Policy D11- Safety, security and resilience to emergency 
Policy S6 -Public toilets 
Policy E9 -Retail, markets and hot food takeaways 
Policy T2 -Healthy Streets 

 

3.8 The overall objective of this SPD is to clarify when Planning Obligations may be sought to 
implement policy priorities, and to explain associated procedures. This guidance provides the 
development industry, local communities, land owners and the Council with a vehicle to 
identify the likely Planning Obligations that a proposal will generate - attributed to its impact - 
at an early stage in the proposal formulation process. Acknowledgement and preparation for 
the required Planning Obligations should be integral to negotiation of land transactions and 
the formulation of development proposals. This guidance provides the basis for the 
negotiation of contributions by setting out the following: 

• the broad range of likely contributions that may be sought, and why these may be required. 

• the types of developments that would be subject to Planning Obligations, in terms of their 
scale, nature, uses proposed and their location. 

 
3.9 The Council expects developers to enter into discussions on potential Planning Obligations 

with Council officers as soon as possible, ideally at pre-application stage. The Heads of 
Terms of any legal agreement will need to be finalised before a recommendation is made on a 
planning application. These early discussions and decisions are crucial to avoid lengthy 
finalisation of any legal agreements and to ensure the application remains within statutory 
timeframes. 

3.10 In addition to this document, other policy and guidance produced by the Council should also 
be considered where they refer to specific requirements. The potential obligations included 
and explained in this SPD are not exhaustive; other requirements may arise in specific 
circumstances. 

3.11 Developers should note that not all of these policy obligations may be required for every 
scheme and a level of priority will be applied. Current Council priorities for Planning 
Obligations are Affordable Housing, Carbon Offsetting and Highways. Planning Obligations 

Page 232



 

13 
 

should be reflected in land values from the outset and thus should not threaten scheme 
viability. However, there may be site-specific circumstances relating to viability which 
warrant a reduced obligation. The Council expects any justification for reduced obligations 
to be fully justified in line with all relevant Development Plan policies. . 

3.12 This SPD will be reviewed when necessary to reflect changes in Government policy and 
guidance, costs, and changes to the Council priorities, or as service area obligations are met. 

3.13 Based on an analysis of the main policy drivers, the guidance sets out nine thematic areas: 

• Affordable Housing 

• On Site Amenity Space and Green Infrastructure 

• Community, Health and Educational facilities 

• Control of Development and Management Plans 

• Highways and Transport 

• Local Employment and Services 

• Sustainable Development 

• Open Spaces and Outdoor Sport 

• Urban Centres and Public Realm 
 

Page 233



 

14 
 

4 General Principles  

4.1 New developments create varying impacts on the provision of services and facilities. 
Generally, the greater the scale and complexity of a development, the greater its scale and 
range of impacts. All developers should be aware of the Council's likely Planning Obligation 
requirements prior to designing a scheme, and certainly prior to submitting a planning 
application. 

4.2 If it is identified that a proposed development is not maximising the use of a site to avoid an 
obligation threshold, the Council will seek obligations from the development, which reflect the 
appropriate or full use of the land. Likewise, where it is identified that a potentially large 
development proposal or site has been split into smaller applications in order to be under 
obligation thresholds, the Council will require that, for the purposes of Planning Obligations, all 
the individual proposals are treated as single or whole. 

4.3 Most planning applications will not require an obligation. There are many developments where 
Planning Conditions can adequately deal with on-site works and even the provision of works 
or facilities outside the application site. This may be achieved through the imposition of a 
condition preventing the occupation or commencement of a development until the works or 
facilities in question have been provided (such conditions are known as Grampian 
Conditions). When considering applications, the Council will consider whether Planning 
Conditions can adequately control all direct and indirect impacts of the development and 
secure the desired benefits before it decides that a Planning Obligation is necessary. The 
circumstances where an obligation will be required will be determined by the precise merits of 
the case, taking into account the location, scale and nature of the proposal. Pre-application 
discussions will be particularly useful in giving consideration as to whether an obligation is 
likely to be required. 

4.4 Negotiations for all Planning Obligations will be undertaken by Council planning officers, 
assisted by officers representing various other service areas where appropriate. 

 

4.5 CIL will be levied on all qualifying developments (the creation of 100sqm or more, or where 
creating a new residential unit) at the relevant charging rates (see section 1).  A Planning 
Obligation via S106 is requested where a development proposal requires a specific matter to 
be addressed as outlined in this SPD – which would be in addition to any CIL liability.  The 
Council will not request a S106 Planning Obligation towards any project which is proposed to 
use CIL funding.  Previously the Council was required to produce a ‘Regulation 123 list’, to 
stipulate what projects CIL would be used towards - this requirement was removed under 
amendments to the CIL regulations in 2019. The Council will however determine its intended 
future use of CIL on a periodic basis and will be reported as part of the Infrastructure Funding 
Statement. 

4.6 Typically, the Council will only request S106 Planning Obligations for aspects related to the 
development site in question and its impacts on infrastructure in the immediate area, such as 
immediate highway improvements or public realm.  However, a more generalised contribution 

Page 234



 

15 
 

maybe sought to mitigate the lack of aspects that should be provided directly on site as part of 
development proposal – such as amenity space or where the development results in the loss 
of (and failure to reprovide) an existing community facility. 

4.7 Currently, Affordable housing does not fall under the definition of Infrastructure under the 
Planning Act 2008 and consequently is not an item that can be funded or secured via CIL; as 
such it will remain a S106 matter. Non-infrastructure payments, such as monitoring / 
management payments and carbon off-set contributions also do not fall under the definition of 
Infrastructure and therefore are also matters to be secured via S106,  

 
4.8 Amendments to CIL Regulations in September 2019 removed the ‘pooling restrictions’ which 

previously limited the number of S106 contributions that could be used to fund a single 
infrastructure project. The Council is permitted to request a contribution that will be used 
towards a project to which other planning contributions have or will be raised – provided such 
a contribution still accords with Regulation 122 highlighted in section 1 of this guidance.   

4.9 Given the operation of a local CIL in the borough, the Council’s previous approach of 
requesting generic strategic pooled contributions to Education, Health and Community 
facilities will cease.  

 
4.10 Where contributions are secured through Planning Obligations towards the provision of 

facilities which are predominantly for the benefit of the users of the associated development, it 
may be appropriate for the developer to make provision for subsequent maintenance (i.e. 
physical upkeep). Such provision may be required in perpetuity. However, if the facility is to be 
used by the wider public, at least some of the costs of maintenance and recurrent expenditure 
would be borne by the Council. Ongoing maintenance costs should only be for the time 
between completion and inclusion in the public sector funding streams, not for perpetuity. The 
Council will seek agreement on the type of payments to be made, for example a capitalised 
sum, with a clear audit trail. 

4.11 Matters in relation to the on-going management of a development, such as (but not limited to) 
Service Management, Waste Management, Facilities Management, Habitat Management and 
Travel Plans will normally be secured via Planning Condition. However, in some cases it may 
be considered more suitable to place such requirements as a Planning Obligation, for 
instance where the management issue covers an area wider than the application site or 
involves actions or restrictions on other parties. Where the management would place 
additional requirements on Council services (or in some cases a service operated by a 
relevant third-party) a fee may be requested to cover such costs  

 

 

Page 235



 

16 
 

 
4.12 Infrastructure works and highway improvements directly associated with the development are 

normally required to have been carried out prior to occupation. Unless phasing has been 
negotiated at an early stage, financial contributions for off-site works will be required to be 
received by the Council prior to commencement of the development. Contributions towards 
the management of a development will be requested prior to the relevant management 
actions coming into effect.  A section 106 agreement will be drafted to include clauses that will 
legally restrict certain operations until payment is made.  Developers / owners will also be 
required to notify the Council when certain stages of development have been reached.  The 
Council periodically monitor the progression of developments to determine whether the terms 
of the agreement have been adhered to – furthermore the agreement will be logged as a 
Local Land Charge and any non-compliance will be raised as part of a conveyancing search. 

 
4.13 The Council has an established process for recording and monitoring s106 agreements, 

including a database with the details of all agreements. The monitoring costs for this service 
are provided in Appendix 1 and are based on the extent of the obligations and the officer time 
involved in monitoring the agreements. In addition, to assist with accurate monitoring of s106 
agreements developers/applicants are asked to complete a ‘Notification Form’ (see Appendix 
2) and return this to the Council. 

 
4.14 Following either Development Control or Plans- Sub Committee’s decision, the drafting of the 

agreements is undertaken by the Council's Legal Services Division. A sample of a s106 
precedent is attached at Appendix 2. While this does not preclude other parties from using 
their own document when preparing their s106 agreement with the Council, using the 
precedent should provide greater clarity and enable an earlier acceptance by the Council.  
Developers will be required to pay the legal costs expended in the preparation of the 
agreements (see Appendix 1).  

 
4.15 If issues of viability of a scheme arise during negotiations and a developer provides robust 

information regarding the viability, the Council may review the range, nature and timing of 
obligations – this may include the deferral of an obligation to be payable contingent on a 
future viability review. For such requests the Council may seek independent third-party 
advice, the costs of which shall be met by the developer. 

 

 

Page 236



 

17 
 

5 Affordable Housing  

5.1 Policy 2 of the Bromley Local Plan seeks affordable housing on all residential developments 
capable of providing 11 residential units or more or where the residential floorspace is more 
than 1000sqm, irrespective of the number of dwellings. However, the London Plan (2021) 
introduced a lower threshold of all major development of 10 or more units (gross) triggering 
an affordable housing requirement. The London Plan threshold takes precedence. 

5.2 On sites at or above this threshold, the Council will seek a minimum 35% on-site affordable 
housing provision, based on the total of habitable rooms. The basis of 35% is also stipulated 
in Policy H5 of the London Plan - rising to 50% in the case of development on public 
sector land, Strategic Industrial Locations, Locally Significant Industrial Sites and Non-
Designated Industrial Sites appropriate for residential uses. 

5.3 Where an applicant proposes a level of affordable housing at these levels, the fast-track route 
set out in London Plan policy H5 will apply, provided that the tenure split is consistent with the 
Local Plan policy 2; other relevant policy requirements and obligations are met to the 
satisfaction of the borough; and potential for grant funding to deliver additional affordable 
housing has been investigated. Fast track schemes will be required to include an early-stage 
review mechanism.   

5.4 Where a level of affordable housing is proposed below these thresholds, or the other policy 
requirements and obligations are not met, an application must follow the viability tested route 
and provide the maximum level of affordable housing based on evidence within a financial 
Viability Appraisal that will be independently assessed (paid for by the applicant). 

5.5 Policy 2 of the Local Plan requires 60% social-rented/affordable rented housing and 40% 
intermediate provision, unless it can be demonstrated that a lower level should be sought or 
that the 60:40 split would not create mixed and balanced communities. The London Plan 
Policy H6 requires a minimum of 30% low-cost rented homes either London Affordable 
Rent or Social Rent) and a minimum of 30% intermediate products which meet the 
definition of genuinely affordable housing (including London Living Rent and London 
Shared ownership); the remaining 40% affordable provision to be determined by the borough. 
The Local Plan tenure split is consistent with the London Plan.  Paragraph 4.5.3 of the London 
Plan requires that affordable housing provision should be calculated on the basis of habitable 
rooms or habitable floorspace. 

5.6 The Council have local intermediate income thresholds which apply to intermediate housing in 
the Borough. These local thresholds help to ensure that the intermediate housing units can be 
accessed initially by people on lower incomes compared to applying the London-wide 
thresholds from the outset. The following household income thresholds (upper limit) apply to 
1, 2 and 3 bedroom units for intermediate ownership products10: 

 
10 The local income thresholds will be updated periodically through the Council’s Authorities Monitoring 
Report. 

Page 237



 

18 
 

 

• 1 bedroom units £55,000 

• 2-bedroom units £68,800 

• 4 bedroom units £73,400 
 

5.7 The GLA upper limit of £90,000 applies to 4 bedroom units (intermediate ownership). The 
GLA upper limit of £60,000 applies to intermediate rent products for all unit sizes as set out in 
the GLA’s London Plan Annual Monitoring Report 2018/19 (March 2021). 

5.8 Affordable Housing should be provided in line with Development Plan policy and the Council’s 
Affordable Housing SPD. The Local Plan sets out a clear preference that Affordable Housing 
provision should seek to create mixed and balanced Communities; with units transferred to a 
Registered Provider approved by the Council (or direct to the Council). Off-site Provision and 
Payments in-lieu will only be permissible in exceptional circumstances, set out in policy H4 of 
the London Plan and Policy 2 of the Local Plan.  

5.9 Where off-site provision or payments in lieu are deemed acceptable, early and late-stage 
review mechanisms will be required (see below for discussion of review mechanisms).  

5.10 Where an applicant wishes to follow the viability tested route set out in London Plan policy H5, 
a full Viability Appraisal (VA) will be required to support this position and determine the 
maximum level of affordable housing deliverable on a scheme. A VA should be treated 
transparently and undertaken in line with the Mayor’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG. 
Viability information should be available for public scrutiny and comment like all other 
elements of a planning application, as should any review or assessment of the appraisal 

5.11 Any VA will be independently assessed by a RICS accredited organisation, which will be 
appointed by the Council and paid for by the applicant. 

5.12 Where a VA supports that a development is unable to support the full Affordable Housing 
requirements, early and late stage review mechanisms11 will be imposed in line with London 
Plan policy H5, to determine whether there has been a sufficient uplift in valuation closer to 
the point site completion / site sales. This will require establishing the value of the deferred 
contribution (i.e. the financial value of meeting the policy requirement not supplied as on-site 
provision).  Where a variation is proposed to amend an existing Affordable Housing obligation, 
the VA requirements highlighted above will be reapplied (unless the resultant development 
continues to meet the relevant threshold and the criteria). 

5.13 Further details on VAs is set out in the Mayor of London’s Affordable Housing and Viability 
SPG.   

 
11 And mid-term reviews for larger phased schemes. 

Page 238



 

19 
 

5.14 Policy H5 of the London Plan stipulates that applications which do not meet the Affordable 
Housing requirements should be subject to a review mechanism.  This is required at the 
following stages: 

• an Early Stage Viability Review if an agreed level of progress on implementation is not 
made within two years of the permission being granted (or a period agreed by the 
borough)  

• a Late Stage Viability Review which is triggered when 75% of the units in a scheme are 
sold or let (or a period agreed by the borough)  
 

5.15 Mid Term Reviews may be required prior to implementation of phases for larger phased 
schemes. In general, the expectation will be that any uplift demonstrated at an early-stage 
review will result in an increase of the required Affordable Housing as on-site provision, with 
latter appraisals (due to the advanced stage of works) being permissible as a payment in lieu. 
The level of additional affordable housing that can be secured through review mechanisms 
will be capped at 50%, reflecting the strategic affordable housing target in the London Plan. 
The operation of review mechanisms in Bromley will follow the approach set out in the Mayor 
of London’s Affordable Housing and Viability SPG, particularly Annex A. 

5.16 Any appraisal submitted as part of a Viability Review must be produced in a manner which the 
Council agree is capable of allowing a direct comparison with the original Viability Appraisal. 

5.17 In exceptional circumstances where the Council considers that off-site affordable housing 
provision or payment in lieu will be acceptable, the level of provision should match what would 
be required on-site (and will be subject to early and late-stage review mechanisms). 

5.18 For off-site provision, this should be the equivalent of 35% of the total housing provision (by 
habitable rooms). Delivery of any off-site provision must be secured by planning obligation 
and should generally be delivered before occupation of any on-site market units. 

5.19 The value of any payments in lieu will be based on the current cost of delivering the same 
amount of Affordable Housing elsewhere in the Borough.  The costs to formulate the value of 
payments in lieu will be determined on case-by-case basis using the latest available costs at 
the time of assessment.  

5.20 Payments will be applied to support Affordable Housing delivery across a mixture of schemes 
developed by the Council or a Registered Provided. The Council will assess the best value 
scheme to deliver the homes needed in the borough, as such the legal agreement should not 
restrict the permissible expenditure of such contributions other than by way of being spent 
towards the delivery of Affordable Housing as defined under the NPPF. 

5.21 Further requirements are set out in the London Plan with regards to specific forms of 
residential development: 

• Build to Rent (Policy H11) 

• Supported and Specialist Accommodation (Policy H12) 

• Specialist Older Persons Housing (Policy H13)  

• Purpose Built Student Accommodation (Policy H15) 

Page 239



 

20 
 

• Purpose Built Rent (Policy H16) 
 

5.22 The above policies contain additional criteria that will be considered when determining the 
affordable housing provision to be applied to a development. 

 

Page 240



 

21 
 

6 On Site Amenity Space and Green 
Infrastructure 

6.1 New development should provide sufficient amenity space for occupants, including adequate 
greening, as part of the design of the site. Policy 4 of the Local Plan requires the provision of 
sufficient external, private amenity space that is accessible and practical, including the 
provision of appropriate play space. This requirement is further identified in the London Plan 
through Policy D6 (Housing quality and standard – private open space) and Policy S4 (Play 
and informal recreation). 

6.2 The Council requires new development to be designed to contribute to the natural 
environment of the borough, with urban greening and tree planning where possible. The 
London Plan includes a number of policies relating to green infrastructure, including the 
overarching policy G1 which requires development proposals should incorporate appropriate 
elements of green infrastructure that are integrated into London’s wider green infrastructure 
network. 

6.3 New residential development is required under London Plan policy D6 and S4 to provide: 

• a minimum 5 sqm. of private outdoor space for each 1-2 person dwelling and an extra 1 
sqm. for each additional occupant, with a minimum depth and width of 1.5m.   

• Play Space provision is to be provided on the basis of 10 sqm per child 
 

6.4 Private outside space should be practical in terms of its shape and utility, and care should be 
taken to ensure the space offers good amenity. Further details on calculating amenity space 
requirements can be found in the Mayor’s Play and Informal Recreation SPG, which includes 
a spreadsheet for calculating child yields. 

 
6.5 The Council expects all new residential development to deliver on-site amenity and play 

space. However, should circumstances be that the full extent of the above requirements 
cannot be provided on-site, the Council may accept a payment in lieu to be used to improve a 
local park or gardens in the vicinity of the site. 

6.6 Development should integrate elements of green infrastructure through high quality 
landscaping. Policy G5 of the London Plan in particular places emphasis on major 
development proposals incorporating measures such as high-quality landscaping (including 
trees, green roofs, green walls and nature-based sustainable drainage).  Policy 37 of the 
Local Plan expects the space around buildings to provide opportunities to create attractive 
settings with hard or soft landscaping (including enhancing biodiversity).  

 

Page 241



 

22 
 

6.7 Policy 69 of the Local Plan and Policy G6 of the London Plan concern Sites of Importance for 
Nature Conservation (SINCs). Where a development proposal results in harm to a SINC, 
suitable mitigation measures must be secured to minimise impacts; this could include, in 
some circumstances as agreed with the Council, off-site compensation of better biodiversity 
value. Such mitigation measures should be secured through planning obligation. 

6.8 Policy 77 of the Local Plan seeks the appropriate restoration and enhancement of the local 
landscape through the use of planning obligations and conditions. 

6.9 With respect to trees, the Council requires under Policy 73 that particular account should be 
taken of existing trees, to which the Council will seek to protect and retain.  If such trees 
cannot be retained, they will be required to be replaced with a tree of similar characteristics. 
Such replacement may need to be secured through planning obligation in some 
circumstances. 

6.10 Green Infrastructure should be provided as part of the scheme design.  However additional 
measures may be secured by condition or through planning obligation (as necessary). Such 
measures may include: 

• Contributions towards the network of green and blue spaces, including street trees, urban 
greening measures and other natural features. 

• Features to encourage walking and cycling, tackling climate change, carbon storage and 
the urban heating effect. 

• Contributions towards the conservation and restoration of biodiversity, securing 
biodiversity net gain and provision of new open spaces for these purposes and traditional 
recreational functions. 

• Contributions towards the future Local Nature Recovery Strategy and tree planting 
initiatives such as the Woodlands Establishment Project. 

 
6.11 Should suitable green infrastructure requirements not be able to be accommodated on the 

development site, the Council may require such provision on neighbouring land. In some 
circumstances, where it is not possible to provide on-site or on neighbouring land, the Council 
may accept a payment to provide such infrastructure in the near environment, for example in 
the form of additional street trees. 

 

Page 242



 

23 
 

7 Community, Health and 
Educational Facilities 

7.1 Policy 20 (Community Facilities) and Policy 22 (Social Infrastructure in New Developments) of 
the Local Plan support the provision of community and social facilities and resist development 
that would result in the loss of such facilities unless the loss is fully justified (which may 
include accessible reprovision). Support is also given under Policy 24 and Policy 25 to seek 
new development to assist with the on-going provision of allotments, leisure gardens and 
burial space. Policy 26 also advocates the uses of planning conditions and planning 
obligations to address any negative local impacts arising from extended or new health and 
education facilities. 

7.2 The London Plan (in objective GG1) also promotes access to good quality community spaces, 
services, amenities and infrastructure and resists the loss of such facilities (policy S1) with 
particular focus on health (policy S2) and education (policy S3). 

7.3 As the Council now charges a local CIL, it is anticipated that a planning obligation for 
community, health and education uses will only be sought where: 

• The development site is of such a scale, within an area of existing deficiency, that it 
requires the on-site provision of such space to specifically mitigate site-specific impacts; 

• Where the development results in a loss of an existing facility; 

• The development of a private facility to which the public do not have free access. 

• Contributions to specific services that are directly affected by the nature and impact of a 
specific development 

7.4 During the course of a planning application, it may be determined that on large strategic sites 
that there is a need for community, health and educational space.  For proposals involving the 
provision of such Social Infrastructure, the Council requires the submission of a Social 
Infrastructure Statement12 with the planning application. Developers will be required to engage 
with the relevant service within the Council (and the CCG with respect to health facilities) to 
determine the scope of such facilities.  The extent of such provision would be discussed at 
Pre-application stage.   

7.5 The provision of on-site space should be supplied with a fit out specified by the future occupier 
with an appropriate lease term.  Any rent or management fees should be at a rate comparable 
to similar facilities within the local area. 

 
12 See ‘our validation and local information requirements’ at 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/485/planning_applications/1203/planning_validation_requirements 

Page 243

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/485/planning_applications/1203/planning_validation_requirements


 

24 
 

7.6 Any development that would result in the loss of a community, health or educational facility will 
be required to re-provide a similar facility unless its use is proven to be surplus to 
requirements. In the first instance the developer should engage with the existing occupier to 
re-provide the facility on-site as part of the development; where it is not possible to 
accommodate the current occupier, developers should engage with other local organisations 
of a similar type. Should it not be possible to re-provide facilities on-site, developers should 
seek to secure a similar facility off-site. If no off-site facility is available, the Council may 
accept a payment in lieu – the amount to which will be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

7.7 In some circumstances a development may be required to contribute to the provision of an 
existing service to serve the specific uplift in demand created by the new development.  For 
example, local health services offer a specific service to care homes to provide General 
Practitioner visits and patient transport services to local hospitals. 

7.8 Where a development proposes a private social infrastructure facility not generally open to the 
public, the developer may be required to enter into an obligation to permit public access to the 
facility.  As an example, the development of a private school may be required to offer access 
to on-site facilities after school operating hours, or for a private health facility to offer access 
by local health services. 

7.9 There may be opportunities for other forms of local involvement, such as private schools 
offering bursaries to local students to attend the school, or for facilities to offer the provision of 
certain services to be operated by local community groups. The form of such public access 
will be discussed at pre-application stage. 

 

Page 244



 

25 
 

8 Control of Development and 
Management Plans 

8.1 Matters in relation to the on-going management of a development, such as (but not limited to) 
Service Management, Waste Management, Facilities Management, Habitat Management and 
Travel Plans will normally be secured via planning condition.  However, in some cases it may 
be considered more suitable to place such requirements as a planning obligation, for instance 
where the management issue covers an area wider than the application site or involves 
actions or restrictions on other parties. Where the management would place additional 
requirements on Council services (or in some cases a service operated by a relevant third-
party) a fee may be requested to cover such costs. 

8.2 The following section covers aspects of the control of development that may require a 
planning obligation to be secured via legal agreement. This may require the submission of a 
bespoke management strategy to be agreed with the Council (either prior to or after the award 
of planning permission), to secure the operation of certain details or the provision of certain 
site infrastructure. The scope of any requirements will be agreed at planning application stage 
and ideally should be discussed at pre-application stage. 

 

8.3 Policy 37 of the Local Plan requires that noise and disturbance arising from new development 
is mitigated and managed. Specific attention is drawn to the impacts of Hotels (Policy 88), 
Markets (Policy 100) and other commercial development (Policy 98).  

8.4 The London Plan policy D13 introduced the ‘Agent of Change Principle’, being that not only 
should a development be required to control matters of potential adverse impact resulting 
from the activities on site, but new development must also take action to mitigate the impact of 
existing noise that may affect those who occupy the new development. This is to ensure that 
established noise and other nuisance-generating uses remain viable and can continue or 
grow without unreasonable restrictions being placed on them as a result of new development. 

8.5 The London Plan (Policy HC6) also specifically highlights the need for such controls in respect 
matters that may arise as a result of development to support the night-time economy. 

8.6 The Council may require further details on matters of operation or measures to control the 
development in respect to noise (London Plan policy D14), fumes and smells from food and 
drink premises (Local Plan policy 121) and wider air quality (London Plan policy SI 1 – 
particular with respect to construction management). 

8.7 Furthermore, accessibility arrangements may also need to be considered, such as disabled 
access both within a building and the surrounding public realm (London Plan policies E7 to 
E10).  The London Plan (policy D7) requires that at least 10% of dwellings meet Building 
Regulation requirement M4(3) as ‘wheelchair user dwellings’. All other dwellings are required 

Page 245



 

26 
 

to meet Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’. Regard 
for accessibility provision must also be made for commercial development (London Plan 
policies E7 and E10). 

8.8 Developments may be required to enter a planning obligation, or be conditioned, relating to 
the following measures (where relevant): 

• Submit a plan or strategy for approval by the Council in relation to site amenity and local 
environmental factors. This may include the provision of certain localised measures, such 
as acoustic mitigation measures. 

• Restrict the operational hours of a commercial facility. 

• Provision of measures to improve crime and safety.   

• Secure accessible accommodation. 

• Provision of details on construction management, such as Non-Road Mobile Machinery 
(NRMM) standards, dust and noise mitigation. 

8.9 There may be circumstances where the Council require restrictions or controls on the future 
occupation and operation of new development. For example, Policy 64 of the Bromley Local 
Plan seeks to control the occupancy of residential development on existing agricultural 
holdings in rural parts of the borough to agricultural workers. Policy H15 of the London Plan 
requires that purpose-built student accommodation is managed and secured for occupation 
through a nomination agreement with one or more Higher Education Provider(s). Policy H16 
of the London Plan also seeks dedicated management procedures in respect of large-scale 
purpose-built shared living development, showing how the whole development will be 
managed and maintained to ensure the continued quality of the accommodation, communal 
facilities and services, and that it will positively integrate into the surrounding communities.  
Furthermore, the Council may also require specific control for new Houses of Multiple 
Occupation (Policy 4 and paragraph 2.1.55 of the Local Plan). 

8.10 Occupation restriction may also be required in respect of commercial development, The 
London Plan (Policy E2) seeks to support and protect micro, small and medium-sized 
enterprises, which may require restriction on occupancy or managed control. 

8.11 Development proposals may therefore be required to enter a planning obligation with respect 
to: 

• The restriction of future occupancy for a certain use, or for use by certain groups or 
businesses. 

• The submission of a residential management plan for approval by the Council setting out 
arrangements for the occupancy of large-scale shared accommodation, which may 
include matters in relation to facilities management and tenancy arrangements. 

• The submission of a commercial management plan for approval by the Council, in respect 
of occupancy of business units and affordable workspace – this is covered further in 
section 9 of this guidance. 

 

Page 246



 

27 
 

8.12 Policies 38 to 46 of the Local Plan set out the Council’s approach to conserving Heritage 
Assets.  

8.13 Policy 46 (Scheduled Monuments and Archaeology)13  requires assets to be retained and for 
sufficient management arrangements for any works to be agreed with the Council; these 
requirements are further supported by London Plan policy HC1. Where works that shall 
involve or effect potential archaeological works, development should seek to retain such 
assets in-situ as part of the development, and where not, to undertake appropriate level of 
investigation and recording by a recognised archaeological organisation before works 
commence. 

8.14 Policy 45 of the Local Plan specifically requires that development within or adjoining a 
Registered Historic Park or Garden will be expected to protect the special features, historic 
interest and setting of the park or garden.  Furthermore Policy 43 specifically requires that any 
loss of trees within a conservation area will be required to replace any lost trees. 

 

 
13 Further details on Archaeological Priority Areas (APAs), including details of Historic England’s 2020 review 
of APAs - https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200064/local_history_and_heritage/603/archaeology_in_bromley 

Page 247

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200064/local_history_and_heritage/603/archaeology_in_bromley


 

28 
 

9 Highways and Transport 

9.1 Policy T9 of the London Plan directs the use of Planning Obligations to secure improvements 
to the transport network, both to address single impacts of development and the cumulative 
impact of development on transport networks, with particular regard given to provision of new 
and improved public transport services & infrastructure, including the expansion of the 
London-wide cycle networks. Policy 33 of the Local Plan also stipulates that the Council will 
seek provision of, and contributions to, suitable infrastructure improvements and other 
facilities, including highway works, bus shelters and railway station improvements where such 
works are necessary and related in scale and kind to the proposed development. 

9.2 Objective GG2 and Policy T1 of the London Plan require the Council to plan for good local 
walking, cycling and public transport connections to support a strategic target of 80% of all 
journeys using sustainable travel, enabling car-free lifestyles that allow an efficient use of 
land, as well as using new and enhanced public transport links to unlock growth. Policy T2 
directs development proposals to follow the Transport for London (TfL) ‘Healthy Streets’ 
indicators, namely reducing the dominance of vehicles on the street and be permeable by foot 
and cycle; connecting to local walking and cycling networks as well as public transport. 

9.3 Policy 31 of the Local Plan and Policy T4 of the London Plan state that any new development 
likely to be a significant generator of travel will require the submission of a Transport 
Assessment, setting out the impacts of the development on the local transport network (and 
strategic road network where applicable) and the mitigation measures proposed to deal with 
any identified impacts.  A Transport Assessment may also highlight a requirement to submit 
(either via planning condition or planning obligation) a Travel Plan, Parking Design and 
Management Plan, Construction Logistics Plan or Delivery and Servicing Plan.  

9.4 A Transport Assessment should be submitted with the planning application, however for more 
complex cases generating significant transport impacts, or where the development is phased, 
the Council may require a planning obligation to submit revised transport assessments both 
during the course of development or after its completion. Further guidance on Transport 
Assessment can be found on Transport for London’s Website.14 

9.5 Policy 31 of the Local Plan requires, where necessary, the submission of a Travel Plan. Travel 
Plans should set objectives for reducing car usage, increased walking, cycling and public 
transport use, improvements in safety features, environmentally friendly freight movement and 

 
14 Transport for London: Transport Assessments https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-
construction/transport-assessment-guide/transport-assessments?intcmp=10094 

Page 248

https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/transport-assessment-guide/transport-assessments?intcmp=10094
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/transport-assessment-guide/transport-assessments?intcmp=10094


 

29 
 

delivery services. In most cases a Travel Plan will be required by planning condition, however 
in more complex cases this may be secured via planning obligation. It may also be necessary 
for the Council to secure a fee to cover its costs in monitoring the implementation of the Travel 
Plan. 

9.6 The Travel Plan may highlight certain measures to which the developer will undertake, such 
as facilitating a Car Club or Pre-paid Oyster cards. In some circumstances where the 
developer is unable to undertake such measures as part of the development, a payment in-
lieu may be agreed with the Council to provide similar measures in the vicinity of the site. 

9.7 Policy 31 of the Local Plan and policy T7 of the London Plan require certain developments to 
produce a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP), setting out matters in relation to deliveries to the 
site, including arrangements for the loading and unloading of materials at the site. The Council 
may also require the developer to ensure that appointed contractors are signed up to 
schemes such as CLOCS (Construction Logistics and Community Safety) and FORS (Fleet 
Operator Recognition Scheme). In complex cases, particularly large build sites where a 
contractor has not been appointed, the CLP requirement may be secured as a planning 
obligation and may be incorporated as a wider Construction Management Plan including 
details of on-site environmental mitigation (see section 7 guidance on ‘Operational 
Management - General Amenity and Local Environmental Factors’). 

9.8 Policy 31 of the Local Plan and Policy T7 of the London Plan seek to ensure ongoing 
arrangements are put in place to ensure efficient deliveries and servicing can be made to a 
site, minimising conflicts with the local highway and general amenity of surrounding 
properties. This will include measures to ensure off-street servicing, and, where necessary, 
the management arrangements for the use of on-street servicing bays. Measures may also 
include on-site concierge arrangements, consolidated arrangements with neighbouring 
properties and restrictions on delivery times. 

9.9 The Council will require developments to supply off-street parking in accordance with Local 
Plan Policy 30. This includes the potential provision for a Car Club, if above the minimum TfL 
threshold.  Policy T6 of the London Plan states that car-free development should be the 
starting point for all development proposals in places that are (or are planned to be) well-
connected by public transport, with developments elsewhere designed to provide the 
minimum necessary parking (‘car-lite’). Car-free development has no general parking but 
should still provide disabled persons parking in line with policy T6 Part E. 

9.10 Policy T6 states that where car parking is provided in new developments, provision should be 
made for infrastructure for electric or other Ultra-Low Emission vehicles in line with relevant 
standards for residential and non-residential uses set out in policies T6.1 to T6.4.  

 
15 https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/transport-assessment-guide/freight 
16 ibid 

Page 249

https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/urban-planning-and-construction/transport-assessment-guide/freight


 

30 
 

9.11 Policies T4 and T6 of the London Plan require the use of Parking Design and Management 
Plans, to outline the provision of parking spaces and how these spaces will be managed and 
enforced. In most cases this may be agreed as a planning condition, however, for more 
complex sites a planning obligation may be required, usually prior to occupation of the 
development. 

9.12 Development in areas with low amounts of available on-street parking may be required to 
restrict the availability of Residential Parking permits for new occupants; such restrictions are 
important tool in conjunction with the London Plan ‘car-free/’car-lite’ policy, to ensure that 
potential impacts on local roads are fully mitigated. In such cases a planning obligation will be 
entered into that requires the site owner to notify new occupants (whether as new owners, 
leaseholders or renters) that they will not be eligible for an on-street residential parking permit 
from the Council.  These obligations will be secured under Section 16 of the Greater London 
Council (General Powers) Act 1974. 

9.13 Policy 31 of the Local Plan encourages walking and cycling through the provision of suitable 
facilities. Policy T5 of the London Plan also seeks improved cycling infrastructure to support 
the delivery of a London-wide network of cycle routes. 

Cycle Parking 

9.14 Policy T5 of the London Plan seeks provision of appropriate levels of cycle parking which 
should be fit for purpose, secure and well-located. Policy T4 requires that, where it is not 
possible to provide suitable short-stay cycle parking off the public highway, an appropriate on-
street location for the required provision should be sought. This may mean the reallocation of 
space from other uses such as on-street car parking. Alternatively, in town centres, adding the 
required provision to general town centre cycle parking is also acceptable.  Where it is not 
possible to provide adequate cycle parking within developments, alternative solutions which 
meet the objectives of the standards will be considered. This may include options such as 
providing spaces in secure, conveniently located on-street parking facilities such as bicycle 
hangers. In such cases, a commuted sum should be paid to the Council to secure provision. 

Other Cycle Provision 

9.15 Developments should assist with facilitating safe and convenient direct cycle routes in line 
with the Mayor’s Cycling Vision for London. A planning obligation may be required to secure 
the provision of such routes on site, either by way of an undertaking for the developer to carry 
out the works, or for such works to completed by a contractor appointed by the Council. In the 
case of works carried out by the Council, a financial contribution will be sought to cover the 
costs of providing the works. 

9.16 In cases where such provision cannot be accommodated on-site, the Council may accept a 
payment towards improvements to the existing cycle network in the vicinity of the site. 

 

Page 250



 

31 
 

9.17 Policy T3 of the London Plan states that development proposals should support capacity, 
connectivity and other improvements to the bus network and ensure it can operate efficiently 
to, from and within developments.  Policy T4 states that, where appropriate, mitigation either 
through direct provision of public transport or through financial contributions, will be required 
to address adverse transport impacts that are identified. 

9.18 Policy 34 requires new development to provide new residential roads suitable for adoption to 
be constructed as per the guidelines set out in the Design Manual for Development (LBB).  
Where necessary, an obligation will be sought to improve the nearby road network to support 
a proposed development.  Policy 31 requires that such obligations incorporate or contribute to 
improvements to traffic management measures that limit the impacts of the development. 

9.19 Highway improvements will generally be secured via a s106 Planning Obligation, however in 
some cases such works will be secured under a separate ‘Section 278 agreement’ of the 
Highways Act, such as where the network is managed by TfL. 

9.20 Development proposals may therefore be required to enter a planning obligation with respect 
to: 

• The provision or improvement to highways accessing the site 

• Local Junction improvements outside of the development site that will be directly 
impacted by additional traffic flows. 

• The provision, or contribution towards, local traffic management measures,  

• The provision of, or improvements to, on-street parking bays  

• Where a Car Club is to be implemented, dedicated bays for the operation of the Car Club 
(within the site or on street)  

 

9.21 If such works are to be implemented as part of the development, the Council will require 
details of the proposed work and its on-going maintenance to be agreed with the Council. 
Where it is agreed that such works will be completed by a contractor appointed by the 
Council, a financial contribution will be sought to cover the costs of providing the works, a 
further contribution may be sought towards the on-going management of works. 

9.22 Policy 35 highlights that developments may be expected to contribute towards the cost of 
implementation of strategic transport schemes either through the Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) or S106 Agreements. 

9.23 The strategic transport improvements sought by the Council may change over time as 
proposals develop. Future Community Infrastructure Levy receipts will likely form the main 
basis of contributions to strategic transport priorities. The use of S106 agreements to secure 
contributions toward such priorities would only be considered where a component of such 
works are required to enable part of a development proposal to commence, and the Council 
has not already committed CIL funding towards the scheme or secured other funding sources. 
Such circumstances would be discussed prior to the approval of any development. 

Page 251



 

32 
 

 

Page 252



 

33 
 

10 Local Employment and Services 

10.1 The Bromley Local Plan sets out in Policies 81 to 86 the importance of improving and 
retaining employment floorspace in the borough. Policy 80 seeks to focus economic growth at 
three strategic priority areas - Bromley Town Centre, Cray Business Corridor, and Biggin Hill 
Strategic Outer London Development Centre (SOLDC). Policies 103 to 108 relate specifically 
to the Biggin Hill SOLDC. Policy 13 set outs priorities for designated Renewal Areas, which 
should also serve as areas of focus for local employment – these areas being: 

• Crystal Palace, Penge & Anerley 

• The Cray Valley 

• Orpington, Goddington and Knoll 

• Mottingham  

• Ravensbourne, Plaistow and Sundridge 

10.2 Policy E2 of the London Plan requires development proposals that involve the loss of existing 
employment space in areas where there is a shortage of lower-cost space (or workspace of 
particular types, uses or sizes), should ensure that an equivalent amount of employment  
space is re-provided in the proposal appropriate in terms of type, use and size.  This should 
incorporate the needs existing businesses that are to be displaced where possible. In 
addition, London Plan Policy E11 requires that development proposals should support 
employment and skills development.   

10.3 Policy E2 of the London Plan requires development proposals for new B Use Class business 
floorspace17 greater than 2,500 sqm. (gross external area) to consider the scope to provide a 
proportion of flexible workspace or smaller units suitable for micro, small and medium-sized 
enterprises. Development of B Use Class business uses18 should ensure that the space is fit 
for purpose having regard to the type and use of the space. 

10.4 Policy E3 defines affordable workspace as space let at rents maintained below the market 
rate for that space for a specific social, cultural or economic development purpose, including 
specific sectors that have social value such as charities, voluntary and community 
organisations, or social enterprises for specific sectors that have cultural value such as 
creative and artists’ workspace. Policy E3 states that consideration should be given to the 
need for affordable workspace (in the B Use Class19) to be provided as part of development 
proposals, where there is affordable workspace on-site currently, or has been at any time 
since 1 December 2017, except where it is demonstrated that the affordable workspace has 
been provided on a temporary basis pending redevelopment of the site. 

 
17 This would also encompass Use Class E(g) floorspace which formerly fell within the B1 Use Class. 
18 Ibid 
19 Ibid 

Page 253



 

34 
 

10.5 The provision of such flexible workspace, affordable workspace and/or small units for SMEs 
should be designed into the new development; a planning obligation may need to be secured 
to control the use of such floorspace, to: 

• Require the Council’s approval on the operation of the workspace, which may include 
approval of a designated workspace provider or specific occupant. 

• Restrict the occupancy of such units to identified sectors or size of businesses; and 

• Place controls on rent levels and service charges. 
 

10.6 In cases where the provision of floorspace as part of the development is not possible on-site, 
the developer must identify and secure alternative premises for any businesses displaced. 
Should neither be possible, the Council may accept a payment in lieu towards the provision of 
future workspace or local employment and skills.  

10.7 Policy E11 of the London Plan requires that development proposals should support 
employment and skills development, for example through the provision of apprenticeships, 
both during the construction of a development and within the end-use operation. A planning 
obligation may be required to secure a proportion of employment opportunities, offered in the 
first instance to residents in Bromley and young people currently in a Bromley secondary 
school. Furthermore the Council in particular seeks to give priority access for our Care 
Leavers and Children Looked After.  

10.8 Similarly, new commercial development may be required to identify measures taken to 
procure services from existing businesses in Bromley. New development will also be required 
to contribute to the training of local residents, either through training programmes offered by 
the developer / occupier or in collaboration with a local skills provider. Where such 
commitments cannot be met, the Council may accept a payment in lieu to go towards training 
initiatives supported by the Council. 

10.9 Development proposals may therefore be required to enter a planning obligation (with respect 
to both the construction phase and end-use operation of development) to submit a scheme for 
the Council’s approval detailing: 

• A process to offer employment opportunities to residents within the borough. 

• A process to procure local services based in Bromley. 

• Training and/or apprenticeship opportunities to be offered on-site - as well as other work-

related learning opportunities such as work experience, site visits, talks in schools and 

support at employability events for young people 

• External training arrangements with approved providers or financial contributions to 

towards the cost of employment and training initiatives. 

 

10.10 The Council will re-evaluate local employment and training needs in the borough periodically 
and will produce further guidance detailing its expectations with regards to the above. 

Page 254



 

35 
 

11 Open Spaces and Outdoor Sport 

11.1 The Bromley Local Plan places strong importance on preserving and enhancing the borough’s 
open spaces. Policy 59 establishes that where there are areas deficient in public open space 
the Council will seek to secure improvements in the amount and distribution of (and access to) 
open space – which is supported by Policy G4 of the London Plan. 

11.2 The Council will seek to ensure new development effecting existing Urban Open Space and 
Local Green Space (Policies 55 and 56) is managed in such a way to mitigate impacts on 
users. Additional policy is focused on managing impacts on Historic Parks and Gardens 
(Policy 45) the South East London Green Chain (Policy 54) , Public Rights of Way and Other 
Recreational Routes (Policy 60). Allotments and Leisure Gardens (Policy 24) should also be 
considered. The development of sites of Outdoor Recreation, Leisure, Sport and Play 
(Policies 57 and 58) should provide an opportunity to improve public access.  

11.3 Development should also seek to maintain and enhance Biodiversity and access to nature 
(London Plan Policy G6) and Geodiversity (G9). Particular attention is also afforded to Trees 
and Woodlands (G7) and Rivers and Waterways (Policy SI 17). 

11.4 The Bromley Biodiversity Action Plan (2021-2026) promotes coordinated action for 
biodiversity at the local level within the borough. It identifies a number of priority habitats and 
species with a set of realistic aims and objectives for what will need to be done to ensure 
these habitats and species are conserved and improved over the Bromley Biodiversity Plan’s 
lifetime. 

11.5 The Council intends to use the Community Infrastructure Levy for the provision of new and 
improved open space and outdoor sporting facilities; however, where an on-site open space 
requirement is triggered, this will need to be secured through a planning obligation.   

11.6 Development that involves land on an existing area of open space or outdoor sporting facility 
are required to ensure that is appropriately managed or maintained in a manner which reflects 
its status and designation. Where a development adjoins an existing area of open space or 
outdoor sporting facility it may also be required to undertake measures to protect and 
enhance the area such as screening and landscaping. 

11.7 Where a proposal will result in the loss or reduction of such land, the Council will require 
reprovision elsewhere in the Borough. Any loss from a proposed development should be re-
provided to an equivalent or higher standard in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location. Should the Council consider that the current use is surplus to current requirements, 
the development should still seek to supply other forms of open space and recreation; for 
example, where a proposal involves the loss of a surplus sports facility in an area of general 
open space deficiency, it should seek to provide recreational space in lieu of the removed 
sports facility. 

11.8 Improving public access to existing areas of open space also needs to be considered. For 
example, a site with an existing Public Right of Way should seek to retain the Right of Way (or 

Page 255



 

36 
 

agree diversion of the Right of Way such that it is no less attractive, safe or convenient for 
public use). Where appropriate, additional routes to create links to open spaces will be sought 
through the use of planning conditions or planning obligations.   

11.9 In addition to open space for the purpose of recreation, Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC) and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) should also be protected 
and enhanced. Development affecting such sites should include measures to protect the 
designated area, including the use of appropriate areas for planting native vegetation and 
enhancement of wildlife habitats. Such developments will be required to enter into a planning 
obligation to submit a plan of management measures that will be undertaken, including any 
arrangements for public access. A fee to cover on-going monitoring and maintenance costs 
may also be required. Where matters cannot be mitigated, off-site contributions towards 
biodiversity requirements elsewhere in the borough may be sought. Similarly, development 
which may affect Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGS) and Locally Important 
Geological Sites (LIGS) will be afforded the same provisions. 

11.10 Where a proposed development is to provide or improve an existing private open space / 
outdoor sport facility, the Council may seek a planning obligation to ensure an element of 
access is available to the general public. With areas of outdoor open space this may require 
part of the land to be open to the public for set times during the day, and may also include 
access to ancillary facilities, such as public toilets or cycle parking. Where there is a provision 
of a private outdoor sport facility, access by local residents will also be sought through a 
planning obligation, with particular emphasis on access by local schools.  Advice and 
standard templates for producing Community Use Agreements are produced by Sport 
England20  

 

 
20See ‘Community Use Agreements’ by Sport England -  https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-
help/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements 
 
 

Page 256

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements
https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/planning-for-sport/community-use-agreements


 

37 
 

12 Sustainable Development 

12.1 Policy 123 of the Local Plan states that all applications for development should demonstrate 
how the principles of sustainable design and construction have been taken into account 
alongside the principles set out in the general design policy (Policy 37). Objective GG6 of the 
London Plan sets out the Mayor’s intention to improve energy efficiency and support the move 
towards a low carbon circular economy, contributing towards London becoming a zero-carbon 
city by 2050. 

12.2 Policy 124 of the Local Plan requires that major developments should aim to reduce their 
carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the levels set out in the London Plan (Policy SI 
2). Planning applications for major development should include evidence of how the energy 
requirements and carbon dioxide emissions of proposed developments have been assessed 
and propose a clear reduction strategy. Submission of an energy strategy will be required for 
all major development proposals. 

12.3 Policy 115 and 116 seek to reduce flood risk and implement sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) across the borough and work towards effective management of surface water 
flooding. Policy 117 requires that, with respect to wastewater, planning permission will only be 
granted where the appropriate infrastructure improvements can be completed prior to 
occupation of the development. London Plan policy SI 5 also seeks to minimise the use of 
mains water in line with the ‘Optional Requirement’ of the Building Regulations. 

12.4 Policy 113 sets out the Council’s approach to waste management, with major development 
proposals required to implement Site Waste Management Plans to reduce waste on site and 
manage remaining waste sustainably. Policy 120 requires that developments which are likely 
to have an impact on air quality, or which are located in an area which will expose future 
occupiers to pollutant concentrations above air quality objective levels, will be required to 
submit an Air Quality Assessment. London Plan Policy SI 1 requires that development 
proposals should use design solutions to prevent or minimise increased exposure to existing 
air pollution and make provision to address local problems of air quality in preference to post-
design or retrofitted mitigation measures. Policy SI 1 also sets out specific requirements for 

submission of an air quality assessment.  

12.5 Local Plan Policy 124 and London Plan Policy SI 2 requires that major development should be 
net zero-carbon. This means reducing greenhouse gas emissions and minimising both annual 
and peak energy demand. This should be achieved through a mixture of energy reduction 
measures and use of sustainable energy sources. Major development proposals should 
include a detailed energy strategy to demonstrate how the zero-carbon target will be met. A 
minimum on-site reduction of at least 35% beyond Building Regulations is required for major  
development, of which, residential development should achieve 10%, and non-residential 
development should achieve 15%, through energy efficiency measures21. 

 

 
21 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_energy_assessment_guidance_april_2020.pdf 

Page 257

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_energy_assessment_guidance_april_2020.pdf


 

38 
 

12.6 London Plan Policy SI 2 sets out a requirement for developments to calculate and reduce 
Whole Life-Cycle Carbon (WLC) emissions. This requirement applies to planning applications 
which are referred to the Mayor, but WLC assessments are encouraged for all major 
applications. Guidance22 and an assessment template have been published to explain how 

the assessment of these carbon emissions should be approached and presented.  

12.7 In line with the London Plan, major developments are expected to be net zero carbon by 
incorporating a series of measures outlined and assessed as part of the design of the 
development in the energy hierarchy below. All measures should be detailed in the energy 
strategy and secured by condition or through planning obligation (as necessary). 

i) Be Lean: Energy Reduction 

12.8 Use less energy and manage demand during operation through fabric and servicing 
improvements and the incorporation of flexibility measures. 

ii) Be Clean:  Decentralised energy 

12.9 Exploit local energy resources (such as secondary heat) and supply energy efficiently and 
cleanly by connecting to district heating networks. Developments should identify the potential 
for connecting to an existing decentralised heat or energy network or developing a new site-
wide network. Major development proposals within Heat Network Priority Areas should have a 
communal low-temperature heating system.   

12.10 The heat source for the communal heating system should be selected in accordance with the 
heating hierarchy set out in London Plan Policy SI 3. Where a heat network is planned but not 
yet in existence the development should be designed to allow for the cost-effective connection 
at a later date. 

iii) Be Green: Renewable Energy 

12.11 Maximise opportunities for renewable energy by producing, storing and using renewable 
energy on-site. Potential for energy reduction and renewable energy supply should be 
assessed as part of the design of the development to ensure successful integration.  

 
iv) Be Seen: Monitoring 

12.12 All major developments are required to monitor, verify, and report on energy performance 
through the Mayor’s post construction monitoring platform. This ensures the actual carbon 
performance of the development is aligned with the Mayor’s net zero carbon target. 

12.13 To be clear, the Council’s Carbon Offset Funds are accrued through developer contributions 
via Section 106 (s106) payments not CIL payments.  

12.14 The carbon dioxide reduction target should be met on site unless it can be demonstrated that 
it is not feasible. Any shortfall may be met through an identified project off-site or through a 

 
22 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance-and-
spgs/whole-life-cycle-carbon-assessments-guidance-consultation-draft 

 

Page 258

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance-and-spgs/whole-life-cycle-carbon-assessments-guidance-consultation-draft
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/london-plan-guidance-and-spgs/whole-life-cycle-carbon-assessments-guidance-consultation-draft


 

39 
 

payment in lieu to a local carbon off-setting scheme. The calculation of an offset payment 
should be calculated based on the price per tonne of £95, as set out in London Plan policy SI 
2. The £95 carbon price is subject to change as per recommendations outlined in any future 
updates to the London Plan.23 

12.15 Policy 115 and 116 of the Local Plan require that all development proposals should reduce 
surface water run-off entering the sewerage network and reduce rainwater run-off through the 
use of suitable Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) or demonstrate alternative sustainable 
approaches to the management of surface water as far as possible. Applications for 
developments located within Flood Zones 2, 3a and 3b and in Flood Zone 1 for areas 
identified as hot spots in Bromley’s Surface Water Management Plan (SWAMP)24, Preliminary 
Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) and in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment must be 
accompanied by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment. 

12.16 Details of drainage proposals will usually be secured via planning condition, however in more 
complex cases this may be secured by a planning obligation with details of on-going 
maintenance that may be required.  

12.17 Policy SI 5 of the London Plan requires minimisation of the use of mains water in line with the 
Optional Requirement of the Building Regulations (residential development), achieving mains 
water consumption of 105 litres or less per head per day (excluding allowance of up to five 
litres for external water consumption). They should also achieve at least the BREEAM 
excellent standard for the ‘Wat 01’ water category or equivalent. Development should also 
incorporate measures such as smart metering, water saving and recycling measures, 
including retrofitting, to help to achieve lower water consumption rates and to maximise 
futureproofing. 

12.18 Policy 113 of the Local Plan requires major development proposals to implement Site Waste 
Management Plans to reduce waste on site and manage remaining waste sustainably. New 
development will be required to include adequate space to support recycling and efficient 
waste collection. Waste management requirements will normally be determined as part of the 
planning application, with some aspects conditioned, however for more complex sites a 
planning obligation may be required to ensure longer term management.  

 
23 https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-
application-meeting-service-0 
24 https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200039/emergencies/1096/flood_risk_management 

 

Page 259

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service-0
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/planning-applications-and-decisions/pre-planning-application-meeting-service-0
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200039/emergencies/1096/flood_risk_management


 

40 
 

12.19 Policy 120 of the Local Plan requires that developments which are likely to have an impact on 
air quality or which are located in an area which will expose future occupiers to pollutant 
concentrations above air quality objective levels, will be required to submit an Air Quality 
Assessment. Developments should aim to meet “air quality neutral” benchmarks in the GLA’s 
Air Quality Neutral report. Policy SI 1 of the London Plan also now requires large scale 
developments to follow an ‘Air Quality Positive’ approach to ensure that new developments 
are designed and built, as far as is possible, to improve local air quality and reduce the extent 
to which the public are exposed to poor air quality. Developments may be required to submit 
an Air Quality Positive Statement. 

12.20 In meeting the Air Quality Neutral and Air Quality Positive Objectives, developments may be 
required to supply certain measures, which should be detailed within the proposal, and may 
be secured by condition or through planning obligation (as necessary).  

12.21 Where it can be demonstrated that emissions cannot be further reduced by on-site measures, 
off-site measures to improve local air quality may be acceptable, provided that equivalent air 
quality benefits can be demonstrated within the area affected by the development. 

Page 260



 

41 
 

13 Urban Centres and Public 
Realm 

13.1 The Local Plan sets out the main urban areas of the borough through a hierarchy of policy 
designations. Bromley Town Centre is identified as an Opportunity Area (Policy 90) and is 
a Metropolitan Centre in the London Plan (Policy SD8 and Annex 1). Policy SD1 of the 
London Plan requires that a range of investments and interventions will be needed to 
deliver the vision and ambition for the area contributing to regeneration.  

13.2 Orpington is defined as a Major Town Centre (Local Plan Policy 92; and London Plan SD8 
and Annex 1) providing a range of uses, such as retail and employment. Smaller District 
Centres in the borough - Beckenham, Crystal Palace, Penge, Petts Wood and West 
Wickham - are set out in policy 94 of the Local Plan. The Local Plan also sets out a 
number of local centres, neighbourhood centres and parades. 

13.3 Policy SD6 of the London Plan requires that such areas should deliver sustainable access 
to a competitive range of services and activities by walking, cycling and public transport, 
incorporating the ‘Healthy Streets’ principles (Policy T2), and the provision of social 
infrastructure where need is identified by local residents. Policy SD9 stresses the 
importance of local partnerships in the development of these areas, such as through town 
centre management forums, business associations, Neighbourhood Forums, trader 
associations and Business Improvement Districts.  

13.4 The Council has defined five ‘Renewal Areas’, and under policy 13, seeks to maximise 
opportunities for their enhancement – with delivery of high-quality environments which 
complement and enhance existing development and assets (including built heritage and 
other environmental assets).  Each Renewal Area has a specific set of priorities, set out in 
Policies 15 to 19. 

13.5 Objective GG1 of the London Plan, and Policy 33 of the Local Plan, seek to develop a 
public realm that is accessible to all and foster a sense of belonging that encourages 
community buy-in. Policy D8 of the London Plan further requires public realm that is well-
designed, safe, accessible, inclusive, attractive, well-connected, related to the local and 
historic context, and easy to understand.   

13.6 The Council will require developments to integrate with any established public realm plans 
and strategies that express these matters into a more local context. 

13.7 The provision of strategic public realm improvements to significant areas of public space 
will be provided through identified schemes funded via the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
However, developments may have to directly contribute such infrastructure through 
separate planning obligations for matters directly relating to the development site and its 
integration with the existing public realm; for example, larger sites may need to fund public 
realm interventions such as: 

 

Page 261



 

42 
 

• Bus shelters; 

• Cycle parking and cycling infrastructure; 

• Planting and street furniture; 

• Lighting; and/or 

• Provision amendment and removal of parking bays. 
 

13.8 This may also include arrangements for the ongoing management of such infrastructure. 
In cases where a development site is not able to incorporate such measures directly on-
site, a payment in lieu may be acceptable to provide on adjoining public land. 

13.9 The Council provide services in addition to infrastructure that maintains the sense of 
space, such as street cleaning, street markets and community wardens.  Development 
proposals that place significant additional public footfall, including impacts relating to the 
evening and night-time economy, may be required to put in place measures to mitigate 
impacts on the wider public realm. 

13.10 Where it is not feasible to accommodate such measures or management arrangements as 
part of the development, the Council may accept a payment in lieu, to be used to fund 
expanded Council-run services or those run by local organisations. 

13.11 Local Plan Policy 37 requires that security and crime prevention measures should be 
included in the design and layout of buildings and public areas. This is further stressed in 
Policy 92 and 94, which requires development to mitigate against adverse effects caused 
by crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour, and have no adverse impact on residential 
amenity. London Plan Policy D11 requires the Council to work with their local Metropolitan 
Police Service ‘Designing Out Crime’ officers and planning teams, whilst also working with 
other agencies such as the London Fire Service and Ambulance Service, to identify their 
community safety needs. 

13.12 During the determination of a planning application, the Council will consult the above 
agencies who may require a development to provide certain measures (or contributions 
towards initiatives) by way of a planning obligation, which may include: 

• CCTV camera installation   

• Security prevention measures (e.g. lighting, shuttering) 

• Emergency Service Operational infrastructure (e.g. fire hydrants, communications 

infrastructure)  

• Integration of local crime and counter terrorism initiatives (e.g.  safer neighbourhoods, 

public space protection orders) 

 

13.13 For larger strategic sites the relevant emergency services may also request that provision 
of space be included in new development to facilitate emergency service provision  - such 
as Neighbourhood Police facilities or emergency service bays for ambulance waiting 
points.  These matters would be raised at pre-application stage. 

  

Page 262



 

43 
 

Appendices 

 

Monitoring Charges 

The Council charges £500 per Head of Term in each Section 106 agreement to cover the cost 
of officer time to process and approve matters related to the approval of any submission and 
on-going matters of compliance. 

A separate charge may be required for bespoke management and monitoring arrangements in 
relation to specific submissions, such as management plans, where a council service is 
required to undertake a distinctive set of actions outside of general administration.  Such fees 
will be agreed at the point of determining the planning application. 

 

Legal Fees 

T.B.C 

The Council may review legal and monitoring fees periodically, which will be produced as an 
appendix to this SPD 

Page 263



 

44 
 

 

AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 106 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING 
ACT 1990 AND OTHER POWERS IN RELATION TO: 

 
[Insert site address] 

 
 
 

Dated:                 202… 
 
 

 
 

 

THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF 

THE LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY (1) 

 
 

and- 
 

 
[Owner ]                                       (2) 

 
 

-and- 
 

 [ List any other interested persons]                     (3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ref: [Insert file reference no.] 

Page 264



 

45 
 

  

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 

Clause: 

1. INTERPRETATION 

2. LEGAL EFFECT OF AGREEMENT 

3. COMMENCEMENT 

4. OWNER’S COVENANTS 

5. COUNCIL’S COVENANTS 

6 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

[ ] [MORTGAGEE’S CONSENT] 

7. WAIVER 

8. INTEREST 

9. SEVERABILITY 

10 VERIFICATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

11. MODIFICATIONS TO AGREEMENT 

12. RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

13. NOTICES 

14. REVOCATION 

15 THIRD PARTIES 

16. JURISDICTION 

17. DELIVERY 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 

Schedule 1: Draft Planning Permission 

Schedule 2: Planning Obligation(s) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 265



 

46 
 

 

Page 266



 

47 
 

 

 
 
 
T H I S AGREEMENT is made the day of 202… 

B E T W E E N:- 
 

 

(1) THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF BROMLEY of 

Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH (“the Council”); 

 

(2) [INSERT NAME OF FREEHOLDER] of [INSERT FULL ADDRESS] (“Owner”) [IF 

MORE THAN ONE OWNER LIST NAMES AND ADDRESSES AND REFER TO AS 

(“First Owner”) (“Second Owner” etc. ] 

 

(3) [OTHER INTERESTED PERSON E.G. DEVELOPER] of [INSERT FULL ADDRESS] 

(“Developer”) 

 

(4) [OTHER INTERESTED PERSON E.G. MORTGAGEE] of [INSERT FULL ADDRESS] 

(“Mortgagee”) 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 

 

1 The Council is the local planning authority for the purposes of the 1990 Act for the area 

in which the Site is situated and is entitled to enforce the obligations in this Agreement. 

2 The Owner is the freehold owner of the Site registered under title no: 

[ ] which is [subject to a -(Insert name of bank) mortgage] but 

otherwise free from encumbrances that would prevent the Owner from entering into 

this Agreement. 

3 [The Developer is …]. 

4 Insofar as any of the covenants in this Agreement are not planning obligations within 

the meaning of section 106 of the Act, they are entered into in pursuance  

 

 

 

5 Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 and any other enabling provisions in 

connection with the performance of the Council’s functions. 

 

Page 267



 

48 
 

6 The Parties are satisfied that: 

(a) the restrictions and provisions in this Agreement are relevant to planning 

considerations concerning the Site; 

(b) fairly and reasonably relate to the Development; 

(c) fairly and reasonably relate in scale and kind to the Development; and 

(d) are reasonable in all respects. 

7 Having regard to the unitary development plan and the planning considerations 

affecting the Site, the Council considers that the Development ought only to be 

permitted subject to the terms of this Agreement and resolved to grant the Permission 

subject to those terms at its Planning Applications Sub-Committee held on [insert 

date]. 

MATTERS AGREED: 
 
 

1 INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement the following expressions must have the meanings set out 

below: 

 
“Act” the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

 

“Agreement” the Planning Obligations made pursuant to 

Section 106 of the Act 

 

 

“Application” the application for planning permission dated [ ] submitted to 

the Council for the Development and allocated under 

reference number     [ ] 

 

 

“Chief Planner” the Council’s Chief Planner or any other officer or 

person properly exercising the authority of the Chief 

Planner for the time being. 

 

“Commencement Date” means the date on which the Development 

commences by the carrying out on the Site pursuant to 

the Planning Permission of a material operation as 

specified in Section 56(2) and (4) (a) to (d) of the Act 

Page 268



 

49 
 

and “Commence” and “Commenced” and cognate 

expressions will be interpreted in accordance with this 

definition but material operation for these purposes shall 

exclude operations consisting of site clearance, 

demolition work, archaeological investigations, ground 

investigations, diversion of services, erection of any 

temporary means of enclosure for the purposes of 

Development Site security and or the temporary display 

of site notices or advertisements. 

 

“Council” the party of the first part hereto which shall include its 

successors and assigns from time to time. 

 

“Development” [insert description of the development as set out in the 

in the Application] 

 

 

“Interest” interest at 4 per cent above the base lending rate of 

Barclays Bank plc from time to time. 

 
“Notification Form”  the form attached to this Agreement notifying the 

Council of implementation and completion of 
obligations. 

Page 269



 

50 
 

 

 
“Parties” means the Mayor and Burgesses of the London Borough of 

Bromley (“the Council”) [ insert name of the Owner (“the 

Owner”) and/ or the Developer (“the Developer”) insert name 

of the  Mortgagee (“the Mortgagee”)]]  which shall include its 

successors and assigns from time to time 

 
“Permission” planning permission in the form of the draft 

attached to this Agreement 
 
 

“Plan” the plan attached to this Agreement 
 
 
“Site” [insert site address] as shown edged red on the plan attached 

to this Agreement 

 

1.2 Any covenant by the Owner or the Council not to do any act or thing shall be deemed to include 

an obligation not to permit or suffer such act or thing to be done by another person where 

knowledge of the actions of the other person is reasonably to be inferred. 

1.3 Any references to any particular statute include any statutory extension, modification, 

amendment or re-enactment of such statute and also include any subordinate instruments, 

regulations or orders made in pursuance of it. 

1.4 Words importing the singular meaning where the context so admits include the plural meaning 

and vice versa. 

1.5 Words of the masculine gender include the feminine and neuter genders and words denoting 

actual persons include companies, corporations and firms and all such words shall be 

construed interchangeable in that manner. 

1.6 Wherever there is more than one person named as a party and where more than one party 

undertakes an obligation all their obligations can 

 

 
be enforced against all of them jointly and against each individually, unless there is an express 

provision otherwise. 

 

1.7 Where under this Agreement any notice, approval, consent, certificate, direction, authority, 

agreement, action, expression of satisfaction is required to be given or reached or taken by any 

party or any response is requested any such notice, approval, consent, certificate, direction, 

authority, agreement action, expression of satisfaction or  response shall not be unreasonable 

Page 270



 

51 
 

or unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

1.8 The headings appearing in this Agreement are for ease of reference only and shall not affect 

the construction of this Agreement. 

1.9 Where reference is made to a Clause, Part, Plan, Paragraph, Recital or Schedule such reference 

(unless the context requires otherwise) is a reference to a clause, part, plan, paragraph, recital 

or schedule of or to (or in the case of Plan attached to) this Agreement. 

1.10 References to any Party to this Agreement must include: 

(a) the Party’s successors in title and to any deriving title through or under that party; and 

(b) in the case of the Council, the successors to their respective statutory functions. 

  

Page 271



 

52 
 

2 LEGAL EFFECT OF AGREEMENT 

2.1 This Agreement is made under the Act and the obligations and are: 

(a) covenants to which the relevant statutory provisions apply; and 
 

(b) relate to the Site; and 
 

(c) are enforceable by the Council as the local planning authority. 
 
 

2.2 The obligations shall be enforceable without limit of time not only against the Owner but also 

against its agents servants successors in title and assigns and those deriving title under it, 

Provided That neither the Owner nor its agents servants successor in title and assigns shall be 

liable for any breach of any covenant contained in this Agreement after it has parted with all its 

interest in the Site except in relation to any antecedent breach prior to parting with such interest. 

 

3 COMMENCEMENT 

3.1 This Agreement is conditional upon: 
 

 

(a) the grant of the Planning Permission; and 

(b) the Commencement of Development, 
 
 

except for the provisions of [ clauses 4(c); 16 and 17 ] which shall come into effect immediately 

upon completion of this Agreement 

 

4 OWNER’S COVENANTS 

The Owner hereby covenants with the Council: 

(a) To observe and perform and cause to be observed and performed the covenants contained 

in [Schedule 2] of this Agreement; and 

(b) at its own cost to do all things necessary: 

(i) to enable an entry relating to this Agreement to be made in the Charges Register of the 

Title Number of the Property, or if the Title is not registered in the Land Charges Register 

and immediately after execution of this Agreement, to apply to the Chief Land Registrar to 

make such entry; and 

(ii) following the making of such an entry to furnish the Council’s Solicitor with an official copy 

of the register entries relating to the Title 

(c) to pay, on completion of the Agreement, the Council’s reasonable legal costs and 

disbursements in connection with the preparation of this Agreement 

(d) to pay any legal and other professional costs incurred by the Council in monitoring or 

Page 272



 

53 
 

enforcing the performance of the Owner’s obligations under this agreement 

(e) to give the Council immediate written notice of any change in ownership of any of its interests 

in the Site occurring before all the obligations under this Agreement have been discharged 

such notice to give details of the transferee’s full name and registered office (if a company 

or  usual address if not) together with a plan showing the area of the Site purchased 

(f) to complete and submit a copy of the Notification Form attached to this Agreement to the 

Chief Planner C/o Central Income Section, London Borough of Bromley, BR1 3UH on 

implementation and completion of each obligation 

 

5. COUNCIL’S COVENANTS 
 

 

5.1 The Council hereby covenants with the Owner to observe and perform the relevant covenants 

contained in this Agreement. 

 

6. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

IT IS HEREBY AGREED AND DECLARED that: 

6.1 The covenants on behalf of the parties to be observed and performed under this Agreement 

shall be treated as Local Land Charges and registered at the Local Land Charges Registry 

for the purposes of the Local Land Charges Act 1975; and 

 

6.2 Nothing in this Agreement shall prejudice or affect the rights powers duties and obligations 

of the Council in the exercise by it of its statutory functions and the rights powers duties and 

obligations of the Council under private or public statutes bye-laws orders and regulations 

may be as fully and effectively exercised as if it were not a party to this Agreement. 

 

6.3 The Council will on written request from the Owner and on payment of its reasonable costs 

and expenses certify whether or not an obligation under this Agreement has been satisfied 

Following the performance and satisfaction of all the obligations contained in this 

Agreement the Council shall cancel all entries made in the Register of Local Land Charges 

in respect of this Agreement. 

 

 
[INSERT ADDITIONAL CLAUSE IF NECESSARY]  

[MORTGAGEE’S CONSENT] 

[The Mortgagee acknowledges and declares that this Agreement has been entered into by 

the Owner with its consent and that the Site shall be bound by the obligations contained in 

this Agreement and that the security of the mortgage over the Site shall take effect subject 

to this Agreement PROVIDED THAT the Mortgagee shall otherwise have no liability under 

Page 273



 

54 
 

this Agreement unless it takes possession of the Site (or part thereof) in which case it too 

will be bound by the obligations as if it were a person deriving title from the Owner] 

 

7 WAIVER 

No waiver (whether express or implied) by the Council of any breach or default by the Owner in 

performing or observing any of the covenants undertakings obligations or restrictions contained 

in this Agreement shall constitute a continuing waiver and no such waiver shall prevent the 

Council from enforcing any of the said covenants undertakings obligations or restrictions or from 

acting upon any subsequent breach or default by the Owner. 

 

8 INTEREST 

Without prejudice to any right remedy or power available to the Council, if any payment of any 

sum referred to shall have become due but shall remain unpaid for a period exceeding twenty 

one days, the Owner shall pay on demand to the Council interest thereon at the interest rate of 

four per centum per annum above the base lending rate of Barclays Bank plc, from the date when 

it becomes due until payment. 

 

9 SEVERABILITY 

Each Clause Sub-clause Schedule or paragraph shall be separate distinct and severable from 

each other, to the extent only that if any of these becomes or is invalid or shall be held by the 

Courts to be void but would be valid if severed  or any wording was deleted or any time period 

reduced or scope of activities or area covered diminished, then any modifications necessary to 

ensure such Clause Sub-clause Schedule or paragraph be valid shall apply without prejudice to 

any other Clause  Sub-clause  Schedule or paragraph contained in this Agreement. 

 

10 VERIFICATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

10.1 The Owner shall permit the Council and its authorised employees and agents upon reasonable 

notice to enter the Site at all reasonable times after receipt of a request in writing for the purpose 

of verifying whether any obligation arising under this Agreement has been performed or observed. 

 

10.2 Without prejudice to the terms of any other provision in this Agreement the Owner shall pay the 

reasonable legal charges and expenses (including without prejudice to the reasonable legal costs 

and reasonable Surveyor’s fees) incurred by the Council for the purpose of or incidental to the 

enforcement of any right or power of the Council or of any obligation of the Owner arising under 

this Agreement. 

 

10.3 Without prejudice to any other right remedy or power contained in this Agreement or otherwise 

Page 274



 

55 
 

available to the Council, if there is a breach of a requirement in a planning obligation herein to 

carry out any operations in on under or over the Site the Council may:- 

(a) Enter the Site and carry out the operations; and 

(b) Recover from the Owner any expenses reasonably incurred by the Council in 

doing so as a debt due and owing 

10.4 Before the Council exercises its power under clause 10.3 above it shall give not less than 21 

days notice of its intention to do so to the Owner. 

 

11 MODIFICATIONS TO AGREEMENT 

In the event of the planning obligations contained in this Agreement being modified, a note or 
memorandum shall be endorsed on this Agreement. 

 
 

12 RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES 

12.1 Wherever in this Agreement the consent agreement or approval of any Party is required, it shall 

not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

 

 

12.2 In the event of any dispute between the Parties including any dispute as to reasonableness, any 

Party may invite any other Party to resolve the dispute by mediation in such manner as the 

Parties may agree. 

 

12.3 In the event of a dispute between the Parties (other than a dispute relating to a matter of law or 

in relation to the construction or interpretation of this Agreement which will be subject to the 

jurisdiction of the courts) the Parties agree that the matter in dispute will on the  application of 

either of them be referred to a Surveyor acting as an expert (hereinafter referred to as the 

“Expert”) (being a member of the Planning Division of the RICS with not less than ten years 

recent experience in the field of town and country planning and development) whose identity will 

be agreed between the Parties or in default of agreement appointed by or on behalf of the 

President for the time being of the RICS on the application of any Party and it is further agreed 

that:- 

 

12.3.1 the determination of the Expert will be final and binding on the Parties 

save in the case of manifest error; and 

12.3.2 the Parties will be entitled to make representations and counter- 

representations in accordance with such timetable as the Expert shall 

direct; and 

12.3.3 the Expert’s costs will be borne in such proportions as he may direct 

failing which each Party will bear its own costs of the reference and 

Page 275



 

56 
 

determination and one-half each of the Expert’s costs. 

 

13 NOTICES 

 

13.1 The Owner shall give written notice to the Council at least 14 days prior to the Commencement of 

the Development. 

13.2 The provisions of Section 196 of the Law of Property Act 1925 (as amended) shall apply to any 

notice or approval to be served under or in connection with this Agreement and any such notice to 

the: 

 

(a) Council shall be in writing and addressed to the Chief Planner at Civic Centre, Stockwell 

Close, Bromley BR1 3UH and shall quote the reference number referred to in the definition 

of “Application” in clause 1.1 of this Agreement and shall state that the notice is served 

pursuant to this Agreement. 

(b) Owner  shall  be  in  writing  and  addressed  to  [Insert name] at [Insert address]. 

(c) [Include other names and addresses if necessary] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

13.3 For avoidance of doubt, where proceedings have been issued in the Courts of England and 

Wales, the provisions of the Civil Procedure Rules must be complied with in respect of the 

service of documents in connection with such proceedings. 

 

14 REVOCATION 

In the event that the Planning Permission is quashed lapses or is revoked or otherwise 

withdrawn this deed will cease to have any further force or effect unless otherwise agreed in 

writing with the Council 

 

15 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES ACT) 1999 

It is hereby agreed between the Parties that the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 

shall not apply to this Agreement and no one other than the Parties to this Agreement (and 

any of its servants successors in title assigns or successor bodies) shall have any rights 

under or be able to enforce the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

16 JURISDICTION 

This Agreement is governed by and interpreted in accordance with the law of England and 

Wales. 

Page 276



 

57 
 

 

17 DELIVERY 

The provisions of this Agreement (other than this clause which shall be of immediate effect) 

shall be of no effect until this Agreement has been dated. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a deed on 

the day and year first before written. 

 
 

EXECUTED AS A DEED when the common seal of ) 

THE COUNCIL was affixed in ) 

The presence of: ) 
 

 
……………………………… 

SIGNED AS A DEED by ) 

[INSERT NAME] ) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



 

58 
 

 

NOTIFICATION FORM 

 

Section 106 Obligation 
Documentation submitted to the Council with this form: 

 

 

 

NB: please continue on separate sheet(s) if necessary. 

Note: This form is of a summary nature only and is not intended to be a binding legal document. The London Borough of 
Bromley uses this form to assist in the monitoring and implementation of the covenants and obligations in the s106 
Agreement. No statement or declaration in this form shall override, vary, or modify the wording of the s106 Agreement. If a 
contradiction does exist between the Form and the s106 Agreement, then the s106 Agreement is to take precedence. 
All cheques should be made payable to “London Borough of Bromley” 

 
 

 

Section 106 Legal Agreement 

Site address: 

 

Date of Legal Agreement: 

Planning Reference: 

 

 

 

 

Date of implementation of development and or Date of relevant trigger (s): 

Obligation(s) quote Schedule(s) and Clause No(s) 
 

 

 

Please continue on separate sheet if necessary 

CONTACT DETAILS 

YOUR REFERENCE: 

DATE SUBMITTED: 

SUBMITTED BY: 

ADDRESS: 

 
 
 

PHONE/FAX NUMBER: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FOR COUNCIL USE 

COST CODES:  

 

 

 

Page 278



 

59 
 

Green Matters generally likely to require a specific clause in a 
S106 agreement 

 Yellow Matters not normally requiring a S106 agreement (e.g. handled 
via Planning Condition) 

 

Part Theme Area Developments that may require attention When a Planning Obligation may be 
required 

5 
Affordable 
Housing  

Affordable Housing 
Provision 

Development of 10 residential units or more / 0.5 hectares or 
more site area 

In all cases requiring the provision of 
affordable housing 

Viability Appraisal As above - where the level of on-site affordable housing to be 
provided is less than 35% of the total habitable rooms provided 
(50% in the case of development on public sector land, Strategic 
Industrial Locations, Locally Significant Industrial Sites and Non-
Designated Industrial Sites appropriate for residential uses);  
where not meeting the required tenure split; or where other 
relevant policy requirements and obligations are not met to the 
satisfaction of the borough and the Mayor where relevant 

Viability Reviews Where the provision of Affordable Housing qualifies for the ‘fast 
track’ approach and meets or exceeds the relevant affordable 
housing percentage (by habitable room), an early-stage viability 
review will be required. Where the provision will be less than the 
relevant affordable housing percentage (by habitable room), an 
early and late-stage review will be required (intermediate 
reviews may be required for 'phases' on larger sites). 

6 

On Site 
Amenity 
Space and 
Green 
Infrastructure 

External Private Amenity 
Space and Play Space 

All residential development - level to be determined as part of 
planning application 

Generally secured as part of the design 
of a development proposal.  A planning 
obligation may be required to provide 
alternative provision or a payment in 
lieu if suitable provision cannot be 
supplied on-site. 

Green Infrastructure 

P
age 279



 

60 
 

7 

Community, 
Health and 
Educational 
Facilities 

On-site provision of 
Community, Health and 
Educational Facilities 

Large Redevelopment Areas (e.g. over 100 residential units in 
areas identified for major redevelopment) where there is an 
identified deficiency in facilities; Any development that would 
result in the loss of a current Community, Health or Education 
Facility 

In all cases where: 
 
It is deemed that the development 
requires the direct provision or  / 
reprovision of a Community, Health or 
Education Facility on the specific site 
before the development can be 
occupied. (Note: general background 
provision of infrastructure will be 
provided via the Community 
Infrastructure levy) 
 
A specific uplift on the provision of a 
specific council service needs to be 
mitigated  
 
A private facility is required to provide 
access to the public  

Facilitating the provision 
of services 

Major Development Proposals.  Specifically, Major Care Home 
proposals - to be determined as part of planning application 

Public Access and Local 
Participation 

Development involving the provision of new privately run 
Community, Health and Educational facilities 

8 

Control of 
Development 
and 
Management 
Plans 

Operational 
Management - General 
Amenity and Local 
Environmental Factors 

Any development where a specific issue has been identified as 
requiring control - to be determined as part of planning 
application Generally secured via planning 

condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application  

Control of Occupancy 
and Operation 

Development of rural occupancy dwellings, student 
accommodation and large-scale purpose-built shared 
accommodation 
 
The provision of specific accommodation for micro, small and 
medium-sized enterprises.  

Heritage Management Development affecting Heritage Assets 

9 
Highways 
and 
Transport 

Network Management Major Development Proposals or any development deemed 
under initial assessment to require further controls under the 
area described. 

Generally secured via planning 
condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application  

Transport Assessment 

Travel Plans 

Construction Logistics 
Plan 

Delivery and Service 
Plans 

P
age 280



 

61 
 

Parking 

Parking Design & 
Management Plans 

Cycling 

Residential Parking 
Permits (restriction of) 

Residential development in areas of restricted availability of on-
street parking where the provision of on-site parking supplied on 
the development does not meet the required Local Plan 
standard (or where no other alternative private parking off-site 
can be secured)- including development in major centres 
designated as being 'car free'. 

In all cases a requirement will be 
placed in a planning obligation secured 
under Section 16 of the Greater London 
Council (General Powers) Act 1974 

 Public Transport Any development where the Council or Transport for London 
determines that works are required to an adjacent highway -  to 
be determined as part of planning application 

In all cases where works are deemed 
necessary  Highways Infrastructure 

Strategic Transport 
Improvements 

Large Redevelopment Areas (e.g.  over 100 residential units / 
10,000 sq. in areas identified for major redevelopment ) where 
planned  provision of an identified Strategic Transport 
Improvement has not yet been funded and the infrastructure is 
required before development can be occupied. 

The Council intends to use the 
Community Infrastructure Levy for the 
provision of strategic infrastructure, 
however, should the specific 
infrastructure not be an identified 
recipient of CIL at the time of planning 
consent, an arrangement may be 
required to assist with the advanced 
provision of the works.   Such 
incidences will be rare and will 
identified as part of pre-application 
discussions     

10 
Local 
Employment 
and Services  

Flexible Workspace / 
Affordable Workspace 

Major development proposals for new B Use Class business 
floorspace greater than 2,500 sq.. (gross external area)  In all cases where workspace / local 

employment opportunities are 
identified. Local Employment and 

Skills 
Major Development Proposals  

11 
Open Spaces 
and Outdoor 
Sport 

Development affecting 
existing Open Space and 
Outdoor Sport 

Major Development Proposals where affecting existing Open 
Space or where creating new Open Space 

Generally secured via planning 
condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application  

Creation of new or 
improved Open Space 
and Outdoor Sport 

P
age 281



 

62 
 

12 
Sustainable 
Development 

Carbon Reduction Major Development Proposals  Generally secured via planning 
condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application  

Energy Hierarchy 

Waste Management 

Carbon Offset payment Major Development Proposals where the energy and carbon 
performance does not meet policy targets nor provides 
alternative mitigation  

In all cases where a Carbon Offset 
payment is required  

Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) 

All development proposals where a relevant impact has been 
identified - to be determined as part of planning application 

Generally secured via planning 
condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application 

Water Infrastructure 

Air Quality 

13 
Urban 
Centres and 
Public Realm 

Public Realm 
Improvements 

Major Development Proposals within defined urban centres Generally secured via planning 
condition.  A specific planning 
obligation may be secured on more 
complex sites, particularly where the 
management involves land or parties 
not within the bounds of the planning 
application, or where alternative 
provision or a payment in lieu if suitable 
provision cannot be supplied on-site. 

Town Centre 
Management 

Crime and Safety   

Appendix 1 

Monitoring Fees All proposals where a planning obligation has been identified 

Legal Fees 

 

P
age 282



 

 

 

 
 

 

Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning 

Document 

Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening 
Statement – December 2021 

 
 

Page 283



 

 

 

1. Purpose of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 

1.1. This Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening is being prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of European Directive 2001/42/EC (“the Directive”); 
and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (“the 
Regulations”). The following guidance has also been taken into account: 

• The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021)1. 

• The National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) in relation to SEA/SA2. 

• A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (ODPM, 
2005)3. 

 
1.2. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is the process by which the Directive is applied to Local 

Plan documents. An SA is required under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 for all Development Plan Documents (DPDs) and Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs). The Directive also requires a SEA to be carried out on certain 
types of plans with significant environmental effects. 

 
1.3. Both SA and SEA processes are undertaken during the preparation of a plan or 

strategy to aid the implementation of sustainable development. The main difference 
between them is that while an SEA has more of an environmental focus, the SA should 
focus on social, economic and environmental issues.  
 

1.4. Although SA and SEA are distinct requirements, government guidance has 
recommended a single appraisal process. The SA process for planning documents 
translates the requirements of the Directive, and Government guidance on undertaking 
SAs has been prepared so as to incorporate the requirements of the SEA Directive. 
 

1.5. Bromley’s Development Plan consists of the Bromley Local Plan and the London Plan. 
The Bromley Local Plan and the London Plan have both been subject to a SA/SEA 

 
1.6. The PPG4 states that:  

 
“Supplementary planning documents do not require a sustainability appraisal but may 
in exceptional circumstances require a strategic environmental assessment if they are 
likely to have significant environmental effects that have not already have been 
assessed during the preparation of the relevant strategic policies. 
 
A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be required where a 
supplementary planning document deals only with a small area at a local level (see 
regulation 5(6) of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004), unless it is considered that there are likely to be significant 
environmental effects.” 

 
1 Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/10
05759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  
2 Available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-
appraisal  
3 Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/76
57/practicalguidesea.pdf  
4 Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 11-008-20140306, available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal  

Page 284

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal


 

 

2. Planning Obligations SPD 
 
2.1. The Planning Obligations SPD provides guidance on the Council’s general approach 

to Planning Obligations, and where possible, the requirements and mechanisms for 
infrastructure contributions arising from the application of policies in the Local Plan and 
London Plan. The Council adopted a local Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 19 
April 2021, which will assist with the future funding of strategic infrastructure 
requirements. The use of Planning Obligations through a Section 106 agreement will 
remain for site specific infrastructure, affordable housing and any other non-
infrastructure matters required to make a development acceptable in planning terms 
(such as monitoring or management arrangements). 
 

2.2. New development can raise additional pressure on local infrastructure, whether by way 
of additional school places required, amendments to the local highway, new health / 
community facilities or provide opportunities to local employment and housing. All new 
development (where meeting the requirement to pay CIL) will pay a contribution via 
the CIL towards the general infrastructure provision required in the borough; in some 
cases, further contributions may be required to address site specific impacts through 
the use of Planning obligation (Section 106 agreements). 

 

3. The Screening Process 
 

3.1. Though not part of the statutory Development Plan, SPDs can cover a range of issues, 
which generally interpret policies in the Development Plan. If an SPD is considered 
unlikely to have significant environmental effects through the screening process, then 
the conclusion will be that the SEA is not necessary. 
 

3.2. To assess whether an SEA is required the Responsible Authority (Bromley Council) 
must undertake a screening process based on a standard set of criteria. Where the 
Responsible Authority determines that the plan or programme is unlikely to have 
significant environmental effects, and therefore does not need to be subject to full SEA, 
it must prepare a statement showing the reasons for this determination. 
 

3.3. This must be subject to consultation with Historic England, the Environment Agency 
and Natural England. Following consultation, the results of the screening process must 
be detailed in a Screening Statement, which is required to be made available to the 
public. The three consultation bodies have been consulted during the preparation of 
this SEA screening statement; details of their responses are provided at Appendix 1. 
As of 20 December 2021, responses had been received from the Environment Agency 
and Natural England; both these consultation bodies agreed with the Council that an 
SEA would not be required for the proposed SPD. 

 
3.4. Key to the screening decision is the determination of whether the SPD is likely to have 

significant environmental effects. To assess this, the Council has taken a two-step 
approach: 

• First, to assess the plan against the guidance set out in ‘A Practical Guide to the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive’5. The guidance sets out a flow 
chart to guide application of the Directive to plans and programmes (shown in 
Figure 1); the screening questions from the guidance are set out in Table 1, 
alongside the Council’s response in relation to the Planning Obligations SPD. 

• Second, using the criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the Regulations to determine 
whether the SPD will have significant environmental effects. These criteria are set 

 
5 Ibid 

Page 285



 

 

 

out in Table 2, alongside the Council’s response in relation to the Planning 
Obligations SPD. 

 
Figure 1: flow chart to assist with the application of the SEA Directive to plans and programmes 

 
 

Page 286



 

 

4. Screening assessment  
 
Table 1: assessment against criteria in A Practical Guide to the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive 

 Screening Question Screening Assessment 

1 Is the SPD subject to 
preparation and/or adoption by 
a national, regional or local 
authority OR prepared by an 
authority through legislative 
procedure by Parliament or 
Government? 

Yes. The SPD will be prepared and adopted by 
the London Borough of Bromley in its role as 
Local Planning Authority. 

2 Is the SPD required by 
legislative, regulatory or 
administrative provisions? 

No. The preparation of a SPD is optional. 
However, once adopted by the London Borough 
of Bromley, it will be a material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications. 

3 Is the SPD prepared for 
agricultural, forestry, fisheries, 
energy, industry, transport or 
waste management, 
telecommunications, tourism, 
town and country planning or 
land-use, AND does it set a 
framework for future 
development consent of 
projects in Annexes I and II to 
the EIA Directive? 

Yes. The SPD will not create new policy or land 
use designations, but it will provide further 
guidance to support the Local Plan and London 
Plan, which is the town planning policy 
framework for its area and includes policies for 
land-use. However, the Local Plan and London 
Plan have been subject to full SA (including 
SEA). 

4 Will the SPD, in view of its 
likely effects on sites, require 
an assessment under Article 6 
or 7 of the Habitats Directive? 

No. The Local Plan and London Plan were 
subject to screening for the need for assessment 
under the requirements of the Habitats Directive 
and it was concluded that such assessment was 
unnecessary. As the SPD will not change or add 
to policy, proposals or designations within the 
Core Strategy it is not considered that further 
screening for such assessment is necessary as 
there would be no likely effects on European 
Sites. 

5 Does the SPD determine the 
use of small areas at local 
level, OR is it a minor 
modification of a plan subject to 
Article 3.2? 

No. The SPD will complement the policies that 
have already been set within the Local Plan and 
London Plan. No aspects of the SPD will modify 
existing adopted policies nor seek to change 
existing site allocations, nor add new ones. The 
SPD will provide guidance on the Council’s 
general approach to Planning Obligations. 

6 Does the SPD set the 
framework for future 
development consent of 
projects (not just projects in 
Annexes to the EIA Directive)? 

No. This framework is already set within the 
Local Plan and London Plan. The SPD will 
provide further guidance on the implementation 
of these policies. 

7 Is the SPD’s sole purpose to 
serve the national defence or 
civil emergency, OR is it a 
financial or budget plan, OR is 
it co-financed by structural finds 

No. The SPD does not fall into any of the criteria 
listed. 

Page 287



 

 

 

 Screening Question Screening Assessment 

or EAGGF programmes 2000-
2006/7? 

8 Is it likely to have a significant 
effect on the environment? 

It is not likely that the SPD will have any 
significant effect on the borough, beyond those 
effects that have already been assessed through 
the SA (including SEA) of the Local Plan and 
London Plan. 

 
 

Page 288



 

 

Table 2: assessment against SEA Directive criteria 

SEA Directive Criteria and 
Schedule 1 of Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

London Borough of Bromley Response 

1. Characteristics of the draft Planning Obligations SPD having particular regard to: 

The degree to which the SPD sets a 
framework for projects and other 
activities, either with regard to the 
location, nature, size and operating 
conditions or by allocating resources. 

The SPD will provide supplementary guidance to 
the Local Plan and London Plan which provide the 
overarching framework for assessing development 
in the Borough (and which were both subject to an 
SA/SEA) 
 

The degree to which the SPD 
influences other plans and 
programmes including those in a 
hierarchy. 

The SPD is a non-statutory document, subsidiary to 
policies in the adopted Local Plan and London Plan, 
and therefore will have limited (if any) influence over 
other plans and programmes, including national 
policy in the NPPF. 

The relevance of the SPD for the 
integration of environmental 
considerations in particular with a 
view to promoting sustainable 
development. 
 

The SPD provides guidance on the Council’s 
general approach to Planning Obligations. Some 
planning obligations relate to environmental 
considerations; however, the requirements are 
derived from policies in the adopted Development 
Plan.  

Environmental problems relevant to 
the SPD. 

The SPD will provide guidance on planning 
obligations, linked to relevant policy requirements, 
which may include environmental policies. The SPD 
will help to ensure that the requirements of these 
policies are secured, including financial 
contributions for carbon offsetting.  

The relevance of the SPD for the 
implementation of community 
legislation on the environment (for 
example, plans and programmes 
linked to waste management or 
water protection). 

The SPD will not impact on the implementation of 
community legislation on the environment. 

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having particular 
regard to: 

The probability, duration, frequency 
and reversibility of the effects. 

The overall impact of the SPD will be positive, by 
ensuring that development or contributions from 
development assist with efforts which minimise, 
avoid or off-set negative environmental impacts 
such as CO2 emissions. 

The cumulative nature of the effects 
of the SPD. 

Cumulative effects have been assessed through the 
Local Plan and London Plan SA/SEAs. The SPD is 
unlikely to have specific cumulative effects which 
differ from those assessed as part of the Local Plan 
and London Plan; the effect of the SPD will 
therefore be neutral. 

The trans-boundary nature of the 
effects of the SPD. 

The SPD will apply to developments within the 
borough boundary, although some policy 
requirements secured through planning obligations 
could have a wider positive effect, for example, a 
reduction in carbon emissions could benefit 

Page 289



 

 

 

SEA Directive Criteria and 
Schedule 1 of Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 

London Borough of Bromley Response 

adjacent areas. The SPD will have a minor positive 
effect in this regard.  

The risks to human health or the 
environment (e.g. due to accidents) 

No significant risks to human health are envisaged 
through the application of this SPD. 

The magnitude and spatial extent of 
the effects (geographical area and 
size of the population likely to be 
affected) by the SPD. 

The majority of the SPD effects will be localised to a 
specific area or within the borough; however, as 
noted above in relation to potential trans-boundary 
effects, some benefits may extend to adjacent 
areas. The SPD will have a minor positive effect in 
this regard. 

The value and vulnerability of the 
area likely to be affected by the SPD 
due to: 

i. Special natural characteristics 
or cultural heritage; 

ii. Exceeded environmental 
quality standards or limit 
values; or 

iii. Intensive land use. 

The SPD will be consistent with the Development 
Plan approach that seeks to conserve and enhance 
the borough’s heritage assets in a manner 
appropriate to their significance.  
 
Bromley has a number of areas with special natural 
characteristics, including an AONB and several 
SSSIs. The Development Plan has a number of 
policies which protect these areas; the SPD will 
assist with the implementation of these policies. 
 
Bromley has an Air Quality Management Area 
which extends across a large part of the Borough, 
and several Air Quality Focus Areas. The 
Development Plan policy approach to managing 
these environmental conditions will be applied, with 
the SPD providing guidance on how the policy 
requirements can be implemented and secured, 
including in relation to air quality. 
 
The SPD will not relate specifically to intensifying 
land use, although it may provide guidance on 
policies which relate to land use, specifically how 
any policy requirements can be secured. 
 
The overall likely effect of the SPD will be positive 
by securing the positive environmental effects of 
development and minimising or avoiding negative 
impacts. 

The effects of the SPD on areas or 
landscapes which have recognised 
national, community or international 
protection status. 

Bromley has an AONB. The Local Plan has policies 
which protect the AONB and its unique landscape 
quality; the SPD could assist with the 
implementation of these policies. 

 
 

Page 290



 

 

5. Statement of Reasons for Determination 
 
5.1. The Council believes that the impact of the draft SPD, through responses to the Criteria 

identified in Tables 1 and 2, will not have significant environmental effects (positive or 
negative) on Bromley, further to the effects that have already been assessed during 
the preparation of the Local Plan and the London Plan. In addition, the draft SPD is 
not setting new policy; it is supplementing and providing further guidance on existing 
policies. Therefore, it is considered that an SEA will not be required for the draft 
Planning Obligations SPD. 

Page 291



 

 

 

Appendix 1: responses to draft SEA screening statement from 
Historic England, the Environment Agency and Natural England 
 
Consultee Response LBB 

comment 

Environment 
Agency 

The SPDs are unlikely to have significant 
environmental effects, and therefore a full Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is not required. 
 
We have no more comments to make. 

Noted. 

Historic England No response as of 20 December 2021  

Natural England Natural England is a non-departmental public body. 
Our statutory purpose is to ensure that the natural 
environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed 
for the benefit of present and future generations, 
thereby contributing to sustainable development. 
 
Natural England have no comments to make on this 
consultation, however we do not feel an SEA will 
be necessary for this supplementary planning 
document. 

Noted 

 

Page 292



  

1 

Report No. 
HPR2021/068 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: RENEWAL, RECREATION AND HOUSING PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 
 
FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY AT THE RENEWAL, 
RECREATION AND HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 
 

Date:  
DCC: 11 January 2022 
RRH PDS: 26 January 2022 

 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Key 
 

Title: CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE 
PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS 
EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS  
 

Contact Officer: Ben Johnson, Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 
E-mail:  ben.johnson@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning) 

Ward: Bickley; Bromley Common and Keston; Bromley Town; Chelsfield and Pratts 
Bottom; Chislehurst; Clock House; Copers Cope; Hayes and Coney Hall; 

Kelsey and Eden Park; Petts Wood and Knoll; Shortlands 
 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1. This report recommends that the Council confirms 16 non-immediate Article 4 Directions to 
withdraw permitted development (PD) rights which allow certain buildings to extend upwards by 

up to two storeys to provide new or extended residential units. These Directions would apply to 
the 13 Areas of Special Residential Character as shown in the Bromley Local Plan (January 
2019); and to three discrete areas which fall within local views. 

1.2. The areas selected for the Directions are areas which add significant character and 
distinctiveness, linked to adopted policy in the adopted Local Plan. The Article 4 Directions 

would help to protect this character and distinctiveness which is a positive benefit for local 
amenity. 

Page 293

Agenda Item 11



  

2 

1.3. In line with the requirements of legislation, representations on the proposed Directions were 
sought. The Council must take into account any representations made before it confirms the 

Article 4 Directions. Two representations were received, both in support of specific Directions. If 
confirmed, the Directions would come into force on 15 March 2022. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1. That Members endorse the confirmation of 16 non-immediate Article 4 Directions to 

withdraw various permitted development rights granted by the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (“the 
GPDO”), Schedule 2, Part 1 and Part 20. The areas covered by the Directions are shown 

on the maps at Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 

2.2. That Members refer the matter to the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy 

Development and Scrutiny Committee for pre-decision scrutiny. 

2.3. That Members note that the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing will be 
asked to confirm the 16 non-immediate Directions covering the areas shown on the maps 

at Appendix 1 and Appendix 2, to come into force on 15 March 2022. 

 

Page 294



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: No impact  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 
 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Costs associated with publicising the confirmation will be met from the 
Planning Policy and Strategy budget.  

 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 10fte 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Article 4 and Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

2. Call-in: Applicable: Further Details – Portfolio Decision 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A. 

Page 295



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

Background 

3.1. Six PD rights which allow the upwards extension of residential and mixed-use buildings were 
introduced in 2020, through amendments to the GPDO. Further information on these PD rights 
is set out in two reports to Development Control Committee (DCC) from last year; the Upwards 

Extension Permitted Development Rights report1 which was noted at the meeting held on 14 
July 2020; and the Planning Legislation Update report2 which was noted at the meeting held on 

24 September 2020. 

3.2. Article 4 Directions allow authorities to withdraw the PD rights that would otherwise apply by 
virtue of the GPDO. Details of the Article 4 Direction process and relevant legislation and 

guidance are set out in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.9 of the November 2020 DCC report3 which 
recommended the upwards extensions Directions.  

3.3. It is noted that the NPPF was amended in July 2021, which introduced a new requirement for 
Article 4 Directions; this requires Directions which relate to a change from non-residential use to 
residential use to be limited to situations where an Article 4 Direction is necessary to avoid 

wholly unacceptable adverse impacts. Directions should apply to the smallest geographical area 
possible. The PPG notes that the potential harm that a Direction is intended to address should 

be clearly identified. For the proposed Directions, justification to address the NPPF 
requirements is discussed below. 

3.4. In November 2020, Development Control Committee4 (DCC) considered a report 

recommending that 15 non-immediate Article 4 Directions were made to withdraw Part 1, Class 
AA PD rights, and Part 20, Class A, AA, AB, AC and AD PD rights, which allow certain buildings 
to extend upwards by up to two storeys to provide new or extended residential units. The 

proposed Directions related to the 13 Areas of Special Residential Character (ASRC) as shown 
in the Bromley Local Plan (January 2019); and to two discrete areas which fall within local views 

(shown at Appendix 1). DCC recommended that an immediate Direction was made to withdraw 
Part 1, Class AA PD rights in the Petts Wood ASRC5, but otherwise agreed with the report 
recommendations6. 

                                                 
1 Available here: 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50082500/UPWARDS%20EXTENSION%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%
20RIGHTSPART%201%20REPORT%20TEMPLATE.pdf  
2 Available here: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-

%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%2
0ORDERP.pdf  
3 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 

UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS’, Development Control  Committee 19 November 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIG

HTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf   
4 Ibid 
5 The immediate Direction was confirmed on 19 July 2021 and remains in force.  
6 Minutes of the DCC meeting held at 6.30 pm on 19 November 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-
2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1  

Page 296

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50082500/UPWARDS%20EXTENSION%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTSPART%201%20REPORT%20TEMPLATE.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50082500/UPWARDS%20EXTENSION%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTSPART%201%20REPORT%20TEMPLATE.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1


  

5 

3.5. The Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee (RRHPDS) 
considered the proposed Directions on 16 December 20207. RRHPDS resolved that the 

Portfolio Holder be recommended to authorise the making of 15 non-immediate Directions8.  

3.6. RRHPDS also resolved that a report be submitted to the next meeting of the DCC 
recommending that an Article 4 Direction be made to withdraw PD rights for an area at the top 

end of Ravensbourne Valley (shown at Appendix 2). DCC considered this report on 28 January 
20219, and recommended that a Direction was made to remove Part 20, Class A, AA and AD 

PD rights; this is fewer PD rights than the other Directions, as the other PD rights would not 
apply within the proposed area, as the area includes three purpose built flatted blocks and Part 
1, Class AA only applies to houses, and Part 20, Class AB and AC only apply to terraced 

buildings. 

3.7. RRHPDS considered the additional proposed Direction on 2 February 202110, and resolved that 

the Portfolio Holder be recommended to authorise the making of the Direction11. 

3.8. The 16 Directions were subsequently authorised by the Portfolio Holder and ‘made’ on 15 
March 2021.  

Representations 

3.9. Consultation on the non-immediate Directions was undertaken from 15 March to 26 April 2021 

(a period of six weeks). As detailed in the November 2020 report to Development Control 
Committee, the consultation did not include serving notice on owners and occupiers of every 
part of land within the area to which the Direction relates, as this level of notification was 

considered impracticable. Notice was given by local advertisement and site notices in various 
locations within the ASRC and in the three areas within local views, as per the other 
requirements of the GPDO. Details were also provided on the Council’s website.  

3.10. Two representations were received in support of the proposed Directions, as follows: 

 A residents’ association who operate within one of the ASRCs fully supported the proposals. 

The response noted that without the Directions, the Council would lose control over 
unacceptable development. 

                                                 
7 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TOREMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 
UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS’. Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy Development and Scrutiny 

Committee 16 December 2020, available from: http://cdslbb/documents/s50085122/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIG
HTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf. Addendum report available from: 

http://cdslbb/documents/s50085123/Addendum%20for%20Portfolio%20Holder%20report.pdf   
8 Minutes of the RRHPDS meeting held at 6.30 pm on 16 December 2020, available from: 
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-

2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11  
9 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 
UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN AN AREA WITHIN THE RAVENSBOURNE VALLEY LOCAL VIEW’, Development Control 

Committee 28 January 2021, available from: http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGH
TS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf  
10 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 
UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN AN AREA WITHIN THE RAVENSBOURNE VALLEY LOCAL VIEW’, Renewal, Recreation 
and Housing Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 2 February 2021, available from: 

http://cdslbb/documents/s50085766/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGH
TS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf  
11 Minutes of the RRHPDS meeting held at 6.30 pm on 2 February 2021, available from: 
http://cdslbb/documents/g6916/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2002 -Feb-
2021%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20S.pdf?T=1  

Page 297

http://cdslbb/documents/s50085122/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085122/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085122/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085123/Addendum%20for%20Portfolio%20Holder%20report.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085766/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085766/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085766/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/g6916/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2002-Feb-2021%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20S.pdf?T=1
http://cdslbb/documents/g6916/Printed%20minutes%20Tuesday%2002-Feb-2021%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20S.pdf?T=1


  

6 

 Another residents’ association operating in a different ASRC. The respondent supported the 
proposed Directions, considering them a necessary environmental safeguard to protect the 

amenity of ASRCs. As such, the Association supports the proposed Directions. 

Discussion and justification 

3.11. Paragraphs 3.10 to 3.23 of the November 2020 DCC report12 set out the national, London and 

local planning policy context which is material to any decision of whether it is expedient to make 
an Article 4 Direction. Since the November 2020 report, the London Plan has now been adopted 

and the NPPF has been updated with a stronger emphasis on design and the creation of high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings. 

3.12. In terms of the justification for the proposed Directions, officers consider that the justification set 

out in paragraphs 3.24 to 3.33 of the November 2020 DCC report13 remains robust and is 
sufficient to address the updated NPPF requirements with regard to ensuring wholly 

unacceptable adverse impacts are avoided. The ASRCs and local views are important Local 
Plan designations which protect character and local amenity, which could be undermined by the 
new PD rights. Therefore, the proposed Directions will help to protect this character and 

amenity. 

3.13. With regard to the Direction within the Ravensbourne Valley local view, officers consider that 

the justification set out in paragraph 3.29 of the January 2021 DCC report14 remains robust and 
is sufficient to address the updated NPPF requirements, for the same reasons as noted above, 
i.e. local views are important Local Plan designations which protect character and local amenity, 

which could be undermined by the new PD rights; and the proposed Direction will help to 
protect this character and amenity. 

4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. As set out in the main body of this report, there could be significant adverse impacts on local 
amenity resulting from upwards extensions in specific areas linked to Local Plan designations, if 

the proposed Article 4 Directions are not confirmed to come into force. This could undermine 
elements of the Development Plan. 

4.2. The proposed Directions will restrict housing supply to a degree, but this is likely to be of limited 
impact in terms of restricting the amount of new residential units created, and hence the effect 
on the Council’s ability to meet housing targets is limited. The areas subject to the D irections 

cover are a very small proportion of the total area of the borough, which leaves a significant 
amount of land where PD rights would continue to apply. The potentially significant impacts on 

local amenity, identified in this report, would outweigh this potentially limited impact on housing 
supply, in terms of the deciding whether it is expedient to confirm the Article 4 Directions. 

4.3. The quality of the housing created must also be considered alongside any impact on housing 

supply. The creation of new housing is not just a numbers game; it is essential that new housing 
is fit for purpose in order to ensure sustainable development, for example ensuring appropriate 

sustainable design measures to mitigate climate change. PD rights have become synonymous 
with poor quality, small homes. As Article 4 Directions would require planning permission to be 
secured for such developments in the future, this will ensure delivery of higher quality residential 

units and assist with the delivery of sustainable development in the borough. It is recognised 
that minimum space standards will be required for new housing developed through PD rights, 

                                                 
12 Op cit, see footnote 3 
13 Ibid 
14 Op cit, see footnote 9 

Page 298



  

7 

but, important as these standards are, this will not guarantee the development of high quality 
housing; only full application of Development Plan policy can do this. 

4.4. Prior approval permissions have often been used as a ‘fallback’ position, whereby developers 
secure prior approval permission and then subsequently apply for full planning permission for a 
more comprehensive development on the same site, noting that if this permission was not 

granted then there is an extant prior approval that can be delivered. Fallback positions can be 
material considerations in the determination of planning applications although the weight given 

would depend on whether the applicant has secured the prior approval permission; it is not 
enough to just highlight that prior approval permission could be sought, as there is no guarantee 
prior approval will be granted. Where prior approval permission has been granted, an applicant 

would also need to demonstrate that there is a realistic intention to implement the prior 
approval, for the fallback to be given weight. It is noted that development granted through the 

upwards extension PD rights must be completed within three years of the date of grant of prior 
approval, which will factor into any consideration of the weight given to a fallback position. 

4.5. The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are currently uncertain, but it is noted that it could have 

significant impacts on housing supply in particular. However, such impacts are not yet evident, 
for example through higher commercial vacancies or impacts on housing delivery statistics. If 

impacts do materialise, this does not necessarily have implications for the Directions, as these 
impacts could be a material consideration in a future planning application. However, the PPG 
notes that it is important for local planning authorities to monitor any Article 4 Directions 

regularly to make certain that the original reasons the Directions were made remain valid. 
Therefore, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as other positive and negative 
impacts, will be an ongoing consideration to help determine whether the Directions should 

remain in place. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. This report recommends 16 non-immediate Article 4 Directions are confirmed to come into force 
on 15 March 2022. As a 12-month notice period to be given prior to the Directions coming into 
effect, compensation liability is removed.  

5.2. Costs associated with confirming the Article 4 Directions will be met by Planning Policy and 
Strategy and the Council’s legal services department. 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. Article 4 (1) of the GPDO allows local Planning authorities to withdraw certain PD Rights. The 
procedure for putting in place an Article 4 Direction is set out in Schedule 3 of the GPDO. The 

Council’s legal services department will be responsible for confirming the Directions, in line with 
the statutory requirements set out in the GPDO.  

6.2. There is a requirement to give notice of confirmation to owners and occupiers of every part of 
land within the areas to which the Directions relate, unless the local planning authority considers 
that the number of owners or occupiers within the area to which the direction relates makes 

individual service impracticable. The proposed Directions together encompass around 4,500 
properties (which includes instances where there are numerous properties within a single 

building). This level of notification is considered to be impracticable, hence individual notice will 
not be given (which is consistent with the approach taken as part of the notification process 
when the Directions were first made). Notice will be given by local advertisement and site 

notice, as per the other requirements of the GPDO.  

6.3. The GPDO requires notice of the proposed Directions to be given as soon as practicable after 

the Directions have been confirmed. 

Page 299



  

8 

Non-Applicable 

Sections: 
IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN 

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background 

Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 - 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_l
ocal_plan.pdf  

 
London Plan (adopted 2 March 2021), available from: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up
loads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  

National Planning Practice Guidance - 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required 

The Town and Country Planning (Permitted Development and 

Miscellaneous Amendments) (England) (Coronavirus) Regulations 
2020 - https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/632/regulation/22/made  

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England) (Amendment) (No. 2) Order 2020 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/755/contents/made  

‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO 

REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS 
EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS’, Development Control 

Committee 19 November 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NO
N-

IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOV
E%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UP

WARDS%20EXTEN.pdf 

‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO 
REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS 

EXTENSIONS IN AN AREA WITHIN THE RAVENSBOURNE VALLEY 
LOCAL VIEW’, Development Control Committee 28 January 2021, 

available from: 
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE

%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPW
ARDS%20EXTENS.pdf 

 

Page 300

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/632/regulation/22/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/755/contents/made
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084647/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTEN.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/s50085741/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTION%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20UPWARDS%20EXTENS.pdf


If you live in the area outlined in red you
will now require planning prermission for
the following:
1. The insertion of a door or window, or
the alteration of the size or shape of an
existing door or window, or the insertion
or alteration of a dormer window; and
2. The rendering or application of any
cladding to brickwork walls, or the
replacement or renewal or surface
treatment of any roof covering.
In addition to the above if you live in the
area outlined in blue you will also require
permission for:
3. The erection, construction, maintenance,
improvement or other alteration of any gates,
fences, walls or other means of enclosure; and
4. The construction within the curtilage of a
dwelling house of a hardstanding for vehicles.

Text relating to two areas of the
Cancery Land CA A4 Dir area

Legend
Local Plan 2019 ASRCs

Areas Other than adopted Local Plan ASRCs
View of Croydon town centre from Village Way, Beckenham
View of St. Edmund of Canterbury RC Church landmark ±

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100017661. 1 inch = 1.65 kilometers
Page 301



This page is left intentionally blank



Townend

ROAD

HIGHLAND

36

29b
29c

31
27

Penfro

La

Court

Cameron House

3b

1 to 24

1 to 12

34

Capannina

Kowloon

El Sub Sta

Treversh

2

4

29d

14
a

Court

1 to 28

1 to 6
Highland

12

31b

GRASMERE ROAD

Court

25

25a

3

29a

3a

14

5

±
1:834November 2020 0 9.5 19 28.5 384.75

Meters

Planning Division
Housing, Planning &

Regeneration

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

Article 4 Direction
Townend Court, Treversh Court and Cameron House, 

Grasmere Road, Bromley

Page 303



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
HPR2021/069 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: RENEWAL, RECREATION AND HOUSING PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 
 
FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY AT THE RENEWAL, 
RECREATION AND HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
COMMITTEE 
 

Date:  
DCC: 11 January 2022 
RRH PDS: 26 January 2022 

 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Key 
 

Title: CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE 
PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR OFFICE TO 
RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED 
OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS 
 

Contact Officer: Ben Johnson, Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 
E-mail:  ben.johnson@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Chief Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning) 

Ward: Bromley Common and Keston; Bromley Town; Copers Cope; Cray Valley 

East; Cray Valley West; Darwin; Kelsey and Eden Park; Orpington; Penge and 
Cator; Plaistow and Sundridge; 

 

 

1. Reason for report 

1.1. This report recommends that the Council confirms 18 non-immediate Article 4 Directions to 

withdraw permitted development (PD) rights which allow the demolition of purpose-built 
detached buildings used for offices (within former B1a office, B1b research and B1c light 
industrial uses) together with their replacement with a single detached block of flats or a single 

dwellinghouse. These Directions would apply to the three Business Improvement Areas (BIA) in 
Bromley Town Centre; Strategic Industrial Locations (SIL); the majority of Locally Significant 

Industrial Sites (LSIS); and all three Office Clusters, all as shown in the Bromley Local Plan 
(January 2019). 

Page 305

Agenda Item 12



  

2 

1.2. The areas selected for the Directions are key areas for the retention and promotion of offices, 
research and light industrial uses. The Article 4 Directions would accompany the existing 

Directions which remove Part 3, Class O office to residential PD rights within the Business 
Improvement Areas and three Office Clusters. It is considered expedient to restrict the operation 
of the new office to residential demolition PD right in the key areas outlined above due to the 

strategic importance of these designated areas. The Directions will thereby avoid harmful 
impacts upon economic development and ensure any development within the areas is properly 

planned in line with the policies in the adopted Local Plan. 

1.3. In line with the requirements of legislation, representations on the proposed Directions were 
sought. The Council must take into account any representations made before it confirms the 

Article 4 Directions. One representation was received, which made general comments on the 
Direction covering the Franklin Industrial Estate LSIS, specifically noting numerous benefits of 

the existing concentration of businesses in the area and the need to protect these. If confirmed, 
the Directions would come into force on 11 May 2022. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1. That Members endorse the confirmation of 18 non-immediate Article 4 Directions to 

withdraw PD rights granted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (“the GPDO”), Schedule 2, Part 20 , 
Class ZA. The areas covered by the Directions are shown on the map at Appendix 1. 

2.2. That Members refer the matter to the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Committee for pre-decision scrutiny. 

2.3. That Members note that the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing will be 
asked to confirm the 18 non-immediate Directions covering the areas shown on the map 
at Appendix 1, to come into force on 11 May 2022. 

 

Page 306



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: No impact  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 
 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Costs associated with publicising the confirmation will be met from the 
Planning Policy and Strategy budget.  

 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 10fte 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Article 4 and Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

2. Call-in: Applicable: Further Details – Portfolio Decision 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No 
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A. 

Page 307



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

Background 

3.1. PD rights were introduced in 2020 which permit the demolition of any building comprising a 
single purpose-built detached block of flats, and any other single detached building comprising 
premises established for B1(a), B1(b) or B1(c)1 uses (or for any combination of them); and its 

replacement by a single building comprising a purpose-built detached block of flats, or a 
purpose-built detached dwellinghouse. Further information on these PD rights is set out in the 

Planning Legislation Update report2 which was noted at the Development Control Committee 
(DCC) meeting held on 24 September 2020. 

3.2. Article 4 Directions allow authorities to withdraw the PD rights that would otherwise apply by 

virtue of the GPDO. Details of the Article 4 Direction process and relevant legislation and 
guidance are set out in paragraphs 3.5 to 3.11 of the November 2020 DCC report3 which 

recommended the Directions.  

3.3. It is noted that the NPPF was amended in July 2021, which introduced a new requirement for 
Directions; this requires Directions which relate to a change from non-residential use to 

residential use to be limited to situations where an Article 4 Direction is necessary to avoid 
wholly unacceptable adverse impacts. Directions should apply to the smallest geographical area 

possible. The PPG notes that the potential harm that a Direction is intended to address should 
be clearly identified. For the proposed Directions, justification to address the NPPF 
requirements is discussed below. 

3.4. The November 2020 DCC report4 recommended that 18 non-immediate Article 4 Directions5 
were made to withdraw Part 20, Class ZA PD rights, which allow certain B1a, B1b or B1c 
buildings to be demolished and replaced with residential use. The proposed Directions related 

to the three Business Improvement Areas (BIA) in Bromley Town Centre; Strategic Industrial 
Locations (SIL) at Sevenoaks Road/Cray Avenue, Klinger Industrial Park and Crayfields 

Industrial/Business Park; 10 Locally Significant Industrial Sites (LSIS); and all three Office 
Clusters (one of which is included within the boundary of a SIL), all as shown in the Bromley 
Local Plan (January 2019). DCC agreed with the report recommendations6. 

                                                 
1 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) refers to the 
former Use Classes, prior to the change to the Use Classes Order which came into effect on 1 September 2020. This is a 

transitional provision and the Government have noted their intention to update the GPDO by summer 2021 to incorporate 
references to the new use classes. 
2 Available here: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-

%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%2
0ORDERP.pdf  
3 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TOREMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 

OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS’, 
Development Control Committee 19 November 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-

IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIG
HTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf 
4 Ibid 
5 The November 2020 DCC report erroneously noted that 20 Directions would be made; this was based on a 
miscalculation of the total number of designated employment areas intended to be covered by the Directions. The 18 
Directions cover the same areas set out in the November 2020 DCC report.  
6 Minutes of the DCC meeting held at 6.30 pm on 19 November 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-
2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1  

Page 308

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50083418/PLANNING%20LEGISLATION%20UPDATE%20-%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20AND%20CHANGES%20TO%20THE%20USE%20CLASSES%20ORDERP.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6909/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2019-Nov-2020%2018.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=1


  

5 

3.5. The Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee (RRHPDS) 
considered the proposed Directions on 16 December 20207. RRHPDS resolved that the 

Portfolio Holder be recommended to authorise the making of 18 non-immediate Directions8.  

3.6. The 18 Directions were subsequently authorised by the Portfolio Holder and ‘made’ on 11 May 
2021.  

Representations 

3.7. Consultation on the Directions was undertaken from 11 May to 22 June 2021 (a period of six 

weeks). As detailed in the November 2020 report to Development Control Committee, the 
consultation did not include serving notice on owners and occupiers of every part of land within 
the area to which the Direction relates, as this level of notification was considered impracticable. 

Notice was given by local advertisement and site notices in each of the areas covered by 
Directions, as per the other requirements of the GPDO. Details were also provided on the 

Council’s website.  

3.8. One representation was received, which made general comments on the Direction covering the 
Franklin Industrial Estate LSIS, specifically noting numerous benefits of the existing 

concentration of businesses in the area and the need to protect these.  

Discussion and justification 

3.9. Paragraphs 3.12 to 3.23 of the November 2020 DCC report9 set out the national, London and 
local planning policy context which is material to any decision of whether it is expedient to make 
an Article 4 Direction. Since the November 2020 report, the London Plan has now been 

adopted. 

3.10. In terms of the justification for the proposed Directions, officers consider that the justification 
and evidence set out in paragraphs 3.26 to 3.35 of the November 2020 DCC report10 remains 

robust and is sufficient to address the updated NPPF requirements with regard to ensuring 
wholly unacceptable adverse impacts are avoided. The designated areas to be covered by the 

Directions contain over 100,000 sqm of office and light industrial floorspace. Further loss of 
space in the designated areas could reduce opportunities for fledgling businesses to secure 
space and could also mean that existing businesses looking to grow are not retained as they 

may be forced to look outside the borough for additional space. It also means that any potential 
agglomeration benefits are likely to be lost, which could have a significant impact on the local 

economy and affect local amenity and wellbeing. 

3.11. Additional evidence published following the November 2020 DCC report serves to further 
strengthen the justification for the Directions. 

                                                 
7 ‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR 
OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS’. 

Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy Development and Scrut iny Committee 16 December 2020, available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50085125/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIG

HTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf  
8 Minutes of the RRHPDS meeting held at 6.30 pm on 16 December 2020, available from: 
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-

2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11  
9 Op cit, see footnote 3 
10 Ibid 

Page 309

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50085125/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50085125/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50085125/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11
http://cdslbb/documents/g7035/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Dec-2020%2018.30%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11


  

6 

3.12. In July 2021, the GLA published ‘Strategic evidence to support London borough Article 4 
Directions (commercial to residential)’11; although this evidence refers to Class E to 

residential PD rights, it also provides relevant support for the removal of other PD rights which 
involve the loss of commercial floorspace (including office to residential demolition PD rights).  

3.13. The evidence strongly supports the protection of London's industrial areas and creative 

production space; London depends on a wide range of industrial, logistics and related uses that 
are essential to the functioning of its economy and for servicing the needs of its growing 

population, as well as contributing towards employment opportunities for Londoners. 

3.14. Over the period 2001 to 2015, more than 1,300 hectares of industrial land was released to other 
uses and this far exceeded previously established London Plan monitoring benchmarks. 

Research for the GLA indicates that there will be positive net demand for industrial land in 
London over the period 2016 to 2041, mostly driven by strong demand for logistics to service 

growth in London’s economy and population. 

3.15. The London Plan urges boroughs to ensure that the need to retain sufficient industrial capacity 
is not undermined by PD rights by introducing Article 4 Directions where appropriate. The 

strategic evidence notes that SIL and LSIS should be considered as areas that are important for 
heavy industry, waste management, storage and distribution, or a mix of such uses.  

3.16. The PD rights do allow for consideration of the impact on business and new residents of the 
development’s introduction of, or increase in, residential use in the area in which the 
development is to take place. However, there may be circumstances where it may be more 

problematic for local authorities to rely on this clause in the PD rights, such as where a sub-area 
of a SIL or LSIS has a mix of industrial uses at the lighter end of the spectrum. Given the 
blurring in practice between these light industrial uses and those which are general industrial, 

storage or distribution activities, it may be difficult to distinguish between specific industrial uses 
to gauge any impacts. Article 4 Directions in these areas may be particularly appropriate, given 

the potential difficulty of relying on the PD rights clause. 

3.17. The GLA is currently updating the industrial land baseline in London. Emerging estimates 
suggest that vacancy rates are significantly lower within SIL and LSIS locations than they were 

when the 2015 baseline study was undertaken. 

3.18. Estimates suggest that 99.8% of all industrial businesses in London employ less than 250 

employees and that 90% of those businesses are micro-businesses employing less than 10 
people. The PD rights are likely to have a direct disproportionate impact on industrial SMEs in 
addition to the indirect impacts on industrial businesses (of any size) located in proximity to PD 

rights conversions. 

3.19. Residential land values are predicted to increase over the next 5 years. All Residential value 

bands, including average values in Residential Band E, are typically greater than average 
industrial values in inner and outer London. Given the potential for land value speculation, the 
GLA strategic evidence advocates for local authorities to adopt a ‘belt and braces’ approach 

and introduce Article 4 Directions for SIL and LSIS where this is necessary and supported by 
local evidence. 

3.20. The Directions cover specific office designations within and in close proximity to Bromley’s 
Metropolitan and Major Town Centres. The strategic evidence base document, in section 4.3, 
details the importance of Town Centre office locations, referencing the London Plan strategically 

significant town centre office locations which identify Bromley Town Centre as a centre with the 

                                                 
11 Available from: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/strategic_evidence_to_support_commercial_to_residential_article_4s_in_lon
don_july_2021_final_report.pdf  

Page 310

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/strategic_evidence_to_support_commercial_to_residential_article_4s_in_london_july_2021_final_report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/strategic_evidence_to_support_commercial_to_residential_article_4s_in_london_july_2021_final_report.pdf


  

7 

capacity, demand and viability to accommodate new office development, generally as part of 
mixed-use developments including residential use. The evidence references a report from 

Knight Frank12 which recognises Bromley as an ‘up and coming’ centre with regards to 
‘innovation-led locations’13. 

3.21. Offices and light industrial uses contribute to the range of uses in town centres and high streets 

alongside retail and leisure uses. Offices can make up a significant proportion of total 
commercial floorspace in town centres. The report recognises that there are emerging trends 

that could affect the nature of office working and the extent of remote working, but states that 
the extent of this and its impact on the need for office space has yet to emerge fully. 

3.22. The report states that the new PD rights, in the absence of targeted Article 4 Directions, could 

impact the adaptation of London’s town centres and high streets to be (and remain) vibrant, 
successful locations for a range of business, culture, civic and community activities 

complemented by well-planned housing and mixed-use development.  

3.23. The report recognises that, while town centres and high streets can benefit from additional 
homes in the area, this should be well planned and should not come forward at the expense of 

successful commercial and community uses. Residential uses have different characteristics to 
commercial, business and service uses. Once conversions to residential occur the inherent 

flexibility of high street premises in commercial and community uses is lost, undermining the 
ability of the high street to adapt to future circumstances. Too much erosion of commercial and 
community services via PD rights in town centres and high streets could also create dormitory 

areas where residents must travel further afield to get to shops and places of work, undermining 
efforts to support walking and cycling and the creation of a more sustainable city.  

3.24. The strategic evidence base document also makes clear that Article 4 Directions can be a 

useful tool for ensuring that development capacity is optimised through site allocations, 
masterplans and town centre strategies, delivering better outcomes for housing delivery, 

housing quality and place-making. 

3.25. A report by GLA Economics - London's Economic Outlook: Spring 2021 - The GLA's 
medium-term planning projections (May 2021)14 - projects that London’s real Gross Value 

Added (GVA) growth rate is forecast to be 5.4% this year due to the recovery from the COVID-
19 crisis. This growth rate is expected to increase slightly to 6.9% in 2022 before moderating to 

3.1% in 2023. London is forecast to see a fall in the number of workforce jobs in 2021 (-3.6% in 
annual terms) although this will recover in 2022 (2.9%) before accelerating in 2023 (4.2%). 
Similarly to GVA, London’s household income and expenditure are both forecast to grow in all 

years of the forecast period These projections demonstrate that there is likely to be significant 
demand for office floorspace to facilitate economic growth and accommodate the creation of 

new jobs. 

3.26. A further report by GLA Economics - Macroeconomic scenarios for London’s economy post 
COVID-19 - Scenarios approach, storylines and projections to 2030 (August 2021)15 - 

outlines three core economic scenarios for London’s economy post-COVID-19 - Scenario 1: 
Fast economic recovery (an optimistic but plausible scenario); Scenario 2: Gradual economic 

recovery and Scenario 3: Slow economic recovery. In all scenarios, London’s economy is 

                                                 
12 Available from: https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.com/commercial/the-next-chapter-2021---the-
m25-and-south-east-office-market-report.pdf?utm_source=knight frank&utm_medium=sitecontent&utm_campaign=m25-
offices  
13 Ibid, defined as “Locations such as these benefit from the agglomeration and clustering of economies and a magnetism 
that attracts young, creative and entrepreneurial populations.” 
14 Available from: https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leo-spring-2021-final.pdf  
15 Available from: https://data.london.gov.uk/download/macroeconomic -scenarios-for-london-s-economy-post-covid-
19/4b44a3ba-bc7e-4cef-a443-fcd7636dbd98/Macro%20scenarios%20for%20London%20-
%20Approach%20and%20long-term%20projections%20August%202021.pdf  

Page 311

https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.com/commercial/the-next-chapter-2021---the-m25-and-south-east-office-market-report.pdf?utm_source=knightfrank&utm_medium=sitecontent&utm_campaign=m25-offices
https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.com/commercial/the-next-chapter-2021---the-m25-and-south-east-office-market-report.pdf?utm_source=knightfrank&utm_medium=sitecontent&utm_campaign=m25-offices
https://content.knightfrank.com/resources/knightfrank.com/commercial/the-next-chapter-2021---the-m25-and-south-east-office-market-report.pdf?utm_source=knightfrank&utm_medium=sitecontent&utm_campaign=m25-offices
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/leo-spring-2021-final.pdf
https://data.london.gov.uk/download/macroeconomic-scenarios-for-london-s-economy-post-covid-19/4b44a3ba-bc7e-4cef-a443-fcd7636dbd98/Macro%20scenarios%20for%20London%20-%20Approach%20and%20long-term%20projections%20August%202021.pdf
https://data.london.gov.uk/download/macroeconomic-scenarios-for-london-s-economy-post-covid-19/4b44a3ba-bc7e-4cef-a443-fcd7636dbd98/Macro%20scenarios%20for%20London%20-%20Approach%20and%20long-term%20projections%20August%202021.pdf
https://data.london.gov.uk/download/macroeconomic-scenarios-for-london-s-economy-post-covid-19/4b44a3ba-bc7e-4cef-a443-fcd7636dbd98/Macro%20scenarios%20for%20London%20-%20Approach%20and%20long-term%20projections%20August%202021.pdf


  

8 

expected to recover to the pre-crisis level of output by the end of next year at the latest. Under 
the Gradual return to economic growth scenario, London’s GVA reaches pre-crisis levels in Q4 

of 2021. Employment recovery is projected to be significantly slower than output recovery, so 
that pre-crisis employment levels are not reached until Q1 of 2023 in the gradual economic 
recovery scenario and not before the end of the same year in the slower economic recovery 

scenario. As with the report noted above, these scenarios help to support the continued 
protection of office floorspace to facilitate economic growth and accommodate the creation of 

new jobs. 

4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1. As set out in the main body of this report, there could be significant adverse impacts on local 

amenity resulting from office to residential demolition in specific areas linked to Local Plan 
designations, if the proposed Article 4 Directions are not confirmed to come into force. This 

could undermine elements of the Development Plan. 

4.2. The proposed Directions will restrict housing supply to a degree, but this is likely to be of limited 
impact in terms of restricting the amount of new residential units created, and hence the effect 

on the Council’s ability to meet housing targets is limited. The areas sub ject to the Directions 
cover are a very small proportion of the total area of the borough, which leaves a significant 

amount of land where PD rights would continue to apply. The potentially significant impacts on 
local amenity, identified in this report, would outweigh this potentially limited impact on housing 
supply, in terms of the deciding whether it is expedient to confirm the Article 4 Directions. 

4.3. The quality of the housing created must also be considered alongside any impact on housing 
supply. The creation of new housing is not just a numbers game; it is essential that new housing 
is fit for purpose in order to ensure sustainable development, for example ensuring appropriate 

sustainable design measures to mitigate climate change. PD rights have become synonymous 
with poor quality, small homes. As Article 4 Directions would require planning permission to be 

secured for such developments in the future, this will ensure delivery of higher quality residential 
units and assist with the delivery of sustainable development in the borough. It is recognised 
that minimum space standards will be required for new housing developed through PD rights, 

but, important as these standards are, this will not guarantee the development of high quality 
housing; only full application of Development Plan policy can do this. 

4.4. Prior approval permissions have often been used as a ‘fallback’ position, whereby developers 
secure prior approval permission and then subsequently apply for full planning permission for a 
more comprehensive development on the same site, noting that if this permission was not 

granted then there is an extant prior approval that can be delivered. Fallback positions can be 
material considerations in the determination of planning applications although the weight given 

would depend on whether the applicant has secured the prior approval permission; it is not 
enough to just highlight that prior approval permission could be sought, as there is no guarantee 
prior approval will be granted. Where prior approval permission has been granted, an applicant 

would also need to demonstrate that there is a realistic intention to implement the prior 
approval, for the fallback to be given weight. It is noted that development granted through the 

office to residential PD rights must be completed within three years of the date of grant of prior 
approval, which will factor into any consideration of the weight given to a fallback position. 

4.5. The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are currently uncertain, but it is noted that it could have 

significant impacts on housing supply in particular. However, such impacts are not yet evident, 
for example through higher commercial vacancies or impacts on housing delivery statistics. If 

impacts do materialise, this does not necessarily have implications for the Directions, as these 
impacts could be a material consideration in a future planning application. However, the PPG 
notes that it is important for local planning authorities to monitor any Article 4 Directions 

regularly to make certain that the original reasons the Directions were made remain valid. 

Page 312



  

9 

Therefore, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as other positive and negative 
impacts, will be an ongoing consideration to help determine whether the Directions should 

remain in place. 

4.6. The Article 4 Directions would accompany the existing Directions which remove Part 3, Class O 
office to residential PD rights within the Business Improvement Areas and three Office 

Clusters16. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. This report recommends 18 non-immediate Article 4 Directions are confirmed to come into force 
on 11 May 2022. As a 12-month notice period to be given prior to the Directions coming into 
effect, compensation liability is removed.  

5.2. Costs associated with confirming the Article 4 Directions will be met by Planning Policy and 
Strategy and the Council’s legal services department. 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. Article 4 (1) of the GPDO allows local Planning authorities to withdraw certain PD Rights. The 
procedure for putting in place an Article 4 Direction is set out in Schedule 3 of the GPDO. The 

Council’s legal services department will be responsible for confirming the Directions, in line with 
the statutory requirements set out in the GPDO.  

6.2. There is a requirement to give notice of confirmation to owners and occupiers of every part of 
land within the areas to which the Directions relate, unless the local planning authority considers 
that the number of owners or occupiers within the area to which the direction relates makes 

individual service impracticable. The proposed Directions together encompass around 1,500 
properties (which includes instances where there are numerous properties within a single 
building). This level of notification is considered to be impracticable, hence individual notice will 

not be given (which is consistent with the approach taken as part of the notification process 
when the Directions were first made). Notice will be given by local advertisement and site 

notice, as per the other requirements of the GPDO.  

6.3. The GPDO requires notice of the proposed Directions to be given as soon as practicable after 
the Directions have been confirmed. 

Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN 

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background 

Documents: 
(Access via Contact 

Officer) 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 - 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_l

ocal_plan.pdf  
 
London Plan (adopted 2 March 2021), available from: 

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 

                                                 
16 These existing Directions will be replaced by new Directions which remove Part 3, Class MA PD rights  (although the 

Directions are yet to be confirmed). These PD rights effectively replace Part 3, Class O PD rights, hence the need for new 
Directions to be made to replace them. Further details are provided in the following Development Control Committee 
report which proposed Directions to remove Part 3, Class MA PD rights: 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088962/PROPOSED%20NON-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIG
HTS%20FOR%20USE%20CLASS%20E%20T.pdf  

Page 313

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088962/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20USE%20CLASS%20E%20T.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088962/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20USE%20CLASS%20E%20T.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088962/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20USE%20CLASS%20E%20T.pdf


  

10 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up
loads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  

National Planning Practice Guidance - 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required  

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England) (Amendment) (No. 3) Order 2020 - 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/756/contents/made  

‘PROPOSED NON-IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS 
TOREMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR OFFICE 
TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED 

OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS’, Development Control Committee 
19 November 2020, available from: 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NO
N-
IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOV

E%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OF
FICE%20TO%20RES.pdf 

 

Page 314

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/756/contents/made
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50084645/PROPOSED%20NON-IMMEDIATE%20ARTICLE%204%20DIRECTIONS%20TO%20REMOVE%20PERMITTED%20DEVELOPMENT%20RIGHTS%20FOR%20OFFICE%20TO%20RES.pdf


±
1:90,000November 2020 0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000500

Meters

Planning Division
Housing, Planning &

Regeneration
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100017661.

Proposed Article 4 Directions, Various locations
Restricting Office to Residential & Demolition

Page 315



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

 

1.1 The report provides an update on evidence relating to Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in 
the Borough, following a report to Development Control Committee, Renewal, Recreation and 
Housing Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee and Executive in summer 2021. 

1.2 At the meeting of 15 July 2021, Executive authorised the making of two Article 4 Directions to 
remove C3 to C4 permitted development (PD) rights; an immediate Direction covering Biggin 

Hill and Darwin wards, and a non-immediate Direction covering the rest of the Borough. The 
immediate Direction must be confirmed by 28 February 2021 in order to remain in force after 
this date, while the non-immediate Direction must be confirmed before 1 September in order for 

it to come into effect.  

1.3 The report summarises the current evidence available in relation to HMOs in the Borough, and 

considers that there is not sufficient justification to confirm either of the Directions, in line with 
the requirements of national planning policy and guidance. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2.1 To note the updated evidence relating to HMOs set out in this report, which supplements 
the May 2021 evidence base document at Appendix 1. 

2.2 That the immediate Article 4 Direction covering Biggin Hill and Darwin wards is not 
confirmed. 

2.3 That the non-immediate Article 4 Direction covering all wards of the Borough with the 

exception of Biggin Hill and Darwin is not confirmed. 

2.4 That officers continue to monitor evidence relating to HMOs in the Borough, including 
seeking more information on smaller HMOs borough wide and within existing and 

developing clusters. 

Report No. 
HPR2021/070 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

Date:  11 January 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: UPDATE ON HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION 
 

Contact Officer: Ben Johnson, Head of Planning Policy and Strategy 

E-mail:  Ben.Johnson@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Tim Horsman, Assistant Director (Planning) 

Ward: (All Wards); 

Page 317

Agenda Item 13



  

2 

2.5 That officers will report back to Development Control Committee when further data and / 
or guidance is available, particularly data from the 2021 Census, which suggests that 

additional planning controls may be necessary and justified. 

Page 318



  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: None   
 

 

Corporate Policy 
 

1.     Policy Status:  N/A 
 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration  
 

 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost 
 

2. Ongoing costs: Ongoing work and research related to HMOs (relevant to planning) will be met 

from the Planning Policy and Strategy budget. 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Planning Policy and Strategy 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £0.568m 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 

 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 10fte  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Article 4 and Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 

 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: None  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? No  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 

 

Page 319



  

4 

Background 
 

3.1 In May 2021, an evidence base report considering information relating to Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs), including consideration of existing concentrations and impacts, as well as 
approaches to control them, was considered by Development Control Committee (DCC)1; this 

report is provided at Appendix 1. The report set out details of the Article 4 Direction process (at 
paragraphs 4.4 to 4.11). Considering this evidence base report, officers noted in the 

accompanying May 2021 DCC report that there was currently little justification for putting in 
place Article 4 Directions to remove the PD rights which allow conversion of homes to HMOs, 
either Borough-wide or in specific areas. The May 2021 DCC report recommended that 

evidence relating to HMOs in the Borough was monitored further and that officers would report 
back to DCC when further data and / or guidance is available, particularly data from the 2021 

Census. 

3.2 Following consideration of the report, DCC endorsed the making of an immediate Article 4 
Direction to remove PD rights which allow conversion of homes to HMOs in Biggin Hill and 

Darwin wards; and a non-immediate Article 4 Direction to withdraw these PD rights across the 
remainder of the Borough2. The Directions suggested by DCC were referred to Executive for 

consideration. 

3.3 Prior to consideration by Executive, the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Committee (RRHPDS) considered the proposed Directions at the meeting of 16 

June 20213. RRHPDS resolved that the Executive be recommended to consider the imposition 
of Article 4 Directions as proposed by DCC4. 

3.4 Executive considered the proposed Article 4 Directions at the meeting of 30 June 20215. 

Executive sought clarification on the evidence base to support the proposed Directions and 
asked officers to investigate strengthening this evidence base in time for the matter to be re-

considered at the next meeting of the Executive6. Officers provided a further update regarding 
available evidence at the next meeting of the Executive on 15 July 20217. Executive then 
resolved that the proposed Directions should be made8.  

3.5 The Directions were ‘made’ on 1 September 2021. The immediate Article 4 Direction for Biggin 
Hill and Darwin wards became effective straight away, but must be confirmed within six months, 

i.e. by 28 February 2022, in order to remain in force after that date. Without confirmation before 
this date, the immediate direction will expire.  

3.6 The non-immediate Article 4 Direction covering the remainder of the Borough comes into effect 

(subject to a further decision to confirm) 1 September 2022). 

                                                 
1 Committee report available from: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=6912  
2 Minutes of committee meeting available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6912/Public%20minutes%20Thursday%2020-May-
2021%2019.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=11  
3 Committee report available from: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7196  
4 Minutes of committee meeting available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7196/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Jun-

2021%2019.00%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11  
5 Committee report available from: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7095  
6 Minutes of committee meeting available from: 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7095/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2030-Jun-
2021%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=11  
7 Committee report available from: https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7231  
8 Minutes of committee meeting available from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7231/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2015-Jul-
2021%2009.00%20Executive.pdf?T=1  

Page 320

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=6912
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6912/Public%20minutes%20Thursday%2020-May-2021%2019.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g6912/Public%20minutes%20Thursday%2020-May-2021%2019.30%20Development%20Control%20Committee.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7196
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7196/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Jun-2021%2019.00%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7196/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2016-Jun-2021%2019.00%20Renewal%20Recreation%20and%20Housing%20Policy%20Development%20and%20.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7095
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7095/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2030-Jun-2021%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7095/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2030-Jun-2021%2019.00%20Executive.pdf?T=11
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=7231
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7231/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2015-Jul-2021%2009.00%20Executive.pdf?T=1
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/g7231/Printed%20minutes%20Thursday%2015-Jul-2021%2009.00%20Executive.pdf?T=1


  

5 

3.7 Consultation on the Directions was undertaken from 1 September to 14 October 2021 (a period 
of six weeks). The consultation did not include serving notice on owners and occupiers of every 

part of land within the area to which the Direction relates, as this level of notification was 
considered impracticable; this is consistent with the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (“the GPDO”).  

3.8 Notice was given by local advertisement and site notices in a central location within each ward, 
which exceeds the minimum requirements of the GPDO. Details were also provided on the 

Council’s website.  

3.9 No representations on the Directions were received consultation period, although the Directions 
did attract some press attention on Licensing blogs9 after the consultation period had expired. 

3.10 Executive, at the meeting of 15 July 202110, also resolved that Licensing officers be asked to 
review arrangements for all sizes of HMOs including those with three or more occupants. 

Licencing colleagues are currently undertaking a ‘Tenure Intelligence’ project improve the 
understanding of the quantum and quality of HMOs in the Borough. This work is ongoing. 

Evidence Base Update 

3.11 The Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bromley Evidence Base document (May 2021), at 
Appendix 1, brings together evidence relating to HMOs across planning, housing and licensing. 

The report remains largely up to date, but there are several areas with further updates post-May 
2021.  

Planning Policy 

3.12 It is noted that the NPPF was amended in July 2021 in relation to Article 4 Directions, but the 
substantive change was for Directions which relate to a change from non-residential use to 
residential use; for other Directions (such as any Direction removing C3 to C4 PD rights), the 

requirements remain unchanged, i.e. Directions should be limited to situations where an Article 
4 direction is necessary to protect local amenity or the well-being of the area. 

3.13 The NPPF change does state that Directions should apply to the smallest geographical area 
possible. The PPG notes that the potential harm that a Direction is intended to address should 
be clearly identified. 

Licensing 

3.14 Table 1 of the May 2021 HMO evidence base document (at Appendix 1) details the total 

number of HMO Licences by Planning Use Class and Postcode, based on figures available at 
end of April 2021. Since April 2021, there has been an increase in the total number of licensed 
HMOs in the borough. The updated Table 1 below details the total number of HMO Licences by 

Planning Use Class and Postcode, based on figures available at end of November 2021; the 
table includes the April 2021 figures for comparison. 

Table 1: HMO Licences by Planning Use Class and Postcode, based on figures available at 
end of April 2021 and November 2021 ( 

HMO 

Licences  

Planning Use Class Spread by 

postcode  

Licences within postcode 

                                                 
9 ‘Shock as Bromley Councillors approve HMO planning restrictions against planning officer advice’, London Property 
Licensing, available from: https://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/shock-bromley-councillors-approve-hmo-planning-
restrictions-against-planning-officer-advice; and ‘Council secretly votes through HMO planning restrictions following 

petition pressure’, Landlord Zone, available from: https://www.landlordzone.co.uk/news/council-secretly-votes-through-
hmo-planning-restrictions-following-petition-pressure/  
10 Op cit, footnote 8 

Page 321

https://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/shock-bromley-councillors-approve-hmo-planning-restrictions-against-planning-officer-advice
https://www.londonpropertylicensing.co.uk/shock-bromley-councillors-approve-hmo-planning-restrictions-against-planning-officer-advice
https://www.landlordzone.co.uk/news/council-secretly-votes-through-hmo-planning-restrictions-following-petition-pressure/
https://www.landlordzone.co.uk/news/council-secretly-votes-through-hmo-planning-restrictions-following-petition-pressure/


  

6 

 29/04/21 23/11/21 Difference 

5 person & 

6 person 

C4 BR1 21 22 1 

BR2  12 19 7 

BR3 15 16 1 

BR4 1 1 0 

BR5 23 33 10 

BR6 13 11 -2 

BR7 2 3 1 

SE19 1 0 -1 

SE20 14 14 0 

SE26 5 5 0 

SE9 1 3 2 

TN16 0 3 3 
Total HMO Licences - 5 person & 6 person 108 130 22 

7 persons 

and above 

Sui Generis BR1 14 15 1 

BR2 7 7 0 

BR3 11 13 2 

BR5 12 12 0 

BR6 8 10 2 

BR7 2 2 0 

SE19 1 1 0 

SE20 11 13 2 

SE9 1 0 -1 
Total HMO Licences - 7 persons and above 67 73 6 
Total HMO licenses Licences for 5 persons and above 
HMOs 

175 203 28 

 

3.15 As shown in Table 1 and the evidence base document, there are postcodes with relatively 
higher numbers of HMOs, but there is little additional evidence to suggest that this has 

manifested into specific adverse impacts. There are now 203 licenced 5 person+ HMOs, which 
falls short of the anticipated increase following the October 2018 mandatory licencing changes 
(see paragraph 3.1 of the May 2021 document); at that time 219 registrations were anticipated. 

3.16 There has been an increase of 10 HMO licensed properties in the BR5 postcode in the 7 
months since April 2021, and an increase of three HMO licenses in TN16 (Biggin Hill) over the 

same period. 

3.17 There has also been an increase of 7 properties licenced as HMOs within the BR2 postcode 
(Bromley South / Bromley Common). 

3.18 Paragraphs 3.14 to 3.16 of the May 2021 Evidence Base report noted a lack of reliable data 
relating to smaller 3 and 4 person HMOs. This is still the case, as no reliable information has 

come to light following the production of the May 2021 document. The first results from the 
Census 2021 are expected to be released in late Spring 2022; this may include data relating 
HMOs, although this could be delayed until a later data release. 

3.19 The licensing team have prepared revised amenity standards for HMOs, to drive up standards 
in Bromley and improve housing conditions to protect vulnerable private rented sector tenants. 

Page 322



  

7 

The revised standards were considered at the General Purposes and Licencing Committee 
meeting on 30 November 202111, where the Committee resolved to adopt them12. 

Planning Enforcement  

3.20 Paragraph 3.18 and Table 2 of the May 2021 HMO evidence base document provide details on 
Planning Enforcement Investigation cases relating to HMOs (since 2015). Since May 2021, 

there have been an additional 22 investigations, 13 of which were not in breach of planning 
regulations. 

3.21 Of the remaining 9 investigations, 8 are still currently being investigated. One investigation 
found a breach but there is a planning application pending consideration for this site which 
would regularise the use if permitted. Table 2 below sets out the updated figures.  

3.22 There has been a significantly increasing number of investigations in the last couple of years, 
with the vast majority of cases since 2015 - 52 properties - being registered for investigation in 

2020 and 2021. As Table 2 shows, the majority of investigations have concluded that there was 
no breach, with a large proportion still under investigation. 

Table 2: Planning Investigation Cases since 2015 (Updated 1 December 2021) 

Year Planning 

Investigations 
relating to HMOs 

No 

Breach  

Other (e.g. notice served 

or permission) 

Current 

Investigation 

2015 2 2 - - 

2016 3 1 2 (1 application granted, 1 

notice issued) 

- 

2017 6 5 1 (notice issued) - 

2018 3 1 1 (Appeal in Progress) 1 

2019 3 2 1 (application granted) - 

2020 14 8 1 (application granted) 5 

2021 38 19 1 (application pending) 18 
Total  69 38 7 24 

 

3.23 Table 3 looks solely at investigations registered in 2021 grouped by ward. Biggin Hill has the 
largest number of investigations of any ward, of which 3 have been found not to be in breach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
11 ‘REVISED AMENITY STANDARDS FOR HMOS’, General Purposes and Licencing Committee report, 30 November 
2021, available from: 

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50093966/Revised%20Amenity%20Standards%20for%20HMOs.pdf  
12 Based on informal notes of the meeting. The formal minutes of the meeting have not yet been published at the time of 
writing. 

Page 323

https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50093966/Revised%20Amenity%20Standards%20for%20HMOs.pdf


  

8 

Table 3: Planning Investigation Cases 2021, by ward 

Ward 
Total 
Investigations 

Investigation 
Pending  

Breach  No Breach 

Bickley 2 2 0 0 

Biggin Hill 8 5 0 3 

Bromley Common 
& Keston 1 

0 0 1 

Bromley Town 1 1 0 0 

Chelsfield & Pratts 
Bottom 1 

0 0 1 

Copers Cope 1 1 0 0 

Cray Valley East 5 1 1 3 

Cray Valley West 4 3 0 1 

Crystal Palace 1 1 0 0 

Darwin 1 0 0 1 

Hayes & Coney 
Hall 1 

0 0 1 

Mottingham & 

Chislehurst North 6 

1 0 5 

Orpington 5 2 0 3 

Penge & Cator 1 1 0 0 

TOTAL  38 18 1 19 

 

Conclusion and recommendations 

3.24 Taking into account the limited additional evidence post May 2021, officers consider that there 
remains no strong justification to support the Article 4 Directions, in line with the requirements 
of national planning policy and guidance. Officers therefore consider that there is no 

justification to confirm either the immediate Direction or non-immediate Direction. 

3.25 While there has been an increase in licensed HMOs since May 2021, this increase is not 

significant and there are no obvious harms associated with the increase; as noted above, the 
total amount of licensed HMOs still falls below levels previously projected. Associated activity 
such as planning enforcement investigations remains fairly low, suggesting a lack of any 

evidenced harms from HMOs that are operating. 

3.26 There remains a gap in data for smaller HMOs, which is unlikely to be addressed until data 

becomes available through the Census or through further work being undertaken by the 
Council’s licensing team. The lack of information is not reason in itself to justify an Article 4 
Direction.  

3.27 As with the May 2021 report, the evidence does indicate specific areas of which should be 
kept under review with potential for future action; there is a trend of increasing HMO provision 

(albeit limited) in the BR2 and BR5 postcodes, with potential increases noted in Biggin Hill. 

3.28 Officers will draw on relevant data to maintain an up-to-date position on HMOs in the Borough, 
including Census 2021 data when available. Officers in planning, housing and licencing will 

continue to work closely together to assess the balance of the contribution of HMO’s to  
meeting local and strategic housing needs and the impact on local neighbourhoods. 

4.1 There are no specific policy implications arising from this report. As noted, HMOs can 
potentially cause adverse impacts with regard to policy objectives (e.g. quality of housing) but 

Page 324



  

9 

evidence does not suggest any particularly significant adverse impacts in the Borough 
currently. It is also noted that HMOs can also have positive impacts in terms of addressing 

housing need. 

4.2 The Council is in the early stages of a Local Plan review. The review could look at developing 
policies related to HMOs. 

5.1 If the immediate Direction is not confirmed, this will remove the risk of compensation liability 
which currently applies.  

5.2 Continued work and research relating to HMOs will be undertaken using existing staff 
resource. 

5.3 If the Article 4 Directions are confirmed, compensation liability will remain for the Biggin Hill 

and Darwin immediate Directions until 1 September 2022. Any applications submitted prior to 
this date that would otherwise have been permitted through C3 to C4 PD rights could claim 

compensation if the application is refused or approved subject to more limiting than those that 
would have been imposed by the PD rights.  

5.4 The grounds on which compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive expenditure or 

other loss or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development rights. 
this could include differences in rental value between a C3 residential dwelling and an HMO, 

which could be substantial. 

5.5 The non-immediate Direction would not attract compensation liability if confirmed, as one 
year’s notice has been given prior to it coming into effect. 

6.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the report recommendations. 

6.2 If a decision is made to confirm the Directions, the decision would be delegated to the Portfolio 
Holder for Renewal, Recreation and Housing, subsequent to being considered by RRHPDS. 

As a key decision, confirmation of the Directions would need to be added to the Council’s 
forward plan for 28 days prior to a decision being made, although it could be considered by 

RHPDS during this period. Call-in would also be applicable to any decision.  

6.3 As noted in the report, the immediate Direction will expire on 1 March 2022 if it is not 
confirmed before this date. Taking into account the process noted above, there is sufficient 

time to confirm the immediate Direction if such a decision is made. 

6.4 The GPDO requires notice of any confirmed Directions to be given as soon as practicable after 

the Directions have been confirmed. Notice would be given by local advertisement and site 
notice, as per the requirements of the GPDO.  

6.5 There is a requirement to give notice of confirmation of any Directions to owners and 

occupiers of every part of land within the areas to which the Directions relate, unless the local 
planning authority considers that the number of owners or occupiers within the area to which 

the direction relates makes individual service impracticable. The HMO Article 4 Directions 
together encompass tens of thousands of properties. If a decision is made to confirm the 
Directions, this level of notification would be impracticable, hence individual notice will not be 

given (which is consistent with the approach taken as part of the notification process when the 
Directions were first made). 

6.6 It is noted that the local planning authority (LPA) cannot modify a Direction; that power resides 
with the Secretary of State only. If members consider that the areas covered by a Direction 
should be amended, the only ways to achieve this is either by requesting that the Secretary of 

State modifies the Direction (which he would have no obligation to do); or by cancelling the 

Page 325



  

10 

Direction and making a replacement Direction covering the modified area. The latter approach 
would mean that the one-year notice period for any non-immediate Direction would restart. 

 

Non-
Applicable 
Sections: 

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN 

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Background 

Documents: 
(Access via 

Contact 
Officer) 

Bromley Local Plan 2019 - 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.p

df  
 

London Plan (adopted 2 March 2021), available from: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf 

National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf  

National Planning Practice Guidance - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-
permission-required  

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended), available from: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made  

Development Control Committee report, 21 May 2020, HOMES IN MULTIPLE 

OCCUPATION - 
http://cdslbb/documents/s50081785/Houses%20in%20Multiple%20Occupation.pdf 

Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bromley - Evidence Base (May 2021), available 
from: 
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088965/Enc.%201%20for%20HOUSES

%20IN%20MULTIPLE%20OCCUPATION.pdf  

 

Page 326

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/4768/bromley_local_plan.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/the_london_plan_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made
http://cdslbb/documents/s50081785/Houses%20in%20Multiple%20Occupation.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088965/Enc.%201%20for%20HOUSES%20IN%20MULTIPLE%20OCCUPATION.pdf
https://cds.bromley.gov.uk/documents/s50088965/Enc.%201%20for%20HOUSES%20IN%20MULTIPLE%20OCCUPATION.pdf


 

 
 

 

 

 

Houses of Multiple Occupation in Bromley  

Evidence Base  

May 2021 

 

 

Page 327



 

1 
 

 

1. Background 

1.1. In basic terms, a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is a home occupied by 
more than one household; however, HMOs are defined in a number of ways 
by different Council and government departments for the purposes of 
planning, housing and council tax. The purposes of these regimes are distinct, 
and the differences between HMO definitions in relation to the numbers of 
occupants are such that they do not align comfortably. 
 

1.2. A 2008 report by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) ‘Evidence Gathering – Housing in Multiple Occupation 
and possible planning responses Final Report’1 noted that:  

 
‘HMOs consist of a variety of property types including: bedsits, shared 
houses, households with lodger, purpose-built HMOs, hostels, guesthouses, 
bed and breakfast establishment and self-contained flats, although not all of 
these accommodation types fall within the planning definition of an HMO or a 
housing definition of an HMO as defined under the 2004 Housing Act. 
However, it should be noted that despite the legal definitions of what 
constitutes an HMO, some properties such as shared houses where up to 5 or 
so individuals live together, are often regarded by some stakeholders as 
houses in multiple occupation’ (Paragraph 2.1) 

 
1.3. Local authorities have a mandatory licence requirement for certain types of 

HMOs to ensure they are properly managed and maintained and kept safe. 
There is scope for Local Authorities to extend the licencing regime to require 
licences for HMOs not falling within the mandatory licencing regime, either by 
area (selective licencing) or by type (additional licencing). 
 

1.4. Planning permission is required for larger HMOs which are not considered to 
fit within any particular planning use class. However, within the last decade 
there has been a significant increase in the number of family homes being 
converted into small HMOs through permitted development (PD) across 
London, including conversions which achieve National Minimum Standards2 
(known to licencing as “minimum standards HMOs”). Across parts of London 
where evidence suggests that concentrations of HMOs have caused harm, 
there has been an increased use of Article 4 Directions which require planning 
applications to be submitted for changes of use, which would otherwise have 
fallen under PD. 

 
2. Legislation, policy and guidance  

Planning 

                                            
1https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919230509/http://www.communities.gov.uk/docume
nts/planningandbuilding/pdf/evidencegatheringresearch.pdf  
2https://www.rla.org.uk/landlord/guides/housing_act/docs/all/minimum_national_amenity_standards_f
or_licensable_hmos.shtml  

Page 328

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919230509/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/evidencegatheringresearch.pdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919230509/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/evidencegatheringresearch.pdf
https://www.rla.org.uk/landlord/guides/housing_act/docs/all/minimum_national_amenity_standards_for_licensable_hmos.shtml
https://www.rla.org.uk/landlord/guides/housing_act/docs/all/minimum_national_amenity_standards_for_licensable_hmos.shtml


 

2 
 

2.1. The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), 
planning classifies two categories of HMO: 

 A small HMO is defined as a dwelling that is occupied by between 3 and 6 
unrelated individuals who share basic amenities such as a kitchen or 
bathroom. A small HMO is classified as a ‘C4’ use within the Use Class 
Order, 2015. Single dwelling houses (classified as C3 use) have PD rights 
to change use to a C4 use and vice-versa without the need for planning 
permission under The Town and Country Planning, (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (“the GPDO”).  

 A large HMO is defined as a property that is occupied by more than 6 
unrelated individuals that share basic amenities such as a kitchen or 
bathroom. A large HMO is classified as Sui Generis (a use that does not 
fall in any Class). The creation of a large HMO requires planning 
permission.  

 
2.2. When the current PD regime for small HMOs came into force (April 2010) the 

explanatory memorandum3 to the amendment advised that ‘the Government 
considered that this [requirement for planning permission] is imposing an 
unnecessary regulatory burden on landlords and local authorities in the areas 
where HMO development is not causing problems’ (paragraph 7.3).   
 

2.3. The memorandum recognises that HMOs can cause problems –  increased 
noise and loss of community balance are the two examples given – where 
there are high concentrations, but also that they ‘In many areas HMOs are 
either not of concern or are considered to be a valuable source of low cost 
housing’.  
 

National planning policy and guidance 
 

2.4. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) does not make specific 
reference to HMOs but refers to assessing housing need:  

 
‘size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community 
should be assessed and reflected in planning policies (including, but not 
limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, older 
people, students, people with disabilities, service families, travellers, people 
who rent their homes and people wishing to commission or build their own 
homes.’(paragraph 61) 
 

2.5. The NPPF (paragraph 2) highlights the requirement in planning law for 
planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Currently permission is only 
required for larger HMOs of 7 or more people. 
 

2.6. Bromley’s Development Plan consists of the London Plan 2021 and the 
Bromley Local Plan 2019.  The London Plan 2021 is the most up-to-date 
Development Plan Document for the London Borough of Bromley, and 
therefore, in accordance with section 38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory 

                                            
3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2135/pdfs/uksiem_20102135_en.pdf  

Page 329

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/2135/pdfs/uksiem_20102135_en.pdf


 

3 
 

Purchase Act 2004, “if to any extent a policy contained in a development plan 
for an area conflicts with another policy in the development plan the conflict 
must be resolved in favour of the policy which is contained in the last 
document to become part of the development plan.” 

 
London Plan (2021) 
 
2.7. The London Plan 2021 acknowledges the potential positive and negative 

impacts of HMOs and aims to achieve high standards of residential quality 
and design and ensure mixed and balanced communities. 

 
2.8. Policy H9 Ensuring Best Use of Stock, clause D, states  
 

‘Boroughs should take account of the role of houses in multiple occupation 
(HMOs) in meeting local and strategic housing needs. Where they are of a 
reasonable standard they should generally be protected’ 

 
2.9. Supporting text paragraph 4.9.4 highlights the role of HMOs and generally 

seeks to protect them. Authorities considering article 4 directions to restrict 
their C3 to C4 PD rights should take into account their strategic and local 
importance in terms of addressing housing need: 

 
‘Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) are an important part of London’s 
housing offer, reducing pressure on other elements of the housing stock. 
Their quality can, however, give rise to concern. Where they are of a 
reasonable standard they should generally be protected and the net effects of 
any loss should be reflected in Annual Monitoring Reports. In considering 
proposals which might constrain this provision, including Article 4 Directions 
affecting changes between Use Classes C3 and C4, boroughs should take 
into account the strategic as well as local importance of HMOs.’ 

 
2.10. The Mayors Housing SPG 2016, in referring to large houses also advises that 

a careful balance needs to be struck “between local concerns, such as those 
to protect large houses for local family occupation, and the contribution they 
can make to meeting strategic and local needs if converted to HMOs” 
(paragraph 3.4.2).  

 
Bromley Local Plan (2019) 

2.11. The Bromley Local Plan vision for ‘Homes’ reads: 
 

‘A range of decent homes of different types and sizes are available and 
housing supply is tailored to local needs. Any new housing complements and 
respects the character of the neighbourhood in which it is located, paying 
particular attention to the density of development, parking requirements and 
improving the choice of accommodation available.’ (paragraph 1.3.6) 

 
2.12. Local Plan objectives for homes are set out in paragraph 1.3.7: 
 

Page 330



 

4 
 

 Ensure there is an appropriate supply of homes to meet the varied needs 
and incomes of the local population, which responds to changing 
demographics, in particular as the population ages. 

 Ensure new residential development, extensions and conversions 
complement and respect local character. 

 Ensure new homes are designed to minimise environmental impact and 
are supported by appropriate social and environmental infrastructure. 

 
2.13. The Local Plan includes policies relating to HMOs, notably Policy 9 which 

seeks to address the potential negative impacts associated with conversions, 
including to non-self-contained units, as well as policies relating to housing 
need.    

 
2.14. Policy 1 Housing Supply sets out a number of ways in which the Borough’s 

housing target will be achieved, including “g - The provision of suitable non 
self-contained units” (which includes houses in multiple occupation). 

 
2.15. Policy 9 Residential Conversions sets criteria for planning applications for the 

conversions of single dwellings into two or more self-contained units or non-
self-contained accommodation, advising that such conversions will be 
permitted provided that: 
a) the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring dwellings will not be harmed by 

loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight or by noise and disturbance and; 
b) the resulting accommodation will provide a high quality living environment 

for the intended occupiers and; 
c) on and off street parking resulting from the development will not cause 

unsafe or inconvenient highway conditions and; 
d) the character and appearance of the area is not adversely affected and; 
e) there will not be a detrimental impact on housing choice in the locality and 

where accommodation at ground floor level is proposed, preference is 
given for family housing units with direct access to a garden, and safe and 
secure access is provided to each dwelling. 

 
2.16. The supporting text advises that the policy seeks to ensure that older 

properties are efficiently used to increase the choice and supply for smaller 
households as an alternative to purpose-built flats. It refers to the conversion 
of houses that are ‘too large for single occupation’ and notes that the existing 
housing stock comprising of small and medium size family dwellings 
continues to play an important role in meeting housing need.    

 
2.17. The potential adverse external effects of conversions are set out in paragraph 

2.1.72 which clarifies that the Council will resist conversions where they may 
result in a traffic hazard and be detrimental to the amenities of the residential 
area by reason of noise, visual impact or other inconvenience 

 
2.18. Supporting text 2.1.73 relates specifically to non-self-contained units, advising 

that ‘they should be retained and improved where appropriate. Applications 
for non-self-contained accommodation will be supported if they provide a high 
standard living environment as defined in this and other policies in the plan. 

Page 331



 

5 
 

Proposals for non-self-contained should also ensure that the relevant 
Environmental Health standards are met.’ 

 
2.19. Policy 4 Housing Design requires all new housing developments to achieve a 

high standard of design and layout whilst enhancing the quality of local 
places. Housing schemes will also need to respect local character, spatial 
standards, physical context and density. The policy sets out a number of 
criteria which are expected to be demonstrated. 

 
2.20. Supporting text paragraph 2.1.55 advises that ‘Consideration should be given 

to the standards alongside the achievement of other objectives in the London 
Plan. The standards apply to new build, conversions and changes of use but 
not to specialist housing, however the Council will still expect a satisfactory 
standard of accommodation to be provided in applications relating to 
specialist housing (student, sheltered and HMO accommodation)’. 

 
Housing Need and Supply 

2.21. The Bromley Housing Strategy (2019 – 29)4 advises that demand for 
affordable housing dramatically outstrips supply. Homelessness applications 
are increasing, and the need for homes, particularly those at a social rent, is 
growing all the time. The Strategy notes that Bromley has a lower proportion 
of socially rented housing than anywhere else in London – 14%, compared to 
an average of 23%. 
 

2.22. Nationally the private rented sector currently makes up 19% of the total 
housing stock in England. Whilst the private rented sector has grown steadily 
in recent years, it remains relatively small. The Housing Strategy has 
identified approximately 21,000 privately rented homes across the borough, – 
14% of all housing, including some wards exceeding 19%. The average 
across London is 27% 
 

2.23. The Bromley Homelessness Strategy 2018-20235 advises that one of the 
causes of rising levels of homelessness within Bromley is the affordability gap 
and reduced supply of lettings. It advises that many individuals and families 
simply find themselves priced out of the local market and have little option 
other than to approach the local authority for assistance. 
 

2.24. The South East London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
(2014)6 covering Bromley, Bexley, Lewisham, Southwark and Greenwich , 
indicated that all boroughs, including Bromley, had a significant under-supply 
of one-bedroomed units against demand as measured by the bedroom 
standard (Table 36). 
 

                                            
4 https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5122/bromley_council_housing_strategy_2019-
2029.pdf  
5https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200052/housing_advice_and_options/1182/homelessness_strategy
_2018-23  
6https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/3046/sd31_south_east_london_strategic_housin
g_market_assessment_2014.pdf  

Page 332

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5122/bromley_council_housing_strategy_2019-2029.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5122/bromley_council_housing_strategy_2019-2029.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200052/housing_advice_and_options/1182/homelessness_strategy_2018-23
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200052/housing_advice_and_options/1182/homelessness_strategy_2018-23
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/3046/sd31_south_east_london_strategic_housing_market_assessment_2014.pdf
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/3046/sd31_south_east_london_strategic_housing_market_assessment_2014.pdf


 

6 
 

2.25. The SHMA notes that in Bromley and Bexley, family accommodation 
predominates, when compared to Lewisham, Southwark and Greenwich, and 
it suggests, on the basis of London findings of the English Housing Survey 
(2009 – 2012), that this may be attributable to income bands within the 
differing boroughs. Bromley & Bexley exhibited a greater share of higher 
income bands, whilst lower median incomes were noted in Lewisham, 
Southwark and Greenwich, where the housing stock is generally more suited 
to the housing of smaller households (paragraph 4.37). 
 

2.26. The SMHA highlights that cost concerns play an important part in influencing 
household space consumption decisions and highlights that over the long 
term, the market has adjusted the housing stock in London to create smaller 
units in response to cost pressures, including through the conversion of single 
family houses into flats. It advises that further pressures for adjustments of the 
existing housing stock of this kind must be expected in London, given the 
intensification of demand and resultant squeeze on affordability (paragraph 
6.15). 
 

2.27. The London SHMA advised that growth in the private rented sector has been 
particularly rapid in recent years, from around 15% of London’s households in 
the early 1990s to around 27% in 2017. Average rents also rose more quickly 
in London than in the rest of England both before and after the 2009 
recession. 
 

2.28. The GLA Quarterly Housing Market Report 02 March 20217 indicates that 
whilst asking rents in Inner London have fallen sharply in the last year, they 
have remained steady in Outer London. 

 
Licencing 

2.29. The 2004 Housing Act (sections 254 & 257) defines a HMO where a building 
or part of a building  

 

 ‘’is occupied by more than one household and where more than one 
household shares, or lacks an amenity, such as a bathroom, toilet or 
cooking facilities;  

 is occupied by more than one household and which is a converted 
building, but not entirely into self-contained flats (whether or not some 
amenities are shared or lacking); and or, 

 is converted into self-contained flats, but does not meet as a minimum 
standard the requirements of the 1991 Building Regulations (known as 
S275 HMOs), and at least one third of flats are occupied under short 
tenancies.’’  

 
2.30. To regulate the management and safety of larger, more complex HMOs, in 

response to the risk from hazards associated with fire and poor hygiene, the 
Housing Act 2004 introduced a national mandatory licensing scheme for all 

                                            
7 https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/airdrive-images/wp-
content/uploads/sites/6/20210302181638/Quarterly-housing-market-report-Q4-2020-web-version.pdf  

Page 333

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/airdrive-images/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/20210302181638/Quarterly-housing-market-report-Q4-2020-web-version.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/airdrive-images/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/20210302181638/Quarterly-housing-market-report-Q4-2020-web-version.pdf


 

7 
 

three storey HMOs occupied by five or more unrelated persons. The 
legislation became operative on 6 April 2006.  

 
2.31. New regulations came into force on 1 October 2018 which removed the 'three 

or more storeys' criteria, effectively extending the mandatory scheme to 
include most houses and flats occupied by five or more people in two or more 
households who share a kitchen, bathroom and/or toilet facilities.  

 
2.32. The purpose of the mandatory licensing regime is to ensure that HMOs for 5 

or more people - those that are likely to present the most significant health 
and safety risks - are known to the local authority, requiring evidence that 
appropriate management arrangements have been made for the property, 
and that internal conditions are satisfactory.   

 
2.33. Licenced HMOs include those licenced for 7 persons and above (Sui Generis 

Use Class) and HMOs accommodating 5 or 6 people (Planning Use Class 
C4) which do not currently require planning permission; however this 
mandatory licencing scheme does not include smaller Use Class C4 HMOs of 
3 or 4 people. 

 
2.34. A licence holder commits an offence if, without reasonable excuse, the licence 

holder breaches the licence by:  

 knowingly permitting the HMO to be occupied by more persons or 
households than is authorised by the licence;  

 failing to comply with a condition of the licence such as a prohibition 
against occupation as sleeping accommodation.  
 

2.35. The guidance advises that if convicted for such an offence the licence holder 
is liable to an unlimited fine but that the local housing authority may impose a 
financial penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution.  
 

2.36. It advises that local housing authorities should consider this within their 
compliance and enforcement policies and devise a proportionate process for 
dealing with landlords in breach.  Furthermore, the expectation, in common 
with general prosecuting functions, would be that a local housing authority 
should only proceed with a prosecution if it is in the public interest to do so.   

 
2.37. A local authority may refuse to grant a licence, in the following circumstances:  

 The HMO is exempt or ineligible for licensing. 

 The HMO cannot be physically or practically brought up to the standards 
required by the local authority.  

 The proposed Licence holder or manager is not a fit and proper person. 
 
2.38. In addition to the mandatory scheme, each council has the power to introduce 

additional or selective licensing schemes under Part II of the Housing Act 
2004, and these schemes run on a rolling 5-year basis.   

  Additional HMO licensing – this can be imposed on types of HMOs that do 
not meet the criteria for a mandatory licence to help manage a wider range 
of HMOs. For example, an additional licence scheme could be applied to 
smaller privately rented shared houses, HMOs or those occupied by a 

Page 334



 

8 
 

particular social group such as students. A Council decides on what type 
of HMOs need a licence. For example, Newham Council has included all 
HMOs within its additional licensing scheme subject to a small number of 
statutory exemptions, Hounslow only covers properties that are two or 
more storeys high occupied by four or more people in two or more 
households, and Brent applies the scheme to all privately rented 
properties occupied by three or more people making up two or more 
households, regardless of the number of storeys in the property.   

 Selective HMO licensing  - applies to all other privately rented single family 
dwellings within a designated area.   

 
2.39. A Local Authority can introduce either scheme or both (dependent on 

evidence); these schemes are discretionary, and how they typically work is 
that landlords of eligible properties pay for a licence, their properties, are 
subjected to legal checks. 

 
3. HMO data 

Licenced HMOs  

3.1. Bromley currently has 175 licenced HMOs, as identified through the 
mandatory licensing regime. This quantum has increased since July 2018 
when Bromley had 82 mandatory registered HMOs, due largely to the 
widened mandatory licensing regime which came into force in October 2018. 
A council report published in advance of the October 2018 changes 
anticipated an increase to 219 registrations, to cover all HMOs of 5 or more 
individuals; however, this scale of increase did not materialise.  

 
3.2. Appendix 1 maps the locations of licenced HMOs within the Borough and the 

maximum number of people in the property. The map indicates the areas of 
greatest intensity of HMOs, notably a loose but distinct cluster along the Cray 
Valley to Orpington and tighter clusters in Bromley Town Centre (following the 
general line of the A21 from Bromley Common to the boundary with 
Lewisham); in Beckenham Town Centre; and in the area of Penge & Anerley. 

Page 335



 

9 
 

Table 1: HMO Licences by Planning Use Class and Postcode, based on figures 

available at end of April 2021 

HMO 
Licences  

Planning 
Use 
Class 

Number 
of 
Licences 

Spread by postcode  Licences 
within 
postcode 

5 person & 
6 person 

C4 108 BR1 (Bromley Town Centre) 21 

BR2 (Bromley Common) 12 

BR3 (Beckenham) 15 

BR4 1 

BR5 (Cray Valley) 23 

BR6 (Orpington) 13 

BR7 2 

SE19 1 

SE20 (Penge) 14 

SE26 5 

SE9 1 

7 persons 
and above 

Sui 
Generis 

67 BR1 (Bromley Town Centre) 14 

BR2 7 

BR3 (Beckenham) 11 

BR5 (Cray Valley) 12 

BR6 8 

BR7 2 

SE19 1 

SE20 (Penge) 11 

SE9 1 

Total  175  175 

 
3.3. 40 of the 172 licensed HMOs (23% of the total, and 37% of the Planning Use 

Class C4 HMOs) are flagged by the Bromley’s licencing teams as ‘minimum 
standards’ (see paragraph 1.4 above for definition) 
 

3.4. Of the 40 ‘minimum standards’ HMOs, 26 are located with BR5 postcode, 
mainly in the Cray Valley. In some cases, multiple HMOs are in close 
proximity including an instance of 3 ‘minimum standards’ HMOs in a single 
road. 

 
3.5. As discussed in paragraph 3.22 below, officers are aware of interest from 

several HMO providers who wish to purchase property in the Borough and 
convert to HMOs. This includes interest in properties in Biggin Hill; this has 
not yet manifested in formal figures although there has been some coverage 
in local media8. The 2011 Census data suggests Biggin Hill had no ‘shared 
household spaces’ ten years ago.  

 
3.6. Licencing receive many contacts from the public regarding suspected and / or  

problematic HMO properties. The Housing Enforcement Team (HET) 

                                            
8 News Shopper article, Biggin Hill: Calls for planning approval for HMO conversions, 15 April 2021, 
available from: https://www.newsshopper.co.uk/news/19235736.biggin-hill-calls-planning-approval-
hmo-conversions/  

Page 336

https://www.newsshopper.co.uk/news/19235736.biggin-hill-calls-planning-approval-hmo-conversions/
https://www.newsshopper.co.uk/news/19235736.biggin-hill-calls-planning-approval-hmo-conversions/


 

10 
 

investigate houses and flats which are thought to be in multiple occupation. 
Where it is established a house or flat is in multiple occupation, HET apply the 
local authority’s adopted standards for HMOs and where these standards are 
met will licence the property using its enforcement powers for mandatory 
HMO licensing. 
 

3.7. Where necessary for HMOs and other properties, the Public Health Nuisance 
Team (PHNT) investigate a variety of public nuisances and may use their 
enforcement powers to address concerns. Similarly, the Anti-Social Behaviour 
Team (ASBT) investigate, and where appropriate enforce against, anti-social 
behaviour. 
 

3.8. Over the past 5 years there have been formal investigations into 8 HMOs 
which have been the subject of various complaints on a periodic basis, 
coinciding with changes in the occupation of the HMO. Such investigations 
may take months to complete as evidence and information is gathered and, 
where appropriate, informal and formal enforcement action taken.  The 
problems reported related to:  

 Noise nuisance / loud music  

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Inadequate refuse storage bins  / accumulations of rubbish / vermin 

 Overcrowding  

 Inadequate shared kitchen size 

 Disrepair  

 Leaking water supply 

 Police matters 
 

3.9. Of the 8 highlighted problematic HMOs, one had 4 occupants and did not 
therefore require licencing; and the remaining 7 were ‘minimum standards’ 
HMOs, 6 of which were located in the Cray Valley (postcode area ‘BR5 3’) 
 

Other evidence 
 

3.10. The GLA Report ‘Housing in London 2020 The evidence base for the London 
Housing Strategy’9  advises that the number of HMOs that have been issued 
with mandatory licences in London increased by 30% from 9,020 in 2018 to a 
high of 11,700 in 2019. The report suggests that the number of HMOs that 
have been issued with mandatory licences are a fraction of the total number 
of HMOs. In 2019, local authorities estimated there were a total of 185,910 
HMOs in London, of which 46,540, approximately a quarter, were mandatory 
licensable. 

 

                                            
9 https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-
19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-
HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-
1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-
Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-
SignedHeaders=host  

Page 337

https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/housing-london/2021-03-19T16%3A08%3A42/Housing%20in%20London%202020%20v2.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20210503%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20210503T214907Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=4a49b08858c2126fe18634f92c95ada54784217e6b822035c0cfe1e1a0c52b83&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host


11 

3.11. The Mayor of London / GLA (2018) study ‘Piloting the London Office of Data 
Analytics’10 looked at how London’s boroughs and public sector bodies could 
share and analyse their combined data to tackle a public service challenge.  
The pilot looked specifically at the problems associated with HMO data, 
bringing together 12 boroughs to develop and test a machine-learning model 
to find unlicensed HMOs. 

3.12. Figure 1 indicates the pilot Boroughs and provides an indication of the extent 
of across London of Mandatory Licenced HMOs (note Bromley’s figure is an 
estimate – the latest licensing data shows Bromley has now exceeded 155 
licenced HMOs) and the percentage of licenced HMOs.  

Figure 1 – distribution of known and estimated HMOs11 

3.13. The report set out a number of lessons learned, notably relating to joining up 
and matching records held in different IT systems within their own 
organisations and challenges collaborating with other organisations with their 
data, noting ‘It is simply too difficult and time consuming to conduct this 
process manually, especially during experiments where different datasets 
need to be explored.’ 

Smaller currently unregulated HMOs 3 and 4 person 

10 https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/loda_pilot_report.pdf  
11 https://londondatastore-upload.s3.amazonaws.com/LODA%20pilot%20report.pdf 

Page 338

https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/loda_pilot_report.pdf
https://londondatastore-upload.s3.amazonaws.com/LODA%20pilot%20report.pdf


 

12 
 

3.14. There is current a lack of reliable data relating to smaller 3 and 4 person 
HMOs. Council Tax data may provide some further details but, at the time of 
writing, officers have been unable to access relevant data.  
 

3.15. The Census provides information on shared 'household spaces’ and therefore 
includes all HMOs of whatever size. The maps at Appendix 2 and 3 indicate 
the numbers of properties within lower super output areas in the Borough with 
2 shared household spaces and 3 or more shared spaces. The 2011 census 
is now significantly out of date and although it identifies shared households it 
does not provide clarity on the exact number of persons within those 
households. It does however indicate that properties containing shared 
households were relatively few in 2011, and generally located towards the 
North West of the Borough. 

 
3.16. Census 2021 data is expected to become available in 2022. This information 

should provide a more up-to-date picture of the level of smaller HMOs in the 
Borough. 

 
Planning Appeals 

3.17. Within the last 5 years, there have been 4 planning appeals relating to larger 
Sui Generis HMOs or smaller HMOs as part of mixed schemes; 3 of these 
appeals were dismissed and 1 is currently in progress. Details of these 
appeals are set out in Appendix 4. The Inspectors decision letters highlight 
main issues as: 

 the living conditions of occupants 

 the impact on the character of the locality; 

 the impact of noise and disturbance on neighbouring occupants; and 

 the impact of car parking. 
 

Planning Investigation 

3.18. Since 2015, the planning enforcement team have investigated 47 properties in 
respect of Planning breaches for larger (Sui Generis) HMOs. Table 2 below 
indicates that 24 properties, over half of those investigated, were not in 
breach of planning regulations, most likely by virtue of PD rights afforded to 
HMOs of less than 7 people. It is also noteworthy that there has been a 
significantly increasing number of investigations, with the majority of cases - 
30 properties - being registered for investigation within the last 16 months 
(2020 and 2021), including 6 in Biggin Hill in 2021 alone.  

Page 339



 

13 
 

Table 2 Planning Investigation Cases since 2015 

Year Planning 
Investigations 
relating to HMOs 

No Breach  Other (eg 
notice 
served or 
permission) 

Current 
Investigation 

2015 2 2 - - 

2016 3 1 2 - 

2017 6 5 1 - 

2018 3 1 - 2 

2019 3 2 1 - 

2020 14 7 1 6 

2021 16 6 - 10 

Total  47 24 5 18 

 
Housing 

3.19. GLA ward profiles 2014 (based on the 2011 census) highlighted four wards 
that had 19% or more of its housing tenure within the Private Rented Sector 
(PRS), namely Penge & Cator (20.3%) Bromley Town (22.7%), Copers Cope 
(27.7%) and Crystal Palace (29.7%). 
 

3.20. The Bromley Homelessness Strategy (2018- 2023) advises that historically 
Bromley has been successful in assisting homeless households to secure 
private rented accommodation as a long-term housing solution. However 
rising rents overtaking and leaving behind the Local Housing Allowance and 
the loss of direct housing benefit payments to landlords means that the private 
rented sector in Bromley is out of reach for an increasing number of 
households.   

 
3.21. Historically, Bromley’s Housing Team have not actively procured any HMOs 

for clients due to concerns about the household spaces being offered and the 
long-term sustainability of such placements. However, the introduction of the 
Homeless Reduction Act 2017, and the recent amendments to the Code of 
Guidance as a result of the pandemic, mean that there will likely be an 
increase in the number of single people that Bromley will need to assist, with 
limited affordable accommodation available. The Everyone In initiative, which 
launched during the first national lockdown, saw Local Authorities required to 
provide immediate accommodation assistance to all those who were at the 
time sleeping rough or at risk of ending up on the streets. Local Authorities 
have been tasked with securing long-term housing solutions for these clients. 
As of May 2021, there were 58 individuals requiring accommodation as a 
result of this initiative, the majority of which have little to no ongoing support 
needs. It is possible that HMOs could become a potential option for housing 
residents in need, provided the accommodation is of a specific standard.  

 
HMO Providers   

3.22. There are known to be a number of HMO providers actively seeking 
properties in the Borough. These providers typically use PD rights to convert 
housing into ‘minimum standard’ HMOs, which are often used as 

Page 340



 

14 
 

accommodation in connection with supported living, homeless persons, local 
and central government placements and housing benefit claimants. This is 
often due to a shortage of suitable affordable accommodation for this client 
base in the Greater London area. 

 
Geographic Spread / Areas of Change 

3.23. The 2011 Census highlighted the area to the NW of the Borough as having a 
greatest, although still relatively small, number of shared household spaces.  
This also reflects the wards with the highest percentage of PRS. 
 

3.24. Licencing data indicates greater numbers of HMOs, particularly ‘Minimum 
Standards’ HMOs, in the Cray Valley, notably 23 in the BR5 post code area. 
Whilst 23 properties operating as HMO is not particularly significant across 
larger areas, there may be more chance of adverse impacts where the 
properties cluster in very close proximity. 

 
3.25. Section 4 notes that several adjacent Boroughs have introduced Article 4 

Directions to restrict C3 to C4 PD rights. While this is not in itself material for 
any justification for a Direction in Bromley, it is recognised that Directions in 
adjacent Boroughs could have the effect of driving demand to Bromley if 
HMOs become more difficult to develop in these adjacent Boroughs. There is 
no evidence that this has occurred to date, but as part of maintaining an up-
to-date evidence base, officers will monitor this to see if any trends 
materialise. 

 
4. Options for controlling HMOs 

Licencing 

4.1. The discretionary additional and selective schemes can only be introduced if 
the Council is satisfied that there are problems with low housing demand or 
significant and persistent problems of Anti-Social Behaviour linked to the 
privately rented homes in that area. The law states that any decision to 
implement a discretionary scheme must be consistent with the Council’s 
housing strategy and must be part of a coordinated approach for dealing with 
homelessness, empty homes and anti-social behaviour. In addition, in 
considering whether to designate an area for discretionary licensing, the 
authority may only make a designation if the area has a high proportion of 
property in the private rented sector (PRS). 
 

4.2. Discretionary schemes can only be sought where the number of privately 
rented properties in a given area is more than 19% (the national average) and 
therefore it would not be possible to apply a scheme on a borough wide basis. 
Whilst certain wards have more than 19% PRS, potentially enabling selective 
area licencing, this needs to be supported by low housing demand or 
significant and persistent problems of Anti-Social Behaviour linked to the 
privately rented homes.  
 

Page 341



 

15 
 

4.3. The Council’s Public Protection team have investigated the potential for 
expanding the licencing regime. However, at this time, it is considered that 
there is insufficient evidence to support an expansion. 

 
Article 4 Directions  
 
4.4. Article 4 Directions are a tool to restrict the scope of PD rights (such as the C3 

to C4 PD right) either in relation to a particular area or site, or a particular type 
of development  

 
4.5. Article 4 directions can be either immediate or non-immediate. Immediate 

directions can be made where the development presents an immediate threat 
to local amenity or prejudices the proper planning of an area, however, the 
local planning authority (LPA) must have already begun the consultation 
processes towards the making a non-immediate article 4 direction. An 
immediate direction must be confirmed by the LPA within 6 months of coming 
into effect, in order to remain in force.  

 
4.6. Non-immediate Directions should be limited to situations where this is 

necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the area. The potential 
harm that the direction is intended to address should be clearly identified. 
There should be justification for both its purpose and extent - a particularly 
strong justification for the withdrawal of PD rights relating to those covering 
the entire area of a local planning authority. 

 
4.7. The LPA must invite representations on any immediate or non-immediate 

Directions and take these representations into account before making any 
decision whether to confirm a Direction. 

 
4.8. Planning Practice Guidance (Paragraph: 038 Reference ID: 13-038-

20190722) states that: 
 
‘The use of article 4 directions to remove national permitted development 

rights should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local 

amenity or the wellbeing of the area. The potential harm that the direction is 

intended to address will need to be clearly identified, and there will need to be 

a particularly strong justification for the withdrawal of permitted development 

rights relating to… a wide area (eg those covering the entire area of a local 

planning authority…)  

4.9. As soon as practicable after confirming an article 4 direction, it is necessary to 
inform the Secretary of State (SoS). The SoS can modify or cancel Directions. 

 
4.10. Making an immediate Article 4 Direction leaves the Council liable to claims of 

compensation if it then subsequently refuses planning permission for 
development which would otherwise have been PD; or grants planning 
permission subject to more limiting conditions than the GPDO. The grounds 
on which compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive expenditure or 
other loss or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of PD rights. 
 

Page 342



 

16 
 

4.11. Where local authorities give at least 12 months’ notice of directions coming 
into effect (non-immediate article 4 directions) they will not be liable to pay 
compensation; however, where they issue directions with less than 12 
months’ notice they will be liable to pay compensation in relation to 
applications which are submitted within 12 months of the effective date of the 
direction. 
 

4.12. PD rights can also be removed from new developments by condition imposed 
on new development.  
 

4.13. The use of article 4 directions to bring smaller HMOs within planning control 
has become increasingly common across London, with Bromley’s five 
immediate London borough neighbours all having faced significant HMO 
pressure leading them to introduce article 4 directions, either to specific 
streets (Southwark), wards (Lewisham) or borough-wide (Croydon, Bexley 
and Greenwich). 
 

4.14. It is likely that smaller-scale Directions (e.g. by street) would be related to an 
immediate issue that has been identified and is supported by evidence, and 
hence would likely need to be an immediate Direction in order to effectively 
tackle the identified issue. As noted above, this would attract compensation 
liability which is a significant financial risk even if the Direction only affects a 
small number of properties. With larger-scale Directions, stronger justification 
is required as noted in the PPG.  

 
4.15. As Table 3 below indicates, most  London boroughs have complimented this 

planning control with expansion of their licencing regimes to smaller HMOs 
not already covered by the mandatory scheme (i.e. those occupied by 3-4 
people), either by area or borough-wide (BW). 

 
Table 3 Planning & Licencing Regimes (Spring 2021)   

Borough Selective licensing Additional 
licensing 

Article 4 

Barking & Dagenham Y N Y(BW) 

Barnet N Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Bexley Y N Y(BW) 

Brent Y Y(BW) N 

Bromley N N N 

Camden N Y(BW) N 

City of London N N N 

Croydon Y(BW) –seeking renewal N Y(BW) 

Ealing Y Y(BW) N 

Enfield N Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Greenwich consulting Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Hackney Y Y(BW) N 

Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

Y Y(BW) N 

Haringey N Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Harrow Y Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Page 343



 

17 
 

 
4.16. Southwark Council introduced two article 4 directions in 2014 and 2016 

responding to specific areas of concentrated HMO pressure, whilst Royal 
Greenwich made a non-immediate Article 4 direction to withdraw this PD right 
boroughwide in 2018 and currently has over 700 licenced HMOs. 
 

4.17. In 2017 Bexley confirmed a Boroughwide article 4 direction on the basis of 
analysis involving a range of data sources including census and private rental 
sector data, which, in addition to the 380 known HMOs predicted a further 
1,025 HMOs across the borough. 
 

4.18. Following the introduction of a boroughwide expanded licencing scheme in 
2017, Lewisham confirmed a non-immediate Article 4 Direction in January 
2020 covering 3 wards where the licensing data and census information 
indicated the greatest increases in shared households. Also, in January 2021, 
Croydon Council confirmed a borough-wide article 4 direction, their research 
having demonstrated that over the past 10 years Croydon had lost over 900 
family homes to conversion and to large HMO properties. 

 
4.19. Outside of planning powers, Environmental Health can investigate instances 

of poor quality accommodation and any noise and disturbance that can arise 
as a result of development; and parking enforcement can investigate issues 
relating to parking and can put in place measures to alleviate highways 
impacts in certain circumstances. 
 

4.20. HMOs are also often associated with instances of anti-social behaviour, 
disturbance and noise. However, this is not an inherent issue with HMOs. 
There is no evidence that HMOs in-principle cause specific issues anti-social 
behaviour, disturbance and noise. 

Havering Y Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Hillingdon N N Y(BW) 

Hounslow N Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Islington Y Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Kensington & 
Chelsea 

N N Y(BW) 

Kingston Upon 
Thames 

Y Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Lambeth N N Y(BW) 

Lewisham N Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Merton N N Y(BW) 

Newham Y (almost BW) Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Redbridge Y Y(BW) Y(BW) 

Page 344



 

18 
 

Appendix 1: map of licensed HMOs in Bromley (April 2021) 

 

Page 345



 

19 
 

Appendix 2: map of Census 2011, number of dwellings within Lower Super 

Output Areas with 2 Shared Household Spaces 

 

Page 346



 

20 
 

Appendix 3: map of Census 2011, number of dwellings within Lower Super 

Output Areas with 3 or more Shared Household Spaces 

 

Page 347



 

21 
 

Appendix 4: Appeals relating to Change of Use to HMO since 2016 

Case Address Details Decision  

16/00393
/S78; 
PINS ref: 
3165214 

49 
Southborough 
Road 
Bickley, BR1 
2EL 

Change of use 
of existing 
single family  
dwellinghouse 
(C3) to 10-
bedroom HMO 
(Sui Generis) 
(Retrospective)  

Dismissed. Inspector considered on the basis of 
potential for up to 17 occupants which  

 represents a significantly different character 
and intensity than accommodation in the 
locality - mainly relatively low-density large 
dwellings; 

 fails to provide satisfactory living conditions 
for occupants (falling short of the Councils 
adopted HMO standards); and 

 increased levels of activity, noise and 
disturbance likely to result in harm to the 
living conditions of the occupiers of adjacent 
residential properties. 

19/00100
/S78; 
PINS ref 
3227513 

43 Selby Road 
Penge, SE20 
8ST 

Conversion of 
the existing 
residential 
dwelling (C3) 
into HMO (Sui 
Generis) 
(Retrospective) 

Dismissed. Inspector considered on the basis of 
potential for between 7 and 12 people noting 
only one communal space. Inspector 
considered: 

 development has an adverse effect on 
the living conditions of adjoining 
residents; and  

 limited communal space likely to lead to 
increased use of the garden which could 
also adversely affect neighbours living 
conditions (enjoyment of their gardens). 

19/00277
/ENFMC
U; 
PINS ref: 
3242165 

21 Langley 
Road 
Beckenham 
BR3 4AE 

Appeal against 
enforcement re 
change of use 
of dwelling 
house (C3) 
used as an 
HMO (C4 - 6 
person) to 6 
person HMO 
and 2 self-
contained one-
bedroom flats 

Dismissed. Enforcement notice upheld on the 
grounds of the poor living conditions for future 
occupiers. with the flats. 

20/00219
/S78; 
PINS ref: 
3263912 

15 Cranworth 
Cottages 
Leaves Green 
Road 
Keston, BR2 
6DB 

Single storey 
rear extension 
and conversion 
to 5-bedroom 
(C4) HMO 
(Retrospective) 

Appeal in Progress 
 
 
 

 

Page 348


	Agenda
	4 CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 NOVEMBER 2021 AND 1 DECEMBER 2021
	Minutes
	 APPENDIX A
	Minutes , 01/12/2021 Development Control Committee

	5 MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MINUTES
	8 PLANNING SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS
	Appendix 1 - Draft Changes to Local Planning Protocol
	Appendix 2 - Planning Advisory Service Report for Bromley 2021
	Review of DCC and Planning Sub Committees London Borough of Bromley
	Planning Advisory Service and Vink Planning – July 2021
	Introduction
	Overall Impressions
	Recommendation


	The 2019 Review
	New Local Planning Protocol for Members
	Recommendation

	Reduce number of Members on DCC
	Scheme of delegation to be broadened
	Recommendation
	Recommendation

	‘Call ins’ to be in writing with clear planning reasons
	Recommendation

	‘Call in’ monitoring to be reported to DCC
	Format of committee agenda to be reviewed including ‘Lists’
	Officer role at committee to be reviewed including presentations
	Recommendation
	Recommendation

	Quality of committee reports to be improved
	Recommendation

	Review of appeal decisions and costs to be reported to DCC
	Less emphasis on ‘local view’ at committee
	Recommendation

	Substitutions at committee should not be related to Ward Interest
	Where motion goes against Officer recommendation, clear reasons for refusal or conditions to be agreed before vote is taken
	Recommendation

	Deferral of items where there is a risk of losing appeal and/or costs
	Recommendation

	Review of site visit procedures for committee Members
	Consideration of use of different room for committee meetings
	Recommendation

	More pro-active approach to major pre-application discussions including early Member involvement such as presentations to committee and improved communication between Officers and Members
	Committee should include at least one Executive Member
	Effective compulsory training should be provided for all committee Members including substitutes and a list of trained Members retained
	Recommendation

	Regular reports on performance of planning and appeals team
	Recommendation


	Other Areas of concern / improvement
	Recommendation


	Appendix 1: Report by PAS to LB Bromley May 2019
	Introduction
	General comments relating to Development Control and Planning Sub Committees
	Background
	Assessment
	Purpose
	Format and Process
	Customer Experience
	Roles and Responsibilities
	Quality and Improvement

	Conclusions
	Appendix 1 - SCOPE OF THE REVIEW
	Purpose
	Format and Process
	Customer Experience
	Roles and Responsibilities
	Quality and Improvement




	9 ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT
	Enc. 2 for ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT
	Enc. 3 for ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT
	Enc. 1 for ORPINGTON TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT

	10 UPDATE OF THE PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT
	Enc. 1 for UPDATE OF THE PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT
	Enc. 2 for UPDATE OF THE PLANNING OBLIGATIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT – CONSULTATION DRAFT

	11 CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS
	Enc. 1 for CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS
	Enc. 2 for CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR UPWARDS EXTENSIONS IN SPECIFIED AREAS

	12 CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS
	Enc. 1 for CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS FOR OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL DEMOLITION IN BROMLEY’S DESIGNATED OFFICE AND INDUSTRIAL AREAS

	13 UPDATE ON HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION
	Enc. 1 for UPDATE ON HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION




